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About This Report
This report summarizes Avery Dennison’s financial performance for our fiscal 
year ending December 28, 2019. Sustainability information in the report is a 
summary of the progress we’ve made toward the 2025 sustainability goals that 
we first announced in 2015. Sustainability data are unaudited.
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Welcome to our first integrated annual report. 
We’re proud to report our financial results and sustainability 
achievements together for the first time. With sustainability well 
integrated into our business practices, it’s the right time to integrate 
our reporting as well. 

At Avery Dennison, sustainability isn’t separate from our business 
strategy—it is a business strategy. Sustainability is one of our 
values and integral to our aim of creating value for all of our 
stakeholders through innovation, operational excellence and highly 
disciplined capital allocation.

Here, along with highlights of our business results and 2019 annual 
report, we’re also presenting highlights from our sustainability 
efforts, including our progress against the 2025 sustainability 
goals we first announced in 2015. More information about our 
sustainability efforts can be found on the sustainability section of 
our website. Additional information about our financial results can 
be found on the investors section of our website.

Bringing It 
All Together
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Fellow Stakeholders,

In 2019, we leveraged our materials science 
expertise, global scale and operational excellence 
to once again make solid progress against our 
long-term strategic priorities. I’m proud to share 
some of the highlights of our year.

On track to achieve our 2021 financial goals 
We increased adjusted earnings per share by 9% 
in 2019 despite lower-than-usual organic growth 
due to challenging market conditions. In this 
slower top-line growth environment, our focus 
has been on protecting our margins in our base 
businesses, while driving faster-than-average 
growth in high value product categories, such as 
RFID. We are executing well on both fronts, while 
investing to drive future growth and strengthen 
our competitive position.

At the business level, LGM expanded its operating 
margin despite modest organic growth, and 
delivered solid volume improvement in the second 
half of the year; IHM made substantial progress 
toward its 2021 profitability target for the 
segment; and RBIS improved margins significantly 
on 5% organic top-line growth, driven largely by 
RFID. RFID sales again grew more than 20% as 
we continued to penetrate retail apparel, while 
significantly expanding our business development 
pipeline from other market segments. Our recent 
acquisition of Smartrac’s transponder division 
further bolsters this platform.

Advancing sustainability 
We continued to advance toward achieving our 
2025 sustainability goals, through increased focus 
and innovation. As of September 2019, we reduced 
our greenhouse gas emissions by more than 30% 
compared to our 2015 baseline, exceeding our 
2025 goal well ahead of schedule; over 88% of our 
paper is now certified to be sustainably-sourced; 

and our top-notch employee engagement score 
further improved to 82%.

All-in-all, 2019 was another solid year. As we 
reflect back on the last few years, we are pleased 
with how we have leveraged our foundational 
strengths in operational excellence and innovation 
to consistently make progress towards our 
long-term goals to deliver GDP+ growth and 
top quartile returns on capital. We have driven 
outsized growth in high value segments, while also 
growing profitably in our base businesses. We have 
substantially reduced the environmental impact of 
our operations while increasing our development of 
innovative, more environmentally-friendly products. 
We have continually driven productivity that has 
enabled us to ramp up our pace of investment in 
high value product categories, particularly RFID, 
while also expanding margins.

Starting this year, we’re presenting our financial 
results and sustainability achievements in a single 
report because, for us, it’s all one story, reflected 
in our business strategies, in how we work day-
to-day and in the value we created for all of our 
stakeholders in 2019. 

That value reflects the dedication and passion of our 
talented, values-driven team worldwide. On behalf 
of them, thank you for your interest in our company.

Mitch Butier

From Our Chairman, 
President and CEO
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Our Company
We are a global business-to-business company with 
locations in over 50 countries and we employ more than 
30,000 people worldwide.

Our businesses produce pressure-sensitive materials, radio 
frequency identification (RFID) inlays and tags, and a variety of 
tickets, tags, labels and other converted products. We design 
and manufacture a wide variety of labeling and functional 
materials that enhance branded packaging, carry or display 
information and improve customers’ product performance. 
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Label and Graphic Materials 
As a leader in the pressure-sensitive label industry, 
LGM’s materials enhance shelf and store appeal 
for brands; inform shoppers of ingredients; 
protect brand security; improve operational 
efficiency and customer product performance; and 
provide visual information that enhances safety. 
Avery Dennison’s Graphics Solutions is a global 
leader in self-adhesive and speciality media for 
professional graphics providers and designers via 
a comprehensive portfolio of highly engineered 
materials from vehicle wraps to architectural 
products. By incorporating RFID technology into 
our pressure-sensitive materials, LGM is creating 
the smart materials of the future.

Industrial and Healthcare Materials 
Our IHM businesses provide tape products, 
including coated and adhesive transfer tapes; 
precision-extruded and injection-molded 
fasteners; and adhesive materials for both 
industrial and medical applications.

Retail Branding and Information Solutions
Our RBIS business provides physical and digital 
labeling solutions that allow brands and retailers, 
primarily within the global apparel market, to 
address challenges and opportunities from 
item source through to store, and in consumer 
engagement. Its products include tickets, tags, 
woven and fabric labels, heat transfers, software, 
printers and consumables. The Intelligent Labels 
division, largely within RBIS, is the world’s largest 
UHF RFID partner, with over 1,250 patents and 
applications worldwide serving multiple industries 
across retail and industrial segments.

LGM

RBIS

IHM

Avery Dennison comprises three businesses:
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Our Stakeholders
CUSTOMERS
We provide innovative, high-
quality products and solutions 
with industry-leading service.

EMPLOYEES
We cultivate a diverse, engaged, 
safe and healthy workforce.

COMMUNITIES
We are responsible stewards of 
the environment and a force for 
good in our communities.

INVESTORS
We are committed to delivering 
superior shareholder returns 
over the long term.

Our Values

INTEGRITY
We are driven by 

doing the right thing. 
Always.

INNOVATION
We use imagination  

and intellect to create  
new possibilities.

DIVERSITY
We gain strength 
from diverse ideas 

and teams.

EXCELLENCE
We expect the best 
from ourselves and

each other.

COURAGE
We are brave in the 

face of adversity and 
the unknown.

EXTERNAL FOCUS
We get out to 

get better.

TEAMWORK
We are better when we  
work together and put  

others ahead of 
ourselves.
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SUSTAINABILITY
We are focused on the 
long-term health of our 
business, planet, and 

communities.
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Achieve outsized growth in high 
value product categories

Grow profitably in our base businesses

Foster the well-being and diversity of our team

Advance sustainability

Avery Dennison is a force for good, 
creating value for our stakeholders 
through innovation, operational 
excellence and highly disciplined 
capital deployment, as we successfully 
execute four core strategies:
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Financial Highlights

Ta r g e t s   2 0 1 7- 2 0 2 1 R e s u l t s    2 0 1 7- 2 0 1 9

Sales Growth 4%+ Organic(1)

5%+ Ex. Currency(1,4)

3.9% Organic(2,3)

5.7% Ex. Currency(2,3)

Operating Margin 11%+ in 2021 10.9% in 2019

Adjusted EPS Growth 10%+(1) 18.0%(2,3)

Return on Total Capital (ROTC) 17%+ in 2021 11.9% in 2019
Adj(2,5): 19.6% in 2019

(1) Reflects five-year compound annual growth rate, with 2016 as the base period
(2) See pages 36, 93–95 of the 2020 proxy statement included herein for definitions, limitations and 
reconciliations of these non-GAAP financial measures from the most directly comparable GAAP measures
(3) Reflects three-year compound annual growth rate, with 2016 as the base period
(4) Impact of closed acquisitions as of 3/8/2017 is approximately 1 point of growth
(5) Excluding impact of U.S. pension plan termination

On track to achieve our long-term targets through 2021

8.2%

19.3% 19.6%

$5.28

$458 $429

$747

$512

$3.57

$6.60$6.06

5.5%

-1.2%
2.0%

2018

2018

2018

2018

2019

2019

2019

2019

  Reported Sales Growth 
  Organic Sales Growth(2)

  Adjusted ROTC(2,5)

  Reported EPS
  Adjusted EPS(2)

  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
  Free Cash Flow(2)

(In millions)
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Sustainability Highlights

Learn more about our efforts on the sustainability section of our website.

2 0 2 5  G o a l s 2 0 1 9  P r o g r e s s

We will reduce absolute 
greenhouse gas emissions 
by 3% year-over-year, with 
at least a 26% reduction 
compared to our 2015 
baseline.

As of September 30, 2019, 
we reduced emissions by 
more than 30% against 
our baseline.

We will source 100% 
certified paper, of which 
at least 70% will be Forest 
Stewardship Council® 
(FSC)-certified.

Over 88% of our paper is 
certified. Close to 79% of our 
face paper is FSC-certified.

Our operations will be 95% 
landfill-free, with 75% of 
our waste repurposed.

As of November 2019, 
94% of waste from our 
operations was diverted from 
landfills and we recycled 
65% of our waste.

We will maintain world 
class safety and 
engagement scores.

We achieved a world-class 
Recordable Incident Rate 
of 0.23. 
We achieved a first-rate 82% 
employee engagement score.

We will cultivate a diverse 
workforce with 40% of 
leadership positions filled 
by women.

34% of our manager level 
and above positions were 
filled by women, up from 
27% in 2015.

In 2015, we set out to reach eight sustainability goals by 2025. We have since 
made steady progress toward nearly all of them. Here are some highlights:
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Specialty labels lead the way
In LGM, our high value categories once again grew 
faster than our base business. As an example, 
our wine and spirits labels in North America and 
Europe, where brands seeking a luxury look-
and-feel continued to drive demand for premium 
materials like our Wet Strength™, Estate Label™, 
cotton range and PLUS products. 

Our wraps reign Supreme
In Graphics Solutions, our close engagement 
with end customers, innovative wrap-
visualization technology and increased 
applications in markets beyond vehicle-
wrapping, such as window films and paint 
protection films, helped drive continued 
growth, awareness and penetration of our 
colorful, exceptionally durable Supreme 
Wrapping™ film and the digitally printable 
cast films in our MPI 1000™ series.

Achieving Outsized Growth in 
High Value Categories

We drove growth in high value categories across our 
businesses in 2019, including intelligent labels, external 
embellishments, graphics and specialty labels.
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Intelligent Labels continues 
phenomenal growth
We continued to build upon our RFID business 
in 2019, as more brands discovered the 
advantages in supply chain management, consumer 
engagement and sustainability that come with 
giving every physical product a unique digital 
identity, connecting it to the Internet of Things. We 
built on our momentum in the apparel segment 
while deepening relationships and gaining ground 
in beauty, logistics and food. In all, our pipeline of 
customer engagements increased 50%, driven 
primarily by categories outside of apparel.

We also enhanced our competitive advantage in 
intelligent labels with our acquisition of Smartrac’s 
RFID transponder (inlay) business, which closed 
in the first quarter of 2020. Smartrac’s capabilities 
complement our existing product offerings and 
process technologies and expand our Intelligent 
Labels platform to better serve industrial and 
retail segments. Smartrac’s global manufacturing 
footprint also complements our own. With 
the addition of Smartrac, our RFID business is 
expected to deliver annual sales in excess of 
$500 million, growing 15% to 20% annually over 
the long term.

External Embellishments scores big 
with pro soccer
RBIS’s 2019 growth was driven by significant 
expansion in the business’s high value segments. 
One prestigious new contract: RBIS was named the 
official supplier for jersey names and numbers for 
Premier League® football in the U.K. Our innovative 
new product improved overall sustainability through 
the use of water-based inks, as well as advanced 
printing and robotics processes that reduce 
manufacturing scrap, and a partnership to recycle 
downstream waste from the application of our 
products into material for food trays.

Industrial tapes grows by 
innovating for converters 
As an innovative means of supporting 
converters, the industrial tapes team 
introduced our Core Series™ portfolio, an 
easy-to-use product line consisting of 
streamlined offerings that cover the breadth 
of adhesive technologies that converters 
require for a wide variety of applications. 
The Core Series is designed to provide an 
effortless customer experience, enabling 
easy product selection based on adhesive 
characteristics and bonding substrates.

PHOTOGRAPHY SHOT ON LOCATION AT JBC TECHNOLOGIES
IHM’s Core Series Portfolio 
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LGM invests for growth and 
efficiency in Europe
To better meet customer needs while positioning 
the business for long-term profitable growth, 
in the first quarter of 2019, we completed 
a multi-year recapitalization plan for LGM 
in Europe. We completed a 12,000-square-
meter expansion of our plant at Rodange, 
Luxembourg. New, state-of-the-art equipment in 
the expanded facility strengthens product quality 
and maximizes production uptime. It gives our 

European team a more agile network, increases 
our topcoating capabilities and helps us better 
address fluctuations in customer demand. It also 
helps reduce our carbon emissions by positioning 
us closer to customers and reducing the need 
for transport during production. With the added 
capacity of the plant, along with incremental 
capacity from our acquisition of the European 
business of Mactac in 2016, we were able to 
optimize our footprint, closing a plant in Schwelm, 
Germany and transferring its production to Soignies, 
Belgium and our expanded plant in Rodange. 

We continued to improve profitability in our base businesses by 
optimizing for efficiency, innovating in anticipation of customer needs 
and finding new ways to deliver our signature service and expertise.

Growing Profitably in Our Base Businesses
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RBIS innovates to support 
customer automation
RBIS recently renewed its focus on innovation, and 
in 2019 that was especially evident in its Apparel 
Solutions business. Garment manufacturers around 
the world are turning to automation to meet 
demands for faster delivery and lower costs. Within 
Apparel Solutions, our Factory Solutions team is 
developing a portfolio that supports automation 
with novel solutions that address some of the 
industry’s biggest challenges. These include in-line 
equipment that automatically applies pressure-
sensitive labels to tags, polybags and other 
products; sonic welding machines that eliminate 
the need to manually assemble multi-page care 
and content labels; and new sock-packaging 
automation solutions that open up a new market 

to RBIS. These solutions are differentiating Avery 
Dennison and creating significant new revenue 
opportunities for Apparel Solutions.

Growth and innovation in variable 
information (VI) materials
In collaboration with LGM, our Printer Solutions 
Division developed the EcoCut™ labeling solution, 
which delivers on-demand flexibility in label length 
while optimizing the amount of material consumed. 
The team also managed a smooth transition to a 
portfolio of materials for direct thermal printing that 
complies with a new European regulation banning 
the use of bisphenol A. 

In late 2019, the team also introduced our Surfas™ 
technology, a breakthrough adhesive for applying 
labels to corrugated board and other rough substrates 
used by shippers and other users of VI labels. 

Continued growth in India and Vietnam
Emerging markets continued to deliver above-
average growth for both our LGM and RBIS 
businesses. In LGM, our operations in India continue 
to drive expansion of the pressure-sensitive 
segment through deeper penetration in the growing 
packaged goods category, delivering differentiated 
shelf appeal and increased productivity in the value 
chain compared to other labeling technologies. A 
comprehensive product range, consistent quality and 
service, a national footprint and a strong local team 
have enabled the business to grow much faster than 
the industry and deliver increased returns in 2019.

In RBIS, our operations in Vietnam continued 
to be among our fastest growing, due in part to 
brands migrating some of their sourcing out of 
China. RBIS Vietnam has achieved double-digit 
growth for the last five years, keeping pace with 
demand through disciplined capital investment, 
and creating our largest RBIS hub outside of 
China. In 2019, as in recent years, our Vietnam 
team delivered outstanding performance in 
quality, reliability and service, while maintaining an 
exemplary safety record and some of our highest 
employee engagement scores in Asia.
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Advancing Sustainability

Our ClearIntent™ Portfolio
The Avery Dennison ClearIntent Portfolio contains 
hundreds of products that help our customers 
and their end-users reduce their environmental 
footprint, satisfy consumer demand and stay 
ahead of regulations. ClearIntent Portfolio products 
demonstrably reduce environmental impact by 
meeting one or more of these criteria:

• Reducing material usage.
• Improving recyclability.
• Increasing recycled content in the end product.
• Being responsibly sourced.

One standout ClearIntent product is our award-
winning CleanFlake™ technology. CleanFlake 
helps facilitate the recycling of PET containers by 
enabling clean separation of the label’s facestock 
and adhesive during the recycling process, resulting 
in pure PET flakes that can be recycled into food-
grade recycled PET (rPET). We’ve expanded our 
CleanFlake portfolio into a comprehensive range of 
products to enable broader recycling of PET plastic. 

To include more recycled content in our products 
and help develop the market for recycled materials, 
we introduced a number of recycled-content 

Across our company, we’re engineering 
materials intended to help humanity move 
towards an economy in which resources 
cycle through use and reuse for as long as 
possible, and in which waste and pollution 
are vastly reduced. We’re focused on 
enabling recyclability and expanding the use 
of recycled content.  In 2019, as part of our 
commitment, we joined the Ellen MacArthur 
Foundation’s Circular Economy 100 (CE 
100) network, which provides collaborative 
opportunities for advancing the circular 
economy among businesses, governments, 
universities and other thought leaders.
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products in 2019, including the first recycled liner 
solutions for both film and paper. Our recycled PET 
(rPET) liner uses 30% post-consumer waste and 
won the Environmental and Sustainability Award 
at the 2019 Label Industry Global Awards. Our 
rBG liner contains 15% post-consumer waste. 
Both cost the same as conventional liners and 
deliver the same ease of conversion and smooth 
dispensing, while also offering savings in water 
use, energy, and greenhouse gas emissions. 

We also introduced several new facestocks made 
with recycled content. Our recycled polyethylene 

(rPE) facestock, made with 30% recycled PE 
resin, helps reduce petroleum consumption while 
delivering a more natural look. For wine and 
spirits brands, we launched our Crush Range™ 
line of paper facestocks made of recycled paper 
and organic waste, which aim to boost shelf 
appeal while signaling environmental integrity. 
Converters and brands can choose from 
facestocks made with 15% grape, citrus, or barley 
waste, along with 40% FSC-certified recycled 
paper, as well as new paper facestocks with 30% 
to 100% recycled content and unique textures 
and finishes to inspire creativity.
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Collaborating to improve our industry
To make sustainability progress at a meaningful 
scale, we have to reach beyond our own operations 
and engage our customers, suppliers and peers. 
Back in 2013, with the help of the Rainforest 
Alliance, we adopted a responsible-sourcing policy 
for the paper we use in our products. In 2015, we 
set a formal goal for responsible paper sourcing: 
aiming to certify the sources of 100% of our paper 
by 2025, with at least 70% of that volume being 
certified by the FSC. That same year, we offered our 
FSC-certified products at price parity as a way to 
bring our customers along with us. 

Since then, with the enthusiastic buy-in of 
suppliers and customers, we’ve made steady 
progress toward achieving our goal. As of the 
end of 2019, more than 88% of our paper was 
certified, and close to 79% of our face paper was 

FSC-certified. More important, the practice of 
responsible paper-sourcing has gained a foothold in 
our industry and is expected to continue to increase. 

We’ve taken a similarly collaborative approach 
to eliminating the byproduct created in the label 
manufacturing process—the liner and matrix left 
over after our label materials are applied. We began 
by connecting customers with local recyclers that 
can collect and process their label waste. In late 
2019, we took that effort to a new level by creating 
an industrywide group to focus on developing 
a single platform communicating the recycling 
capabilities offered throughout the industry. 
Suppliers, recyclers and other pressure-sensitive 
label manufacturers will continue to collaborate 
during 2020 to establish an industry recycling 
program in North America and Europe, with the 
ultimate aim of expanding globally.
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Sustainable Solutions 
from RBIS
Much of the focus on innovation in RBIS is 
aimed at advancing sustainability. In May 
2019, RBIS announced its 10 Solutions 
for Sustainable Change, which include 
products that promote apparel recycling, 
yarn made from recycled polyester, kraft 
paper alternatives for plastic e-commerce 
packaging and intelligent labels that give 
consumers access to information, such as a 
product’s provenance and its recyclability, via 
their mobile devices. 

One of the 10 Solutions is our ongoing 
support for the Plastic Bank, a social 
enterprise working to eliminate ocean 
plastic by preventing it from getting into 
waterways. We allocate a portion of the 
licensing fees from our patented clothing 
labels made from recycled polyester, which 
the Plastic Bank uses to establish recycling 
centers in impoverished communities. At the 
centers, residents turn in plastic for credits 
they can use to purchase cooking fuel, school 
tuition and more. The plastic is then recycled 
and kept out of the waste stream.

Fighting food waste with RFID
Among the benefits of item-level tagging with 
our RFID inlays is the ability to better manage 
inventory and produce more efficiently. In the 
food segment alone, the opportunities for 
reducing waste are enormous—the United 
Nations estimates that about 30% of all food 
produced is wasted, and both the U.N. and the 
U.S. government have set a goal of reducing food 
waste by 50% by 2030. Our RFID solutions enable 
grocers and others in the food industry to better 
align harvest and inventory with demand, manage 
expiry more effectively, monitor temperatures more 
closely to avoid spoilage and remove only affected 
items during recalls. Based on pilot studies, we 
believe RFID tagging can help grocers reduce food 
waste by as much as 20%.

Offsetting our GHG emissions 
by investing in wind
We’ve already exceeded our 2025 goal for 
greenhouse gas reduction, lowering our emissions 
by nearly one-third compared to our 2015 
baseline. And we continue to find ways to further 
reduce or offset emissions. In November 2018, we 
signed a virtual power purchase agreement with 
Plum Creek Wind in Nebraska. The project, which 
is expected to come online this year, will bring an 
additional 230 megawatts of renewable energy 
to the U.S. electrical grid, and our 30-megawatt 
off-take from the project will enable us to offset 
approximately 75% of our U.S. operations’ annual 
greenhouse gas emissions from electricity—about 
99,000 metric tons worth.
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Fostering the Well-Being and 
Diversity of Our Team
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We aim to be a force for good for all of our stakeholders, 
including our employees and our neighbors. That means 
fostering an environment that enables individuals to be 
and do their best, whether in one of our business locations 
or in the broader communities where they reside. 

Maintaining a world-class safety rate
Across our company, our safety performance 
remained strong in 2019. On average, 75% of 
our facilities are free of recordable injuries each 
year, and our global Recordable Incident Rate 
of 0.23 in 2019 was significantly lower than the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
manufacturing industry average of 3.5 (the most 
recently available industry average). As of the 
publication of this report, 33% of our facilities have 
operated injury-free for more than five years.

Promoting diversity and inclusion
A diverse global workforce and an inclusive culture 
are essential to our remaining at the forefront of 
materials science and manufacturing. One way we 
support employees bringing their whole selves to 
the workplace is through our Employee Resource 
Groups (ERGs), launched in 2019. ERGs bring 
together employees who have shared interests 
and a common desire to make Avery Dennison an 
open and inclusive workplace. Currently, our ERGs 
include nine groups focused on driving inclusion 
and advancement for women, employees of color, 
LGBTQ+ employees, veterans and others.

Leveraging our employees’ 
passion to strengthen local 
communities
We have a long history of supporting 
the communities where we live and do 
business. We make most of our community 
investments through the Avery Dennison 
Foundation, and our employees also 
organize additional giving and volunteer 
efforts. In all of our giving, we focus on 
efforts that can effect measurable change, 
particularly in the areas of education, 
sustainability and women’s empowerment.
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America’s Best Employers for Diversity  |  Forbes

Barron’s 100 Most Sustainable Companies  |  Barron’s

Best Candidate Experience Award 2019  |  HR Tech China

Best Candidate Experience Excellent Team Award 2019  |  HR Tech China

Best Companies to Work for in Asia - China  |  HR Asia

Best Companies to Work for in Asia - Hong Kong  |  HR Asia

Best Companies to Work for in Asia - Malaysia  |  HR Asia

Best Companies to Work for in Asia - Vietnam  |  HR Asia

Best Wrap Film Manufacturer  |  Paint is Dead

Digital Printing, Labels & Packaging - Pewter  |  Printing Impressions: Gold Ink Awards

Environmental and Sustainability Award  |  2019 Label Industry Global Awards

FINAT Recycling and Sustainability Award  |  Féderation Internationale des fabricants 
et transformateurs d’Adhésifs et Thermocollants sur papiers et autres supports (FINAT)

Forbes Global 2000: World’s Best Employers  |  Forbes

Grandes Cases de Embalagem  |  Grandes Cases

Great Place to Work Argentina  |  Great Place to Work

Great Place to Work Brazil  |  Great Place to Work

Great Place to Work India  |  Great Place to Work

Great Place to Work Luxembourg  |  Great Place to Work

Great Place to Work Top Talent  |  Northcoast 99 (Northeast Ohio)

Innovations in Sustainability  |  2019 Label Industry Global Awards

ISA Sign Expo® 2019 Innovation – Substrates and Inks  |  International Sign 
Association International Sign Expo

Top Manufacturer 2019  |  Northcoast 99 (Northeast Ohio)

Select 2019 Awards
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The matters discussed in this Annual Report contain ‘‘forward-looking statements’’ within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements, which are not statements of historical fact, contain estimates,
assumptions, projections and/or expectations regarding future events, which may or may not occur. Words such as ‘‘aim,’’
‘‘anticipate,’’ ‘‘assume,’’ ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘continue,’’ ‘‘could,’’ ‘‘estimate,’’ ‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘foresee,’’ ‘‘guidance,’’ ‘‘intend,’’ ‘‘may,’’
‘‘might,’’ ‘‘objective,’’ ‘‘plan,’’ ‘‘potential,’’ ‘‘project,’’ ‘‘seek,’’ ‘‘shall,’’ ‘‘should,’’ ‘‘target,’’ ‘‘will,’’ ‘‘would,’’ or variations
thereof, and other expressions that refer to future events and trends, identify forward-looking statements. These forward-
looking statements, and financial or other business targets, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, which could cause
our actual results to differ materially from the expected results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements.

We believe that the most significant risk factors that could affect our financial performance in the near-term include:
(1) the impacts to underlying demand for our products and/or foreign currency fluctuations from global economic
conditions, political uncertainty, and changes in governmental regulations; (2) competitors’ actions, including pricing,
expansion in key markets, and product offerings; (3) the degree to which higher costs can be offset with productivity
measures and/or passed on to customers through price increases, without a significant loss of volume; and (4) the execution
and integration of acquisitions.

Certain risks and uncertainties are discussed in more detail under ‘‘Risk Factors’’ and ‘‘Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’’ in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 28, 2019 and include, but are not limited to, risks and uncertainties relating to the following: fluctuations in
demand affecting sales to customers; worldwide and local economic and market conditions; changes in political conditions;
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and other risks associated with foreign operations, including in emerging
markets; changes in our markets due to competitive conditions, technological developments, laws and regulations, and
customer preferences; fluctuations in the cost and availability of raw materials and energy; changes in governmental laws
and regulations; the impact of competitive products and pricing; the financial condition and inventory strategies of
customers; our ability to generate sustained productivity improvement; our ability to achieve and sustain targeted cost
reductions; loss of significant contracts or customers; collection of receivables from customers; selling prices; business mix
shift; execution and integration of acquisitions; product and service quality; timely development and market acceptance of
new products, including sustainable or sustainably-sourced products; investment in development activities and new
production facilities; amounts of future dividends and share repurchases; customer and supplier concentrations or
consolidations; fluctuations in interest and tax rates; changes in tax laws and regulations, and uncertainties associated with
interpretations of such laws and regulations; retention of tax incentives; outcome of tax audits; successful implementation of
new manufacturing technologies and installation of manufacturing equipment; disruptions in information technology
systems, including cyber-attacks or other intrusions to network security; successful installation of new or upgraded
information technology systems; data security breaches; volatility of financial markets; impairment of capitalized assets,
including goodwill and other intangibles; credit risks; our ability to obtain adequate financing arrangements and maintain
access to capital; the realization of deferred tax assets; interest rates and our debt covenants; fluctuations in pension,
insurance, and employee benefit costs; goodwill impairment; the impact of legal and regulatory proceedings, including
with respect to environmental, health and safety, anti-corruption and trade compliance; protection and infringement of
intellectual property; the impact of epidemiological events on the economy and our customers and suppliers; acts of war,
terrorism, and natural disasters; and other factors.

Our forward-looking statements are made only as of the date hereof. We assume no duty to update these forward-
looking statements to reflect new, changed or unanticipated events or circumstances, other than as may be required by law.

1
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(Dollars in millions, except percentages 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

and per share amounts) Dollars % Dollars % Dollars % Dollars % Dollars %

Net sales $7,070.1 100.0 $7,159.0 100.0 $6,613.8 100.0 $6,086.5 100.0 $5,966.9 100.0
Gross profit 1,904.1 26.9 1,915.5 26.8 1,812.2 27.4 1,699.7 27.9 1,645.8 27.6
Marketing, general and administrative expense 1,080.4 15.3 1,127.5 15.7 1,105.2 16.7 1,085.7 17.8 1,087.8 18.2
Other expense, net(1) 53.2 .8 69.9 1.0 36.5 .6 23.8 .4 64.5 1.1
Interest expense 75.8 1.1 58.5 .8 63.0 1.0 59.9 1.0 60.5 1.0
Other non-operating expense, net(2) 445.2 6.3 104.8 1.5 18.0 .3 53.2 .9 24.1 .4
Income from continuing operations before taxes 249.5 3.5 554.8 7.7 589.5 8.9 477.1 7.8 408.9 6.9
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes(3) (56.7) (.8) 85.4 1.2 307.7 4.7 156.4 2.6 134.5 2.3
Equity method investment losses (2.6) – (2.0) – – – – – – –
Income from continuing operations 303.6 4.3 467.4 6.5 281.8 4.3 320.7 5.3 274.4 4.6
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax – – – – – – – – (.1) –
Net income 303.6 4.3 467.4 6.5 281.8 4.3 320.7 5.3 274.3 4.6

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Income per common share from continuing
operations $ 3.61 $ 5.35 $ 3.19 $ 3.60 $ 3.01

Loss per common share from discontinued
operations – – – – –

Net income per common share 3.61 5.35 3.19 3.60 3.01
Income per common share from continuing

operations, assuming dilution 3.57 5.28 3.13 3.54 2.95
Loss per common share from discontinued

operations, assuming dilution – – – – –
Net income per common share, assuming

dilution 3.57 5.28 3.13 3.54 2.95
Dividends per common share 2.26 2.01 1.76 1.60 1.46
Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding (in millions) 84.0 87.3 88.3 89.1 91.0
Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding, assuming dilution (in millions) 85.0 88.6 90.1 90.7 92.9

Property, plant and equipment, net $1,210.7 $1,137.4 $1,097.9 $ 915.2 $ 847.9
Total assets(4) 5,488.8 5,177.5 5,136.9 4,396.4 4,133.7
Long-term debt and finance leases 1,499.3 1,771.6 1,316.3 713.4 963.6
Total debt(5) 1,939.5 1,966.2 1,581.7 1,292.5 1,058.9
Shareholders’ equity 1,204.0 955.1 1,046.2 925.5 965.7

Depreciation and amortization expense $ 179.0 $ 181.0 $ 178.7 $ 180.1 $ 188.3
Research and development expense 92.6 98.2 93.4 89.7 91.9
Effective tax rate(3) (22.7)% 15.4% 52.2% 32.8% 32.9%
(1) Included pretax charges for severance and related costs, asset impairment charges and lease cancellation costs, Argentine peso remeasurement transition loss, reversal of acquisition-

related contingent consideration, legal settlements, transactions costs, and other items.
(2) Included pension plan settlements and related charges of $444.1 for fiscal year 2019.
(3) Included tax benefit of $178.9 for fiscal year 2019 related to the termination of our U.S. pension plan.
(4) In the first quarter of 2019, we adopted accounting guidance that requires lessees to recognize on their balance sheets the rights and obligations created by leases. As allowed by this

guidance, we elected to apply it using a modified retrospective approach. This approach applies to all leases that existed at or commenced after the date of our initial application. As
such, prior year comparative periods have not been adjusted.

(5) Included finance leases.
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The graph below compares the cumulative stockholder return on our common stock, including the reinvestment of
dividends, with the return on the S&P 500� Stock Index, the average return (weighted by market capitalization) of the
S&P 500� Materials and Industrials subsets (the ‘‘Market Basket’’), and the median return of the Market Basket, in each case
for the five-year period ending December 31, 2019.
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Avery Dennison Corporation

S&P 500 Index

Industrials and Materials (Weighted Average)

Industrials and Materials (Median)

12/31/2014 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019

Avery Dennison Corporation $100.00 $121.32 $137.83 $208.30 $161.10 $224.85
S&P 500 Index 100.00 99.27 108.31 127.53 119.32 149.59
Market Basket (Weighted Average)(2) 100.00 98.20 117.10 144.15 122.88 154.41
Market Basket (Median) 100.00 89.54 104.87 128.51 106.24 136.21

(1) Assumes $100.00 invested on December 31, 2014 and reinvestment of dividends.
(2) Average weighted by market capitalization.

Historical stock price performance is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

3

Stockholder Return Performance

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return as of December 31, 2019

Total Return Analysis(1)

Avery Dennison Corporation 2019 Annual Report



4

to facilitate comparison to the results of competitors for a
single period.

We use the following non-GAAP financial measures inManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
this MD&A:Condition and Results of Operations, or MD&A, provides

• Sales change ex. currency refers to the increase ormanagement’s views on our financial condition and results
decrease in net sales, excluding the estimatedof operations, should be read in conjunction with the
impact of foreign currency translation, and, whereaccompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and
applicable, currency adjustment for transitionalnotes thereto, and includes the following sections:
reporting of highly inflationary economies
(Argentina). Segment results are also adjusted forNon-GAAP Financial Measures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
the reclassification of sales between segments.Overview and Outlook . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
The estimated impact of foreign currencyAnalysis of Results of Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7
translation is calculated on a constant currencyResults of Operations by Reportable Segment . . . . . . . . 8
basis, with prior period results translated atFinancial Condition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10
current period average exchange rates to excludeCritical Accounting Estimates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15
the effect of currency fluctuations.Recent Accounting Requirements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

• Organic sales change refers to sales change ex.Market-Sensitive Instruments and Risk Management . . . . 18
currency, excluding the estimated impact of
product line exits, acquisitions and divestitures,
and, where applicable, an extra week in our fiscal
year.We report our financial results in conformity with

We believe that sales change ex. currencyaccounting principles generally accepted in the United
and organic sales change assist investors inStates of America, or GAAP, and also communicate with
evaluating the sales change from the ongoinginvestors using certain non-GAAP financial measures.
activities of our businesses and enhance theirThese non-GAAP financial measures are not in accordance
ability to evaluate our results from period towith, nor are they a substitute for or superior to, the
period.comparable GAAP financial measures. These non-GAAP

• Free cash flow refers to cash flow provided byfinancial measures are intended to supplement
operating activities, less payments for property,presentation of our financial results that are prepared in
plant and equipment, software and other deferredaccordance with GAAP. Based upon feedback from
charges, plus proceeds from sales of property,investors and financial analysts, we believe that the
plant and equipment, plus (minus) net proceedssupplemental non-GAAP financial measures we provide are
from insurance and sales (purchases) ofuseful to their assessments of our performance and
investments. Free cash flow is also adjusted for theoperating trends, as well as liquidity.
cash contributions related to the termination ofOur non-GAAP financial measures exclude the impact
our U.S. pension plan. We believe that free cashof certain events, activities or strategic decisions. The
flow assists investors by showing the amount ofaccounting effects of these events, activities or decisions,
cash we have available for debt reductions,which are included in the GAAP financial measures, may
dividends, share repurchases, and acquisitions.make it difficult to assess our underlying performance in a

• Operational working capital as a percentage ofsingle period. By excluding the accounting effects, positive
annualized current quarter net sales refers to tradeor negative, of certain items (e.g., restructuring charges,
accounts receivable and inventories, net oflegal settlements, certain effects of strategic transactions
accounts payable, and excludes cash and cashand related costs, losses from debt extinguishments, gains
equivalents, short-term borrowings, deferredor losses from curtailment or settlement of pension
taxes, other current assets and other currentobligations, gains or losses on sales of certain assets, and
liabilities, as well as net current assets or liabilitiesother items), we believe that we are providing meaningful
held-for-sale divided by annualized currentsupplemental information that facilitates an understanding
quarter net sales. We believe that operationalof our core operating results and liquidity measures. While
working capital as a percentage of annualizedsome of the items we exclude from GAAP financial
current quarter net sales assists investors inmeasures recur, they tend to be disparate in amount,
assessing our working capital requirementsfrequency, or timing.
because it excludes the impact of fluctuationsWe use these non-GAAP financial measures internally
attributable to our financing and other activitiesto evaluate trends in our underlying performance, as well as

4
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(which affect cash and cash equivalents, deferred
In July 2018, our Board of Directors (‘‘Board’’)taxes, other current assets, and other current

approved the termination of the Avery Dennison Pensionliabilities) that tend to be disparate in amount,
Plan (the ‘‘ADPP’’), a U.S. defined benefit plan, effective asfrequency, or timing, and that may increase the
of September 28, 2018. In connection with the termination,volatility of working capital as a percentage of
we contributed $200 million to the ADPP in August 2018;sales from period to period. The items excluded
settled approximately $152 million of ADPP liabilitiesfrom this measure are not significantly influenced
during the fourth quarter of 2018 through lump-sumby our day-to-day activities managed at the
payments from existing plan assets to eligible participantsoperating level and do not necessarily reflect the
who elected to receive them; and recorded approximatelyunderlying trends in our operations.
$85 million of non-cash charges associated with these
settlements, partially offset by related tax benefits of
approximately $19 million. During 2019, we settled
approximately $749 million of ADPP liabilities by entering
into an agreement to purchase annuities primarily fromNormally, our fiscal years consist of 52 weeks, but
American General Life Insurance Company (‘‘AGL’’). Thisevery fifth or sixth fiscal year consists of 53 weeks. Our
agreement covered approximately 8,300 active and former2019, 2018, and 2017 fiscal years consisted of 52-week
employees and their beneficiaries, with AGL assuming theperiods ending December 28, 2019, December 29, 2018,
future annuity payments for these individuals, commencingand December 30, 2017, respectively.
April 1, 2019. Additionally, we settled approximately
$4 million of ADPP liabilities through a combination of
annuities and direct funding to the Pension BenefitThe factors impacting the reported sales change are
Guaranty Corporation for the remaining approximately 200shown in the table below.
former employees and their beneficiaries. We contributed

2019 2018 approximately $10 million of cash during fiscal 2019 to the
Reported sales change (1)% 8% ADPP to cover costs associated with the final settlement of

Foreign currency translation 3 (1) these liabilities. These settlements resulted in
approximately $444 million of pretax charges in 2019,Sales change ex. currency 2% 7%
partially offset by related tax benefits of approximatelyAcquisitions – (1)
$179 million.

Organic sales change 2% 6% Refer to Note 6, ‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement
Benefits,’’ to the Consolidated Financial Statements forIn 2019, net sales increased on an organic basis due to
more information.a combination of higher volume/mix and pricing actions. In

2018, net sales increased on an organic basis primarily due
to higher volume.

2019/2020 Actions
During fiscal year 2019, we recorded $25.2 million in

restructuring charges related to our 2019/2020 actions.Net income decreased from approximately
These charges consisted of severance and related costs for$467 million in 2018 to approximately $304 million in 2019.
the reduction of approximately 370 positions, as well asThe major factors affecting the change in net income in
asset impairment charges.2019 compared to 2018 were:

• Pension plan settlement charges, net of related
2018/2019 Actionstax benefits

In April 2018, we approved a restructuring plan (the• Higher employee-related costs
‘‘2018 Plan’’) to consolidate the European footprint of our• Impact of foreign currency translation
Label and Graphic Materials (‘‘LGM’’) reportable segment,Offsetting factors:
which reduced headcount by approximately 390 positions,• Benefits from productivity initiatives, including
including temporary labor, from the closure of asavings from restructuring actions, net of
manufacturing facility. This reduction was partially offset bytransition costs
headcount additions in other locations, resulting in a net• Tax benefit from a discrete foreign structuring
reduction of approximately 150 positions. During fiscal yeartransaction
2019, we recorded a net $2.3 million in restructuring
reversals related to the 2018 Plan. During fiscal year 2018,

5
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we recorded $55.2 million in restructuring charges, net of or in the aggregate, to the Consolidated Financial
reversals. The cumulative charges associated with the 2018 Statements.
Plan consisted of severance and related costs for the
headcount reduction, as well as asset impairment charges.
The activities related to the 2018 Plan were substantially Refer to Note 1, ‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting
completed as of the end of the second quarter of 2019. Policies,’’ to the Consolidated Financial Statements for this

In addition to restructuring charges recorded under information.
the 2018 Plan, we recorded $28.2 million in restructuring
charges during fiscal year 2019 related to other 2018/2019

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017actions. These charges consisted of severance and related
costs for the reduction of approximately 490 positions, as Net cash provided by operating
well as asset impairment charges. In the fourth quarter activities $ 746.5 $ 457.9 $ 645.7
2018, we recorded $4.2 million in restructuring charges Purchases of property, plant and
relating to these other 2018/2019 actions. These charges equipment (219.4) (226.7) (190.5)
consisted of severance and related costs for the reduction Purchases of software and other
of approximately 85 positions, as well as impairment deferred charges (37.8) (29.9) (35.6)
charges. Proceeds from sales of property,

plant and equipment 7.8 9.4 6.0
2015/2016 Actions Proceeds from insurance and

During fiscal year 2018, we recorded $14.3 million in (purchases) sales of
restructuring charges, net of reversals, related to our investments, net 4.9 18.5 (3.9)
2015/2016 actions. These charges consisted of severance Plus: Pension plan contributions
and related costs for the reduction of approximately 625 for plan termination 10.3 200.0 –
positions, lease cancellation costs, and asset impairment

Free cash flow $ 512.3 $ 429.2 $ 421.7
charges. The activities and related charges and payments
related to the 2015/2016 actions were substantially

In 2019, cash flow provided by operating activitiescompleted in 2018.
increased compared to 2018 primarily due to lower
pension plan contributions, improved operational workingImpact of Cost Reduction Actions
capital, and lower incentive compensation payments,During fiscal year 2019, we realized approximately
partially offset by higher restructuring payments. In 2019,$50 million in savings, net of transition costs, primarily from
free cash flow increased compared to 2018 primarily due toour 2018/2019 actions. During fiscal year 2018, we realized
higher cash provided by operating activities adjusted forapproximately $30 million in savings, net of transition costs,
our contribution to the ADPP, partially offset by netprimarily from our 2015/2016 actions.
proceeds from insurance and (purchases) sales ofRestructuring charges were included in ‘‘Other
investments.expense, net’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Refer to Note 13, ‘‘Cost Reduction Actions,’’ to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

Certain factors that we believe may contribute to our
2020 results are described below:

• We expect our net sales to increase by 4.0% toIn November 2019, we announced our agreement to
5.5%, including the impacts of the Smartracacquire Smartrac’s Transponder (RFID Inlay) division
acquisition and the extra week in our 2020 fiscal(‘‘Smartrac’’), a manufacturer of radio-frequency
year.identification (‘‘RFID’’) products, for a purchase price of

• We anticipate incremental savings fromapproximately $250 million (e225 million), subject to
restructuring, net of transition costs, ofcustomary adjustments. We expect to complete this
approximately $30 million to $40 million.acquisition in the first quarter of 2020.

• We estimate cash restructuring charges ofDuring 2017, we completed the stock acquisitions of
approximately $20 million.Yongle Tape Ltd. (‘‘Yongle Tape’’) and Finesse Medical

• We expect our full year effective tax rate to be inLimited, and the net asset acquisition of Hanita Coatings
the mid-twenty percent range.Rural Cooperative Association Limited and stock

• We anticipate capital and software expendituresacquisition of certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
of $220 million to $230 million.‘‘2017 Acquisitions’’), which were not material, individually

6
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(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

(In millions, except percentages) 2019 2018 2017 Restructuring charges:
Severance and related costs $45.3 $63.0 $31.2Net sales $7,070.1 $7,159.0 $6,613.8
Asset impairment charges andCost of products sold 5,166.0 5,243.5 4,801.6

lease cancellation costs 5.1 10.7 2.2Gross profit 1,904.1 1,915.5 1,812.2
Other items:Marketing, general and

Legal settlement 3.4 – –administrative expense 1,080.4 1,127.5 1,105.2
Transaction costs 2.6 – 5.2Other expense, net 53.2 69.9 36.5
Argentine peso remeasurementInterest expense 75.8 58.5 63.0

transition loss – 3.4 –Other non-operating
Other restructuring-related charge – .5 –expense, net 445.2 104.8 18.0
Reversal of acquisition-related

Income before taxes $ 249.5 $ 554.8 $ 589.5 contingent consideration – (5.0) –
Net gains on sales of assets (3.2) (2.7) (2.1)Gross profit margin 26.9% 26.8% 27.4%

Other expense, net $53.2 $69.9 $36.5

Gross profit margin in 2019 increased slightly Refer to Note 13, ‘‘Cost Reduction Actions,’’ to the
compared to 2018 reflecting benefits from productivity Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
initiatives, including material re-engineering and savings
from restructuring actions, net of transition costs, partially
offset by the net impact of higher employee- related costs Interest expense increased approximately
and unfavorable volume/mix. $17.3 million in 2019 compared to 2018, reflecting

Gross profit margin in 2018 decreased compared to additional interest costs related to the $500 million of
2017 reflecting the net impact of pricing and raw material senior notes we issued in December 2018.
inflation and higher employee-related costs, as well as Interest expense decreased approximately $4.5 million
growth investments, partially offset by the benefits from in 2018 compared to 2017, reflecting the repayment of
productivity initiatives, including savings from restructuring $250 million of senior notes in October 2017, which was
actions, net of transition costs. financed using commercial paper borrowed at a lower

interest rate.

Marketing, general and administrative expense
decreased in 2019 compared to 2018 reflecting the Other non-operating expense, net increased in 2019
benefits from productivity initiatives, including savings from compared to 2018, which reflected approximately
restructuring actions, net of transition costs, and the $444 million of final settlement charges related to the
favorable impact of foreign currency translation, partially termination of the ADPP.
offset by higher employee-related costs and growth Other non-operating expense, net increased in 2018
investments. compared to 2017, which reflected approximately

Marketing, general and administrative expense $94 million of settlement charges related to the termination
increased in 2018 compared to 2017 reflecting the impact of the ADPP, as well as losses associated with two U.S.
of acquisitions and other growth investments and the nonqualified benefit plans and two of our international
unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation, partially benefit plans, partially offset by a higher expected return
offset by the benefits from productivity initiatives, including on plan assets in certain of our international defined benefit
savings from restructuring, net of transition costs. pension plans.

Refer to Note 6, ‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement
Benefits,’’ and Note 14, ‘‘Taxes Based on Income,’’ to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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(In millions, except percentages and (In millions) 2019 2018 2017
per share amounts) 2019 2018 2017

Net sales including
Income before taxes $249.5 $554.8 $589.5 intersegment sales $4,826.1 $4,929.8 $4,575.8
(Benefit from) provision for Less intersegment sales (80.2) (78.7) (64.1)

income taxes (56.7) 85.4 307.7
Equity method investment losses (2.6) (2.0) – Net sales $4,745.9 $4,851.1 $4,511.7

Operating income(1) 601.5 568.2 577.4Net income $303.6 $467.4 $281.8
(1) Included charges associated withNet income per common share $ 3.61 $ 5.35 $ 3.19

restructuring actions and gains/
Net income per common share, losses on sales of assets in all years,

assuming dilution 3.57 5.28 3.13 Argentine peso remeasurement
transition loss and otherEffective tax rate (22.7)% 15.4% 52.2%
restructuring-related charge in
2018, and transaction costs in 2017. $ 28.3 $ 61.8 $ 14.5

Our effective tax rate in 2019 decreased compared to Net Sales
2018 primarily due to the tax effects of the settlement The factors impacting reported sales change are
charges associated with the termination of the ADPP and a shown in the table below.
discrete foreign structuring transaction.

Our effective tax rate in 2018 decreased compared to 2019 2018
2017 primarily due to tax benefits related to adjustments to Reported sales change (2)% 8%
our 2017 U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (‘‘TCJA’’) provisional Foreign currency translation 4 (2)
amount and a discrete foreign tax planning action, while

Organic sales change(1) 1% 6%our effective tax rate in 2017 included net tax charges
(1) Total does not sum due to roundingcomprised of our TCJA provisional amount.

We expect our effective tax rate for 2020 to be in the In 2019, net sales increased on an organic basis
mid-twenty percent range. Our effective tax rate can vary primarily due to prior year pricing actions. On an organic
from period to period due to the recognition of discrete basis, net sales increased low-single digits in emerging
events, such as changes in tax reserves, settlements of markets and were comparable to prior year in North
income tax audits, changes in tax laws and regulations, America and Western Europe.
return-to-provision adjustments, and tax impacts related to In 2018, net sales increased on an organic basis due to
stock-based payments, as well as recurring factors, such as higher volume and pricing actions. Net sales increased on
changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing an organic basis at mid-single digit rates in emerging
statutory tax rates and the execution of tax planning markets and North America and at a low-single digit rate in
strategies. Western Europe.

Refer to Note 14, ‘‘Taxes Based on Income,’’ to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information. Operating Income

Operating income increased in 2019 compared to
2018 primarily due to benefits from productivity initiatives,
including material re-engineering and savings from

Operating income refers to income before taxes, restructuring actions, net of transition costs, and lower
interest and other non-operating expenses, net. restructuring charges, partially offset by the unfavorable

impact of foreign currency translation and the combined
effect of volume and mix.

Operating income decreased in 2018 compared to
2017 reflecting higher restructuring charges, employee-
related costs and the net impact of pricing and raw material
costs, excluding the effects of foreign currency, partially
offset by the combined effect of volume and mix, as well as
a net benefit from changes in foreign currency.
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(In millions) 2019 2018 2017 (In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Net sales including Net sales including intersegment
intersegment sales $1,670.9 $1,617.9 $1,514.4 sales $682.7 $703.5 $598.6

Less intersegment sales (20.6) (4.7) (3.2) Less intersegment sales (8.8) (8.8) (7.7)
Net sales $1,650.3 $1,613.2 $1,511.2

Net sales $673.9 $694.7 $590.9Operating income(1) 196.6 170.4 126.7
Operating income(1) 60.0 62.9 52.6

(1) Included charges associated with
(1) Included charges associated withrestructuring actions and net gains

on sales of assets in all years, restructuring actions in all years,
transaction costs in 2019, and transaction costs in 2017, and reversal of
transaction costs related to sale of acquisition-related contingent
product line in 2017. $ 9.9 $ 11.4 $ 18.1 consideration in 2018. $ 9.4 $ (1.0) $ 3.7

Net Sales Net Sales
The factors impacting reported sales change are The factors impacting reported sales change are

shown in the table below. shown in the table below.
2019 2018

2019 2018Reported sales change 2% 7%
Reclassification of sales between segments 1 – Reported sales change (3)% 18%
Foreign currency translation 2 – Foreign currency translation 3 (2)

Organic sales change 5% 7% Sales change ex. currency – 16
Acquisitions – (15)

In 2019, net sales increased on an organic basis Organic sales change –% 1%
primarily due to continued strength in RFID solutions and
external embellishments. In 2019, net sales were comparable to prior year on an

In 2018, net sales increased on an organic basis driven organic basis.
by strength in both RFID solutions and the base business. In 2018, net sales increased on an organic basis

primarily due to higher volume in industrial categories.
Operating Income

Operating income increased in 2019 compared to Operating Income
2018 primarily due to higher volume and benefits from Operating income decreased in 2019 compared to
productivity initiatives, including savings from restructuring 2018 primarily due to higher restructuring charges and a
actions, net of transition costs, partially offset by higher prior year reversal of acquisition-related contingent
employee-related costs. consideration, as well as higher employee-related costs,

Operating income increased in 2018 compared to largely offset by benefits from productivity initiatives,
2017 reflecting higher volume, the benefits from including savings from restructuring actions, net of
productivity initiatives, including savings from restructuring transition costs and the net benefit of pricing and raw
actions, net of transition costs, and lower amortization of material costs.
intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions, Operating income increased in 2018 compared to
partially offset by higher employee-related costs and 2017 driven by the net impact of acquisitions and organic
growth investments. growth, partially offset by growth investments.
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(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment $(219.4) $(226.7) $(190.5)

Purchases of software and other
(In millions) 2019 2018 2017 deferred charges (37.8) (29.9) (35.6)

Proceeds from sales of property,Net income $ 303.6 $ 467.4 $ 281.8
plant and equipment 7.8 9.4 6.0Depreciation 140.3 141.5 126.6

Proceeds from insurance andAmortization 38.7 39.5 52.1
(purchases) sales ofProvision for doubtful accounts
investments, net 4.9 18.5 (3.9)and sales returns 58.7 45.6 37.6

Payments for investments inStock-based compensation 34.5 34.3 30.2
businesses and acquisitions, netPension plan settlements and
of cash acquired (6.5) (3.8) (319.3)related charges 444.1 93.7 –

Deferred taxes and other Net cash used in investing
non-cash taxes (216.9) (32.7) 151.6 activities $(251.0) $(232.5) $(543.3)

Other non-cash expense and loss 28.3 60.4 53.5
Trade accounts receivable (42.2) (62.5) (141.2)

Purchases of Property, Plant and EquipmentInventories (18.1) (70.5) (14.9)
In 2019, 2018 and 2017, we invested in equipment andAccounts payable 46.4 43.6 83.4

expanded manufacturing facilities to support growth andTaxes on income 5.4 (35.5) 29.6
improve manufacturing productivity in Asia, North AmericaOther assets 38.4 (11.6) (20.9)
and Europe.Other liabilities (114.7) (255.3) (23.7)

Net cash provided by operating Purchases of Software and Other Deferred Charges
activities $ 746.5 $ 457.9 $ 645.7 In 2019, we invested in enterprise resource planning

system implementations in North America and enterprise
In 2019, cash flow provided by operating activities resource planning system upgrades worldwide. In 2018, we

increased compared to 2018 primarily due to lower invested in enterprise resource planning system
pension plan contributions, improved operational working implementations in North America and Asia. In 2017, we
capital, and lower incentive compensation payments, invested in enterprise resource planning system
partially offset by higher restructuring payments. implementations in North America, Asia, and Europe.

In 2018, cash flow provided by operating activities
decreased compared to 2017 primarily due to our

Proceeds from Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment
$200 million contribution to the ADPP in connection with its

In 2019, the majority of the proceeds from sales of
termination, higher income tax payments, net of refunds,

property, plant and equipment was related to the sale of
changes in operational working capital, and higher

one property in each of North America, Asia and Europe. In
incentive compensation payments, partially offset by

2018, the majority of the proceeds from sales of property,
higher net income.

plant and equipment was related to the sale of two
properties in Europe.

Proceeds from Insurance and (Purchases) Sales of
Investments, Net

In 2019, we had lower proceeds from insurance
associated with our corporate-owned life insurance
policies, partially offset by lower net (purchases) sales of
investments compared to 2018. In 2018, we had higher
proceeds from insurance associated with our corporate-
owned life insurance policies and lower net (purchases)
sales of investments compared to 2017.
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Payments for Investments in Businesses and Acquisitions, to repay commercial paper borrowed to finance a portion
Net of Cash Acquired of the purchase price for our acquisition of the European

In 2019 and 2018, we paid $6.5 million and $3.8 million business of Mactac and the remainder of which we used for
for investments in unconsolidated businesses, respectively. general corporate purposes, including other acquisitions.
In 2017, the aggregate payments for acquisitions, net of Refer to Note 2, ‘‘Acquisitions,’’ and Note 4, ‘‘Debt,’’ to
cash acquired, and investments in businesses were the Consolidated Financial Statements for more
approximately $319 million, which we funded through cash information.
and commercial paper borrowings. The 2017 Acquisitions
were also partially funded using proceeds from the Dividends Paid
e500 million senior notes we issued in 2017. We paid dividends of $2.26 per share in 2019

Refer to Note 2, ‘‘Acquisitions,’’ to the Consolidated compared to $2.01 per share in 2018. In April 2019, we
Financial Statements for more information. increased our quarterly dividend to $.58 per share,

representing an increase of approximately 12% from our
previous dividend rate of $.52 per share.

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Net change in borrowings and Share Repurchases
repayments of debt and From time to time, our Board authorizes the
finance leases $ (23.9) $ (84.0) $(343.0) repurchase of shares of our outstanding common stock.

Additional long-term borrowings – 493.3 542.9 Repurchased shares may be reissued under our long-term
Dividends paid (189.7) (175.0) (155.5) incentive plan or used for other corporate purposes. In
Share repurchases (237.7) (392.9) (129.7) 2019, we repurchased approximately 2 million shares of our
Net (tax withholding) proceeds common stock at an aggregate cost of $237.7 million. In

related to stock-based 2018, we repurchased approximately 4 million shares of our
compensation (17.4) (32.2) 1.4 common stock at an aggregate cost of $392.9 million.

Payments of contingent In April 2019, our Board authorized the repurchase of
consideration (1.6) (17.3) – shares of our common stock with a fair market value of up to

$650 million, exclusive of any fees, commissions or otherNet cash used in financing
expenses related to such purchases, in addition to theactivities $(470.3) $(208.1) $ (83.9)
amount outstanding under our previous Board
authorization. Board authorizations remain in effect until

Borrowings and Repayment of Debt shares in the amount authorized thereunder have been
During 2019, 2018, and 2017, our commercial paper repurchased. As of December 28, 2019, shares of our

borrowings were used to fund share repurchase activity, common stock in the aggregate amount of $644.7 million
dividend payments, capital expenditures and acquisitions, remained authorized for repurchase under this Board
and for other general corporate purposes. authorization.

In December 2018, we issued $500 million of senior
notes, due December 2028. These senior notes bear an Net (Tax Withholding) Proceeds Related to Stock-Based
interest rate of 4.875% per year, payable semi-annually in Compensation
arrears. The net proceeds from this offering, after In 2019, tax withholding for stock-based
deducting underwriting discounts and estimated offering compensation decreased compared to 2018 as a result of
expenses, were $493.3 million, which we used to repay equity awards vesting at lower share prices. In 2018, tax
commercial paper borrowings. Prior to the issuance of withholding for stock-based compensation increased
these senior notes, we used commercial paper borrowings compared to 2017 as a result of higher share prices for
in the third quarter to fund our $200 million contribution to equity awards vesting during the year.
the ADPP in connection with its termination. Approximately .3 million, .03 million, and .6 million

In March 2017, we issued e500 million of senior notes, stock options were exercised in 2019, 2018, and 2017,
due March 2025. These senior notes bear an interest rate of respectively. Refer to Note 12, ‘‘Long-Term Incentive
1.25% per year, payable annually in arrears. The net Compensation,’’ to the Consolidated Financial Statements
proceeds from this offering, after deducting underwriting for more information.
discounts and estimated offering expenses, were
$526.6 million (e495.5 million), a portion of which we used
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Long-lived Assets The impact on net income from transactions
Property, plant and equipment, net, increased by denominated in foreign currencies is largely mitigated

approximately $73 million to $1.2 billion at year-end 2019, because the costs of our products are generally
which primarily reflected purchases of property, plant and denominated in the same currencies in which they are sold.
equipment, partially offset by depreciation expense and In addition, to reduce our income and cash flow exposure
the impact of foreign currency translation. to transactions in foreign currencies, we enter into foreign

Goodwill decreased by approximately $11 million to exchange forward, option and swap contracts where
$930.8 million at year-end 2019 due to the impact of available and appropriate. We also utilized certain foreign-
foreign currency translation. currency-denominated debt to mitigate our foreign

Other intangibles resulting from business acquisitions, currency translation exposure from our net investment in
net, decreased by approximately $18 million to foreign operations. Refer to Note 5, ‘‘Financial
$126.5 million at year-end 2019, which primarily reflected Instruments,’’ to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
amortization expense. more information.

Refer to Note 3, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Resulting from Business Acquisitions,’’ to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for more information. We utilize the financial ratios discussed below to assess

Other assets increased by approximately $204 million our financial condition and operating performance. We
to $654.8 million and long-term retirement benefits and believe this information assists our investors in
other liabilities increased by approximately $87 million to understanding drivers of our cash flow other than net
$421.4 million, primarily reflecting the recognition of income and capital expenditures.
operating lease assets and liabilities as the result of our
adoption of the accounting guidance update described in Operational Working Capital Ratio
Note 1, ‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,’’ of Operational working capital, as a percentage of
the Consolidated Financial Statements. annualized current-quarter net sales, is reconciled to

working capital below. Our objective is to minimize our
Shareholders’ Equity Accounts investment in operational working capital, as a percentage

The balance of our shareholders’ equity increased by of annualized current-quarter net sales, to maximize our
approximately $249 million to $1.2 billion at year-end 2019. cash flow and return on investment. Operational working
Refer to Note 11, ‘‘Supplemental Equity and capital, as a percentage of annualized current-quarter net
Comprehensive Income Information,’’ to the Consolidated sales in 2019 was modestly favorable compared to 2018.
Financial Statements for more information.

(In millions, except percentages) 2019 2018

(A) Working capital $ 86.8 $ 304.0
(In millions) 2019 2018 Reconciling items:
Change in net sales $(230) $86 Cash and cash equivalents (253.7) (232.0)

Other current assets (211.7) (224.9)
In 2019, international operations generated Short-term borrowings and current

approximately 77% of our net sales. Our future results are portion of long-term debt and
subject to changes in political and economic conditions in finance leases 440.2 194.6
the regions in which we operate and the impact of Current income taxes payable and
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange and interest other current accrued liabilities 747.5 768.9
rates.

(B) Operational working capital $ 809.1 $ 810.6The unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation
(C) Fourth-quarter net sales, annualized $7,091.6 $7,074.8on net sales in 2019 compared to 2018 was primarily

related to euro-denominated sales and sales in China and Operational working capital, as a
Brazil. percentage of annualized current-

On July 1, 2018, we began accounting for our quarter net sales (B) � (C) 11.4% 11.5%
operations in Argentina as highly inflationary, as the
country’s three-year cumulative inflation rate exceeded

Accounts Receivable Ratio100%. As a result, the functional currency of our Argentine
The average number of days sales outstanding wassubsidiary became the U.S. dollar.

63 days in 2019 compared to 62 days in 2018, calculated
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using the four-quarter average accounts receivable balance access to commercial paper. We use these resources to
divided by the average daily sales in 2019 and 2018, fund operational needs.
respectively. The increase in average number of days sales At year-end 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of
outstanding primarily reflected the timing of collections $253.7 million held in accounts at third-party financial
and the impact of foreign currency translation. institutions. Our cash balances are held in numerous

locations throughout the world. At year-end 2019, the
majority of our cash and cash equivalents was held by ourInventory Ratio
foreign subsidiaries.Average inventory turnover was 7.7 in 2019 compared

To meet U.S. cash requirements, we have severalto 7.8 in 2018, calculated using the annual cost of sales in
cost-effective liquidity options available. These options2019 and 2018, respectively, and divided by the
include borrowing funds at reasonable rates, includingfour-quarter average inventory balance. The decrease in
borrowings from foreign subsidiaries, and repatriatingaverage inventory turnover primarily reflected the timing of
foreign earnings and profits. However, if we were toinventory purchases.
repatriate incremental foreign earnings and profits, we
could be subject to cash payments of withholding taxesAccounts Payable Ratio
imposed by foreign tax authorities and additional U.S.The average number of days payable outstanding was
taxes due to the impact of foreign currency movements74 days in 2019 compared to 73 days in 2018, calculated
related to such earnings and profits.using the four-quarter average accounts payable balance

In November 2017, we amended and restated thedivided by the average daily cost of products sold in 2019
Revolver, increasing the amount available from certainand 2018, respectively. The increase in average number of
domestic and foreign banks from $700 million todays payable outstanding primarily reflected longer
$800 million. The amendment also extended the Revolver’spayment terms with vendors and the impact of foreign
maturity date to November 8, 2022. The Revolver is used ascurrency translation.
a back-up facility for our commercial paper program and
can be used for other corporate purposes.Financial Covenants

No balance was outstanding under the Revolver as ofOur revolving credit facility (the ‘‘Revolver’’) contains
December 28, 2019 or December 29, 2018. Commitmentfinancial covenants requiring that we maintain specified
fees associated with the Revolver in 2019, 2018, and 2017ratios of total debt and interest expense in relation to
were $1.2 million, $1.2 million, and $1.1 million,certain measures of income. As of December 28, 2019 and
respectively.December 29, 2018, we were in compliance with our

Subsequent to our fiscal year-end 2019, in Februaryfinancial covenants.
2020, we again amended and restated the Revolver,
extending the maturity date to February 13, 2025. TheFair Value of Debt
maturity date may be extended for an additional one-yearThe estimated fair value of our long-term debt is
period under certain circumstances. The commitmentsprimarily based on the credit spread above U.S. Treasury
under the Revolver may be increased by up to $400 million,securities or euro government bond securities, as
subject to lender approvals and customary requirements.applicable, on notes with similar rates, credit ratings, and

In addition to the Revolver, we have significantremaining maturities. The fair value of short-term
short-term lines of credit available in various countries ofborrowings, which includes commercial paper issuances
approximately $330 million in the aggregate atand short-term lines of credit, approximates carrying value
December 28, 2019. These lines may be cancelled at anygiven the short duration of these obligations. The fair value
time by us or the issuing banks. Short-term borrowingsof our total debt was $2.05 billion at December 28, 2019
outstanding under our lines of credit were $37.4 million andand $2 billion at December 29, 2018. Fair value amounts
$45.5 million at December 28, 2019 and December 29,were determined based primarily on Level 2 inputs, which
2018, respectively, with a weighted average interest rate ofare inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that
6.4% and 7%, respectively.are either directly or indirectly observable. Refer to Note 1,

Refer to Note 4, ‘‘Debt,’’ to the Consolidated Financial‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,’’ for more
Statements for more information.information.

We are exposed to financial market risk resulting from
changes in interest and foreign currency rates, and to
possible liquidity and credit risks of our counterparties.Capital resources include cash flows from operations,

cash and cash equivalents and debt financing, including
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Capital from Debt could impact our ability to access the commercial paper
Our total debt decreased by approximately $27 million markets. If our access to commercial paper markets were to

to $1.94 billion at year-end 2019 compared to $1.97 billion become limited, we expect that the Revolver and our other
at year-end 2018, primarily reflecting a net decrease in credit facilities would be available to meet our short-term
commercial paper borrowings and the impact of foreign funding requirements. When determining a credit rating,
currency translation. we believe that rating agencies primarily consider our

Credit ratings are a significant factor in our ability to competitive position, business outlook, consistency of cash
raise short- and long-term financing. The credit ratings flows, debt level and liquidity, geographic dispersion and
assigned to us also impact the interest rates paid and our management team. We remain committed to maintaining
access to commercial paper, credit facilities, and other an investment grade rating.
borrowings. A downgrade of our short-term credit ratings

Contractual Obligations at End of Year 2019

Payments Due by Period

(In millions) Total 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter

Short-term borrowings $ 170.7 $170.7 $ – $ – $ – $ – $ –
Long-term debt, including current portion 1,751.5 265.0 – – 250.0 – 1,236.5
Interest on long-term debt 415.6 55.4 51.0 51.0 45.0 42.6 170.6
Finance leases 31.6 5.7 12.5 4.5 4.1 3.9 .9
Operating leases 159.7 46.0 35.2 22.4 15.2 11.1 29.8

Total contractual obligations $2,529.1 $542.8 $98.7 $77.9 $314.3 $57.6 $1,437.8

The table above does not include: plans. Refer to Note 6, ‘‘Pension and Other
• Purchase obligations or open purchase orders at Postretirement Benefits,’’ to the Consolidated

year-end—It is impracticable for us to obtain this Financial Statements for more information,
information or provide a reasonable estimate including expected benefit payments over the
thereof due to the decentralized nature of our next 10 years.
purchasing systems. In addition, purchase orders • Deferred compensation plan benefit payments—
are generally entered into at fair value and It is impracticable for us to obtain a reasonable
cancelable without penalty. estimate for 2019 and beyond due to the volatility

• Cash funding requirements for pension benefits of the payment amounts and certain events that
payable to certain eligible current and future could trigger immediate payment of benefits to
retirees under our funded plans—Benefits under participants. In addition, participant account
our funded pension plans are paid through trusts balances are marked-to-market monthly and
or trust equivalents. Cash funding requirements benefit payments are adjusted annually. Refer to
for our funded plans, which can be significantly Note 6, ‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement
impacted by earnings on investments, the Benefits,’’ to the Consolidated Financial
discount rate, changes in the plans, and funding Statements for more information.
laws and regulations, are not included as we are • Cash awards to employees under incentive
not able to estimate required contributions to the compensation plans—The amounts to be paid to
trusts or trust equivalents. Refer to Note 6, employees under these awards are based on our
‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits,’’ to stock price and, if applicable, achievement of
the Consolidated Financial Statements for certain performance objectives as of the end of
information regarding expected contributions to their respective performance periods, and,
these plans and plan terminations and therefore, we cannot reasonably estimate the
settlements. amounts to be paid on the vesting dates. Refer to

• Pension and postretirement benefit payments— Note 12, ‘‘Long-term Incentive Compensation,’’
As of December 28, 2019, we had unfunded to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
benefit obligations from certain defined benefit more information.
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• Unfunded termination indemnity benefits to performing the required impairment tests, we have the
certain employees outside of the U.S.—These option to first assess qualitative factors to determine
benefits are subject to applicable agreements, whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative
local laws and regulations. We have not incurred assessment for goodwill impairment. If the qualitative
significant costs related to these arrangements. assessment indicates that it is more-likely-than-not that the

• Unrecognized tax benefits of $70 million—The fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a
resolution of the balance, including the timing of quantitative assessment is performed. A quantitative
payments, is contingent upon various unknown assessment primarily consists of a present value
factors and cannot be reasonably estimated. Refer (discounted cash flow) method to determine the fair value
to Note 14, ‘‘Taxes Based on Income,’’ to the of the reporting units with goodwill.
Consolidated Financial Statements for more Certain factors may result in the need to perform an
information. impairment test prior to the fourth quarter, including

• Payments related to cost reduction actions—The significant underperformance of a business relative to
payments for severance and other contract expected operating results, significant adverse economic
terminations are subject to applicable and industry trends, significant decline in our market
agreements, local laws and practices. Refer to capitalization for an extended period of time relative to net
Note 13, ‘‘Cost Reduction Actions,’’ to the book value, or a decision to divest a portion of a reporting
Consolidated Financial Statements for more unit.
information. We compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its

• Acquisition-related obligations—Obligations carrying amount, and, to the extent the carrying amount
related to our agreement to acquire Smartrac’s exceeds the unit’s fair value, an impairment of goodwill is
Transponder (RFID Inlay) division. Refer to Note 2, recognized for the excess up to the amount of goodwill of
‘‘Acquisitions,’’ to the Consolidated Financial that reporting unit.
Statements for more information. In consultation with outside specialists, we estimate

the fair value of our reporting units using various valuation
techniques, with the primary technique being a discounted
cash flow analysis. A discounted cash flow analysis requires
us to make various assumptions about the reporting units,The preparation of financial statements in conformity
including their respective forecasted sales, operatingwith GAAP requires management to make estimates and
margins and growth rates, and discount rates. Assumptionsassumptions for the reporting period and as of the financial
about discount rates are based on a weighted average coststatement date. These estimates and assumptions affect
of capital for comparable companies. Assumptions aboutthe reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
sales, operating margins, and growth rates are based ondisclosure of contingent liabilities and the reported
our forecasts, business plans, economic projections,amounts of revenue and expense. Actual results could
anticipated future cash flows, and marketplace data.differ from these estimates.
Assumptions are also made for varying perpetual growthCritical accounting estimates are those that are
rates for periods beyond the long-term business planimportant to our financial condition and results, and which
period. We base our fair value estimates on projectedrequire us to make difficult, subjective and/or complex
financial information and assumptions that we believe arejudgments. Critical accounting estimates cover accounting
reasonable. However, actual future results may materiallymatters that are inherently uncertain because their future
differ from these estimates and projections. The valuationresolution is unknown. We believe our critical accounting
methodology used to estimate the fair value of reportingestimates include accounting for goodwill, pension and
units requires inputs and assumptions that reflect currentpostretirement benefits, taxes based on income, and
market conditions, as well as the impact of plannedlong-term incentive compensation.
business and operational strategies that require
management judgment. The estimated fair value could
increase or decrease depending on changes in the inputsOur reporting units are composed of either a discrete
and assumptions.business or an aggregation of businesses with similar

In our annual impairment analysis in the fourth quartereconomic characteristics. We perform an annual
of 2019, the goodwill of all reporting units in our Label andimpairment test of goodwill during the fourth quarter,
Graphic Materials and Retail Branding and Informationunless certain factors indicate the need to perform an
Solutions reportable segments, as well as the goodwill ofimpairment assessment in addition to the annual test. In
one reporting unit in our Industrial and Healthcare
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Materials reportable segment, were tested utilizing a benefit cost for our pension and other postretirement
qualitative assessment. Based on this assessment, we benefit plans. Under this approach, we apply multiple
determined that the fair values of these reporting units discount rates from a yield curve composed of the rates of
were more likely than not greater than their respective return on several hundred high-quality, fixed income
carrying values. Therefore, the goodwill in these reporting corporate bonds available at the measurement date. We
units was not impaired. believe this approach provides a more precise

Additionally, in our annual 2019 impairment analysis, measurement of service and interest cost by aligning the
the goodwill of one reporting unit in our Industrial and timing of the plans’ liability cash flows to the corresponding
Healthcare Materials reportable segment was tested rates on the yield curve.
utilizing a quantitative assessment. This assessment
indicated that the fair value of this reporting unit exceeded Long-term Return on Plan Assets
its carrying amount, including goodwill, by more than 100% We determine the long-term rate of return assumption
and the goodwill of this reporting unit was not impaired. for plan assets by reviewing the historical and expected

returns of both the equity and fixed income markets, taking
into account our asset allocation, the correlation between

Assumptions used in determining projected benefit returns in our asset classes, and our mix of active and
obligations and the fair value of plan assets for our defined passive investments. Additionally, current market
benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefit conditions, including interest rates, are evaluated and
plans are evaluated by management in consultation with market data is reviewed for reasonableness and
outside actuaries. In the event that we determine that appropriateness. An increase or decrease of .25% on the
changes are warranted in the assumptions used, such as the long-term return on assets associated with our international
discount rate, expected long-term rate of return, or health plans would have decreased or increased, respectively, our
care costs, future pension and postretirement benefit periodic benefit cost for the coming year by approximately
expenses could increase or decrease. Due to changes in $2 million.
market conditions or participant population, the actuarial
assumptions that we use may differ from actual results,
which could have a significant impact on our pension and We are subject to income tax in the U.S. and multiple
postretirement liability and related costs. foreign jurisdictions, whereby judgment is required in

evaluating and estimating our worldwide provision,
Discount Rate accruals for taxes, deferred taxes and for evaluating our tax

In consultation with our actuaries, we annually review positions. Our provision for income taxes is determined
and determine the discount rates to be used in valuing our using the asset and liability approach in accordance with
postretirement obligations. The assumed discount rates for GAAP. Deferred tax assets represent amounts available to
our international pension plans reflect market rates for high reduce income taxes payable in future years. These assets
quality corporate bonds currently available. Our discount arise because of temporary differences between the
rates are determined by evaluating yield curves consisting financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as
of large populations of high quality corporate bonds. The well as from net operating losses and tax credit
projected pension benefit payment streams are then carryforwards. These amounts are adjusted, as appropriate,
matched with the bond portfolios to determine a rate that to reflect changes in tax rates expected to be in effect when
reflects the liability duration unique to our plans. As of the temporary differences reverse. We evaluate the
December 28, 2019, a .25% increase in the discount rates realizability of these future tax deductions and credits by
associated with our international plans would have assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income
decreased our year-end projected benefit obligation by from all sources, including reversal of taxable temporary
$42 million and increased expected periodic benefit cost differences, forecasted operating earnings and available
for the coming year by approximately $1 million. tax planning strategies. Our assessment of these sources of
Conversely, a .25% decrease in the discount rates income relies heavily on estimates. Our forecasted earnings
associated with our international plans would have by jurisdiction are determined by how we operate our
increased our year-end projected benefit obligation by business and any changes to our operations may affect our
approximately $42 million and decreased expected effective tax rate. For example, our future income tax rate
periodic benefit cost for the coming year by approximately could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than
$2 million. anticipated in jurisdictions in which we have significant

We use the full yield curve approach to estimate the deferred tax assets that are dependent on such earnings to
service and interest cost components of net periodic be realized. We use historical experience along with
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operating forecasts to evaluate expected future taxable for estimated forfeitures, and amortized on a graded-
income. To the extent we do not consider it more- vesting basis over their respective performance periods.
likely-than-not that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, a Compensation expense for awards with a market
valuation allowance is established in the period we make condition as a performance objective, which includes PUs
that determination. A tax planning strategy is defined as and MSUs, is not adjusted if the condition is not met, as
‘‘an action that: is prudent and feasible; an enterprise long as the requisite service period is met.
ordinarily might not take, but would take to prevent an The fair value of stock options is estimated as of the
operating loss or tax credit carryforward from expiring date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
unused; and would result in realization of deferred tax model. This model requires input assumptions for our
assets.’’ expected dividend yield, expected stock price volatility,

Our income tax rate is significantly affected by the risk-free interest rate and the expected option term.
different tax rates applicable in the jurisdictions in which we The following assumptions are used in estimating the
do business. fair value of granted stock options:

We calculate our current and deferred tax provision Risk-free interest rate is based on the 52-week average
based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from of the Treasury-Bond rate that has a term corresponding to
the actual results reflected in income tax returns filed in the expected option term.
subsequent years. Adjustments based on filed returns are Expected stock price volatility represents an average
recorded when identified. of implied and historical volatility.

Tax laws are complex and subject to different Expected dividend yield is based on the current annual
interpretations by taxpayers and governmental taxing dividend divided by the 12-month average of our monthly
authorities. We review our tax positions quarterly and stock price prior to the date of grant.
adjust the balances as new information becomes available. Expected option term is determined based on
Significant judgment is required in determining our tax historical experience under our long-term incentive plans.
expense and evaluating our tax positions, including The fair value of RSUs and the component of PUs that
evaluating uncertainties. Our estimate of the potential is subject to achievement of performance objectives based
outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to on a financial performance condition is determined based
management’s assessment of relevant facts and on the fair market value of our common stock on the grant
circumstances existing at the balance sheet date, taking date, adjusted for foregone dividends.
into consideration existing laws, regulations and practices The fair value of stock-based awards that are subject to
of any governmental authorities exercising jurisdiction over achievement of performance objectives based on a market
our operations. For example, the European Commission condition, which includes MSUs and the other component
has conducted investigations in multiple countries focusing of PUs, is determined using the Monte-Carlo simulation
on whether local country tax rulings or tax legislation model, which utilizes multiple input variables, including
provides preferential tax treatment that violates European expected stock price volatility and other assumptions
Union state aid rules and concluded that certain countries, appropriate for determining fair value, to estimate the
including the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Belgium, Ireland, probability of satisfying the target performance objectives
and the United Kingdom, have provided illegal state aid in established for the award.
certain cases. We continue to monitor state aid
developments since they involve jurisdictions in which we Forfeiture Rate
have significant operations, and consider these matters in Changes in estimated forfeiture rates are recorded as
determining our uncertain tax positions. cumulative adjustments in the period estimates are revised.

Refer to Note 14, ‘‘Taxes Based on Income,’’ to the Certain of these assumptions are based on
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information. management’s estimates, in consultation with outside

specialists. Significant changes in assumptions for future
awards and actual forfeiture rates could materially impact

Valuation of Stock-Based Awards stock-based compensation expense and our results of
Our stock-based compensation expense is based on operations.

the fair value of awards, adjusted for estimated forfeitures,
and amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite Valuation of Cash-Based Awards
service period for stock options, restricted stock units Cash-based awards consist of long-term incentive
(‘‘RSUs’’), and performance units (‘‘PUs’’). The units (‘‘LTI Units’’) granted to eligible employees. LTI Units
compensation expense related to market-leveraged stock are classified as liability awards and remeasured at each
units (‘‘MSUs’’) is based on the fair value of awards, adjusted quarter-end over the applicable vesting or performance

17

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

Avery Dennison Corporation 2019 Annual Report



18

period. In addition to LTI Units with terms and conditions anticipated to be used in manufacturing and operations.
that mirror those of RSUs, we also grant certain employees These amounts are not material to our financial statements.
LTI Units with terms and conditions that mirror those of PUs In the normal course of operations, we also face other
and MSUs. risks that are either non-financial or non-quantifiable. These

risks principally include changes in economic or political
conditions, other risks associated with foreign operations,
commodity price risk and litigation and compliance risk,
which are not reflected in the analyses described below.Refer to Note 1, ‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies,’’ to the Consolidated Financial Statements for this
information.

We use a Value-At-Risk (‘‘VAR’’) model to determine
the estimated maximum potential one-day loss in earnings
associated with our foreign exchange positions and
contracts. This approach assumes that market rates or
prices for foreign exchange positions and contracts are
normally distributed. VAR model estimates are made

We are exposed to the impact of changes in foreign assuming normal market conditions. The model includes
currency exchange rates and interest rates. foreign exchange derivative contracts. Forecasted

We generally do not purchase or hold foreign currency transactions, firm commitments, and accounts receivable
or interest rate or commodity contracts for trading and accounts payable denominated in foreign currencies,
purposes. which certain of these instruments are intended to hedge,

Our objective in managing our exposure to foreign are excluded from the model.
currency changes is to reduce the risk to our earnings and The VAR model is a risk analysis tool and does not
cash flow associated with foreign exchange rate changes. represent actual losses in fair value that we could incur, nor
As a result, we enter into foreign exchange forward, option does it consider the potential effect of favorable changes in
and swap contracts to reduce risks associated with the market factors.
value of our existing foreign currency assets, liabilities, firm In both 2019 and 2018, the VAR was estimated using a
commitments and anticipated foreign revenues and costs, variance-covariance methodology. The currency correlation
when available and appropriate. The gains and losses on was based on one-year historical data obtained from one of
these contracts are intended to offset changes in the our domestic banks. A 95% confidence level was used for a
related exposures. We do not hedge our foreign currency one-day time horizon.
translation exposure in a manner that would entirely The estimated maximum potential one-day loss in
eliminate the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates earnings for our foreign exchange positions and contracts
on our net income. We also utilize certain foreign-currency- was not significant at year-end 2019 or 2018.
denominated debt to mitigate our foreign currency
translation exposure from our net investment in foreign
operations.

In 2019 and 2018, an assumed 30 basis point increase
Our objective in managing our exposure to interest

in interest rates affecting our variable-rate borrowings (10%
rate changes is to reduce the impact of interest rate

of our weighted average interest rate on floating rate debt)
changes on earnings and cash flows. To achieve our

would not have had a significant impact on interest
objectives, we may periodically use interest rate contracts

expense.
to manage our exposure to interest rate changes.

Additionally, we enter into certain natural gas futures
contracts to reduce the risks associated with natural gas
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December 28, December 29,
(Dollars in millions, except per share amount) 2019 2018

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 253.7 $ 232.0
Trade accounts receivable, less allowances of $27.1 and $21.1 at year-end 2019 and 2018,

respectively 1,212.2 1,189.7
Inventories, net 663.0 651.4
Other current assets 211.7 224.9

Total current assets 2,340.6 2,298.0
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,210.7 1,137.4
Goodwill 930.8 941.8
Other intangibles resulting from business acquisitions, net 126.5 144.0
Deferred tax assets 225.4 205.3
Other assets 654.8 451.0

$ 5,488.8 $ 5,177.5

Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt and finance leases $ 440.2 $ 194.6
Accounts payable 1,066.1 1,030.5
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 220.4 217.9
Accrued trade rebates 132.4 129.8
Income taxes payable 71.4 58.1
Other current liabilities 323.3 363.1

Total current liabilities 2,253.8 1,994.0
Long-term debt and finance leases 1,499.3 1,771.6
Long-term retirement benefits and other liabilities 421.4 334.7
Deferred tax liabilities and income taxes payable 110.3 122.1
Commitments and contingencies (see Notes 7 and 8)
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock, $1 par value per share, authorized – 400,000,000 shares at year-end 2019 and
2018; issued – 124,126,624 shares at year-end 2019 and 2018; outstanding – 83,366,840 and
84,723,655 shares at year-end 2019 and 2018, respectively 124.1 124.1

Capital in excess of par value 874.0 872.0
Retained earnings 2,979.1 2,864.9
Treasury stock at cost, 40,759,784 and 39,402,969 shares at year-end 2019 and 2018, respectively (2,425.1) (2,223.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (348.1) (682.0)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,204.0 955.1

$ 5,488.8 $ 5,177.5

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(In millions, except per share amounts) 2019 2018 2017

Net sales $7,070.1 $7,159.0 $6,613.8
Cost of products sold 5,166.0 5,243.5 4,801.6

Gross profit 1,904.1 1,915.5 1,812.2
Marketing, general and administrative expense 1,080.4 1,127.5 1,105.2
Other expense, net 53.2 69.9 36.5
Interest expense 75.8 58.5 63.0
Other non-operating expense, net 445.2 104.8 18.0

Income before taxes 249.5 554.8 589.5
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (56.7) 85.4 307.7
Equity method investment losses (2.6) (2.0) –

Net income $ 303.6 $ 467.4 $ 281.8

Per share amounts:
Net income per common share $ 3.61 $ 5.35 $ 3.19

Net income per common share, assuming dilution $ 3.57 $ 5.28 $ 3.13

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Common shares 84.0 87.3 88.3
Common shares, assuming dilution 85.0 88.6 90.1

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Net income $ 303.6 $ 467.4 $ 281.8
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation:
Translation gain (loss) 2.3 (91.2) 56.4

Pension and other postretirement benefits:
Net gain (loss) recognized from actuarial gain/loss and prior service cost/credit 66.4 (4.1) (3.0)
Reclassifications to net income 266.1 93.8 19.3

Cash flow hedges:
Gains (losses) recognized on cash flow hedges .5 1.1 (2.2)
Reclassifications to net income (1.4) (1.1) .9

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 333.9 (1.5) 71.4

Total comprehensive income, net of tax $ 637.5 $ 465.9 $ 353.2

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Accumulated
Common Capital in other
stock, $1 excess of Retained Treasury comprehensive

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) par value par value earnings stock loss Total

Balance as of December 31, 2016 $124.1 $852.0 $2,473.3 $(1,772.0) $(751.9) $ 925.5
Net income – – 281.8 – – 281.8
Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – – – 71.4 71.4
Repurchase of 1,488,890 shares for treasury – – – (129.7) – (129.7)
Issuance of 960,656 shares under stock-based compensation

plans – 10.6 (14.4) 36.2 – 32.4
Contribution of 230,915 shares to 401(k) Plan – – 11.5 8.8 – 20.3
Dividends of $1.76 per share – – (155.5) – – (155.5)

Balance as of December 30, 2017 $124.1 $862.6 $2,596.7 $(1,856.7) $(680.5) $1,046.2
Tax accounting for intra-entity asset transfers(1) – – (13.8) – – (13.8)

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $124.1 $862.6 $2,582.9 $(1,856.7) $(680.5) $1,032.4
Net income – – 467.4 – – 467.4
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax – – – – (1.5) (1.5)
Repurchase of 3,951,215 shares for treasury – – – (392.9) – (392.9)
Issuance of 458,506 shares under stock-based compensation

plans – 9.4 (24.1) 17.6 – 2.9
Contribution of 204,823 shares to 401(k) Plan – – 13.7 8.1 – 21.8
Dividends of $2.01 per share – – (175.0) – – (175.0)

Balance as of December 29, 2018 $124.1 $872.0 $2,864.9 $(2,223.9) $(682.0) $ 955.1
Net income – – 303.6 – – 303.6
Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – – – 333.9 333.9
Repurchase of 2,222,937 shares for treasury – – – (237.7) – (237.7)
Issuance of 665,380 shares under stock-based compensation

plans – 2.0 (13.6) 28.0 – 16.4
Contribution of 200,742 shares to 401(k) Plan – – 13.9 8.5 – 22.4
Dividends of $2.26 per share – – (189.7) – – (189.7)

Balance as of December 28, 2019 $124.1 $874.0 $2,979.1 $(2,425.1) $(348.1) $1,204.0
(1) In the first quarter of 2018, we adopted an accounting guidance update that requires recognition of the income tax effects of intra-entity sales and transfers of assets other than

inventory in the period in which they occur.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Net income $ 303.6 $ 467.4 $ 281.8
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 140.3 141.5 126.6
Amortization 38.7 39.5 52.1
Provision for doubtful accounts and sales returns 58.7 45.6 37.6
Stock-based compensation 34.5 34.3 30.2
Pension plan settlements and related charges 444.1 93.7 –
Deferred taxes and other non-cash taxes (216.9) (32.7) 151.6
Other non-cash expense and loss (income and gain), net 28.3 60.4 53.5

Changes in assets and liabilities and other adjustments:
Trade accounts receivable (42.2) (62.5) (141.2)
Inventories (18.1) (70.5) (14.9)
Accounts payable 46.4 43.6 83.4
Taxes on income 5.4 (35.5) 29.6
Other assets 38.4 (11.6) (20.9)
Other liabilities (114.7) (255.3) (23.7)

Net cash provided by operating activities 746.5 457.9 645.7

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (219.4) (226.7) (190.5)
Purchases of software and other deferred charges (37.8) (29.9) (35.6)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 7.8 9.4 6.0
Proceeds from insurance and (purchases) sales of investments, net 4.9 18.5 (3.9)
Payments for investments in businesses and acquisitions, net of cash acquired (6.5) (3.8) (319.3)

Net cash used in investing activities (251.0) (232.5) (543.3)

Net decrease in borrowings (maturities of three months or less) (5.3) (77.6) (89.2)
Additional long-term borrowings – 493.3 542.9
Repayments of long-term debt and finance leases (18.6) (6.4) (253.8)
Dividends paid (189.7) (175.0) (155.5)
Share repurchases (237.7) (392.9) (129.7)
Net (tax withholding) proceeds related to stock-based compensation (17.4) (32.2) 1.4
Payments of contingent consideration (1.6) (17.3) –

Net cash used in financing activities (470.3) (208.1) (83.9)

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances (3.5) (9.7) 10.8

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 21.7 7.6 29.3
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 232.0 224.4 195.1

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 253.7 $ 232.0 $ 224.4

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Hedge accounting
In the first quarter of 2019, we prospectively adopted

amended accounting guidance issued to improve the
financial reporting of hedging relationships by better

Our businesses include the production of pressure- reflecting the economic results of an entity’s risk
sensitive materials and a variety of tickets, tags, labels and management activities in its financial statements and
other converted products. We sell most of our pressure- simplifying the application of hedge accounting. As a result
sensitive materials to label printers and converters that of adopting this guidance, our reclassification of gains and
convert the materials into labels and other products losses from cash flow hedges to earnings is included in the
through embossing, printing, stamping and die-cutting. same financial statement line item as the hedged item. Our
We sell other pressure-sensitive materials in converted adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on
form as tapes and reflective sheeting. We also manufacture our financial position, results of operations, cash flows, or
and sell a variety of other converted products and items not disclosures.
involving pressure-sensitive components, such as fasteners,
tickets, tags, radio-frequency identification (‘‘RFID’’) inlays Reclassification of certain tax effects from accumulated
and tags, and imprinting equipment and related solutions, other comprehensive income
which serve the apparel and other end markets. In the first quarter of 2019, we adopted accounting

guidance that provides entities with the option to reclassify
certain tax effects of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the (‘‘TCJA’’) in accumulated other comprehensive income
accounts of majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries. (‘‘AOCI’’) to retained earnings. We elected not to reclassify
Intercompany accounts, transactions, and profits are the income tax effects stranded in AOCI to retained
eliminated in consolidation. We apply the equity method of earnings. Our accounting policy is to release the income
accounting for investments in which we have significant tax effects from AOCI to the income statement at the
influence but not a controlling interest. current statutory rate when the related pretax change is

recognized. We also release the disproportionate tax
effects in AOCI through the income statement as a discrete

Certain amounts in the prior year’s Consolidated tax adjustment in the period when the circumstances upon
Financial Statements have been reclassified to conform to which they are premised cease to exist.
the current year presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
Normally, our fiscal years consist of 52 weeks, but with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

every fifth or sixth fiscal year consists of 53 weeks. Our States of America, or GAAP, requires management to make
2019, 2018, and 2017 fiscal years consisted of 52-week estimates and assumptions for the reporting period and as
periods ending December 28, 2019, December 29, 2018, of the date of the financial statements. These estimates and
and December 30, 2017, respectively. assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities and the
reported amounts of revenue and expense. Actual results

Leases could differ from these estimates.
In the first quarter of 2019, we adopted accounting

guidance that requires lessees to recognize on their
balance sheets the rights and obligations created by leases. Cash and cash equivalents generally consist of cash on
This guidance also requires enhanced disclosures hand, deposits in banks, cash-in-transit, and bank drafts
regarding the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows and short-term investments with maturities of three months
from leases. As allowed by this guidance, we elected to or less when purchased or received. The carrying value of
apply it using a modified retrospective approach. This these assets approximates fair value due to the short
approach applies to all leases that existed at or maturity of the instruments.
commenced after the date of our initial adoption. As such,
prior year comparative amounts have not been adjusted.
We elected the transition practical expedients allowed We record trade accounts receivable at the invoiced
under this guidance. See Note 7, ‘‘Commitments and amount. The allowance for doubtful accounts reserve
Leases,’’ for more information. represents allowances for customer trade accounts
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receivable that are estimated to be partially or entirely we record operating or finance lease assets and liabilities
uncollectible. These allowances are used to reduce gross for short-term leases. We determine if an arrangement is a
trade receivables to their net realizable values. We record lease or contains a lease at inception. We have options to
these allowances based on estimates related to the renew or terminate some of our leases. We evaluate
following: renewal and termination options based on considerations

• Customer-specific allowances; available at the lease commencement date and over the
• Amounts based on an aging schedule; and lease term to determine if we are reasonably certain to
• An amount based on our historical experience. exercise these options. As most of our leases do not

No single customer represented 10% or more of our provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing
net sales in, or trade accounts receivable at, year-end 2019 rate based on the information available at the lease
or 2018. However, during 2019, 2018, and 2017, our ten commencement date to determine the present value of
largest customers by net sales in the aggregate lease payments. We recognize expense for operating
represented approximately 16%, 15%, and 15% of our net leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term, with
sales, respectively. As of December 28, 2019 and variable lease payments recognized in the periods in which
December 29, 2018, our ten largest customers by trade they are incurred.
accounts receivable in the aggregate represented
approximately 12% and 14% of our trade accounts
receivable, respectively. These customers were We capitalize software costs incurred during the
concentrated primarily in our Label and Graphic Materials application development stage of software development,
reportable segment. We generally do not require our including costs incurred for design, coding, installation to
customers to provide collateral. hardware, testing, and upgrades and enhancements that

provide the software or hardware with additional
functionalities and capabilities. Software costs, including

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net internal and external training costs and maintenance costs,
realizable value and categorized as raw materials, incurred during the preliminary project stage and the
work-in-progress, or finished goods. Cost is determined post-implementation and/or operation stage are
using the first-in, first-out method. Inventory reserves are expensed. In addition, we capitalize implementation costs
recorded to cost of products sold for damaged, obsolete, incurred under a hosting arrangement that is a service
excess and slow-moving inventory and we establish a lower contract. Capitalized software, which is included in ‘‘Other
cost basis for the inventory. We use estimates to record assets’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, is amortized
these reserves. Slow-moving inventory is reviewed by on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
category and may be partially or fully reserved for software, which is generally between five and ten years.
depending on the type of product, level of usage, and the
length of time the product has been included in inventory.

Impairment charges are recorded when the carrying
amounts of long-lived assets are determined not to be

Depreciation is generally computed using the recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the undiscounted cash flows expected from the applicable
respective assets, ranging from ten to forty-five years for asset or asset group’s use and eventual disposition to its
buildings and improvements and three to fifteen years for carrying value. The amount of impairment loss is calculated
machinery and equipment. Leasehold improvements are as the excess of the carrying value over the fair value.
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or Historically, changes in market conditions and
the term of the associated leases. Maintenance and repair management strategy have caused us to reassess the
costs are expensed as incurred; renewals and carrying amount of our long-lived assets.
improvements are capitalized. Upon the sale or retirement
of assets, the accounts are relieved of the cost and the
related accumulated depreciation, with any resulting gain
or loss included in net income. Business combinations are accounted for using the

acquisition method, with the excess of the acquisition cost
over the fair value of net tangible assets and identified
intangible assets acquired considered goodwill. As a result,Our leases primarily relate to office and warehouse
we disclose goodwill separately from other intangiblespace, machinery, transportation, and equipment for
assets. Other identifiable intangibles include customerinformation technology. For lease accounting purposes, we

do not separate lease and nonlease components, nor do
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relationships, patents and other acquired technology, and We test indefinite-lived intangible assets, consisting of
trade names and trademarks. trade names and trademarks, for impairment in the fourth

We perform an annual impairment test of goodwill quarter or whenever events or circumstances indicate that it
during the fourth quarter, unless certain factors indicate the is more-likely-than-not that their carrying amounts exceed
need to perform an impairment assessment in addition to their fair values. Fair value is estimated as the discounted
the annual test. In performing the required impairment value of future revenues using a royalty rate that a third
tests, we have the option to first assess qualitative factors to party would pay for use of the asset. Variation in the royalty
determine whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative rates could impact the estimate of fair value. If the carrying
assessment for goodwill impairment. If the qualitative amount of an asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment
assessment indicates that it is more-likely-than-not that the loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a We amortize finite-lived intangible assets, consisting of
quantitative assessment is performed. A quantitative customer relationships, patents and other acquired
assessment primarily consists of a present value technology, trade names and trademarks, and other
(discounted cash flow) method to determine the fair value intangibles, on a straight-line basis over the estimated
of the reporting units with goodwill. useful life of the assets.

Certain factors may result in the need to perform an See Note 3, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangibles Resulting
impairment test prior to the fourth quarter, including from Business Acquisitions,’’ for more information.
significant underperformance of a business relative to
expected operating results, significant adverse economic
and industry trends, significant decline in our market Asset and liability accounts of international operations
capitalization for an extended period of time relative to net are translated into U.S. dollars at current rates. Revenues
book value, or a decision to divest a portion of a reporting and expenses are translated at the weighted average
unit. currency rate for the fiscal year. Gains and losses resulting

We compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its from hedging the value of investments in certain
carrying amount, and, to the extent the carrying amount international operations and from the translation of balance
exceeds the unit’s fair value, an impairment of goodwill is sheet accounts are recorded directly as a component of
recognized for the excess up to the amount of goodwill of other comprehensive income.
that reporting unit. On July 1, 2018, we began accounting for our

In consultation with outside specialists, we estimate operations in Argentina as highly inflationary, as the
the fair value of our reporting units using various valuation country’s three-year cumulative inflation rate exceeded
techniques, with the primary technique being a discounted 100%. As a result, the functional currency of our Argentine
cash flow analysis. A discounted cash flow analysis requires subsidiary became the U.S. dollar.
us to make various assumptions about the reporting units,
including their respective forecasted sales, operating
margins and growth rates, and discount rates. Assumptions We enter into foreign exchange derivative contracts to
about discount rates are based on a weighted average cost reduce our risk from exchange rate fluctuations associated
of capital for comparable companies. Assumptions about with receivables, payables, loans and firm commitments
sales, operating margins, and growth rates are based on denominated in certain foreign currencies that arise
our forecasts, business plans, economic projections, primarily as a result of our operations outside the U.S. From
anticipated future cash flows, and marketplace data. time to time, we enter into interest rate contracts to help
Assumptions are also made for varying perpetual growth manage our exposure to certain interest rate fluctuations.
rates for periods beyond the long-term business plan We also enter into futures contracts to hedge certain price
period. We base our fair value estimates on projected fluctuations for a portion of our anticipated domestic
financial information and assumptions that we believe are purchases of natural gas. The maximum length of time for
reasonable. However, actual future results may materially which we hedge our exposure to the variability in future
differ from these estimates and projections. The valuation cash flows for forecasted transactions is 36 months.
methodology used to estimate the fair value of reporting On the date we enter into a derivative contract, we
units requires inputs and assumptions that reflect current determine whether the derivative will be designated as a
market conditions, as well as the impact of planned hedge. Derivatives designated as hedges are classified as
business and operational strategies that require either (1) hedges of the fair value of a recognized asset or
management judgment. The estimated fair value could liability or an unrecognized firm commitment (‘‘fair value’’
increase or decrease depending on changes in the inputs hedges) or (2) hedges of a forecasted transaction or the
and assumptions. variability of cash flows that are to be received or paid in

connection with a recognized asset or liability (‘‘cash flow’’
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hedges). Other derivatives not designated as hedges are
Sales are recognized when or as we satisfy arecorded on the balance sheets at fair value, with changes

performance obligation by transferring control of a productin fair value recognized in earnings. Our policy is not to
or service to a customer, in an amount that reflects thepurchase or hold any foreign currency, interest rate or
consideration to which we expect to be entitled for thecommodity contracts for trading purposes.
product or service. We consider a number of factors inWe assess, both at the inception of any hedge and on
determining when we have transferred control to aan ongoing basis, whether our hedges are highly effective.
customer, including the following: (i) our present right toIf it is determined that a hedge is not highly effective, we
payment; (ii) the customer’s legal title to the asset;prospectively discontinue hedge accounting. For cash flow
(iii) physical possession of the asset; (iv) the customer’shedges, gains and losses are recorded as components of
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset; andother comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings
(v) the customer’s acceptance of the asset.in the same period during which the hedged transaction

Generally, payment terms with our customers areaffects earnings. In the event that the anticipated
consistent with those used in our industries and the regionstransaction is no longer likely to occur, we recognize the
in which we operate.change in fair value of the instrument in current period

Sales returns are accepted in certain limitedearnings. Changes in fair value hedges are recognized in
circumstances. We record an estimate for return liabilitiescurrent period earnings. Changes in the fair value of
and a corresponding reduction to sales, in the amount weunderlying hedged items (such as recognized assets or
expect to repay or credit customers, which we base onliabilities) are also recognized in current period earnings
historical returns and outstanding customer claims.and offset the changes in the fair value of the derivative.
Changes in estimates are updated each reporting period.In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, hedges

Sales rebates, discounts, and other customerare classified in the same category as the item hedged,
concessions represent variable consideration and areprimarily in operating activities.
common in the industries and regions in which we operateWe also utilized certain foreign-currency-denominated
and are accounted for as a reduction to sales based ondebt to mitigate our foreign currency translation exposure
estimates at the time at which products are sold. Thesefrom our net investment in foreign operations.
estimates are based on our historical experience, as well asSee Note 5, ‘‘Financial Instruments,’’ for more
current information such as sales forecasts. We review ourinformation.
estimates regularly and, as additional information becomes
available, we adjust our sales and the respective accruals,
as necessary.We define fair value as the price that would be

Sales tax, value-added tax, and other taxes we collectreceived from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
from customers are excluded from sales.an orderly transaction between market participants at the

Shipping and handling activities after control of ameasurement date. When determining the fair value
product is transferred to a customer are accounted for asmeasurements for assets and liabilities required to be
fulfillment costs and not as separate performancerecorded at fair value, we consider the principal or most
obligations. As a practical expedient, we have elected notadvantageous market in which we would transact and the
to disclose the value of unsatisfied performancemarket-based risk measurements or assumptions that
obligations for contracts with an original expected lengthmarket participants would use in pricing the asset or
of less than one year.liability.

We generally expense sales commissions whenWe determine fair value based on a three-tier fair value
incurred because the amortization period would have beenhierarchy, which we use to prioritize the inputs used in
one year or less. These costs are recorded in ‘‘Marketing,measuring fair value. These tiers consist of Level 1, defined
general and administrative expense’’ in the Consolidatedas observable inputs such as quoted prices in active
Statements of Income.markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted

prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in

Research and development costs are related towhich little or no market data exists, which require us to
research, design, and testing of new products anddevelop our own assumptions to determine the best
applications and are expensed as incurred.estimate of fair value.

No long-term incentive compensation expense was
capitalized in 2019, 2018, or 2017.
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Valuation of Stock-Based Awards Forfeitures
Our stock-based compensation expense is based on We estimate expected forfeitures in determining the

the fair value of awards, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, compensation cost to be recognized each period, rather
and amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite than accounting for forfeitures as they occur. Changes in
service period for stock options and restricted stock units estimated forfeiture rates are recorded as cumulative
(‘‘RSUs’’). Compensation expense for performance units adjustments in the period estimates are revised.
(‘‘PUs’’) is based on the fair value of awards, adjusted for See Note 12, ‘‘Long-term Incentive Compensation,’’
estimated forfeitures, and amortized on a straight-line basis for more information.
as these awards cliff-vest at the end of the requisite service
period. Compensation expense related to market-
leveraged stock units (‘‘MSUs’’) is based on the fair value of We are subject to income tax in the U.S. and multiple
awards, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, and amortized foreign jurisdictions, whereby judgment is required in
on a graded-vesting basis over their respective evaluating and estimating our worldwide provision,
performance periods. accruals for taxes, deferred taxes and for evaluating our tax

Compensation expense for awards with a market positions. Our provision for income taxes is determined
condition as a performance objective, which includes PUs using the asset and liability approach in accordance with
and MSUs, is not adjusted if the condition is not met, as GAAP. Under this approach, deferred taxes represent the
long as the requisite service period is met. expected future tax consequences of temporary

The fair value of stock options is estimated as of the differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing assets and liabilities. We record a valuation allowance to
model. This model requires input assumptions for our reduce our deferred tax assets when uncertainty regarding
expected dividend yield, expected stock price volatility, their realizability exists. We recognize and measure our
risk-free interest rate, and the expected option term. uncertain tax positions following the more-likely-than-not

The fair value of RSUs and the component of PUs that threshold for recognition and measurement for tax
is subject to the achievement of a performance objective positions we take or expect to take on a tax return.
based on a financial performance condition is determined See Note 14, ‘‘Taxes Based on Income,’’ for more
based on the fair market value of our common stock as of information.
the date of grant, adjusted for foregone dividends.

The fair value of stock-based awards that are subject to
achievement of performance objectives based on a market In November 2018, the Financial Accounting
condition, which includes MSUs and the other component Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued guidance that clarifies the
of PUs, is determined using the Monte-Carlo simulation interaction between guidance regarding collaborative
method, which utilizes multiple input variables, including arrangements and revenue from contracts with customers.
expected stock price volatility and other assumptions This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods
appropriate for determining fair value, to estimate the beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption
probability of satisfying the target performance objectives permitted. We do not anticipate that the adoption of this
established for the award. guidance will have a significant impact on our financial

Certain of these assumptions are based on position, results of operations, cash flows, and disclosures.
management’s estimates, in consultation with outside In June 2016, the FASB issued revised guidance on the
specialists. Significant changes in assumptions for future measurement of credit losses on financial instruments.
awards and actual forfeiture rates could materially impact Credit losses on loans, trade and other receivables,
stock-based compensation expense and our results of held-to-maturity debt securities, and other instruments will
operations. reflect the current estimate of the expected credit losses.

This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods
Valuation of Cash-Based Awards beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption

Cash-based awards consist of long-term incentive permitted. We do not anticipate that our adoption of this
units (‘‘LTI Units’’) granted to eligible employees. LTI Units guidance will have a significant impact on our financial
are classified as liability awards and remeasured at each position, results of operations, cash flows, and disclosures.
quarter-end over the applicable vesting or performance
period. In addition to LTI Units with terms and conditions
that mirror those of RSUs, we also grant certain employees
LTI Units with terms and conditions that mirror those of PUs
and MSUs.
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management of wound care and skin conditions, from
Finesse Medical’s management.

In November 2019, we announced our agreement to
On March 1, 2017, we completed the net asset

acquire Smartrac’s Transponder (RFID Inlay) division, a
acquisition of Hanita Coatings Rural Cooperative

manufacturer of RFID products, for a purchase price of
Association Limited and stock acquisition of certain of its

approximately $250 million (e225 million), subject to
subsidiaries (‘‘Hanita’’), an Israel-based pressure-sensitive

customary adjustments. We expect to complete this
manufacturer of specialty films and laminates, from Kibbutz

acquisition in the first quarter of 2020.
Hanita Coatings and Tene Investment Funds.

On June 23, 2017, we completed the stock acquisition
The aggregate purchase consideration for the

of Yongle Tape Ltd. (‘‘Yongle Tape’’), a China-based
acquisitions we made in 2017 (the ‘‘2017 Acquisitions’’) was

manufacturer of specialty tapes and related products used
approximately $340 million. The 2017 Acquisitions were

in a variety of industrial markets, from Yongle Tape’s
funded through cash and existing credit facilities.

management and Shaw Kwei & Partners.
The 2017 Acquisitions were not material, individually

On May 19, 2017, we completed the stock acquisition
or in the aggregate, to our Consolidated Financial

of Finesse Medical Limited (‘‘Finesse Medical’’), an Ireland-
Statements.

based manufacturer of healthcare products used in the

Results from our annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2019 indicated that no impairment occurred
during 2019. The assumptions used in our assessment of these assets were primarily based on Level 3 inputs.

Changes in the net carrying amount of goodwill for 2019 and 2018 by reportable segment were as follows:

Retail
Label and Branding and Industrial and

Graphic Information Healthcare
(In millions) Materials Solutions Materials Total

Goodwill as of December 30, 2017 $429.5 $355.4 $200.2 $985.1
Acquisition adjustments(1) – – (17.7) (17.7)
Translation adjustments (14.0) (5.7) (5.9) (25.6)

Goodwill as of December 29, 2018 415.5 349.7 176.6 941.8
Translation adjustments (7.7) (.4) (2.9) (11.0)

Goodwill as of December 28, 2019 $407.8 $349.3 $173.7 $930.8
(1) Goodwill purchase price allocation adjustments and measurement period adjustments for contingent consideration liabilities related to the acquisition of Yongle Tape.

The carrying amounts of goodwill at December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018 were net of accumulated impairment
losses of $820 million recognized in fiscal year 2009 by our Retail Branding and Information Solutions (‘‘RBIS’’) reportable
segment.

Results from our annual indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment test in the fourth quarter indicated that no
impairment occurred in 2019.

The carrying value of indefinite-lived intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions, consisting of trade names
and trademarks, was $20.8 million and $21.1 million at December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively.

In connection with the 2017 Acquisitions, we acquired approximately $107 million of identifiable intangible assets,
which consisted of customer relationships, trade names and trademarks, and patents and other acquired technology. We
utilized the income approach to estimate the fair values of the identifiable intangible assets associated with the 2017
Acquisitions, using primarily Level 3 inputs. The discount rates we used to value these assets were between 11% and 16.5%.
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The table below summarizes the amounts and weighted useful lives of these intangible assets at acquisition.

Weighted average
amortization

Amount period
(in millions) (in years)

Customer relationships $70.9 16
Patents and other acquired technology 31.9 9
Trade names and trademarks 4.2 6

Refer to Note 2, ‘‘Acquisitions,’’ for more information.
The following table sets forth our finite-lived intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions at December 28,

2019 and December 29, 2018, which continue to be amortized:

2019 2018

Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

(In millions) Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Customer relationships $319.5 $238.7 $ 80.8 $322.2 $231.8 $ 90.4
Patents and other acquired technology 81.7 61.3 20.4 84.0 56.8 27.2
Trade names and trademarks 24.3 19.8 4.5 27.0 21.7 5.3
Other intangibles .2 .2 – 11.9 11.9 –

Total $425.7 $320.0 $105.7 $445.1 $322.2 $122.9

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets from the date of issuance. Our payment obligations with
resulting from business acquisitions was $13.5 million for respect to any notes issued under this program are backed
2019, $15.2 million for 2018, and $18.6 million for 2017. by our revolving credit facility (the ‘‘Revolver’’). There are no

The estimated amortization expense for finite-lived financial covenants under this program. We had a balance
intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions for of $50.1 million outstanding under this program as of
each of the next five fiscal years is expected to be as December 28, 2019. There was no balance outstanding as
follows: of December 29, 2018.

Estimated
Amortization In November 2017, we amended and restated the(In millions) Expense

Revolver, increasing the amount available from certain
2020 $12.2

domestic and foreign banks from $700 million to2021 11.6
$800 million. The amendment also extended the Revolver’s2022 10.6
maturity date to November 8, 2022. The Revolver is used as2023 9.6

2024 8.0 a back-up facility for our commercial paper program and
can be used for other corporate purposes.

No balance was outstanding under the Revolver as ofNOTE 4. DEBT
December 28, 2019 or December 29, 2018. Commitment
fees associated with the Revolver in 2019, 2018, and 2017
were $1.2 million, $1.2 million, and $1.1 million,We had $83.2 million and $131 million of borrowings
respectively.from U.S. commercial paper issuances outstanding at

Subsequent to our fiscal year-end 2019, in FebruaryDecember 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively,
2020, we again amended and restated the Revolver,with a weighted average interest rate of 1.98% and 2.75%,
extending the maturity date to February 13, 2025. Therespectively.
maturity date may be extended for an additional one-yearWe have a Euro-Commercial Paper Program under
period under certain circumstances. The commitmentswhich we may issue unsecured commercial paper notes up
under the Revolver may be increased by up to $400 million,to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding of
subject to lender approvals and customary requirements.$500 million. Proceeds from issuances under this program

In addition to the Revolver, we have significantmay be used for general corporate purposes. The
short-term lines of credit available in various countries ofmaturities of the notes vary, but may not exceed 364 days
approximately $330 million in the aggregate at
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December 28, 2019. These lines may be cancelled at any We expect maturities of our long-term debt for each of
time by us or the issuing banks. Short-term borrowings the next five fiscal years and thereafter to be as follows:
outstanding under our lines of credit were $37.4 million and

Year (In millions)$45.5 million at December 28, 2019 and December 29,
2018, respectively, with a weighted average interest rate of 2020 (classified as current) $ 265.0

2021 –6.4% and 7%, respectively.
2022 –From time to time, certain of our subsidiaries provide
2023 250.0guarantees on certain arrangements with banks. Our
2024 –exposure to these guarantees is not material.
2025 and thereafter 1,236.5

Refer to Note 7, ‘‘Commitments and Leases,’’ forIn December 2018, we issued $500 million of senior
information related to finance leases.notes, due December 2028. These senior notes bear an

interest rate of 4.875% per year, payable semiannually in
arrears. The net proceeds from this offering, after deducting
underwriting discounts and offering expenses, were The Revolver contains financial covenants requiring
$493.3 million, which we used to repay commercial paper that we maintain specified ratios of total debt and interest
borrowings. Prior to the issuance of these senior notes, we expense in relation to certain measures of income. As of
used commercial paper borrowings in August 2018 to fund December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, we were in
our $200 million contribution to the Avery Dennison Pension compliance with our financial covenants.
Plan in connection with its termination. Refer to Note 6, Our total interest costs in 2019, 2018, and 2017 were
‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits.’’ $81.1 million, $63.8 million, and $67.9 million, respectively,

In March 2017, we issued e500 million of senior notes, of which $5.3 million, $5.3 million, and $4.9 million,
due March 2025. These senior notes bear an interest rate of respectively, was capitalized as part of the cost of assets.
1.25% per year, payable annually in arrears. The net The estimated fair value of our long-term debt is
proceeds from this offering, after deducting underwriting primarily based on the credit spread above U.S. Treasury
discounts and estimated offering expenses, were securities or euro government bond securities, as
$526.6 million (e495.5 million), a portion of which we used applicable, on notes with similar rates, credit ratings, and
to repay commercial paper borrowings used to finance a remaining maturities. The fair value of short-term
portion of our purchase price for the acquisition of Mactac, borrowings, which includes commercial paper issuances
and the remainder of which we used for general corporate and short-term lines of credit, approximates carrying value
purposes and the 2017 Acquisitions. Refer to Note 5, given the short duration of these obligations. The fair value
‘‘Financial Instruments,’’ for more information. of our total debt was $2.05 billion at December 28, 2019

Long-term debt, including its respective interest rates, and $2 billion at December 29, 2018. Fair value amounts
at year-end are shown below. were determined based primarily on Level 2 inputs, which

are inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that
(In millions) 2019 2018 are either directly or indirectly observable. Refer to Note 1,

‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,’’ for more
Medium-term notes: information.

Series 1995 due 2020 through 2025 $ 45.0 $ 45.0
Long-term notes: NOTE 5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTSSenior notes due 2020 at 5.4% 250.0 249.7

Senior notes due 2023 at 3.4% 249.1 248.9
Senior notes due 2025 at 1.25%(1) 553.4 569.0 As of December 28, 2019, the aggregate U.S. dollar
Senior notes due 2028 at 4.875% 493.9 493.3 equivalent notional value of our outstanding commodity
Senior notes due 2033 at 6.0% 148.9 148.8 contracts and foreign exchange contracts was $3.2 millionOther borrowings(2) – 14.4

and $1.19 billion, respectively.Less amount classified as current (265.0) (18.2)
We recognize derivative instruments as either assets orTotal long-term debt(3) $1,475.3 $1,750.9

liabilities at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.(1) These senior notes are euro-denominated.
(2) Other borrowings consisted of long-term bank borrowings by foreign subsidiaries. We designate commodity forward contracts on forecasted
(3) Includes unamortized debt issuance cost and debt discount of $5.6 million and purchases of commodities and foreign exchange contracts$5.7 million, respectively, as of year-end 2019 and $6.8 million and $6.3 million,

respectively, as of year-end 2018. on forecasted transactions as cash flow hedges. We also
At year-end 2019 and 2018, our medium-term notes enter into foreign exchange contracts to offset certain of

had maturities from 2020 through 2025 and accrued our economic exposures arising from foreign exchange rate
interest at a weighted average fixed rate of 7.5%. fluctuations.
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The following table shows the fair value and balance sheet locations of cash flow hedges as of December 28, 2019 and
December 29, 2018:

Asset Liability

(In millions) Balance Sheet Location 2019 2018 Balance Sheet Location 2019 2018

Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets $ .4 $ .5 Other current liabilities $ .9 $ .8
Commodity contracts Other current assets – .1 Other current liabilities .4 –

$ .4 $ .6 $1.3 $ .8

The following table shows the fair value and balance sheet locations of other derivatives as of December 28, 2019 and
December 29, 2018:

Asset Liability

(In millions) Balance Sheet Location 2019 2018 Balance Sheet Location 2019 2018

Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets $4.8 $3.0 Other current liabilities $4.7 $7.9

The following table shows the components of the net
For derivative instruments that are designated and gains (losses) recognized in income related to these

qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the derivative instruments:
gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of

Statements of Income‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss’’ and reclassified
(In millions) Location 2019 2018 2017into earnings in the same period(s) during which the

hedged transaction impacts earnings. Gains and losses on Foreign exchange Cost of products
contracts sold $ (1.5) $ 4.5 $ (1.2)these derivatives, representing either hedge

Foreign exchange Marketing, generalineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the
contracts and administrativeassessment of effectiveness, are recognized in current

expense 3.5 (27.0) (42.9)earnings.
$ 2.0 $(22.5) $(44.1)Gains (losses), before taxes, recognized in

‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss’’ (effective
portion) on derivatives related to cash flow hedge contracts
were as follows: In March 2017, we designated e500 million of our

1.25% senior notes due 2025 as a net investment hedge of
(In millions) 2019 2018 2017 our investment in foreign operations. In January 2018, we
Foreign exchange contracts $1.4 $ 1.0 $(2.2) reduced the amount we designated as a net investment
Commodity contracts (.8) .4 (.6) hedge to e255 million. In May 2019, we de-designated the

remaining net investment hedge as a result of changes in$ .6 $ 1.4 $(2.8)
our intercompany capital structure. Through the period
preceding the de-designation, the net assets from ourNeither the amount recognized in income related to
investment in foreign operations were greater than thethe ineffective portion of, nor the amount excluded from
amount designated as a net investment hedge, and, aseffectiveness testing for, cash flow hedges was material in
such, the net investment hedge was effective.2019, 2018, or 2017.

Refer to Note 4, ‘‘Debt,’’ for more information.As of December 28, 2019, we expected a net loss of
Gains (losses), before tax, recognized in ‘‘Accumulatedapproximately $.5 million to be reclassified from

other comprehensive loss’’ (effective portion) related to the‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss’’ to earnings
net investment hedge were as follows:within the next 12 months.

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

For other derivative instruments not designated as Foreign currency denominated debt $ 6.8 $ 1.3 $(63.7)
hedging instruments, the gain or loss is recognized in
current earnings. We recorded no ineffectiveness from our net

investment hedge to earnings during 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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NOTE 6. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT partially offset by related tax benefits of approximately
BENEFITS $179 million.

We sponsor a number of defined benefit plans, the Assets in our international plans are invested in
accrual of benefits under some of which has been frozen, accordance with locally accepted practices and primarily
covering eligible employees in the U.S. and certain other include equity securities, fixed income securities, insurance
countries. Benefits payable to an employee are based contracts and cash. Asset allocations and investments vary
primarily on years of service and the employee’s by country and plan. Our target plan asset investment
compensation during the course of his or her employment allocation for our international plans in the aggregate is
with us. 32% in equity securities, 44% in fixed income securities and

We are also obligated to pay unfunded termination cash, and 24% in insurance contracts and other
indemnity benefits to certain employees outside of the investments, subject to periodic fluctuations in these
U.S., which are subject to applicable agreements, laws and respective asset classes.
regulations. We have not incurred significant costs related
to these benefits, and, therefore, no related costs have
been included in the disclosures below. The valuation methodologies we use for assets

In July 2018, our Board of Directors (‘‘Board’’) measured at fair value are described below.
approved the termination of the Avery Dennison Pension Cash is valued at nominal value. Cash equivalents and
Plan (the ‘‘ADPP’’), a U.S. defined benefit plan, effective as mutual funds are valued at fair value as determined by
of September 28, 2018. In connection with the termination, quoted market prices, based upon the net asset value
we contributed $200 million to the ADPP in August 2018; (‘‘NAV’’) of shares held at year-end. Fixed income treasury
settled approximately $152 million of ADPP liabilities securities are valued at fair value as determined by quoted
during the fourth quarter of 2018 through lump-sum prices in active markets. The fixed income municipal and
payments from existing plan assets to eligible participants corporate bonds are valued at fair value based on quoted
who elected to receive them; and recorded approximately prices for similar instruments in active markets or other
$85 million of non-cash charges associated with these inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
settlements, partially offset by related tax benefits of observable market data. Pooled funds are structured as
approximately $19 million. During 2019, we settled collective trusts, not publicly traded, and valued by
approximately $749 million of ADPP liabilities by entering calculating NAV per unit based on the NAV of the
into an agreement to purchase annuities primarily from underlying funds/trusts as a practical expedient for the fair
American General Life Insurance Company (‘‘AGL’’). This value of the pooled funds. Insurance contracts are valued at
agreement covered approximately 8,300 active and former book value, which approximates fair value and is calculated
employees and their beneficiaries, with AGL assuming the using the prior year balance plus or minus investment
future annuity payments for these individuals, commencing returns and changes in cash flows.
April 1, 2019. Additionally, we settled approximately These methods may produce a fair value calculation
$4 million of ADPP liabilities through a combination of that may not be indicative of net realizable value or
annuities and direct funding to the Pension Benefit reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while we
Guaranty Corporation for the remaining approximately 200 believe these valuation methods are appropriate and
former employees and their beneficiaries. We contributed consistent with other market participants, the use of
approximately $10 million of cash during fiscal 2019 to the different methodologies or assumptions to determine the
ADPP to cover costs associated with the final settlement of fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a
these liabilities. These settlements resulted in different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
approximately $444 million of pretax charges in 2019,
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The following table sets forth, by level within the fair value hierarchy (as applicable), international plan assets at fair
value:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Significant Significant
Prices Other Other

in Active Observable Unobservable
Markets Inputs Inputs

(In millions) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Cash $ 1.2 $ 1.2 $ – $ –
Insurance contracts 36.3 – – 36.3
Pooled funds – fixed income securities(1) 329.9
Pooled funds – equity securities(1) 268.8
Pooled funds – other investments(1) 98.2

Total international plan assets at fair value $734.4

Cash $ 4.1 $ 4.1 $ – $ –
Insurance contracts 36.9 – – 36.9
Pooled funds – fixed income securities(1) 300.4
Pooled funds – equity securities(1) 185.0
Pooled funds – other investments(1) 105.4

Total international plan assets at fair value $631.8
(1) Pooled funds that are measured at fair value using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts

presented in this table are intended to reconcile to total international plan assets.

The following table presents a reconciliation of Level 3 international plan asset activity during the year ended
December 28, 2019:

Level 3 Assets

(In millions) Insurance Contracts

Balance at December 29, 2018 $36.9
Net realized and unrealized gain 1.5
Purchases 5.6
Settlements (7.0)
Impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (.7)

Balance at December 28, 2019 $36.3

As a result of the ADPP settlements, there were no U.S. plan assets as of December 28, 2019. The following table sets
forth, by level within the fair value hierarchy (as applicable), U.S. plan assets (all in the ADPP) at fair value as of December 29,
2018.

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Significant Significant
Prices Other Other

in Active Observable Unobservable
Markets Inputs Inputs

(In millions) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27.1 $27.1 $ – $ –
Equity securities .3 – .3 –
Fixed income securities – government and municipal bonds 113.0 66.3 46.7 –
Fixed income securities – corporate bonds 592.8 – 592.8 –
Other 2.4 – 2.4 –

Total U.S. plan assets $735.6
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measurement of service and interest cost by aligning the
Discount Rate timing of a plans’ liability cash flows to its corresponding

In consultation with our actuaries, we annually review rates on the yield curve.
and determine the discount rates used to value our
postretirement obligations. The assumed discount rate for Long-term Return on Assets
each pension plan reflects market rates for high quality We determine the long-term rate of return assumption
corporate bonds currently available. Our discount rate is for plan assets by reviewing the historical and expected
determined by evaluating yield curves consisting of large returns of both the equity and fixed income markets, taking
populations of high quality corporate bonds. The projected into account our asset allocation, the correlation between
pension benefit payment streams are then matched with returns in our asset classes, and the mix of active and
bond portfolios to determine a rate that reflects the liability passive investments. Additionally, current market
duration unique to our plans. As of December 29, 2018, the conditions, including interest rates, are evaluated and
discount rate for the ADPP, after reflecting the plan’s market data is reviewed for reasonableness and
termination, was based on estimated insurer pricing. appropriateness.

We use the full yield curve approach to estimate the
service and interest cost components of net periodic Measurement Date
benefit cost for our pension and other postretirement We measure the actuarial value of our benefit
benefit plans. Under this approach, we apply multiple obligations and plan assets using the calendar month-end
discount rates from a yield curve composed of the rates of closest to our fiscal year-end and adjust for any
return on several hundred high-quality, fixed income contributions or other significant events between the
corporate bonds available at the measurement date. We measurement date and our fiscal year-end.
believe this approach provides a more precise

The following table provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets, funded status of the plans and
accumulated other comprehensive loss for our defined benefit plans:

Plan Benefit Obligations

Pension Benefits

2019 2018
(In millions) U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l

Projected benefit obligations at beginning of year $ 868.5 $755.8 $1,082.1 $836.7
Service cost – 15.6 – 19.2
Interest cost 9.0 14.8 34.5 15.7
Participant contribution – 4.1 – 3.8
Amendments – 1.8 – –
Actuarial (gain) loss (27.1) 56.8 (13.2) (58.8)
Benefits paid (20.7) (21.3) (61.8) (22.3)
Settlements(1) (754.0) (4.5) (173.1) (9.5)
Foreign currency translation – (11.4) – (29.0)

Projected benefit obligations at end of year $ 75.7 $811.7 $ 868.5 $755.8

Accumulated benefit obligations at end of year $ 75.7 $754.0 $ 868.5 $696.7
(1) In 2019, settlements in the U.S. related to the ADPP termination. Settlements in our international plans related to lump-sum payments in Switzerland. In 2018, settlements in the U.S.

related to lump-sum payments associated with the ADPP termination and two nonqualified benefit plans. Settlements in our international plans related to lump-sum payments in the
UK and France.
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Plan Assets

Pension Benefits

2019 2018
(In millions) U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l

Plan assets at beginning of year $ 735.6 $631.8 $ 740.2 $683.7
Actual return on plan assets 20.7 118.5 (3.6) (13.3)
Employer contributions(1) 18.4 13.6 233.9 14.7
Participant contributions – 4.1 – 3.8
Benefits paid (20.7) (21.3) (61.8) (22.3)
Settlements(2) (754.0) (4.5) (173.1) (9.5)
Foreign currency translation – (7.8) – (25.3)

Plan assets at end of year $ – $734.4 $ 735.6 $631.8
(1) In 2019, an additional contribution of $10 million was made to the ADPP to cover the remaining liabilities associated with its termination. In August 2018, a contribution of $200 million

had been made to the ADPP using commercial paper borrowings.
(2) In 2019, settlements in the U.S. related to the ADPP termination. Settlements in our international plans related to lump-sum payments in Switzerland. In 2018, settlements in the U.S.

related to lump-sum payments associated with the ADPP and two nonqualified benefit plans. Settlements in our international plans related to lump-sum payments in the UK and
France.

Funded Status

Pension Benefits

2019 2018
(In millions) U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l

Other assets $ – $ 50.8 $ – $ 12.6
Other accrued liabilities(1) (7.5) (2.4) (65.1) (2.0)
Long-term retirement benefits and other liabilities(2) (68.2) (125.7) (67.8) (134.6)

Plan assets less than benefit obligations $(75.7) $ (77.3) $(132.9) $(124.0)
(1) In 2019, in connection with its termination, we settled ADPP’s 2018 underfunded benefit obligation of approximately $57 million.
(2) In accordance with our funding strategy, we have the option to fund certain of these U.S. liabilities with proceeds from our corporate-owned life insurance policies.

Pension Benefits

2019 2018
U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l

Discount rate 2.93% 1.66% 3.72% 2.39%
Compensation rate increase – 2.21 – 2.23

For U.S. and international plans combined, the projected benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets for pension
plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $263 million and $59 million, respectively, at year-end
2019 and $1.47 billion and $1.20 billion, respectively, at year-end 2018.

For U.S. and international plans combined, the accumulated benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets for
pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $237 million and $59 million, respectively,
at year-end 2019 and $1.02 billion and $792 million, respectively, at year-end 2018.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following table sets forth the pre-tax amounts recognized in ‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss’’ in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Pension Benefits

2019 2018
(In millions) U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l

Net actuarial loss $15.5 $101.9 $487.5 $149.3
Prior service (credit) cost – (4.3) 15.9 (6.7)
Net transition obligation – – – .1

Net amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss $15.5 $ 97.6 $503.4 $142.7

The following table sets forth the pre-tax amounts recognized in ‘‘Other comprehensive loss (income)’’:

Pension Benefits

2019 2018 2017
(In millions) U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l

Net actuarial (gain) loss $ (44.6) $(42.7) $ 33.5 $(27.2) $ 21.8 $(17.2)
Prior service credit – 1.8 – – – (2.1)
Amortization of unrecognized:

Net actuarial gain (.5) (4.0) (21.2) (8.1) (18.7) (10.8)
Prior service credit (cost) – .4 (.8) .5 (.9) .4

Settlements (442.8) (.6) (92.0) (1.7) – –

Net amount recognized in other comprehensive (income) loss $(487.9) $(45.1) $(80.5) $(36.5) $ 2.2 $(29.7)

The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit cost, which are recorded in net income for our
defined benefit plans:

Pension Benefits

2019 2018 2017
(In millions) U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l

Service cost $ – $ 15.6 $ – $ 19.2 $ .5 $ 18.2
Interest cost 2.7 14.8 34.5 15.7 35.3 14.3
Actuarial loss (gain) 2.5 – (.6) – 1.7 –
Expected return on plan assets – (21.0) (42.5) (23.8) (40.5) (21.1)
Amortization of actuarial loss .5 4.0 21.2 8.1 18.7 10.8
Amortization of prior service (credit) cost – (.4) .8 (.5) .9 (.4)
Recognized loss on settlements(1) 443.5 .6 92.0 1.7 – –

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) $449.2 $ 13.6 $105.4 $ 20.4 $ 16.6 $ 21.8
(1) In 2019, settlements in the U.S. related to the ADPP termination. Settlements in our international plans related to lump-sum payments in Switzerland. In 2018, settlements in the U.S.

related to lump-sum payments associated with the ADPP and two nonqualified benefit plans. Settlements in our international plans related to lump-sum payments in the UK and
France.

Service cost and components of net periodic benefit cost other than service cost were included in ‘‘Marketing, general
and administrative expense’’ and ‘‘Other non-operating expense’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Income, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic cost:

Pension Benefits

2019 2018 2017
U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l U.S. Int’l

Discount rate 3.73% 2.39% 3.72% 2.25% 4.18% 2.12%
Expected return on assets – 3.38 7.00 3.78 7.00 3.77
Compensation rate increase – 2.23 – 2.26 – 2.24

We make contributions to our defined benefit plans We sponsor various defined contribution plans
sufficient to meet the minimum funding requirements of worldwide, the largest of which is the Avery Dennison
applicable laws and regulations, plus additional amounts, if Corporation Employee Savings Plan (‘‘Savings Plan’’), a
any, we determine to be appropriate. The following table 401(k) plan for our U.S. employees.
sets forth our expected contributions in 2020: We recognized expense of $22.4 million, $21.8 million,

and $20.2 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively,
(In millions) related to our employer contributions and employer match

of participant contributions to the Savings Plan.U.S. pension plans $ 7.6
International pension plans 13.2

We have deferred compensation plans that permit
eligible employees and directors to defer a portion of theirThe future benefit payments shown below reflect
compensation. The compensation voluntarily deferred byexpected service periods for eligible participants.
the participant, together with certain employer
contributions, earns specified and variable rates of return.Pension Benefits
As of year-end 2019 and 2018, we had accrued

(In millions) U.S. Int’l
$91.6 million and $84.3 million, respectively, for our

2020 $ 7.6 $ 20.2 obligations under these plans. A portion of the interest on
2021 8.0 22.0 certain of our contributions may be forfeited by participants2022 6.6 23.1

if their employment terminates before age 55 other than by2023 6.4 22.6
2024 6.4 22.7 reason of death or disability.
2025 - 2029 26.0 141.6 Our Directors Deferred Equity Compensation Program

allows our non-employee directors to elect to receive their
cash compensation in deferred stock units (‘‘DSUs’’) issued
under our equity plan. Additionally, two legacy deferredWe provide postretirement health benefits to certain
compensation plans had DSUs that were issued under ourof our retired U.S. employees up to the age of 65 under a
then-active equity plans. Dividend equivalents,cost-sharing arrangement and provide supplemental
representing the value of dividends per share paid onMedicare benefits to certain of our U.S. retirees over the
shares of our common stock and calculated with referenceage of 65. Our policy is to fund the cost of these
to the number of DSUs held as of a quarterly dividendpostretirement benefits from operating cash flows. While
record date, are credited in the form of additional DSUs onwe have not expressed any intent to terminate these
the applicable payable date. DSUs are converted intopostretirement health benefits, we may do so at any time,
shares of our common stock upon a director’s resignation orsubject to applicable laws and regulations. At year-end
retirement. Approximately .2 million DSUs were2019, our postretirement health benefits obligation and
outstanding as of year-end 2019 and 2018, respectively,related loss recorded in ‘‘Accumulated other
with an aggregate value of $25 million and $17 million,comprehensive loss’’ were approximately $3 million and
respectively.approximately $8 million, respectively. At year-end 2018,

We hold corporate-owned life insurance policies, theour postretirement health benefits obligation and related
proceeds from which are payable to us upon the death ofloss recorded in ‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss’’
covered participants. The cash surrender values of thesewere approximately $4 million and approximately
policies, net of outstanding loans, which are included in$6 million, respectively. Net periodic benefit cost was not
‘‘Other assets’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, werematerial in 2019, 2018, or 2017.
$236.9 million and $227.4 million at year-end 2019 and
2018, respectively.
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Supplemental cost information related to leases is shown below.

(In millions) 2019

Operating lease cost $65.4

Lease costs related to finance leases were immaterial in 2019.
Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases is shown below.

(In millions) Balance Sheet Location 2019

Operating Other assets $138.1
Finance(1) Property, plant and equipment, net 36.1

Total leased assets $174.2

Current:
Operating Other current liabilities $ 41.4
Finance Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt and finance leases 4.5

Non-current:
Operating Long-term retirement benefits and other liabilities 98.9
Finance Long-term debt and finance leases 24.0

Total lease liabilities $168.8
(1) Finance lease assets are net of accumulated amortization of $5.7 million as of December 28, 2019.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is Operating and finance lease liabilities by maturity date
shown below. from December 28, 2019 are shown below.

(In millions) 2019 (In millions) Operating Leases Finance Leases

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of 2020 $ 46.0 $ 5.7
operating lease liabilities $53.1 2021 35.2 12.5

Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for 2022 22.4 4.5
operating lease liabilities 32.6 2023 15.2 4.1

2024 11.1 3.9
2025 and thereafter 29.8 .9Cash flows related to finance leases were immaterial in
Total lease payments 159.7 31.62019.
Less: imputed interest (19.4) (3.1)Weighted average remaining lease term and discount

rate information related to leases is shown below. Present value of lease
liabilities $140.3 $28.5

2019

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years): As of December 28, 2019, we had no significant
Operating 5.5 operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.
Finance 4.1 Rent expense for operating leases was approximately

Weighted average discount rate (percentage): $66 million in 2018 and $64 million in 2017.
Operating 4.9%
Finance 3.1
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estimate within the range is accrued. When the best
estimate within the range cannot be determined, the low
end of the range is accrued. Potential insurance

We are involved in various lawsuits, claims, inquiries, reimbursements are not offset against potential liabilities.
and other regulatory and compliance matters, most of As of December 28, 2019, we have been designated
which are routine to the nature of our business. When it is by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (‘‘EPA’’)
probable that a loss will be incurred and where a range of and/or other responsible state agencies as a PRP at eleven
the loss can be reasonably estimated, the best estimate waste disposal or waste recycling sites that are the subject
within the range is accrued. When the best estimate within of separate investigations or proceedings concerning
the range cannot be determined, the low end of the range alleged soil and/or groundwater contamination. No
is accrued. The ultimate resolution of these claims could settlement of our liability related to any of these sites has
affect future results of operations should our exposure be been agreed upon. We are participating with other PRPs at
materially different from our estimates or should liabilities these sites and anticipate that our share of remediation
be incurred that were not previously accrued. Potential costs will be determined pursuant to agreements that we
insurance reimbursements are not offset against potential negotiate with the EPA or other governmental authorities.
liabilities. These estimates could change as a result of changes in

Because of the uncertainties associated with claims planned remedial actions, remediation technologies, site
resolution and litigation, future expenses to resolve these conditions, the estimated time to complete remediation,
matters could be higher than the liabilities we have environmental laws and regulations, and other factors.
accrued; however, we are unable to reasonably estimate a Because of the uncertainties associated with environmental
range of potential expenses. If information were to become assessment and remediation activities, our future expenses
available that allowed us to reasonably estimate a range of to remediate these sites could be higher than the liabilities
potential expenses in an amount higher or lower than what we have accrued; however, we are unable to reasonably
we have accrued, we would adjust our accrued liabilities estimate a range of potential expenses. If information were
accordingly. Additional lawsuits, claims, inquiries, and to become available that allowed us to reasonably estimate
other regulatory and compliance matters could arise in the a range of potential expenses in an amount higher or lower
future. The range of expenses for resolving any future than what we have accrued, we would adjust our
matters would be assessed as they arise; until then, a range environmental liabilities accordingly. In addition, we may
of potential expenses for such resolution cannot be be identified as a PRP at additional sites in the future. The
determined. Based upon current information, we believe range of expenses for remediation of any future-identified
that the impact of the resolution of these matters would not sites would be addressed as they arise; until then, a range
be, individually or in the aggregate, material to our financial of expenses for such remediation cannot be determined.
position, results of operations or cash flows. The activity related to our environmental liabilities in

2019 and 2018 were as follows:

(In millions) 2019 2018Environmental expenditures are generally expensed.
However, environmental expenditures for newly acquired Balance at beginning of year $20.0 $21.1
assets and those that extend or improve the economic Charges, net of reversals 7.4 3.9

Payments (6.0) (5.0)useful life of existing assets are capitalized and amortized
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the acquired Balance at end of year $21.4 $20.0
asset or the remaining life of the existing asset. We review
our estimates of the costs of complying with environmental

Approximately $10 million and $5 million, respectively,laws related to remediation and cleanup of various sites,
of the balance was classified as short-term and included inincluding sites in which governmental agencies have
‘‘Other current liabilities’’ in the Consolidated Balancedesignated us as a potentially responsible party (‘‘PRP’’).
Sheets as of December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018.When it is probable that a loss will be incurred and where a

range of the loss can be reasonably estimated, the best
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The following table provides the assets and liabilities carried at fair value, measured on a recurring basis, as of
December 28, 2019:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted
Prices Significant Significant

in Other Other
Active Observable Unobservable

Markets Inputs Inputs
(In millions) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Trading securities $30.6 $26.0 $4.6 $ –
Derivative assets 5.2 – 5.2 –
Bank drafts 21.3 21.3 – –

Derivative liabilities $ 6.0 $ .4 $5.6 $ –

The following table provides the assets and liabilities carried at fair value, measured on a recurring basis, as of
December 29, 2018:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Significant Significant
Prices in Other Other

Active Observable Unobservable
Markets Inputs Inputs

(In millions) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Trading securities $26.3 $21.5 $4.8 $ –
Derivative assets 3.6 .1 3.5 –
Bank drafts 23.0 23.0 – –

Derivative liabilities $ 8.7 $ – $8.7 $ –
Contingent consideration liabilities 1.6 – – 1.6

Trading securities include fixed income securities measured based on foreign exchange rate inputs that are
(primarily U.S. government and corporate debt securities) readily available in public markets are classified within
measured at fair value using quoted prices/bids and a Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. Bank drafts (maturities
money market fund measured at fair value using NAV. As of greater than three months) are valued at face value due to
December 28, 2019, trading securities of $.4 million and their short-term nature and were included in ‘‘Other current
$30.2 million were included in ‘‘Cash and cash equivalents’’ assets’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Contingent
and ‘‘Other current assets,’’ respectively, in the consideration liability in 2018, which was included in
Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 29, 2018, ‘‘Other current liabilities’’ in the Consolidated Balance
trading securities of $.2 million and $26.1 million were Sheets, related to an estimated earn-out payment
included in ‘‘Cash and cash equivalents’’ and ‘‘Other associated with an acquisition we completed in 2017 and
current assets,’’ respectively, in the Consolidated Balance was classified as Level 3. This liability was based on the
Sheets. Derivatives that are exchange-traded are measured acquired company’s achievement of the designated
at fair value using quoted market prices and classified performance target in 2018 under the terms of the
within Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. Derivatives purchase agreement and paid in the first quarter of 2019.
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During the year ended December 29, 2018, long-lived
assets with carrying amounts totaling $18.1 million were
written down to their fair value of $10.6 million, resulting in
an impairment charge of $7.5 million, which was included in Our Amended and Restated Certificate of
‘‘Other expense, net’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Incorporation authorizes five million shares of $1 par value
Income. The fair value was based on the estimated sale preferred stock (of which no shares are outstanding), with
price of the assets, less estimated broker fees, which is respect to which our Board may fix the series and terms of
primarily a Level 3 input. issuance, and 400 million shares of $1 par value voting

common stock.
From time to time, our Board authorizes theNOTE 10. NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

repurchase of shares of our outstanding common stock.
Repurchased shares may be reissued under our long-termNet income per common share was computed as
incentive plan or used for other corporate purposes. Infollows:
2019, we repurchased approximately 2 million shares of our
common stock at an aggregate cost of $237.7 million. In(In millions, except per share amounts) 2019 2018 2017
2018, we repurchased approximately 4 million shares of our(A) Net income $303.6 $467.4 $281.8
common stock at an aggregate cost of $392.9 million.

(B) Weighted average number of 84.0 87.3 88.3 In April 2019, our Board authorized the repurchase of
common shares outstanding shares of our common stock with a fair market value of up to

Dilutive shares (additional
$650 million, exclusive of any fees, commissions or othercommon shares issuable under
expenses related to such purchases, in addition to thestock-based awards) 1.0 1.3 1.8
amount then outstanding under our previous Board

(C) Weighted average number of 85.0 88.6 90.1 authorization. Board authorizations remain in effect until
common shares outstanding,

shares in the amount authorized thereunder have beenassuming dilution
repurchased. Shares of our common stock in the aggregate

Net income per common share: amount of $644.7 million as of December 28, 2019
(A) � (B) $ 3.61 $ 5.35 $ 3.19 remained authorized for repurchase under this Board

Net income per common share, authorization.
assuming dilution (A) � (C) $ 3.57 $ 5.28 $ 3.13

Certain stock-based compensation awards were not We fund a portion of our employee-related expenses
included in the computation of net income per common using shares of our common stock held in treasury. We
share, assuming dilution, because they would not have had record net gains or losses associated with our use of
a dilutive effect. Stock-based compensation awards treasury shares to retained earnings.
excluded from the computation were not significant in
2019, 2018 or 2017.
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The changes in ‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss’’ (net of tax) for 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

Pension and
Foreign Other

Currency Postretirement Cash Flow
(In millions) Translation Benefits Hedges Total

Balance as of December 30, 2017 $(156.2) $(524.0) $ (.3) $(680.5)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications, net of tax (91.2) (4.1) 1.1 (94.2)
Reclassifications to net income, net of tax – 93.8 (1.1) 92.7

Net current-period other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (91.2) 89.7 – (1.5)

Balance as of December 29, 2018 $(247.4) $(434.3) $ (.3) $(682.0)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications, net of tax 2.3 66.4 .5 69.2
Reclassifications to net income, net of tax – 266.1 (1.4) 264.7

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 2.3 332.5 (.9) 333.9

Balance as of December 28, 2019 $(245.1) $(101.8) $(1.2) $(348.1)

The amounts reclassified from ‘‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss’’ to increase (decrease) net income were as
follows:

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017 Statements of Income Location

Cash flow hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts $ 2.1 $ 1.3 $ .2 Cost of products sold
Commodity contracts (.2) .1 .2 Cost of products sold
Interest rate contracts – – (1.8) Interest expense

Total before tax 1.9 1.4 (1.4)
Tax (.5) (.3) .5 (Benefit from) provision for income

taxes

Net of tax 1.4 1.1 (.9)

Pension and other postretirement benefits (445.4) (121.4) (28.2) Other non-operating expense, net
Tax 179.3 27.6 8.9 (Benefit from) provision for income

taxes

Net of tax (266.1) (93.8) (19.3)

Total reclassifications for the period $(264.7) $ (92.7) $(20.2)

The following table sets forth the income tax expense (benefit) allocated to each component of other comprehensive
income (loss):

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Foreign currency translation:
Translation gain (loss) $ (5.5) $ (9.1) $(25.1)

Pension and other postretirement benefits:
Net gain (loss) recognized from actuarial gain/loss and prior service cost/credit 19.4 (2.4) .5
Reclassifications to net income 179.3 27.6 8.9

Cash flow hedges:
Gains (losses) recognized on cash flow hedges .2 .3 (.6)
Reclassifications to net income (.5) (.3) .5

Income tax expense (benefit) allocated to components of other comprehensive income (loss) $192.9 $ 16.1 $(15.8)
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NOTE 12. LONG-TERM INCENTIVE COMPENSATION As of December 28, 2019, we had approximately
$42 million of unrecognized compensation expense related
to unvested stock-based awards, which is expected to be
recognized over the remaining weighted average requisiteStock-Based Compensation
service period of approximately two years.We grant our annual stock-based compensation

awards to eligible employees in February and
non-employee directors in May. Certain awards granted to Stock Options
retirement-eligible employees vest in full upon retirement; Stock options granted to employees and
awards to these employees are accounted for as fully non-employee directors may be granted at no less than
vested on the date of grant. 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the

In April 2017, our shareholders approved our 2017 date of the grant and generally vest ratably over a four-year
Incentive Award Plan (the ‘‘Equity Plan’’) to replace our period. Options expire ten years from the date of grant.
Amended and Restated Stock Option and Incentive Plan. The fair value of stock options is estimated as of the
The Equity Plan, a long-term incentive plan for eligible date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
employees and non-employee directors, allows us to grant model. This model requires input assumptions for our
stock-based compensation awards–including stock expected dividend yield, expected stock price volatility,
options, RSUs, PUs, MSUs and DSUs–or a combination of risk-free interest rate and the expected option term.
these and other awards. Under the Equity Plan, 5.4 million The following assumptions are used in estimating the
shares are available for issuance, and each full value award fair value of granted stock options:
is counted as 1.5 shares for purposes of the number of Risk-free interest rate is based on the 52-week average
shares authorized for issuance. Full value awards include of the Treasury-Bond rate that has a term corresponding to
RSUs, PUs, and MSUs. the expected option term.

Stock-based compensation expense and the related Expected stock price volatility represents an average
recognized tax benefit were as follows: of the implied and historical volatility.

Expected dividend yield is based on the current annual
(In millions) 2019 2018 2017 dividend divided by the 12-month average of our monthly

stock price prior to grant.Stock-based compensation expense $34.5 $34.3 $30.2
Expected option term is determined based onTax benefit 4.3 4.7 4.3

historical experience under our long-term incentive plans.
No stock options were granted in fiscal years 2019,This expense was included in ‘‘Marketing, general and

2018 or 2017.administrative expense’’ in the Consolidated Statements of
Income.

The following table summarizes information related to stock options:

Weighted average
Number of remaining Aggregate

options Weighted average contractual life intrinsic value
(in thousands) exercise price (in years) (in millions)

Outstanding at December 29, 2018 511.6 $45.06 4.00 $22.4
Exercised (305.4) 33.56

Outstanding at December 28, 2019 206.2 $62.10 4.92 $14.3
Options vested and expected to vest at December 28, 2019 204.3 61.99 4.91 14.2
Options exercisable at December 28, 2019 135.7 $55.93 4.14 $10.3

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was which the market value of our stock exceeds the exercise
$23.5 million in 2019, $2.7 million in 2018, and price of the option.
$26.8 million in 2017. We received approximately
$10 million in 2019, $1 million in 2018, and $22 million in Performance Units (‘‘PUs’’)
2017 from the exercise of stock options. The tax benefit PUs are performance-based awards granted to eligible
associated with these exercised options was $5.7 million in employees under our equity plans. PUs are payable in
2019, $.6 million in 2018, and $10.1 million in 2017. The shares of our common stock at the end of a three-or
intrinsic value of a stock option is based on the amount by four-year cliff vesting period provided that certain
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performance objectives are achieved at the end of the The following table summarizes information related to
period. Over the performance period, the estimated awarded MSUs:
number of shares of our common stock issuable upon

Weightedvesting is adjusted upward or downward based upon the
Number of averageprobability of the achievement of the performance

MSUs grant-dateobjectives established for the award. The actual number of (in thousands) fair value
shares issued can range from 0% to 200% of the target

Unvested at December 29, 2018 303.6 $ 90.33shares at the time of grant. The weighted average grant
Granted at target 104.6 135.85date fair value for PUs was $104.43, $120.25, and $82.15 in
Adjustments for above-target2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

performance(1) 83.4 70.38The following table summarizes information related to
Vested (216.2) 73.60awarded PUs:
Forfeited/cancelled (12.0) 114.11

Weighted Unvested at December 28, 2019 263.4 $115.71
Number of average

(1) Reflects adjustments for the vesting of awards based on above-target performance forPUs grant-date
each of the tranches of awards vesting in 2019.(in thousands) fair value

The fair value of vested MSUs was $15.9 million inUnvested at December 29, 2018 452.8 $ 86.20
2019, $24.0 million in 2018, and $19.3 million in 2017.Granted at target 182.6 104.43

Adjustment for above-target
performance(1) 182.4 68.61 Restricted Stock Units (‘‘RSUs’’)

Vested (374.2) 68.42 RSUs are service-based awards granted to eligible
Forfeited/cancelled (16.1) 97.58 employees and non-employee directors under our equity

plans. RSUs granted to employees generally vest ratablyUnvested at December 28, 2019 427.5 $101.61
over a period of four years. Prior to 2017, RSUs granted to(1) Reflects adjustments for the vesting of awards based on above-target performance for

the 2016-2018 performance period. non-employee directors generally vested ratably over a
period of three years. Beginning in 2017, RSUs granted toThe fair value of vested PUs was $25.6 million in 2019,
non-employee directors generally vest over a period of one$11.9 million in 2018, and $11.2 million in 2017.
year. The vesting of RSUs is subject to continued service
through the applicable vesting date. If that condition is notMarket-Leveraged Stock Units (‘‘MSUs’’)
met, unvested RSUs are generally forfeited. The weightedMSUs are performance-based awards granted to
average grant date fair value for RSUs was $107.18,eligible employees under our equity plans. MSUs are
$106.44, and $82.77 in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.payable in shares of our common stock over a four-year

The following table summarizes information related toperiod provided that the performance objective is
awarded RSUs:achieved as of the end of each vesting period. MSUs accrue

dividend equivalents during the vesting period, which are
Weighted

earned and paid only at vesting provided that, at a Number of average
minimum, threshold performance is achieved. The number RSUs grant-date

(in thousands) fair valueof shares earned is based upon our absolute total
shareholder return at each vesting date and can range from Unvested at December 29, 2018 88.7 $ 83.72
0% to 200% of the target amount of MSUs subject to Granted 30.3 107.18
vesting. Each of the four vesting periods represents one Vested (53.9) 81.71
tranche of MSUs and the fair value of each of these four Forfeited/cancelled (5.4) 82.51
tranches was determined using the Monte-Carlo simulation

Unvested at December 28, 2019 59.7 $ 97.56model, which utilizes multiple input variables, including
expected stock price volatility and other assumptions, to The fair value of vested RSUs was $4.4 million,
estimate the probability of achieving the performance $5.1 million, and $2.7 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017,
objective established for the award. The weighted average respectively.
grant date fair value for MSUs was $135.85, $117.75, and
$91.40 in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

Long-Term Incentive Units (‘‘LTI Units’’)
LTI Units are cash-based awards granted to eligible

employees under our long-term incentive unit plan. LTI
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Units are service-based awards that generally vest ratably
During fiscal year 2019, we recorded $25.2 million inover a four-year period. The settlement value equals the

restructuring charges related to our 2019/2020 actions.number of vested LTI Units multiplied by the average of the
These charges consisted of severance and related costs forhigh and low market prices of our common stock on the
the reduction of approximately 370 positions, as well asvesting date. The compensation expense related to these
asset impairment charges.awards is amortized on a straight-line basis and the fair

value is remeasured using the estimated percentage of
units expected to be earned multiplied by the average of
the high and low market prices of our common stock at In April 2018, we approved a restructuring plan (the
each quarter-end. ‘‘2018 Plan’’) to consolidate the European footprint of our

We also grant performance-based, cash-based awards Label and Graphic Materials (‘‘LGM’’) reportable segment,
in the form of performance and market-leveraged LTI Units which reduced headcount by approximately 390 positions,
to eligible employees. Performance LTI Units are payable in including temporary labor, from the closure of a
cash at the end of a three-year cliff vesting period provided manufacturing facility. This reduction was partially offset by
that certain performance objectives are achieved at the end headcount additions in other locations, resulting in a net
of the performance period. Market-leveraged LTI Units are reduction of approximately 150 positions. During fiscal year
payable in cash and vest ratably over a period of four years. 2019, we recorded a net $2.3 million in restructuring
The number of performance and market-leveraged LTI reversals related to the 2018 Plan. During fiscal year 2018,
Units earned at vesting is adjusted upward or downward we recorded $55.2 million in restructuring charges, net of
based upon the probability of achieving the performance reversals. The cumulative charges associated with the 2018
objectives established for the respective award and the Plan consisted of severance and related costs for the
actual number of units issued can range from 0% to 200% headcount reduction, as well as asset impairment charges.
of the target units subject to vesting. Performance and The activities related to the 2018 Plan were substantially
market-leveraged LTI Units are remeasured using the completed as of the end of the second quarter of 2019.
estimated percentage of units expected to be earned In addition to restructuring charges recorded under the
multiplied by the average of the high and low market prices 2018 Plan, we recorded $28.2 million in restructuring
of our common stock at each quarter-end over their charges during fiscal year 2019 related to other 2018/2019
respective performance periods. The compensation actions. These charges consisted of severance and related
expense related to performance LTI Units is amortized on a costs for the reduction of approximately 490 positions, as
straight-line basis over their respective performance well as asset impairment charges. In the fourth quarter 2018,
periods. The compensation expense related to market- we recorded $4.2 million in restructuring charges relating to
leveraged LTI Units is amortized on a graded-vesting basis these other 2018/2019 actions. These charges consisted of
over their respective performance periods. severance and related costs for the reduction of

The compensation expense related to LTI Units was approximately 85 positions, as well as impairment charges.
$19.1 million in 2019, $12.4 million in 2018, and
$36.6 million in 2017. This expense was included in
‘‘Marketing, general and administrative expense’’ in the During fiscal year 2018, we recorded $14.3 million in
Consolidated Statements of Income. The total recognized restructuring charges, net of reversals, related to our
tax benefit related to LTI Units was $4.4 million in 2019, 2015/2016 actions. These charges consisted of severance
$2.9 million in 2018, and $8.3 million in 2017. and related costs for the reduction of approximately 625

positions, lease cancellation costs, and asset impairment
charges. The activities and related charges and paymentsNOTE 13. COST REDUCTION ACTIONS
related to the 2015/2016 actions were substantially
completed in 2018.

Accruals for severance and related costs and leaseWe have plans that provide eligible employees with
cancellation costs were included in ‘‘Other currentseverance in the event of an involuntary termination. We
liabilities’’ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Assetcalculate severance using the applicable benefit formulas
impairment charges were based on the estimated marketunder the respective plans. We record restructuring
value of the assets, less selling costs, if applicable.charges from qualifying cost reduction actions for
Restructuring charges were included in ‘‘Other expense,severance and other exit costs (including asset impairment
net’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Income.charges and lease and other contract cancellation costs)

when they are probable and estimable.
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During 2019, restructuring charges and payments were as follows:

Accrual at Charges, Foreign Accrual at
December 29, Net of Cash Non-cash Currency December 28,

(In millions) 2018 Reversals Payments Impairment Translation 2019

Severance and related costs $ – $21.9 $ – $ – $ – $21.9
Asset impairment charges – 3.3 – (3.3) – –

Severance and related costs 40.7 24.0 (57.1) – (1.1) 6.5
Lease cancellation costs – .3 – – – .3
Asset impairment charges – 1.6 – (1.6) – –

Total $40.7 $51.1 $(57.1) $(4.9) $(1.1) $28.7

During 2018, restructuring charges and payments were as follows:

Accrual at Charges, Foreign Accrual at
December 30, Net of Cash Non-cash Currency December 29,

(In millions) 2017 Reversals Payments Impairment Translation 2018

Severance and related costs $ – $51.8 $ (9.8) $ – $(1.3) $40.7
Asset impairment charges – 7.6 – (7.6) – –

Total $ – $59.4 $ (9.8) $(7.6) $(1.3) $40.7

The table below shows the total amount of restructuring charges incurred by reportable segment and Corporate.

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Label and Graphic Materials $ 29.0 $ 57.8 $ 14.8
Retail Branding and Information Solutions 9.8 11.9 18.4
Industrial and Healthcare Materials 9.4 4.0 .2
Corporate 2.2 – –

Total $ 50.4 $ 73.7 $ 33.4

NOTE 14. TAXES BASED ON INCOME

Taxes based on income were as follows:

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Current:
U.S. federal tax $ 11.0 $ (19.7) $ 47.0
State taxes .5 .8 .2
International taxes 148.1 134.3 111.0

159.6 115.4 158.2

Deferred:
U.S. federal tax (168.0) (6.3) 134.8
State taxes (8.9) 2.3 (3.7)
International taxes (39.4) (26.0) 18.4

(216.3) (30.0) 149.5

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (56.7) $ 85.4 $307.7

47

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2019/2020 Actions

2018/2019 Actions

2018/2019 Actions

Restructuring charges by reportable segment and Corporate

Avery Dennison Corporation 2019 Annual Report



48

The principal items accounting for the difference between taxes computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate and taxes
recorded were as follows:

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Computed tax provision at U.S. federal statutory rate(1) $ 52.4 $116.5 $206.7
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:

State taxes, net of federal tax benefit(1) (12.8) 3.9 (3.2)
U.S. pension plan settlements and related charges(1) (76.6) – –
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act(2) – (34.7) 172.0
Foreign earnings taxed at different rates(3) 56.2 44.0 (40.2)
Foreign tax structuring and planning transactions(4) (47.9) (31.0) –
Excess tax benefits associated with stock-based payments (7.8) (7.7) (16.0)
Valuation allowance 2.0 10.7 (1.4)
Corporate-owned life insurance (4.0) (3.8) (6.7)
U.S. federal research and development tax credits (6.1) (6.1) (4.9)
Tax contingencies and audit settlements (11.8) (11.9) (1.9)
Other items, net (.3) 5.5 3.3

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $(56.7) $ 85.4 $307.7
(1) Included in 2019 and 2018 are tax effects of the pension plan settlement charges associated with the termination of the ADPP. The tax benefits of $102 million and $19 million on the

pretax charges were reflected in computed tax provision at U.S. federal statutory rate and state taxes, net of federal tax benefit for fiscal years 2019 and 2018, respectively. In 2019, the
tax benefit of $77 million related to the release of stranded tax effects in AOCI through the income statement was reflected in U.S. pension plan settlements and related charges.

(2) During 2018 and 2017, we recognized a net tax benefit of $34.7 million and a net tax charge of $172 million, respectively, as a result of the TCJA. These amounts included our TCJA
provisional amount and subsequent adjustments, including items that would otherwise be separately disclosed as state taxes, net of federal tax benefit, tax effects of foreign earnings
taxed at different rates, tax contingencies and audit settlements, and other items, net. We finalized our TCJA provisional amount as defined under SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 118 in 2018.

(3) Included in 2019 and 2018 are certain U.S. international tax provisions imposed by the TCJA; all years included foreign earnings taxed in the U.S., net of credits.
(4) In 2019, we recognized a net tax benefit of $47.9 million related to a foreign structuring transaction. This net benefit resulted from the elimination of recapture conditions to which our

previously recognized net operating losses were subject. By eliminating these conditions, our losses became permanent, and the offsetting deferred tax liability related to future
recapture was released. In 2018, we recognized a net tax benefit of $31 million related to a foreign planning transaction. This net benefit resulted from the recognition of a deferred tax
asset in a higher tax rate jurisdiction, partially offset by a taxable gain recognized in a lower effective tax rate jurisdiction.

Income before taxes from our U.S. and international income (‘‘GILTI’’) of our foreign subsidiaries and the
operations was as follows: recognition of foreign withholding taxes on current year

earnings, partially offset by the benefit from foreign-
(In millions) 2019 2018 2017 derived intangible income (‘‘FDII’’); (iii) $11.8 million of net

tax benefit from the effective settlement of certain GermanU.S. $(355.4) $ (7.3) $ 49.0
tax audits and decreases in reserves as a result of closingInternational 604.9 562.1 540.5
tax years, partially offset by additional interest and penalty

Income before taxes $ 249.5 $554.8 $589.5 accruals, and increases in reserves from our change in
Our effective tax rate was (22.7)%, 15.4%, and 52.2% judgment; (iv) $7.8 million of tax benefit related to excess

for fiscal years 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. tax benefits associated with stock-based payments; and
Our 2019 provision for income taxes included (v) $2 million of net tax benefit from an intellectual property

$179 million of tax benefit related to the effective tax incentive in a foreign jurisdiction having met the
settlement of the ADPP, $102 million of which was the eligibility requirements. Effective in 2019, we implemented
related tax effect on the pretax charge of $444 million and certain operational structure changes to more closely align
$77 million of which was related to the release of stranded with our business strategies, one benefit of which was to
tax effects in AOCI through the income statement. The tax reduce our base erosion payments below the statutory
effects were stranded primarily as a result of the U.S. federal threshold. As a result, our 2019 provision for income taxes
tax rate change under the TCJA. Refer to Note 1, did not include tax charges related to Base Erosion
‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,’’ and Note 6, Antiabuse Tax (‘‘BEAT’’).
‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits,’’ for more Our 2018 provision for income taxes included
information. Our 2019 provision for income taxes also (i) $34.7 million of tax benefit for measurement period
included (i) $47.9 million of tax benefit from a foreign tax adjustments to our 2017 TCJA provisional amount in
structuring transaction resulting in previously recognized accordance with guidance provided under SEC Staff
tax losses becoming permanent; (ii) $24.7 million of net tax Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (‘‘SAB 118’’); (ii) $31 million of
charge related to the tax on global intangible low-taxed net tax charge for GILTI and BEAT, and the recognition of
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foreign withholding taxes on current year earnings, partially used in our estimated transition tax calculation;
offset by the benefit from FDII; (iii) $11.9 million of net tax (iv) $5.3 million of tax charge from the estimated reduction
benefit from the effective settlement of our German tax of previously recognized U.S. deferred tax assets that we no
audit and decreases in reserves as a result of closing tax longer anticipated to benefit from due to changes in the
years, partially offset by additional interest and penalty future deductibility of executive compensation; and
accruals, and increases in reserves from our change in (v) $38.8 million of net tax benefit, primarily from the
judgment; and (iv) $31 million of net tax benefit primarily reversal of the deferred tax liability that we previously
due to the recognition of a deferred tax asset in a higher tax recorded for future tax costs associated with repatriations
rate jurisdiction, partially offset by a taxable gain of certain foreign earnings and profits that we considered
recognized in a lower effective tax rate jurisdiction. Our not to be indefinitely reinvested.
2018 provision for income taxes was not significantly As of December 29, 2018, we completed our
impacted by the $10.7 million increase in valuation accounting for the income tax effects of the TCJA following
allowance primarily due to offsetting changes in deferred the guidance of SAB 118. Specifically, we included
taxes and uncertain tax positions. $34.7 million of net tax benefit as measurement period

Our 2017 provision for income taxes included adjustments primarily related to (i) $9.5 million of tax
(i) $172 million of net tax charge for our 2017 TCJA charge as an adjustment to the transition tax, reflecting
provisional amount; (ii) $5.1 million of tax benefit from the subsequent regulatory and administrative guidance issued
release of valuation allowance on certain state deferred tax by the Internal Revenue Service (‘‘IRS’’) and certain state
assets; (iii) $16 million of tax benefit related to excess tax taxing authorities and the finalization of our foreign
benefits associated with stock-based payments; and earnings and profits as well as taxes; (ii) $39.6 million of tax
(iv) $1.9 million of net tax benefit from effective settlements benefit as an adjustment to the remeasurement of deferred
and decreases in reserves as a result of closing tax years, taxes as a result of our decision to accelerate certain
partially offset by additional interest and penalty accruals, deductions in conjunction with the completion of our 2017
and increases in reserves from our change in judgment. U.S. federal income tax return; (iii) $3.6 million of tax charge

as an incremental accrual for foreign withholding taxes
associated with changes in our indefinite reinvestment
assertions after information required to make suchThe TCJA enacted in the U.S. in December 2017
determination was obtained; and (iv) $9.4 million of taxsignificantly changed U.S. corporate income taxation by,
benefit from releasing a previously recorded uncertain taxamong other things, reducing the federal corporate
position after we did not take the position on our 2017 U.S.income tax rates to 21%; implementing a modified
federal income tax return.territorial tax system prospectively by providing a dividend

Consistent with the prior year, our accumulatedreceived deduction on certain dividends from our foreign
earnings in foreign subsidiaries are not indefinitelysubsidiaries, loss of domestic manufacturing deductions,
reinvested. As a result of the one-time transition tax and theand limitations on the deductibility of our executive
dividend received deduction prescribed by the TCJA, ourcompensation; and interest expense, and imposing a
accumulated earnings in foreign subsidiaries can generallyone-time transition tax through a deemed repatriation of
be repatriated to the U.S. without material taxaccumulated untaxed earnings and profits of foreign
consequences. As of December 28, 2019, we recorded asubsidiaries.
deferred tax liability of $18.9 million related to future taxIn 2017, we included a provisional amount of
consequences from repatriating our accumulated earnings$172 million as the estimated impact of the TCJA in our
in foreign subsidiaries that are not indefinitely reinvested.results for the fourth quarter and full year 2017. This

provisional amount included (i) $147 million of tax charge
related to the estimated transition tax; (ii) $49.2 million of
tax charge resulting from the estimated remeasurement of Deferred taxes reflect the temporary differences
net U.S. deferred tax assets at the lower corporate income between the amounts at which assets and liabilities are
tax rate; (iii) $9.3 million of tax charge related to potential recorded for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
uncertainties of our accumulated tax attributes that were utilized for tax purposes. The primary components of the
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temporary differences that gave rise to our deferred tax December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018 totaled
assets and liabilities were as follows: $47 million and $69 million, respectively. If unused, foreign

net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards will expire
(In millions) 2019 2018 as follows:
Accrued expenses not currently deductible $ 25.7 $ 18.4

(In millions) Net OperatingNet operating loss carryforwards(1) 154.6 166.4
Year of Expiry Losses(1) Tax Credits

Tax credit carryforwards 46.5 69.0
2020 $ 5.1 $ .3Stock-based compensation 11.8 12.4
2021 3.1 .5Pension and other postretirement benefits 57.8 79.8
2022 6.6 .6Lease liabilities(2) 30.5 –
2023 5.2 2.5Other assets 21.3 18.5
2024 5.2 .4Valuation allowance (67.7) (71.8)
2025 - 2039 8.4 35.1

Total deferred tax assets(3) 280.5 292.7
Indefinite life/no expiry 474.5 7.1

Depreciation and amortization (41.6) (45.1)
Total $508.1 $46.5

Repatriation accrual (18.9) (21.3)
(1) Net operating losses are presented before tax effect and valuation allowance.

Foreign operating loss recapture(1) (3.4) (56.5)
Lease assets(2) (29.7) –

Certain indefinite-lived foreign net operating lossesOther liabilities – (1.6)
may require decades to be fully utilized under our current

Total deferred tax liabilities(3) (93.6) (124.5) business model.
At December 28, 2019, we had net operating lossTotal net deferred tax assets $186.9 $ 168.2

carryforwards in certain state jurisdictions of $635 million(1) A portion of our net operating losses originated from prior impairments of investment
value in foreign subsidiaries as recognized for foreign accounting and tax reporting before tax effect. Based on our estimates of future state
purposes. As required by law, these impairment losses are subject to future recapture taxable income, it is more-likely-than-not that the majority
under certain conditions. In 2019, we executed a foreign tax structuring transaction

of these carryforwards will not be realized before theythat eliminated the conditions under which future recapture may occur. Consequently,
our previously recognized impairment losses became permanent, and the deferred tax expire. Accordingly, a valuation allowance has been
liability related to future recapture was released. recorded on $588 million of these carryforwards.(2) In 2019, we adopted the accounting guidance on leases using a modified
retrospective approach. As such, the prior year period has not been adjusted. Refer to As of December 28, 2019, our provision for income
Note 1, ‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,’’ and Note 7, ‘‘Commitments taxes did not materially benefit from applicable tax holidays
and Leases,’’ to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

in foreign jurisdictions.(3) Reflect gross amounts before jurisdictional netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities.

We assess the available positive and negative
As of December 28, 2019, our unrecognized taxevidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income is

benefits totaled $70 million, $61 million of which, ifexpected to be generated to use existing deferred tax
recognized, would reduce our annual effective income taxassets. On the basis of our assessment, we record valuation
rate. As of December 29, 2018, our unrecognized taxallowances only with respect to the portion of the deferred
benefits totaled $81 million, $72 million of which, iftax asset that is not more-likely-than-not to be realized. Our
recognized, would reduce our annual effective income taxassessment of the future realizability of our deferred tax
rate.assets relies heavily on our forecasted earnings in certain

Where applicable, we accrue potential interest andjurisdictions, and such forecasted earnings are determined
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in incomeby the manner in which we operate our business. Any
tax expense. The interest and penalties we recognizedchanges to our operations may affect our assessment of
during fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 were not material,deferred tax assets considered realizable if the positive
individually or in aggregate, to the Consolidatedevidence no longer outweighs the negative evidence.
Statements of Income. We have accrued balances ofNet operating loss carryforwards of foreign
$22 million and $25 million for interest and penalties, net ofsubsidiaries at December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018
tax benefit, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets atwere $508 million and $538 million, respectively. Tax credit
December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, respectively.carryforwards of both domestic and foreign subsidiaries at
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts RFID inlays), and related services, supplies and
of unrecognized tax benefits is set forth below: equipment; and

• Industrial and Healthcare Materials –
(In millions) 2019 2018 manufactures and sells performance tapes and

other adhesive products for industrial, medicalBalance at beginning of year $80.8 $108.7
and other applications as well as fastenerAdditions for tax positions of the current year 7.5 11.5
solutions.Reductions for tax positions of prior years, net (6.7) (23.1)

Intersegment sales are recorded at or near marketSettlements with tax authorities (1.9) (6.6)
prices and are eliminated in determining consolidatedExpirations of statutes of limitations (8.0) (5.9)
sales. We evaluate our performance based on income fromChanges due to translation of foreign
operations before interest expense and taxes. Generalcurrencies (1.8) (3.8)
corporate expenses are excluded from the computation of

Balance at end of year $69.9 $ 80.8 income from operations for the segments.
We do not disclose total assets by reportable segment

It is reasonably possible that, during the next since we neither generate nor review such information
12 months, we may realize a decrease in our uncertain tax internally. As our reporting structure is neither organized
positions, including interest and penalties, of nor reviewed internally by country, results by individual
approximately $19 million, primarily as a result of audit country are not provided.
settlements and closing tax years.

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to
ongoing audits by taxing jurisdictions around the world. Disaggregated revenue information is set forth below
Our estimate of the potential outcome of any uncertain tax in the manner that best depicts how the nature, amount,
issue is subject to our assessment of the relevant risks, facts, timing and uncertainty of our revenue and cash flows are
and circumstances existing at the time. We believe that we affected by economic factors. Revenue from our LGM
have adequately provided for reasonably foreseeable reportable segment is attributed to geographic areas
outcomes related to these matters. However, our future based on the location from which products are shipped.
results may include favorable or unfavorable adjustments Revenue from our RBIS reportable segment is shown by
to our estimated tax liabilities in the period the assessments product group.
are made or resolved, which may impact our effective tax

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017rate. The final determination of tax audits and any related
legal proceedings could materially differ from amounts
reflected in our tax provision and the related liabilities. As
of the date the 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements are Label and Graphic Materials:
being issued, we and our U.S. subsidiaries have completed U.S. $1,246.6 $1,256.0 $1,198.4
the IRS’ Compliance Assurance Process Program through Europe 1,767.9 1,851.3 1,689.3
2016. With some exceptions, we and our subsidiaries are Asia 1,065.0 1,081.2 1,002.6
no longer subject to income tax examinations by tax Latin America 375.4 367.8 357.0
authorities for years prior to 2009. Other international 291.0 294.8 264.4

Total Label and Graphic Materials 4,745.9 4,851.1 4,511.7
NOTE 15. SEGMENT AND DISAGGREGATED REVENUE

Retail Branding and InformationINFORMATION
Solutions:
Apparel 1,458.5 1,441.7 1,352.0
Printer Solutions 191.8 171.5 159.2We have the following reportable segments:

• Label and Graphic Materials – manufactures and Total Retail Branding and
sells pressure-sensitive label and packaging Information Solutions 1,650.3 1,613.2 1,511.2
materials and films for graphic and reflective

Industrial and Healthcareproducts;
Materials 673.9 694.7 590.9• Retail Branding and Information Solutions –

Net sales to unaffiliateddesigns, manufactures and sells a wide variety of
customers $7,070.1 $7,159.0 $6,613.8branding and information solutions, including

brand and price tickets, tags and labels (including

51

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Disaggregated Revenue Information

Net sales to unaffiliated
customers

Segment Reporting

Avery Dennison Corporation 2019 Annual Report



52

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017Revenue by geographic area is set forth below.
Revenue is attributed to geographic areas based on the
location from which the product is shipped.

Label and Graphic Materials $ 100.2 $ 104.7 $102.3
(In millions) 2019 2018 2017 Retail Branding and Information

Solutions 52.6 49.0 56.4
Industrial and Healthcare Materials 26.2 27.3 20.0

U.S. $1,638.8 $1,625.1 $1,557.8 Depreciation and amortization
Europe 2,160.2 2,251.4 2,041.6 expense $ 179.0 $ 181.0 $178.7
Asia 2,458.5 2,473.2 2,250.5
Latin America 498.3 490.0 476.4
Other international 314.3 319.3 287.5

Label and Graphic Materials $ 28.3 $ 61.8 $ 14.5
Net sales to unaffiliated Retail Branding and Information

customers $7,070.1 $7,159.0 $6,613.8 Solutions 9.9 11.4 18.1
Industrial and Healthcare Materials 9.4 (1.0) 3.7
Corporate 5.6 (2.3) .2Net sales to unaffiliated customers in Asia included

sales in China (including Hong Kong) of $1.38 billion in Other expense, net $ 53.2 $ 69.9 $ 36.5
2019, $1.43 billion in 2018, and $1.3 billion in 2017.

Restructuring charges:
Severance and related costs $ 45.3 $ 63.0 $ 31.2

Additional financial information by reportable
Asset impairment charges and lease

segment is set forth below.
cancellation costs 5.1 10.7 2.2

Other items:
(In millions) 2019 2018 2017

Legal settlement 3.4 – –
Transaction costs 2.6 – 5.2

Label and Graphic Materials $ 80.2 $ 78.7 $ 64.1 Argentine peso remeasurement
Retail Branding and Information transition loss – 3.4 –

Solutions 20.6 4.7 3.2 Other restructuring-related charge – .5 –
Industrial and Healthcare Materials 8.8 8.8 7.7 Reversal of acquisition-related

contingent consideration – (5.0) –Intersegment sales $ 109.6 $ 92.2 $ 75.0
Net gain on sales of assets (3.2) (2.7) (2.1)

Other expense, net $ 53.2 $ 69.9 $ 36.5Label and Graphic Materials $ 601.5 $ 568.2 $577.4
Retail Branding and Information

Solutions 196.6 170.4 126.7 Property, plant and equipment, net, in our U.S. and
Industrial and Healthcare Materials 60.0 62.9 52.6 international operations were as follows:
Corporate expense (87.6) (83.4) (86.2)
Interest expense (75.8) (58.5) (63.0) (In millions) 2019 2018 2017
Other non-operating expense, net (445.2) (104.8) (18.0)

Income before taxes $ 249.5 $ 554.8 $589.5

U.S. $ 366.9 $ 317.3 $ 286.4
International 843.8 820.1 811.5Label and Graphic Materials $ 137.8 $ 151.5 $125.5

Retail Branding and Information Property, plant and equipment,
Solutions 63.1 57.1 48.8 net $1,210.7 $1,137.4 $1,097.9

Industrial and Healthcare Materials 24.2 19.3 19.5

Capital expenditures $ 225.1 $ 227.9 $193.8
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NOTE 16. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Research and development expense, which is included

in ‘‘Marketing, general and administrative expense’’ in the
Consolidated Statements of Income, was as follows:Net inventories at year-end were as follows:

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017(In millions) 2019 2018

Research and developmentRaw materials $ 231.6 $ 236.2
expense $ 92.6 $ 98.2 $ 93.4Work-in-progress 201.0 196.7

Finished goods 230.4 218.5

Inventories, net $ 663.0 $ 651.4
Cash paid for interest and income taxes was as follows:

(In millions) 2019 2018 2017
Major classes of property, plant and equipment, stated

Interest $ 74.3 $ 54.9 $ 57.7at cost, at year-end were as follows:
Income taxes, net of refunds 155.0 153.5 125.6

(In millions) 2019 2018

Land $ 25.1 $ 28.0
Gains and losses resulting from foreign currencyBuildings and improvements 687.4 643.1

transactions are included in income in the period incurred.Machinery and equipment 2,316.9 2,231.1
Transactions in foreign currencies (including receivables,Construction-in-progress 142.2 151.5
payables and loans denominated in currencies other thanProperty, plant and equipment 3,171.6 3,053.7
the functional currency), including hedging impacts,Accumulated depreciation (1,960.9) (1,916.3)
decreased net income by $9.7 million, $13.4 million, and

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,210.7 $ 1,137.4 $4.1 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

Deferred revenue primarily relates to constrainedCapitalized software costs at year-end were as follows:
variable consideration on supply agreements for sales of
products, as well as to payments received in advance of(In millions) 2019 2018
performance under a contract. Deferred revenue isCost $ 487.2 $ 452.4
recognized as revenue as or when we perform under aAccumulated amortization (334.4) (316.9)
contract.

Software, net $ 152.8 $ 135.5 The following table shows the amounts and balance
sheet locations of deferred revenue as of December 28,
2019 and December 29, 2018:Software amortization expense was $20.8 million in

2019, $20.2 million in 2018, and $29.3 million in 2017.
December 28, December 29,

(In millions) 2019 2018

Other current liabilities $12.6 $11.5As of December 28, 2019, we held a 22.9% interest in
Long-term retirement benefitsPragmatIC Printing Limited (‘‘PragmatIC’’), a company that

and other liabilities .3 .3develops flexible electronics technology. The carrying
value of this investment was $8.8 million and $6.7 million as Total deferred revenue $12.9 $11.8
of December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018,
respectively, and was included in ‘‘Other assets’’ in the Revenue recognized from amounts included in
Consolidated Balance Sheets. In January 2019, we made an deferred revenue as of December 29, 2018 was
additional investment in PragmatIC of approximately $10.8 million in 2019. Revenue recognized from amounts
$4 million. included in deferred revenue as of December 30, 2017 was

$12.2 million in 2018. This revenue was included in ‘‘Net
sales’’ in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
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NOTE 17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
(In millions, except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Net sales $1,740.1 $1,795.7 $1,761.4 $1,772.9
Gross profit 465.4 482.3 471.7 484.7
Net (loss) income(1) (146.9) 143.4 144.6 162.5
Net (loss) income per common share (1.74) 1.70 1.72 1.95
Net (loss) income per common share, assuming dilution (1.74) 1.69 1.71 1.92

Net sales $1,776.4 $1,854.2 $1,759.7 $1,768.7
Gross profit 483.4 501.4 459.2 471.5
Net income(2) 125.2 95.6 149.5 97.1
Net income per common share 1.42 1.09 1.71 1.13
Net income per common share, assuming dilution 1.40 1.07 1.69 1.11
(1) In the first quarter of 2019, we recognized final settlement charges associated with the termination of the ADPP. Refer to Note 6, ‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits,’’ for more

information.
(2) In the fourth quarter of 2018, we recognized settlement charges related to lump-sum payments associated with the ADPP. Refer to Note 6, ‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement

Benefits,’’ for more information.

‘‘Other expense (income), net’’ by type for each quarter is presented below.

First Second Third Fourth
(In millions) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Restructuring charges:
Severance and related costs $10.4 $ 6.1 $ 3.3 $25.5
Asset impairment charges and lease cancellation costs .3 1.4 – 3.4

Other items:
Legal settlement – – 3.4 –
Transaction costs – – – 2.6
Net gain on sales of assets (3.2) – – –

Other expense, net $ 7.5 $ 7.5 $ 6.7 $31.5

Restructuring charges:
Severance and related costs, net of reversals $ 4.3 $58.8 $(7.1) $ 7.0
Asset impairment charges and lease cancellation costs 8.4 .6 .7 1.0

Other items:
Argentine peso remeasurement transition loss – – 3.4 –
Other restructuring-related charge .5 – – –
Reversal of acquisition-related contingent consideration – – – (5.0)
Net gain on sales of assets (.4) (2.3) – –

Other expense (income), net $12.8 $57.1 $(3.0) $ 3.0
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The consolidated financial statements and accompanying information are the responsibility of and were prepared by
management. The statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America and, as such, include amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and judgments.

Oversight of management’s financial reporting and internal accounting control responsibilities is exercised by our
Board of Directors, through its Audit and Finance Committee, which is comprised solely of independent directors. The
Committee meets periodically with financial management, internal auditors and our independent registered public
accounting firm to obtain reasonable assurance that each is meeting its responsibilities and to discuss matters concerning
auditing, internal accounting control and financial reporting. The independent registered public accounting firm and our
internal audit department have free access to, and periodically meet with, the Audit and Finance Committee without
management present.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as that
term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) or 15(d)-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of
management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under
the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013), management has concluded that internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 28, 2019. Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting as of December 28, 2019 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report included herein.

Mitchell R. Butier Gregory S. Lovins
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Avery Dennison Corporation

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Avery Dennison Corporation and its subsidiaries
(the ‘‘Company’’) as of December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of income, of
comprehensive income, of shareholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 28, 2019, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the ‘‘consolidated financial statements’’). We also
have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2019, based on criteria established
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 28, 2019 and December 29, 2018, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 28, 2019 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts

for leases in 2019.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
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as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to
accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit
matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they
relate.

Goodwill Impairment Assessment of One Reporting Unit in the Industrial and Healthcare Materials (‘‘IHM’’) Reportable
Segment

As described in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance
was $930.8 million as of December 28, 2019, of which $173.7 million related to the Company’s IHM reportable segment.
Management performs an annual impairment test of goodwill during the fourth quarter, unless certain factors indicate the
need to perform an impairment assessment in addition to the annual test. Potential impairment is identified by comparing
the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount, and, to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, an
impairment of goodwill is recognized for the excess up to the amount of goodwill of that reporting unit. The goodwill of one
reporting unit in the Company’s IHM reportable segment was tested utilizing a quantitative assessment. Management’s
quantitative analysis primarily consists of a present value (discounted cash flow) method to determine the fair value of the
reporting units with goodwill. A discounted cash flow analysis requires management to make various assumptions about the
reporting units, including forecasted sales, operating margins and growth rates, and discount rates. Assumptions are also
made for varying perpetual growth rates for periods beyond the long-term business plan period.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwill impairment
assessment of one reporting unit in the IHM reportable segment is a critical audit matter are there was significant judgment
by management when developing the fair value measurement of the reporting unit. This in turn led to a high degree of
auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and in evaluating management’s cash flow projections
and significant assumptions, including forecasted sales, operating margins and growth rates, discount rates and perpetual
growth rates for periods beyond the long-term business plan period. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit
evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls
relating to management’s goodwill impairment assessment, including controls over the valuation of the Company’s
reporting units. These procedures also included, among others, testing management’s process for developing the fair value
estimate; evaluating the appropriateness of the discounted cash flow method; testing the completeness, accuracy, and
relevance of underlying data used in the estimate; and evaluating the significant assumptions used by management,
including forecasted sales, operating margins and growth rates, discount rates and perpetual growth rates for periods
beyond the long-term business plan period. Evaluating management’s assumptions related to forecasted sales, operating
margins and growth rates, involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by management were reasonable considering
(i) the current and past performance of the reporting unit, (ii) the consistency with external market and industry data, and
(iii) whether these assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of the Company’s discounted cash flow method and
certain significant assumptions, including discount rates and perpetual growth rates for periods beyond the long-term
business plan.
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Income Taxes
As described in Notes 1 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company is subject to income tax in the

U.S. and multiple foreign jurisdictions, whereby management applies judgment in evaluating and estimating the Company’s
worldwide provision, accruals for taxes and deferred taxes and for evaluating the Company’s tax positions. The Company
recorded a benefit from income taxes of $56.7 million, total net deferred tax assets of $186.9 million and unrecognized tax
benefits of $69.9 million as of and for the year-ended December 28, 2019. Significant judgments and estimates are required
by management when determining the Company’s tax expense and evaluating tax positions, including uncertainties.
Management’s estimate of the potential outcome of uncertain tax issues is subject to management’s assessment of relevant
facts and circumstances existing at the balance sheet date, as well as existing laws, regulations and practices of any
governmental authorities exercising jurisdiction over the Company’s operations. Management’s assessment of the future
realizability of the Company’s deferred tax assets relies heavily on forecasted earnings in certain jurisdictions, and such
forecasted earnings are determined by the manner in which the Company operates its business.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to income taxes is a critical
audit matter are there was significant judgment by management in accounting for income taxes, including evaluating the
potential outcome of various uncertain tax issues and the realizability of deferred tax assets. This in turn led to a high degree
of auditor judgment, effort and subjectivity in performing procedures to evaluate the potential outcome of uncertain tax
issues and the realizability of deferred tax assets on a jurisdictional basis. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit
evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls
relating to accounting for income taxes, including controls over uncertain tax issues and the realizability of deferred tax
assets on a jurisdictional basis. These procedures also included testing the income tax provision, including the rate
reconciliation, return to provision adjustments in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions. Evaluating management’s
assessment related to the potential outcome of uncertain tax issues included evaluating management’s assessment of
existing laws, regulations and practices of governmental authorities exercising jurisdiction over the Company’s operations.
Evaluating management’s process for assessing the future realizability of deferred tax assets on a jurisdictional basis
included evaluating estimates of future taxable income, evaluating management’s application of income tax law, and testing
the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in management’s assessment. Evaluating management’s estimates
of future taxable income involved evaluating whether the estimates used by management were reasonable considering the
current and past performance of the Company on a jurisdictional basis and whether the estimates were consistent with
evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in
evaluating the reasonableness of management’s judgment and estimates, including the application of relevant foreign and
domestic income tax laws and regulations, the provision for income taxes and the reasonableness of management’s
assessments of whether certain tax positions are more-likely-than-not of being sustained.

Los Angeles, California
February 26, 2020

We have served as the Company’s auditor since at least 1960, which were the Company’s first financial statements
subject to SEC reporting requirements. We have not been able to determine the specific year we began serving as auditor
of the Company or a predecessor company.
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We are including, as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2019 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’),
certificates of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. We submitted to the New York Stock

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Exchange (‘‘NYSE’’) an unqualified annual written
601 South Figueroa Street, Suite 900 affirmation, along with the Chief Executive Officer’s
Los Angeles, California 90017 certificate that he is not aware of any violation by the
(213) 356-6000 Company of NYSE’s corporate governance listing

standards, on April 29, 2019.

Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc.
P.O. Box 1342 A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed
Brentwood, New York 11717 with the SEC, will be furnished to shareholders and
(888) 682-5999 interested investors free of charge upon written request to
(720) 864-4993 (international) our Corporate Secretary. Copies are also available on our
(855) 627-5080 (hearing impaired) investor website at www.investors.averydennison.com.
https://investor.broadridge.com

Avery Dennison Corporation
Our Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held at 207 Goode Avenue

1:30 p.m. Pacific Time on April 23, 2020 at 207 Goode Glendale, California 91203
Avenue, Glendale, California 91203. Phone: (626) 304-2000

Shareholders of record may reinvest their cash Our common stock is listed on the NYSE.
dividends in additional shares of our common stock at Ticker symbol: AVY
market price. Investors may also invest optional cash
payments of up to $12,500 per month in our common stock 2019 2018
at market price. Investors not yet participating in the
program, as well as brokers and custodians who hold our

First Quarter $ .52 $ .45common stock on behalf of clients, may obtain a copy of
Second Quarter .58 .52the program by contacting Broadridge Corporate Issuer
Third Quarter .58 .52Solutions, Inc.
Fourth Quarter .58 .52

$ 2.26 $ 2.01

Shareholders may receive their quarterly dividend
Number of shareholders of record as ofpayments by direct deposit into their checking or savings

fiscal year-end 4,397 4,606accounts. For more information, contact Broadridge
Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc.
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To Our Stockholders:

We cordially invite you to attend our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders at 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale,
California 91203 on Thursday, April 23, 2020 at 1:30 p.m. Pacific Time.  At the meeting, we will conduct the following items
of business:

Elect the 10 directors nominated by our Board to serve a one-year term;1

Approve, on an advisory basis, our executive compensation;2

Ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting
firm for fiscal year 2020; and

3

Transact any other business properly brought before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement
thereof.

4

Stockholders of record as of February 24, 2020 are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the meeting and any
adjournment or postponement thereof.

.  You can vote as shown in the chart below.

You can vote by scanning the QR code at the right
before 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on April 22, 2020.  YouBY MOBILE DEVICE will need the 16-digit control number on your Notice of
Internet Availability or proxy card.

You can vote online at  before 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on April 22, 2020.BY INTERNET You will need the 16-digit control number on your Notice of Internet Availability or proxy card.

In the U.S. and Canada, you can vote by calling 1.800.690.6903 before 11:59 p.m. Eastern
BY TELEPHONE Time on April 22, 2020.  You will need the 16-digit control number on your Notice of Internet

Availability or proxy card.

You can vote by mail by completing, dating and signing your proxy card and returning it in the
BY MAIL postage-paid envelope or otherwise to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way,

Edgewood, New York 11717.

Unless your shares are held through our Employee Savings Plan, you can vote in person at the
IN PERSON Annual Meeting. Beneficial holders must contact their broker or other nominee if they want to

vote in person.

On behalf of our Board of Directors, management and employees, thank you for your continued support.

By Order of Our Board of Directors

Susan C. Miller
Corporate Secretary

March 6, 2020

Notice of 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Our Board recommends that you vote FOR each of our 10 director nominees in Item 1 and FOR Items 2 and 3.

We want your shares to be represented and voted

INSTRUCTIONS FOR VOTING

www.proxyvote.com
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This proxy summary contains highlights from information described in greater detail in other parts of this proxy
statement and does not contain all the information you should consider before voting.  We strongly encourage you to read
the entire proxy statement before voting.

We will mail our Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, which includes instructions on how to access these
materials on the Internet, on or about March 10, 2020.  If you previously elected to receive a paper copy of our proxy
materials, we will mail you our 2019 integrated report, which includes a letter to stockholders from our Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer; our 2019 annual report; our notice and proxy statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the ‘‘Annual Meeting’’); and additional information regarding our businesses and financial and sustainability
achievements, as well as a proxy card on or about March 10, 2020.

The Annual Meeting will take place at 1:30 p.m. Pacific Time on April 23, 2020 at 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale,
California 91203.  Parking will be available next door at 127 Burchett Street, Glendale, California 91203.  Attendants will be
available to provide assistance with directions and parking tickets will be validated at the Annual Meeting.

You are being asked to vote on the items of business shown below at the Annual Meeting.  Our Board of Directors (our
‘‘Board’’) recommends that you vote FOR each of our 10 director nominees and FOR the other two items being brought
before the stockholder vote.

Election of directors Majority of votes cast No 22

Majority of shares
Advisory vote to approve

represented and entitled No 34
executive compensation

to vote

Ratification of appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Majority of shares
as independent registered represented and entitled Yes 79
public accounting firm for to vote
fiscal year 2020

We strive to create superior long-term, sustainable value for our customers, employees and investors and improve the
communities in which we operate.  To realize this vision, we are focused on executing the following core strategies:

• Achieving outsized growth in high value product categories with higher growth and margin potential (such
as specialty labels, graphics, industrial tapes and radio-frequency identification (RFID));

• Growing profitably in our base businesses through tailored go-to-market strategies and disciplined
execution;

• Advancing sustainability in our operations and throughout value chains; and

• Fostering well-being and diversity in our teams.

i
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In addition, we continue to focus on the following financial priorities:

• Maintaining our relentless focus on productivity through continued operational excellence and enterprise
lean sigma; and

• Deploying capital effectively by balancing our investments in organic growth, productivity and acquisitions,
while returning cash to stockholders.

Strong 2019 Performance and Continued Execution of Strategic Priorities.  In fiscal year 2019, we delivered another
year of strong adjusted earnings per share (EPS) growth and operating margin expansion.  We achieved most of our
financial goals for the year, with the performance highlights described below.

• Achieved net sales of approximately $7.1 billion, a decrease of 1.2% over prior year due to the impact of
foreign currency translation.

• Excluding the impact of currency, sales grew by 2.0%.  On an organic basis, sales also grew by 2.0%, as
growth in high value product categories more than offset a modest decline in our base businesses.

• Reported EPS decreased from $5.28 in 2018 to $3.57 in 2019 reflecting settlement charges resulting from
the 2018 termination of our U.S. pension plan.

• Adjusted EPS increased from $6.06 to $6.60 due to higher volume and benefits from productivity initiatives,
partially offset by higher employee-related costs and the impact of foreign currency translation.  Adjusted EPS
was above the midpoint of the $6.45 to $6.70 annual guidance range we provided to investors in January 2019.

• With net cash provided by operating activities of $746.5 million, delivered free cash flow of $512.3 million.

• On net income of $303.6 million and removing the impact of our negative tax rate in 2019 due to the
termination of our U.S. pension plan, achieved return on total capital (ROTC) of 11.9%.  Excluding the impact
of pension plan settlements and a discrete foreign tax structuring transaction, adjusted ROTC was 19.6%.

Sales change excluding the impact of currency (sales change ex. currency), organic sales change, adjusted EPS, free
cash flow, ROTC and adjusted ROTC are supplemental financial measures that we provide to assist investors in assessing
our performance and operating trends.  They are defined, qualified and reconciled from generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (GAAP) in the last section of this proxy statement.  These non-GAAP financial
measures are not in accordance with, nor are they a substitute for or superior to, the comparable financial measures under
GAAP.

$645.7

$457.9

$746.5

$421.7 $429.2
$512.3

2017 2018 2019

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Free Cash Flow
(In millions)8.7% 8.2%

(1.2)%

4.2%
5.5%

2.0%

2017 2018 2019

Reported Sales Growth
Organic Sales Growth

Reported EPS 
Adjusted EPS

$3.13

$5.28

$3.57

$5.00

$6.06
$6.60

2017 2018 2019

Delivering Financial Targets.  In March 2017, we announced five-year financial goals through 2021, including targets
for organic sales growth, GAAP operating margin, adjusted EPS growth and ROTC.  The combination of our growth and
ROTC targets is a proxy for growth in economic value added (EVA), one of the performance objectives used in our long-term
incentive (LTI) compensation program.  As shown on the following page, based on our results for the first three years of this
five-year period, we are largely on track to deliver these commitments.
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For the 2017-2019 period, on a three-year compound annual basis (with 2016 as the base period), GAAP reported
net sales and reported EPS increased by 5.1% and 0.3%, respectively, and reported net income decreased by 1.8%.

4%+ organic 3.9% organic
Sales Growth(2)

5%+ ex. currency(3) 5.7% ex. currency

GAAP Operating Margin 11%+ in 2021 10.9% in 2019

Adjusted EPS Growth(2) 10%+ 18.0%

11.9% in 2019
ROTC 17%+ in 2021

Adj. ROTC(4) of 19.6% in 2019

(1) Results for non-GAAP measures are reconciled from GAAP in the last section of this proxy statement.

Percentages for targets reflect five-year compound annual growth rates, with 2016 as the base period.  Percentages(2)
for results reflect three-year compound annual growth rates, with 2016 as the base period.

Target for sales growth ex. currency reflects the impact of completed acquisitions as of March 2017 of approximately(3)
1 point.

(4) Excludes the impact of the termination of our U.S. pension plan.

Disciplined Capital Allocation.  We have been consistently disciplined in executing our approach to capital allocation,
balancing our investments in organic growth, productivity and acquisitions with continuing to return cash to stockholders
through dividends and share repurchases. In 2019, on net income of $303.6 million, we delivered adjusted ROTC of
nearly 20% while investing $257.2 million in capital expenditures to support future growth and further productivity
improvement.  In addition, we paid $189.7 million in dividends and repurchased $237.7 million in shares of our
common stock.

We have invested in our businesses to support organic growth and pursued targeted acquisitions that support our
strategy of increasing our exposure to high value product categories.  Our spending on capital expenditures in 2019 was
comparable to prior year as we continued investing to enable the future growth of our businesses, improve our profitability
and expand our margins.  Last November, we announced our agreement to acquire the Transponder (RFID inlay) Division of
Smartrac, a leader in the development and manufacture of RFID products.  Together with our Intelligent Labels business,
this acquisition will create a platform with over $500 million in annual revenue, offering long-term growth and profitability,
enhanced research and development capabilities, expanded product lines and additional manufacturing capacity.  We
completed this acquisition in February 2020.  During 2019, we also made equity investments in two start-up companies
developing innovative technological solutions.

In 2019, we deployed $427.4 million to (i) repurchase 2.2 million shares at an aggregate cost of $237.7 million and
(ii) pay an annual dividend of $2.26 per share for an aggregate amount of $189.7 million.  Given the higher price of our
common stock in 2019, we allocated less capital to share repurchases in 2019 than in 2018, a year in which our stock price
had significantly declined in the second half; however, as shown in the graph on the following page the amount repurchased
was comparable to the average amount repurchased over the prior four years.  We have paid quarterly dividends for
decades and most recently raised our quarterly dividend rate by approximately 12% in April 2019.  As shown in the
graph on the following page, over the last five years, we have allocated over $2 billion to dividends and share
repurchases and over $565 million to acquisitions and equity investments.

iiiAvery Dennison Corporation 2020 Proxy Statement

ON TRACK TO DELIVER 2017-2021 FINANCIAL TARGETS

2017-2021 TARGETS 2017-2019 RESULTS(1)



29FEB202023152570

29FEB202023161092

iv

Capital Allocated to Dividends,
Share Repurchases and Acquisitions*
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$133.1 $142.5 $155.5

$232.3 $262.4
$129.7

$237.2

$319.3

$175.0 $189.7

$392.9
$237.7

* Amounts for acquisitions include equity investments in unconsolidated businesses.

Three- and Five-Year Cumulative TSR Outperformance.  As shown below, we achieved total stockholder return
(TSR) of over 48% in 2019, and delivered cumulative TSR for the 2017-2019 three-year period and the 2015-2019
five-year period that substantially outperformed the S&P 500� and the median of the S&P 500 Industrials and
Materials subsets. We compare ourselves to the median of the S&P 500 Industrials and Materials subsets because we are a
member of the Materials subset, and also share many characteristics with members of the Industrials subset. This practice is
further informed by feedback from investors, who have indicated that they look at both subsets in evaluating our
performance relative to that of our peers.  We focus on TSR because it measures the return we provide to our stockholders,
including stock price appreciation and dividends paid (assuming reinvestment of dividends).

Although we experienced strong TSR in 2019, we continue to believe that our longer-term TSR is a more meaningful
measure of our performance than our one-year TSR, which can be significantly impacted by short-term market volatility that
may be unrelated to our underlying performance.  For example, although we delivered strong financial results in 2018 –
exceeding the high end of our adjusted EPS guidance for the year – our TSR for that year was negative, as was the TSR of
each of the comparator groups shown below.

AVY S&P 500 S&P 500 Indus. & Mats. (median)

97.5%

53.2%
53.1%
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2016 2017 2018 2019

3-Year Cumulative TSR

179.9%

73.9%
78.5%

0%

40%

80%

120%

160%

200%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

5-Year Cumulative TSR

2015 2016 2017 2018 3-Year TSR 5-Year TSR

AVY 23.8% 14.6% 66.7% (20.3)% 97.5% 179.9%

S&P 500 1.4% 12.0% 21.8% (4.4)% 53.2% 73.9%

S&P 500 Industrials & Materials* (4.3)% 20.7% 28.6% (14.3)% 53.1% 78.5%
* Based on median of companies in both subsets as of December 31, 2019.
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We continued our longstanding practice of ongoing engagement and open dialogue with stockholders in 2019.  Our
engagement program takes place throughout the year and – with respect to environmental, social and governance (ESG),
executive compensation and human capital management (HCM) matters – as shown in the graphic below.

ROBUST AND
ONGOING

STOCKHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

After we file our proxy materials, we
offer our largest investors a
meeting with members of our
Board and/or management to
discuss the items being brought
before stockholders at the Annual
Meeting.  On the day of the
meeting, we discuss preliminary
vote results with our Board.Spring

We analyze the Annual
Meeting vote results,

including feedback from
investors and views of proxy

advisory firms, for our
management and Board.

Summer

Fall Winter

We proactively contact our
largest investors to request a
meeting with members of
our Board and/or
management to discuss ESG,
executive compensation and
HCM matters and learn
about the issues that are
important to them.

We summarize the feedback
from our off-season
engagement for our

management and Board and
consider whether any changes
to our programs are advisable;
we also reflect the feedback in

our proxy materials for the
following year.

In advance of the 2019 Annual Meeting, we contacted our 35 largest institutional stockholders, representing
approximately 61% of our then-outstanding shares.  Board members, including our Lead Independent Director, and
management were made available to answer questions and address concerns regarding the items being brought before the
stockholder vote.  While we received responses from stockholders representing over 30% of our then-outstanding shares,
only one of them desired to substantively engage at that busy time.  Respondents declining meetings indicated that they
did not have any concerns warranting discussion during proxy season.

In the fall, without the time pressures associated with proxy season, we contacted our 30 largest institutional
stockholders, representing over 62% of our then-outstanding shares, to request a meeting with our Lead Independent
Director and/or management.  We received responses from stockholders representing nearly 60% of our then-outstanding
shares and spoke with stockholders representing approximately 35% of our then-outstanding shares. We substantively
engaged with every stockholder who requested to do so, and our Lead Independent Director led half of these
engagements.  We also discussed the results of our fall engagement with the Compensation and Executive Personnel
Committee (the ‘‘Compensation Committee’’) and the Governance and Social Responsibility Committee of our Board.

Our off-season meetings focused on potential changes in the Compensation Committee’s approach to CEO
compensation, as well as our non-employee directors’ commitments as they relate to overboarding concerns. We
also answered questions regarding our business strategies and financial performance; executive compensation
and HCM matters; Board composition and refreshment process; and other ESG matters, including our progress
towards achieving our 2025 sustainability goals.

v

STOCKHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

2019 ENGAGEMENT RESULTS

Avery Dennison Corporation 2020 Proxy Statement



29FEB202023153739

vi

The graphics below show the results of our 2019 engagement with stockholders on ESG, executive compensation and
HCM matters.

Outreach Responses Conversations

Outreach Responses Conversations

Top 35      
Stockholders

2019 
PROXY 
SEASON ~61% ~31% ~3%

Top 30      
Stockholders

2019 
OFF-

SEASON ~62% ~58% ~35%

Our Board and management believe that regular stockholder engagement fosters a deeper understanding of investors’
evolving expectations on ESG matters, as well as executive compensation and HCM matters.  We look forward to
continuing our longstanding practice of engaging in dialogue with our stockholders to ensure our programs continue to
align with best practices.

ESG Matters

With respect to matters related to governance, we discussed topics related to our Board composition and its
succession planning and refreshment processes, as well as the skills, commitments, tenure, and diversity of our
directors.  We also commented on our stockholder rights profile.  In addition, we discussed our Board’s oversight
of our business strategies and related risks; progress towards achieving our 2025 sustainability goals,
including with respect to plastic recyclability and how our businesses are adapting to the risks and opportunities
presented by climate change; and audit matters such as the tenure of our independent auditor.

Executive Compensation and HCM Matters

With respect to executive compensation, we discussed the linkage between our incentive compensation and
business strategies.  We also reviewed our approach to HCM, including our executive leadership development
and succession planning processes, diversity and inclusion initiatives and employee engagement scores.  We
also reported on the Compensation Committee’s robust oversight of these priorities.

Sustainability is one of our core values and has long been an integral part of our approach to doing business.  Our aim is
to improve the sustainability of our products and processes while helping to create shared value for all of our stakeholders.
Key to our progress has been integrating sustainability into our underlying business strategies and engaging employees at
all levels.

In the integrated annual report in which this proxy statement is included, we present highlights of our achievements
against our 2025 sustainability goals.  In the first five years of the 10-year horizon for these goals, we have made meaningful
progress.  We encourage you to review these highlights, as well as our sustainability scorecard shown on the following page.
You can find additional information on the sustainability section of our website.

vi
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Achieve at least a 3% absolute
reduction year-over-year and at least a Reduced our absolute GHG emissions by over 5% in 2019 and over 30% through
26% overall reduction, compared to our 2019 compared to our 2015 baseline.
2015 baseline, by 2025.

Nearly 90% of the total volume of paper we procured in 2019 was certified, withSource 100% certified paper, of which at nearly 80% of facestocks Forest Stewardship Council�-certified.least 70% will be Forest Stewardship
Council�–certified. Introduced our rBG liner containing 15% post-consumer waste.

We introduced a number of recycled-content products in 2019, including ourEnsure that 70% of the films we buy recycled PET (rPET) liner, which uses 30% post-consumer waste, which costs theconform to, or enable end products to same as conventional liners and delivers the same functionality, while offeringconform to, our environmental and sustainability advantages with respect to water and energy usage andsocial guiding principles. greenhouse gas emissions.

Ensure that 70% of the chemicals we Determined to begin a multi-year process of implementing the restricted
buy conform to, or enable end products substance list of the most restrictive countries in which we do business across all
to conform to, our environmental and our operations, regardless of less restrictive laws and regulations in many of the
social guiding principles. countries in which we do business.

Determined that at least 35% and 40% of our Label and Graphic Materials (LGM)
and Retail Branding and Information Solutions (RBIS) business’ revenues in 2019,
respectively, were from products that are responsibly sourced, enable
recyclability, contain recycled content, or use less material withoutThrough innovation, deliver above- compromising performance.average growth in sales from

sustainability-driven products and In our LGM business, we introduced several new facestocks made with recycledservices. content as part of our Clearintent� portfolio of more sustainable products,
including our recycled polyethylene (rPE) facestock made with 30% recycled PEEnsure that 70% of our products and resin, and our Crush Range� line of paper facestocks made of recycled papersolutions conform to, or enable end and organic waste.products to conform to, our

environmental and social guiding In May 2019, our RBIS business announced its 10 Solutions for Sustainableprinciples. Change, which include products that promote apparel recycling, yarn made from
recycled polyester, kraft paper alternatives for plastic e-commerce packaging,
and intelligent labels that give consumers access to desired information,
including a product’s provenance and recyclability, via their mobile devices.

As of the end of 2019, diverted over 90% of our solid waste from landfills with
nearly 100 of our sites worldwide over 95% landfill-free, and recycled over 60%Be 95% landfill-free, with at least 75% of of our diverted waste.our waste reused, repurposed or

recycled. We continue working to eliminate the liner and matrix by-product that remains
after our label materials are applied.  In late 2019, we created an industrywideEliminate 70% of the matrix and liner group focused on better communicating the recycling capabilities offeredwaste from our value chain. throughout the industry beginning in North America and Europe, with the aim to
ultimately expand these efforts globally.

Partnered with Business for Social Responsibility to update our sustainability
materiality assessment to ensure continued alignment with the sustainable
practices and goals of our customers and the industries we serve.Commit to goals publicly and be

transparent in reporting our progress. Published our 2019 integrated report, which summarizes our sustainability
progress since our last biennial Sustainability Report was published in
September 2017.  We are now committing to publishing our progress annually.

Expanded our flexible work arrangements, female employee leadershipContinue to cultivate a diverse (40%+ program and unconscious bias training.  Evaluated our gender pay equity,female at the level of manager and making adjustments to compensation where needed.  Launched employeeabove), engaged, safe (recordable resource groups and established regional diversity and inclusion councils.  Whileincident rate of <0.25), productive and we have increased female representation at the level of manager and above byhealthy workforce. over 6% from our 2016 baseline year, it was 34% at the end of 2019.

Continue to invest in our employees Continued our world class safety record, with a recordable incident rate of 0.23and the communities in which they live in 2019, far surpassing the manufacturing industry average of 3.4 in 2018 (theand work. most recently available industry average).

vii

2025 SUSTAINABILITY GOALS
FOCUS AREA GOAL(S) HIGHLIGHTS OF PROGRESS IN OR THROUGH 2019
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Our Board provides strong oversight of our management team and company, with the following notable
accomplishments in recent years:

• Successful execution of our business strategies, which has delivered strong compound annual organic sales
growth, operating margin expansion, and double-digit compound adjusted EPS growth in the first three
years of the five-year horizon reflected in our financial targets through 2021, as well as TSR over the most
recent three- and five-year periods of approximately 96% and 180%, respectively, in each case substantially
outperforming the S&P 500;

• The completion of six acquisitions and equity investments in six other companies, in each case consistent with
our disciplined approach to acquisitions and investments through which we target companies that can
enhance our existing capabilities and increase our exposure to high value product categories;

• Orderly executive leadership development and succession planning, with experienced leaders promoted to
CEO and CFO and effectively transitioning into their roles; and

• Thoughtful Board refreshment and succession planning, with four new independent directors appointed to
our Board in the last seven years, three of whom increased the racial, ethnic or gender diversity on our Board,
as well as two long-serving directors departing from our Board to focus on other endeavors.

Departure of Current Lead Independent Director; Post-Annual Meeting Board Leadership Structure

In February 2020, our Lead Independent Director, David Pyott, notified our Board of his intention not to stand for
reelection at the Annual Meeting so that he may focus on other endeavors.  As a result, Mr. Pyott’s membership on our
Board will end on the date of the Annual Meeting.  Our Board actively reviews its composition and the need for refreshment,
and determined not to appoint an additional director at this time but may decide to do so in the future.

In light of Mr. Pyott’s upcoming departure, in February 2020, the Governance Committee evaluated our Board
leadership structure and recommended to our Board that Patrick Siewert be selected to serve as Lead Independent
Director.  The committee’s decision took into account his significant contribution to the Board’s responsibility of maintaining
the integrity of our financial statements as a member of the Audit and Finance Committee for the past 15 years and its Chair
for the past four years, as well as his extensive international experience in Asia, a region in which nearly 35% of our sales are
generated and approximately 60% of our employees are located.  With Mr. Pyott’s departure, the Governance Committee
determined that Mr. Siewert is best positioned to provide independent leadership of our Board in overseeing our strategies
to drive long-term value creation for our key stakeholders of customers, employees, investors and communities.  Upon the
recommendation of the Governance Committee, the independent directors on our Board unanimously selected Mr. Siewert
(with him and Mr. Pyott abstaining) to serve as our Lead Independent Director, effective immediately after the Annual
Meeting subject to his reelection.  A description of responsibilities of our Lead Independent Director can be found on
page 11 of this proxy statement.

viii
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Our 10 director nominees have demonstrated their commitment to diligently executing their fiduciary duties on behalf
of our stockholders, and we recommend that our stockholders elect each of the nominees shown in the chart below at the
Annual Meeting.

Bradley A. Alford 63 2010 Retired Chairman & CEO, Nestlé USA M M

Anthony K. Anderson 64 2012 Retired Vice Chair & Managing Partner, Ernst & Young LLP M M

Peter K. Barker 71 2003 Retired Chairman of California, JPMorgan Chase & Co. M C

Mark J. Barrenechea 55 2018 Vice Chair, CEO & CTO, OpenText Corporation M

Mitchell R. Butier 48 2016 Chairman, President & CEO, Avery Dennison Corporation

Ken C. Hicks 67 2007 Chairman, President & CEO, Academy Sports + Outdoors M

Andres A. Lopez 57 2017 President & CEO, O-I Glass, Inc. M

Patrick T. Siewert (LID-Elect) 64 2005 Managing Director & Partner, The Carlyle Group C M

Julia A. Stewart 64 2003 Chair & CEO, Alurx, Inc. C M

Martha N. Sullivan 63 2013 Retired President & CEO, Sensata Technologies Holding PLC M
AC = Audit & Finance Committee  CC = Compensation & Executive Personnel Committee  GC = Governance & Social Responsibility Committee

M = Member  C = Chair  LID = Lead Independent Director

Our 10 director nominees bring a balance of skills, qualifications and backgrounds in overseeing our company, as
highlighted below and shown in greater detail in the matrix of director skills, qualifications and backgrounds included in the
Item 1 – Election of Directors section of this proxy statement.

# of Nominees

10

9

9

7

4

Global Exposure

Senior Leadership Experience

Board Experience

Industry Experience

Financial Sophistication

Primary Qualifications

Racially/Ethnically 
Diverse

20%

Gender
Diverse

20%

Diversity

40%
DIVERSE

# Years

1-4

5-8

9-12

>12

AVG. 
9 YEARS 

Tenure

ix

DIRECTOR NOMINEES

DIRECTOR
NAME AGE SINCE PRINCIPAL OCCUPATION INDEPENDENT AC CC GC

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓
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Our governance program reflects our company values and facilitates our Board’s independent oversight of our
company.  Highlights of our program, which we believe is generally consistent and aligned with the Investor Stewardship
Group’s Corporate Governance Principles for U.S. Listed Companies, are shown below.

tnednepednI%19srotceriDtnerruCsrotceriDfonoitcelElaunnA
eloRrotceriDtnednepednIdaeLtsuboRsnoitcelErotceriDnignitoVytirojaM

Single Class of Outstanding Voting Stock Ongoing Director Succession Planning and
Board RefreshmentMarket-Standard Proxy Access
Continuous Executive Succession Planning

Supermajority Voting Requirements and Leadership Development
Poison Pill Annual Board Evaluations
Exclusive Forum or Fee-Shifting Bylaws Mandatory Director Retirement Policy

Governance Guidelines
Strong Committee Governance
Direct Access to Management and Experts

ecnanrevoGdraoBsthgiRredlohStock

The Compensation Committee designs our executive compensation program to motivate our executives to execute
our business strategies and create long-term value for our stakeholders.  The program delivers pay for performance, with
realized compensation dependent on our company achieving rigorous annual and long-term financial performance targets
and value creation objectives that advance the interests of our stockholders.

Target total direct compensation (TDC) for our Named Executive Officers (NEOs) is comprised of the following three
components:

• Base salary;

• Performance-based annual cash incentive award under our Annual Incentive Plan (AIP); and

• Long-term incentives (LTIs) delivered in performance-based equity awards, consisting 50% of performance
units (PUs) and 50% of market-leveraged stock units (MSUs).

The Compensation Committee establishes the target TDC of our NEOs to incent strong operational and financial
performance and stockholder value creation, generally giving consideration to the market median, role responsibilities,
individual performance, tenure, retention and succession. The majority of this compensation is performance-based,
meaning that these executives ultimately may not realize some of these components of TDC if we fail to achieve our
financial objectives.
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GOVERNANCE HIGHLIGHTS

APPROVAL OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (ITEM 2)

COMPENSATION DESIGN

PERFORMANCE-BASED COMPENSATION
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2019 Target TDC Mix

CEO

Performance-Based Compensation

AIP
Award
18%

Salary
14%

PUs
34%

MSUs
34%

OTHER NEOs

AIP
Award
18%

Salary
28%

PUs
27%

MSUs
27%

86%
AVG.
72%

Over the past five years, our cumulative TSR has increased by nearly 180% while the annual compensation of our CEO
has remained relatively constant.  In the graph below, CEO pay reflects the compensation of our former CEO for 2015, and
the compensation of our current CEO thereafter.

Five-Year CEO Pay and Cumulative TSR

$8.6
$9.8* $9.0 $8.7 $8.5

$100.0

$279.9

12/31/2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

CEO Pay ($M) TSR Indexed to 12/31/14

* Included promotion grant of stock options with a grant date fair value of approximately
$2.0 million, which vest 50% on each of the third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date.

Over the last few years, the Compensation Committee discussed how best to ensure that it is compensating our CEO
optimally and in alignment with the long-term interests of our stockholders.  The committee’s objectives were to:

• Recognize our company’s performance and delivery of value to our customers, employees, investors and
communities during his four-year tenure as our CEO;

• Enhance his incentive to continue creating value for these stakeholders, including by driving superior TSR for
our investors; and

• Encourage his retention for the long term.

The committee also sought to maintain market-competitive target TDC for him that is well-aligned with our company’s
performance and ensure that his target TDC does not fall substantially below the market median, without relying on the
traditional approach of periodic incremental increases to the components of his TDC – base salary, target AIP award
opportunity and target LTI award opportunity – to maintain consistency with a continually rising market median.
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PAY FOR PERFORMANCE

CHANGES IN APPROACH TO CEO COMPENSATION FOR 2020
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After extensive discussion, and giving consideration to the feedback received from dialogue with some of our
largest stockholders, the Compensation Committee determined to eliminate potential annual increases to our CEO’s base
salary and target AIP and LTI opportunities in favor of an even longer-term approach that would hold his target TDC
constant for a three-year period.  During the three-year period, the Compensation Committee retains the discretion to
review our CEO’s target TDC if market conditions or company results warrant a change.  At the end of the period, the
Compensation Committee plans to evaluate both his and our company’s performance and market conditions before
determining the appropriate level of his compensation, continuing to give consideration to factors such as individual
performance, tenure, retention and succession. This approach to CEO compensation is intended to be more consistent
with the long-term approach we take to planning our strategies, setting our financial targets and sustainability goals,
creating value for our stockholders, developing an engaged and diverse workforce, and investing in the communities
in which we operate.

To ensure our CEO’s compensation determined in 2020 remains competitive and mitigate the potential for his target
TDC to substantially trail behind his peers in the next three years, the Compensation Committee determined to set his
target TDC modestly above market median, recognizing that his base salary had not increased in the previous two years and
his target AIP opportunity had not increased since he became CEO in 2016.  The committee intends to make no additional
increases until 2023.  Anticipating that the median for market will continue to grow at historical rates, the Compensation
Committee determined to set our CEO’s compensation package roughly halfway between the current 50th and
75th percentiles of his market peers, with the expectation that – at the end of the three-year period during which Mr. Butier’s
compensation is expected not to increase – his TDC would be at or around the market median. This approach is consistent
with the approach taken by the Compensation Committee with respect to recommending to our Board the compensation of
our non-employee directors.

Based on 2019 market pay rates and projected 2020 market pay rates for companies with a market capitalization
between $6 billion and $10 billion, and with the expert advice and recommendation of its independent compensation
consultant, Willis Towers Watson, the Compensation Committee determined to set Mr. Butier’s target TDC for 2020 at
$9.9 million by increasing (i) his base salary by 6% to $1.2 million, noting that his base salary had not been increased in the
previous two years; (ii) his target AIP opportunity from 125% of base salary, the same level as when he became CEO in 2016,
to 140% of base salary; and (iii) his target LTI opportunity from 475% of base salary to 585% of base salary. The
Compensation Committee noted that over 90% of this increase consists of at-risk, performance-based compensation.
These targets are not expected to increase during the next three years, but could decrease if warranted by market
conditions or our company results.  Mr. Butier’s realized compensation will be dependent on our company achieving strong
TSR performance, delivering our 2021 financial targets and 2025 sustainability goals, and continuing to serve our
customers, engage our employees, and invest in the communities in which we operate.
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As summarized below and described in further detail in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy
statement, our executive compensation program aligns with our financial goals and business strategies and reflects best
practices.

Pay for performance – 86% of our CEO’s 2019 target TDC was tied to company performance
Emphasize long-term performance – 68% of our CEO’s 2019 target TDC was equity-based and tied to
delivering long-term stockholder value
Use double-trigger change of control vesting provisions – vesting requires a qualifying termination of
employment within 24 months
Manage share usage conservatively – our three-year average burn rate at the end of fiscal year 2019 of 0.7%
was slightly above the 50th percentile of companies in the S&P 500
Maintain rigorous stock ownership policy – 6x base salary for our CEO and 3x base salary for our other NEOs;
requires that they hold 50% of their respective minimum ownership level in vested shares
Able to clawback compensation in the event of an accounting restatement
Rely on the advice of an independent compensation consultant retained directly by, and serving at the
direction of, the Compensation Committee
Annually evaluate the Compensation Committee and review its charter
Periodically assess risks related to our compensation policies and practices
Following termination, obtain releases from liability from and impose restrictive covenants on our departing
executives
Review tally sheets for our NEOs reflecting all compensation components

Employment contracts with our NEOs
Guaranteed AIP awards; rather, these awards for our NEOs are generally based solely on company or business
performance
Excise tax gross-ups on change of control severance benefits
Hedging or pledging of company stock by directors and officers
Tax gross-ups on perquisites
Above-market interest rates in our only deferred compensation plan currently available for deferrals
Re-pricing of stock options without stockholder approval
Payout of accrued dividends unless performance conditions are met and underlying equity awards vest
Grant of stock options below fair market value
Supplemental retirement benefits for executive officers

Our Board’s Audit and Finance Committee has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) as our independent
registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2020, and our Board is seeking stockholder ratification of the appointment.
PwC is very well qualified to act as our independent registered public accounting firm and has a deep understanding of our
operations and accounting practices.  The Audit and Finance Committee considered the qualifications, performance, and
independence of PwC, the quality of its discussions with PwC, and the fees charged by PwC for the level and quality of
services provided during 2019, and determined that the reappointment of PwC is in the best interest of our company and
stockholders.
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COMPENSATION BEST PRACTICES

What We Do

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

What We Don’t Do

X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
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We produce pressure-sensitive materials and a variety of tickets, tags, labels and other converted products.  We sell
most of our pressure-sensitive materials to label printers and converters that convert the materials into labels and other
products through embossing, printing, stamping and die-cutting.  We sell other pressure-sensitive materials in converted
form as tapes and reflective sheeting.  We also manufacture and sell a variety of other converted products and items not
involving pressure-sensitive components, such as fasteners, tickets, tags, radio-frequency identification (RFID) inlays and
tags, and imprinting equipment and related solutions, which serve the apparel and other end markets.

Under the oversight of our Board of Directors (our ‘‘Board’’), we have designed our governance program to comply with
applicable laws and regulations – including the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the listing
standards of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) – and to reflect best practices as informed by the practices of other large
public companies, recommendations from our outside advisors, the voting guidelines of our stockholders and the policies
of proxy advisory firms.  The key features of our program are noted in the Governance Highlights section of the Proxy
Summary; together they form a governance program that we believe is generally consistent and aligned with the
Investor Stewardship Group’s Corporate Governance Principles for U.S. Listed Companies.

We encourage you to visit the investors section of our website under Corporate Governance, where you can review and
download the following documents as currently in effect:

• Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation;

• Amended and Restated Bylaws (our ‘‘Bylaws’’);

• Corporate Governance Guidelines (our ‘‘Governance Guidelines’’);

• Charters for our Board’s Audit and Finance Committee (the ‘‘Audit Committee’’), Compensation and
Executive Personnel Committee (the ‘‘Compensation Committee’’), and Governance and Social
Responsibility Committee (the ‘‘Governance Committee’’);

• Code of Conduct;

• Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Senior Financial Officers; and

• Audit Committee Complaint Procedures for Accounting and Auditing Matters.

Information on our website is not and should not be considered part of, nor is it incorporated by reference into, this
proxy statement.  You can also receive copies of these documents, without charge, by writing to our Corporate Secretary at
Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale, California 91203.
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We have adopted a Code of Ethics that requires our CEO, Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Chief Accounting Officer
(CAO) to act professionally and ethically in fulfilling their responsibilities.

• Our CEO, CFO and CAO must avoid actual or apparent conflicts of interest and disclose any material
transaction or relationship that could reasonably be expected to raise a conflict of interest to the Governance
Committee.

• In addition, they must:

• Ensure that our SEC filings are complete and accurate and contain understandable information;

• Respect the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of the performance of their
responsibilities;

• Employ corporate assets responsibly; and

• Report violations of our Code of Ethics to the Chair of either the Audit Committee or the Governance
Committee.

Supporting the principles reflected in our Code of Ethics, our controllership and internal audit functions ensure that we
maintain a robust internal control environment, with the leaders of these functions regularly reporting to, and periodically
meeting in executive session with, the Audit Committee.

Our Code of Ethics is available under Corporate Governance in the investors section of our website.  Only the Audit
Committee or the Governance Committee can amend or waive the provisions of the Code of Ethics, and any amendments
or waivers must be posted promptly on our website or timely filed with the SEC on a Current Report on Form 8-K.  We last
amended our Code of Ethics in April 2014.

Our Code of Conduct applies to all of our directors, officers and employees and reflects our values of Integrity,
Courage, External Focus, Diversity, Sustainability, Innovation, Teamwork and Excellence. It is available under Corporate
Governance in the investors section of our website and includes leadership messages, expanded information regarding
higher risk areas, and case studies to provide additional guidance on situations that raise more complex ethical questions.
Our Code of Conduct has been translated into over 30 languages and our leaders affirm their commitment to complying
with it when they first join our company and annually thereafter.  We train employees on the Code at least biannually, in
addition to our online training program generally consisting of four courses per year covering specific risk areas from the
Code that designated computer-based employees are required to complete.

To ensure that the policies and principles encompassed in our Code of Conduct reach all our employees, we develop
and launch ‘‘Talkabout’’ toolkits (also in over 30 languages) globally each year, which managers are required to use to
engage in meaningful discussion with their teams regarding topics from the Code of Conduct.  These toolkits consist of
presentation slides, a leader discussion guide and an introductory subtitled video, which includes messages from our Chief
Compliance Officer and other company leaders.

Ethics-Based Corporate Culture and Policies

Reflecting the culture of our company, the ethics-based corporate policies and other matters discussed in our Code of
Conduct are shown on the following page.  Our global supplier standards extend our commitment to many of these
principles to our third party service providers, establishing our expectation that they also do business in an ethical manner.
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Our
Marketplace

Our
Workplace

Our
World

Trade Compliance
Anti-Corruption and Anti-
Bribery
Governmental
Cooperation 
Sustainability and
Environmental Respect
Community and
Social Responsibility
Social Media Engagement

Equal Employment
Opportunity 
Anti-Nepotism
Harassment-Free
Workplace 
Safe and Drug-Free Work
Environment 
Accurate Business and
Financial Records
Compliance with Laws and
Internal Controls

Protection of Company
Assets and Intellectual
Property  
Records Retention and
Insider Trading 

Respecting Privacy and
Protecting Personal Data

Avoidance of Conflicts of
Interest 
Appropriate Gifts, Meals
and Entertainment 

Respecting Corporate
Opportunities 
Supplier Standards
Honest Sales and
Marketing 
Fair Dealing and Antitrust
Compliance 

Business Conduct GuideLine

Our Business Conduct GuideLine (the ‘‘GuideLine’’) is a whistleblower hotline available at all hours for
employees or third parties to report potential violations of our Code of Conduct, anonymously if they so choose.

The GuideLine may be reached by (i) calling 800.461.9330 toll-free in the United States, 720.514.4400 direct with
applicable charges from any location, or toll-free outside of the United States using the country-specific toll-free numbers
found in our Code of Conduct or (ii) visiting averydennison.com/guidelinereport (averydennison.com/guidelinereport-eu in
Europe).  The hotline is operated by an independent third party and accepts reports in any language to accommodate the
needs of our global workforce and customer/supplier base.  Reports are investigated under the direction of our Chief
Compliance Officer, in consultation with our law department and senior management and with oversight from the
Governance Committee.  We prohibit retaliation for good-faith reporting.

The Audit Committee has adopted procedures for the confidential, anonymous submission of complaints
related to accounting, accounting standards, internal accounting controls and audit practices.

These procedures relate to complaints of (i) fraud or deliberate error in the preparation, evaluation, review or audit of
our financial statements or other financial reports; (ii) fraud or deliberate error in the recording or maintenance of our
financial records; (iii) deficiencies in, or noncompliance with, our internal accounting controls; (iv) misrepresentation or false
statement to or by a senior officer or accountant regarding any matter contained in our financial records, statements, or
other reports; or (v) deviation from full and fair reporting of our financial condition.  Any person, including third parties, may
submit a good faith complaint regarding accounting and auditing matters and employees may do so without fear of
dismissal or other retaliation. The Audit Committee oversees these procedures, which are available under Corporate
Governance in the investors section of our website.  Investigations are conducted under the direction of our internal audit
department in consultation with our Chief Compliance Officer, law department and senior management to the extent
appropriate under the circumstances.

Stockholders and other interested parties interested in communicating regarding these matters may make a
confidential, anonymous report by contacting the GuideLine as described on the previous page or writing to the Audit and
Finance Committee Chair, c/o Corporate Secretary, Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale,
California 91203.
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Our stock ownership policy requires that non-employee directors acquire and maintain a minimum ownership
interest in our company of $500,000 and our CEO and other NEOs acquire and maintain a minimum ownership
interest in our company equal to 6x and 3x his or her annual base salary, respectively.  At least 50% of the applicable
minimum ownership level must be held in vested shares.

The values of the following shares/units are considered in measuring compliance with our stock ownership policy:
(i) shares beneficially owned or deemed to be beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, under federal securities laws;
(ii) shares or units held in qualified and non-qualified employee benefit plans; (iii) unvested restricted stock units (RSUs)
subject only to time-based vesting; and (iv) 50% of the value of unvested market-leveraged stock units (MSUs) at the target
payout level.  Neither unvested performance units (PUs) nor stock options are considered in measuring compliance with our
stock ownership policy.

If a director or officer fails to achieve or make reasonable progress towards achieving his or her respective
ownership level, he or she is required to retain shares acquired, net of taxes, from the exercise of stock options or
vesting of stock awards until such level is met.  Executives are not allowed to transact in company stock until they
certify that they will remain in compliance with our stock ownership policy after giving effect to the transaction they
plan to effectuate.

The Compensation Committee and the Governance Committee reviewed the stock ownership of our non-employee
directors in December 2019 and February 2020, respectively.  Both Committees noted that all of our non-employee
directors had exceeded the minimum ownership level required by the policy, except for Mark Barrenechea who
became a director in September 2018 and has five years to reach the minimum ownership level. The Committee noted
that, because he had made reasonable progress towards meeting the applicable level, Mr. Barrenechea was also in
compliance with the policy.  On average, the ownership of our non-employee directors was approximately 9x the minimum
ownership level, aligning their interests with those of our stockholders and further incenting their focus on long-term
stockholder value creation.

The Compensation Committee reviewed officer stock ownership in December 2019 and determined that all of our
NEOs were in compliance with our stock ownership policy.

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS $500,000
Bradley Alford 38,060 1,009%
Anthony Anderson 14,544 385%
Peter Barker 61,628 1,633%
Mark Barrenechea 3,324 88%
Ken Hicks 40,709 1,079%
Andres Lopez 5,732 152%
David Pyott 70,665 1,873%
Patrick Siewert 15,460 410%
Julia Stewart 58,447 1,549%
Martha Sullivan 24,579 651%

CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT & CEO 6x Base Salary
Mitchell Butier 188,839 $6,798,000 368%

OTHER NEOs 3x Base Salary*
Gregory Lovins 32,653 $1,854,000 233%
Georges Gravanis 19,624 $1,878,846 138%
Susan Miller 23,286 $1,743,144 177%
Deon Stander 16,740 $1,665,387 133%

* Reflects shares/units considered in measuring compliance with our stock ownership policy rather than actual shares owned.
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STOCK OWNERSHIP POLICY

COMPLIANCE WITH STOCK OWNERSHIP POLICY
SHARES* AS OF MINIMUM POLICY

2019 FYE (#) GUIDELINE % OF GUIDELINE COMPLIANCE

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓
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Our insider trading policy prohibits our directors, officers and employees from (i) engaging in transactions in our
company’s stock while in the possession of material non-public information; (ii) engaging in transactions in the stock of other
companies while in possession of material non-public information that they become aware of in performing their duties; and
(iii) disclosing material non-public information to unauthorized persons outside our company.

Limited Trading Windows

Our insider trading policy restricts trading for directors and officers (including our NEOs) during blackout periods, which
generally begin two weeks before the end of each fiscal quarter and end two business days after the release of earnings for
the quarter.  Additional blackout periods may be imposed from time to time, with or without notice, depending on the
circumstances.

Prohibitions on Hedging and Pledging

Our insider trading policy expressly prohibits our directors, officers and employees from purchasing financial
instruments (such as prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds) designed to hedge or
offset any decrease in the market value of shares of our common stock they hold, directly or indirectly.  In addition, directors
and officers are expressly prohibited from – and our non-officer employees are strongly discouraged from – pledging
any of their shares of common stock to secure personal loans or other obligations, including by holding such shares in a
margin account.

To our knowledge, based on our review of their written representations in our annual director and officer
questionnaire, all of our directors and executive officers complied with our insider trading policy during 2019, and
none of them has hedged or pledged shares of our common stock.

Sustainability is one of our core values and has long been part of our approach to doing business, driving us to work
collaboratively across our entire value chain to address the environmental and social impacts of our products.  We aim to
continually improve the sustainability of our products and processes to create shared value for all of our stakeholders.

With strategic guidance and direction provided by Mitch Butier, our Chairman, President and CEO, responsibility over
ensuring that we continue to make meaningful progress towards achieving our 2025 sustainability goals currently resides
with Deon Stander, Vice President and General Manager of our Retail Branding and Information Solutions (RBIS) business.
Our Sustainability Council, led by Mr. Stander and comprised of a cross-divisional and cross-functional group of leaders to
drive broad accountability and continually accelerate our progress, generally meets bimonthly and updates our executive
leadership team quarterly.  Board oversight over sustainability is primarily conducted by the Governance Committee, which
receives a report from management at least once a year.  In addition, our full Board hears from our leaders on each of our
businesses’ sustainability initiatives during its regular review of their business strategies.  In July 2019, our Board held
strategy sessions focused on our sustainability progress and our innovation efforts to address increasing demand for more
sustainable products.

We seek to ensure that our sustainability efforts are consistent with the expectations of our stakeholders shown on the
following page.  We regularly communicate with individuals and organizations interested in how we do business generally
and our sustainability efforts in particular, and also conduct stakeholder interviews as part of our regular sustainability
materiality assessments.  These assessments help set our sustainability agenda, focusing us on the areas in which we can
have the most impact.
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Customers and brand owners

Industry 

Product collaborations
Surveys

Audits of our facilities
Working groups

Employees

Working groups
Conferences 

Engagement surveys
Works councils

Training
Business Conduct GuideLine

Code of Conduct
Intranet/Town halls

Policymakers and regulators
Permitting
Audits and certifications

Non-governmental
organizations (NGOs)
Consultations on issues of
concern

Specific initiatives (such as
responsibly sourcing paper,
reducing GHG emissions)

Philanthropy
Grantmaking
Volunteerism

Investors

Collaboration on civic issues

Suppliers  
Supplier standards
Compliance training
Supplier audits
Joint projects

1

2

3

Annual meetings
Quarterly earnings calls

Investor meetings
Ongoing stockholder

engagement

4

5

6

7

8

Our

Company

In the integrated report in which this proxy statement is included, we present the highlights of our achievements against
our 2025 sustainability goals.  In the first five years of the 10-year horizon for these goals, we have made meaningful
progress, which is summarized on our sustainability scorecard shown on page vii of the Proxy Summary.  You can find
additional information on the sustainability section of our website.

With Board oversight from the Governance Committee, our social responsibility efforts reflect our spirit of community
and help strengthen the places around the world in which we operate.  We make most of our community investments
through the Avery Dennison Foundation (the ‘‘Foundation’’), which annually invests at least 5% of its assets from the prior
year primarily to advance education, sustainability and women’s empowerment, and encourages employee engagement
with a spirit of invention and innovation. The Foundation invests in communities by making grants to community-based
organizations, promoting employee volunteerism and engagement, and awarding scholarships.
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SUSTAINABILITY STAKEHOLDERS

PROGRESS TOWARDS ACHIEVING 2025 SUSTAINABILITY GOALS

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

AVERY DENNISON FOUNDATION
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The Foundation’s global grantmaking initiative is its primary means of giving.  Grantmaking is aided by our employees
worldwide who help identify deserving NGOs.  Grant decisions are primarily guided by the priorities shown below, which
are targeted to the communities in which our employees live and work.

Women’s Empowerment
Advance women’s empowerment to address gender
equality and equity with 20%+ of grants

Education
Advance educational opportunities to impact primary
through post-secondary education with 20%+ of grants

Global
Grantmaking

Sustainability
Advance sustainability through programs aligned with
our company’s goals with 20%+ of grants 

As the hands and heart of our company, our employees are critical to advancing the Foundation’s efforts.  Because they
better understand of the needs of their communities, more than 150 employee teams coordinate volunteerism locally at our
global locations. In 2019, over 75% of the Foundation’s grants were enhanced with volunteer time from our
employees.

The Foundation also engages employees through its Granting Wishes program, which allows them to recommend
one-time grants to local NGOs.  Employees often have a connection to the organizations they nominate through
volunteerism or service on the organization’s board.  In the eight years since the Foundation launched Granting Wishes,
more than 2,000 of our employees have made recommendations, enabling grants to more than 360 organizations.

The Foundation provides scholarships to the children of our U.S. employees.  To date, over 650 scholarships have been
awarded to U.S. college students.

In China and India, the Foundation’s InvEnt Scholarships have for more than a decade supported the next generation of
innovators in science, technology, engineering and mathematics. By providing undergraduates in those communities with
tuition assistance, an invention competition and professional development opportunities, the Foundation seeks to inspire
the spirit of innovation in future engineers and technology workers.  As part of their application, students submit ideas for an
invention they then design during their scholarship year.  To date, nearly 200 scholarships have been awarded to Chinese
and Indian students who have demonstrated outstanding innovative spirit and strong practical competence.
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Our Board oversees, counsels and ensures management is serving the best interests of our company and stockholders,
with the goal of maximizing the performance of our businesses to deliver long-term value for all our stakeholders.

Our Board’s primary responsibilities include the following:

• Establishing a strong governance program, with a Board and Committee structure that ensures independent
oversight;

• Conducting director succession planning to ensure we maintain an engaged and diverse Board with the
skills, qualifications and backgrounds to effectively oversee our company;

• Overseeing our businesses, strategies and risks;

• Approving our annual operating plan and significant strategic and operational actions, including significant
capital expenditures and acquisitions;

• Maintaining the integrity of our financial statements;

• Evaluating the performance of our senior leaders and determining executive compensation; and

• Conducting succession planning for our CEO and other senior executives, and ensuring we have a human
capital management program that is effectively developing our current and future leaders.

Our Bylaws provide that our Board be comprised of between eight and 12 directors, with the exact number fixed from
time to time by Board resolution.  Our Board has fixed the current number of directors at 11 and expects to reduce the size
to 10 in April 2020 to reflect David Pyott’s departure from the Board at the end of his current term.  The nominees for
election at the Annual Meeting – and the year of his or her respective initial appointment or election, current or most recent
principal occupation, independence status, and current committee memberships – are shown in the chart below.

Bradley A. Alford 63 2010 Retired Chairman & CEO, Nestlé USA M M

Anthony K. Anderson 64 2012 Retired Vice Chair & Managing Partner, Ernst & Young LLP M M

Peter K. Barker 71 2003 Retired Chairman of California, JPMorgan Chase & Co.

Mark J. Barrenechea 55 2018 Vice Chair, CEO & CTO, OpenText Corporation

Mitchell R. Butier 48 2016 Chairman, President & CEO, Avery Dennison Corporation

Ken C. Hicks 67 2007 Chairman, President & CEO, Academy Sports + Outdoors

Andres A. Lopez 57 2017 President & CEO, O-I Glass, Inc.

Patrick T. Siewert (LID-Elect) 64 2005 Managing Director & Partner, The Carlyle Group

Julia A. Stewart 64 2003 Chair & CEO, Alurx, Inc.

Martha N. Sullivan 63 2013 Retired President & CEO, Sensata Technologies Holding PLC
AC = Audit & Finance Committee CC = Compensation & Executive Personnel Committee GC = Governance & Social Responsibility Committee

M = Member C = Chair LID = Lead Independent Director

The ages of our director nominees range from 48 to 71, with an average age of 62.  Their lengths of service range from
one-and-a-half to 17 years, with an average tenure on our Board of approximately nine years.
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OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

OVERVIEW

2020 DIRECTOR NOMINEES

DIRECTOR
NAME AGE SINCE PRINCIPAL OCCUPATION INDEPENDENT AC CC GC

✓

✓

✓ M C

✓ M

✓ M

✓ M

✓ C M

✓ C M

✓ M
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In February 2020, our Lead Independent Director, David Pyott, notified our Board of his intention not to stand for
reelection at the Annual Meeting so that he may focus on other endeavors.  As a result, Mr. Pyott’s membership on our
Board will end on the date of the Annual Meeting.  Our Board actively reviews its composition and the need for refreshment,
and determined not to appoint an additional director at this time but may decide to do so in the future

In light of Mr. Pyott’s upcoming departure, in February 2020, the Governance Committee evaluated our Board
leadership structure and recommended to our Board that Patrick Siewert be selected to serve as Lead Independent
Director.  The committee’s decision took into account his significant contribution to the Board’s responsibility of maintaining
the integrity of our financial statements as a member of the Audit Committee for the past 15 years and its Chair for the past
four years, as well as his extensive international experience in Asia, a region in which nearly 35% of our sales are generated
and approximately 60% of our employees are located.  With Mr. Pyott’s departure, the Governance Committee determined
that Mr. Siewert is best positioned to provide independent leadership of our Board in overseeing our strategies to drive
long-term value creation for our key stakeholders of customers, employees, investors and communities.  Upon the
recommendation of the Governance Committee, the independent directors on our Board unanimously selected Mr. Siewert
(with him and Mr. Pyott abstaining) to serve as our Lead Independent Director, effective immediately after the Annual
Meeting subject to his reelection.  A description of responsibilities of our Lead Independent Director can be found on
page 11 of this proxy statement.

Our Board met five times and acted once by unanimous written consent during 2019.  There were 17 Committee
meetings during the year. All of our current directors attended at least 85% of the aggregate number of Board and
Committee meetings of which he or she was a member during 2019; the average attendance of these directors was
97%. Directors are strongly encouraged to attend our annual stockholder meetings under our Governance Guidelines and,
except for our then-retiring former Chairman, all of our directors attended the 2019 Annual Meeting.

Our Governance Guidelines provide the governance framework for our company and reflect the values of our Board, as
highlighted on the following page.  They are reviewed at least annually and amended from time to time to reflect changes in
regulatory requirements, evolving market practices, recommendations from our advisors and feedback from our
stockholders. Our Governance Guidelines were most recently amended in December 2019.

9

DEPARTURE OF CURRENT LEAD INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR; POST-ANNUAL MEETING BOARD LEADERSHIP STRUCTURE

BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

Avery Dennison Corporation 2020 Proxy Statement



10

Board Composition

Reasonable Board size of 11 directors in 2019
Mandatory retirement after age 72, with no term limits

Director Independence

Current directors and director nominees 91% and 90% independent, respectively
Executive sessions of independent directors held at three Board meetings during 2019

Board Leadership Structure

Annual review of Board leadership structure by the Governance Committee
Robust Lead Independent Director role and independent Committee Chairs

Board Committees

100% independent
Act under charters delineating Committee responsibilities
Directors required to attend Board and Committee meetings

Board Duties

Directors entitled to rely on independent legal, financial or other advisors at our expense
Regular review of long-term strategic plans, including major risks and mitigating strategies
Regular succession planning for our CEO and other senior executives primarily through the
Compensation Committee

Continuous Board Improvement

All new directors participate in an initial orientation to familiarize themselves with our company and after
joining a Board committee to understand its responsibilities
Directors continue their education through meetings with management, visits to our facilities and
attendance at director education programs
The Governance Committee oversees an annual evaluation process to ensure our Board, Committees,
Chairman, Lead Independent Director and Committee Chairs are functioning effectively; in 2019, this
process included our directors discussing with the Governance Committee Chair the individual
performance of their peers

Director Qualifications

The Governance Committee reviews the skills and characteristics of our Board members and
recommends director nominees

Our Governance Guidelines require that our Board be comprised of a majority of directors who satisfy the criteria for
independence under NYSE listing standards.  These standards also require that our audit, compensation and nominating
committees be comprised entirely of independent directors.  An independent director is one who meets the independence
requirements of the NYSE and who our Board affirmatively determines has no material relationship with our company,
directly or indirectly as a partner, stockholder or officer of an entity with which we have a relationship.

Each year, our directors complete a questionnaire designed to solicit information that may have a bearing on the annual
independence determination, including all relevant relationships they have with our company, directly or indirectly through
our company’s sale or purchase of products or services to or from the companies or firms by which they are employed.  The
Governance Committee reviews any relevant disclosures made in the questionnaires with our General Counsel/Corporate
Secretary, as well as any transactions our company has with director-affiliated entities.  In February 2020, the Governance
Committee reviewed only one relationship impacting the independence of our directors, namely Mr. Butier’s service as our
President and CEO.
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After review and discussion of the relevant facts and circumstances, the Governance Committee concluded that only
Mr. Butier had a relationship that was disqualifying under NYSE listing standards, otherwise material or impairing of director
independence.  Upon recommendation of the Governance Committee, our Board affirmatively determined the 10 current
directors named below to be independent, representing 90% of our 10 director nominees.

Independent Directors

Bradley Alford
Anthony Anderson

Peter Barker
Mark Barrenechea

Ken Hicks
Andres Lopez
David Pyott

Patrick Siewert
Julia Stewart

Martha Sullivan

Director Nominee Independence

90%

For a discussion of the potential impact of tenure on director independence, see the Board Refreshment and Director
Succession Planning section of this proxy statement.

Our Governance Guidelines give our Board – acting through its independent directors – the discretion to separate or
combine the roles of Chairman and CEO as it deems appropriate based on the needs of our company at any given time. To
facilitate this decision-making, the Governance Committee annually reviews our Board leadership structure, providing its
recommendation on the appropriate structure for the following one-year term to our independent directors. Our
independent directors do not view any particular Board leadership structure as necessarily preferable; rather, they make an
annual determination taking into account, among other things, our financial position, business strategies and any feedback
received from our stockholders.

Our Lead Independent Director role provides an effective balance with our combined Chairman/CEO role, exercising
critical duties in the boardroom to ensure independent Board decision-making.  Our Governance Guidelines clearly
delineate these responsibilities, which are shown below.  Mr. Pyott served as our Lead Independent Director during 2019
and, subject to his reelection, Mr. Siewert will assume the role after the Annual Meeting.

Designee: Preside over executive sessions of independent directors and meetings of our
David Pyott Board at which our non-independent Chairman/CEO is not present

Designee-Elect: Serve as liaison between the non-independent Chairman/CEO and our
Patrick Siewert independent directors

Selected annually by our independent Approve meeting agendas and schedules and other information sent to our
directors. Board to ensure that appropriate items are discussed, with sufficient time for

discussion of all items

Call meetings of independent directors when necessary or appropriate

If requested, consult and meet with our stockholders

11
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In addition to these responsibilities, Mr. Pyott performed the following activities as Lead Independent Director in 2019:

• Regularly engaged with our Chairman/CEO to help guide management’s ongoing discussions with the Board
on our strategic direction, including the review of our business strategies, the mitigation of related risks and
the assessment of potential acquisitions;

• Consulted regularly with our other independent directors;

• Provided feedback to our Chairman/CEO based on his discussions with our other independent directors;

• Met with members of senior management other than our Chairman/CEO; and

• Led discussions with several of our investors during our fall stockholder engagement program.

Supplementing our Lead Independent Director in providing independent Board leadership are our Committee Chairs,
all of whom are independent.

Our Board currently has a Chairman/CEO and a Lead Independent Director.  The Governance Committee oversaw the
evaluation of the performance of our Chairman/CEO and Lead Independent Director during the Board evaluation process
conducted in the fourth quarter of 2019, noting that Messrs. Butier and Pyott received positive feedback from our
independent directors in their respective roles.  Based in part on these evaluations, we believe that our current Board
leadership structure has provided effective independent oversight of our company.  During our ongoing engagement with
our stockholders, few of them have expressed concerns with our Board leadership structure, which we believe reflects
support for our robust and clearly delineated Lead Independent Director role.

In February 2020, the Governance Committee evaluated our Board leadership structure and recommended to our
Board that Mr. Butier be elected to continue serving as Chairman, noting that he has successfully led our company for the
last four years and is best positioned to lead our Board in overseeing our strategies to drive long-term value creation for our
key stakeholders of customers, investors, employees and communities.  The committee further noted that Mr. Butier has
articulated and worked to realize a long-term vision for our company that has delivered top quartile TSR performance and
resonated strongly with our stockholders, and that we could best continue our progress towards achieving our 2021
financial targets and 2025 sustainability goals by continuing combined leadership in the boardroom at this time.  Upon the
recommendation of the Governance Committee, our Board unanimously elected Mr. Butier (with him and Mr. Pyott
abstaining) to serve as our Chairman, effective immediately after the Annual Meeting subject to his reelection.

In light of Mr. Pyott’s upcoming departure from our Board, the Governance Committee recommended that Mr. Siewert
(with him and Mr. Pyott abstaining) serve as Lead Independent Director.  Having an experienced director with financial
expertise and substantial international experience serve as Lead Independent Director will provide Mr. Butier valuable
mentorship, independent guidance and leadership as he enters his second year in the Chairman role.  With Mr. Pyott’s
departure, the Governance Committee determined that Mr. Siewert is best positioned to provide independent leadership
of our Board in overseeing our strategies to drive long-term value creation for our key stakeholders. The committee’s
decision took into account his significant contribution to the Board’s responsibility of maintaining the integrity of our
financial statements as a member of the Audit Committee for the past 15 years and its Chair for the past four years, as well as
his extensive international experience in Asia, a region in which nearly 35% of our sales are generated and approximately
60% of our employees are located.  Upon the recommendation of the Governance Committee, our independent directors
unanimously selected Mr. Siewert (with him and Mr. Pyott abstaining) to serve as our Lead Independent Director, effective
immediately after the Annual Meeting subject to his reelection.

Each of our Board committees has a written charter that describes its purposes, membership and meeting
structure, and responsibilities.  These charters, which may be found on our website at
www.averydennison.com/corporategovernance, are reviewed by the respective committee at least annually, with any
recommended changes adopted upon approval by our Board.  Amended charters are promptly posted on our website.
The Charters for the Audit, Compensation and Governance Committees were last amended in December 2018, December
2019, and December 2016, respectively.
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Each of our Board committees has the ability to form and delegate authority to subcommittees and may obtain advice
and assistance from internal or external consultants, legal counsel or other advisors at our expense.  In addition, each
committee annually evaluates its performance.  The primary responsibilities, current membership and 2019 meeting
attendance information for the three standing committees of our Board are summarized below and on the following page.

Current Members: Oversee financial statement and disclosure matters, including our quarterly and
Patrick Siewert (Chair) annual financial results, earnings release documentation and SEC reports, internal
Anthony Anderson controls and major financial risk exposures
Peter Barker
Andres Lopez Appoint and oversee our independent registered public accounting firm,
Martha Sullivan including its qualifications, performance and independence, and the scope,

staffing and fees for its annual audit and other audit, review or attestation services
Meetings in 2019: 9

Oversee our internal audit function, including appointing or dismissing theAverage Attendance in 2019: 96%
senior internal auditor, evaluating his performance, reviewing significant issues

All members satisfy the enhanced raised in its audits and management’s response, and discussing the annual internal
independence standards required by the audit plan, budget and staffing
NYSE and have been determined by our
Board to be financially literate. Perform compliance oversight responsibilities, including overseeing our

cybersecurity risk management program and risks related to our company’s
Each of Messrs. Anderson, Barker and information technology controls and security; maintaining the procedures
Siewert has been determined by our established for receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding
Board to be an ‘‘audit committee accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters; reviewing significant
financial expert’’ under applicable SEC correspondence with governmental agencies and legal matters that may have a
regulations. material impact on our financial statements; and making determinations and

recommending actions to our Board regarding any violations of our Code of Ethics
related to information contained in our SEC filings and other public
communications

Conduct finance oversight responsibilities, including reviewing our capital
structure and financing plans, capital allocation strategy, the funding status of our
pension plans, and significant tax matters

Approve the Audit and Finance Committee Report included in our proxy
statement
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Current Members: Review and approve corporate goals and individual objectives for our CEO’s
Julia Stewart (Chair) compensation and evaluate our company’s and his individual performance to
Bradley Alford determine annual CEO compensation
Mark Barrenechea

Review and approve senior executive compensation, including base salaries andKen Hicks
incentive compensation, giving consideration to the recommendations of our

Meetings in 2019: 4 CEO

Average Attendance in 2019: 100% Recommend appropriate compensation strategy, incentive plans and benefit
programs

All members satisfy the enhanced
independence standards required by the Review our diversity and inclusion initiatives, including key performance
NYSE. metrics, as well as our learning and development programs and the results of our

employee engagement survey
All members qualify as ‘‘non-employee
directors’’ under Rule 16b-3 of the Approve the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and the Compensation
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as and Executive Personnel Committee Report included in our proxy statement
amended.

Oversee stockholder approval of executive compensation matters, including
Relies on expert advice of an advisory votes on executive compensation and the frequency of such votes
independent compensation consultant

Ensure no encouragement of excessive risk-taking in our compensation policiesthat reports directly to the Committee.
and programs

Recommend non-employee director compensation

Conduct succession planning for our CEO and other senior executive positions
and regularly review executive new hires, promotions and role changes,
departures and open positions

Current Members: Identify potential Board members and recommend director nominees using
Peter Barker (Chair) the criteria set forth in our Governance Guidelines
Bradley Alford

Periodically consider our Board leadership structure and recommend to ourAnthony Anderson
Board whether to separate or combine the positions of Chairman and CEO, asDavid Pyott
well as who should serve as Lead Independent Director if those positions arePatrick Siewert
combinedJulia Stewart

Recommend Board and Committee structure, Chairs and membersMeetings in 2019: 4

Recommend our independent directors using the independence standards ofAverage Attendance in 2019: 96%
the NYSE

All members satisfy the independence
Review and approve related person transactionsstandards required by the NYSE.

Oversee and conduct an annual performance evaluation of our Board and its
Committees

Review our Governance Guidelines and recommend any changes to our Board

Review sustainability and corporate social responsibility matters

Oversee our values and ethics program and Code of Conduct, evaluate
significant conflicts of interest or questions related to our Code of Conduct and
policy on legal and ethical conduct, and make determinations and recommend
actions to the Board regarding violations of the Code of Ethics (except for
violations over which the Audit Committee has such authority)
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Our Board believes it is important to have executive sessions without our Chairman/CEO or other members of
management present, which are generally held at regular Board meetings.  Our independent directors have robust and
candid discussions at these executive sessions during which they critically evaluate the performance of our company,
Chairman/CEO and management. As Lead Independent Director, Mr. Pyott presided over the three executive sessions
of independent directors held during 2019.

Executive sessions were also scheduled for regular meetings of the Audit, Compensation and Governance Committees
held.  These executive sessions generally excluded our former non-independent Chairman, our current Chairman/CEO and
other members of management, unless the Committee requested the then-serving Chairman and/or one or more members
of management to attend a portion of the session to provide information or perspective.

Management is responsible for managing the day-to-day risks confronting our businesses, but our Board has
responsibility for overseeing enterprise risk management (ERM).  The teams leading our businesses have incorporated ERM
into developing and executing their strategies, assessing the risks impacting their businesses, and identifying and
implementing appropriate mitigating actions on an ongoing basis.  In addition, in consultation with our head of risk
management and senior management, these teams semiannually prepare a risk profile consisting of a heat map and a
summary of their key risks and mitigating strategies, which are used to prepare a company risk profile based on identified
business-specific risks as well as enterprise-wide risks.

We also have robust global processes that support a strong internal control environment to promote the early
identification and continued management of risks by our company’s leadership.  Our legal and compliance functions report
into our General Counsel to provide independent evaluation of the challenges facing our businesses and our Vice President
of Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee in the conduct of his operational responsibilities, ensuring his
independence from management.

In performing its oversight role, our Board is responsible for ensuring that the ERM processes designed and
implemented by management are functioning effectively, and that our culture promotes risk-adjusted
decision-making.

Our Board as a whole oversees risks related to our company and business strategies and operations, exercising this
responsibility by considering the risks related to its decisions. Each year, our Board receives reports on the ERM process
and the strategic plans and risks facing our businesses and company as a whole. These risks include financial risks,
geopolitical risks, legal and regulatory risks, supply chain risks, competitive risks, information technology risks, and
other risks related to the ways in which we do business. Employees who lead various risk areas – such as information
technology; environmental, health and safety; tax; compliance; sustainability; and social responsibility – report periodically
to Board Committees and occasionally to our full Board.

Our Board has delegated elements of its risk oversight function to its Committees to better coordinate with
management to serve the long-term interests of all of our stakeholders.  Our Board receives reports from the Committee
Chairs regarding topics discussed at committee meetings, which include the areas of risk overseen primarily by the Board
Committees.
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Our

Risk Oversight
Board of Directors

Business strategies and operations
Annual operating plan and significant capital expenditures
Corporate governance
Acquisitions, divestitures and other significant transactions
ERM

Audit Committee
Financial reporting 
processes and statements,
and internal controls
Capital structure
Financing, including debt, 
liquidity, capital allocation 
and pension plan funding 
Stockholder distributions 
(dividends and stock 
repurchases)
Information technology 
and cybersecurity
Legal, compliance and 
regulatory matters

Compensation Committee
Compensation plans and 
benefit programs
Executive compensation
Performance objectives 
for our incentive plans
Director compensation 
Human capital 
management, including 
executive succession 
planning, leadership 
development, diversity 
and inclusion, and 
employee engagement

Governance Committee
Board and Committee 
membership and structure
Director succession planning
Values and Ethics/
Code of Conduct
Conflicts of interest and 
related person transactions
Sustainability and social 
responsibility 
Legal, compliance and 
regulatory matters

Management
Day-to-day management of the risks facing our business

The Audit Committee oversees our internal control environment and evaluates the effectiveness of our internal controls
at least annually.  Supplementing these processes, the Audit Committee periodically meets in executive session with each
of our CEO, CFO, CAO, General Counsel, Vice President of Internal Audit, and representatives of our independent
registered public accounting firm.  The Governance Committee meets semiannually with our Chief Compliance Officer to
discuss, among other things, the investigation of allegations reported to our Business Conduct GuideLine.

In 2019, the following risk areas were of particular Board and Committee focus:

The system and controls we put in place to ensure timely compliance with new lease accounting
guidance, as well as our control environment in new or expanded international operations;

Our tax planning and structuring transactions and strategies;

Our transfer of assets and liabilities primarily to an annuity insurance provider following the 2018
termination of our U.S. pension plan;

Cybersecurity and information technology operational risks, including our implementations of an
enterprise resource planning system in our Label and Graphic Materials North America business and a
significant software upgrade in our RBIS business;

Risks associated with our restructuring actions, capital investments in the U.S. and South Asia, R&D and
innovation, and acquisitions and equity investments; and

Risks related to environmental, social and governance matters, particularly in the areas of sustainability,
our Values and Ethics program, and corporate social responsibility, as well as human capital
management.
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As described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy statement, we maintain best practices
in compensation that collectively encourage ongoing risk assessment and mitigation.  The Compensation Committee
periodically reviews our compensation programs to ensure that they do not provide incentives that encourage our
employees to take excessive risks in managing their respective businesses or functional areas.  The committee conducted
its most recent review in 2018.

Based on the advice of its independent compensation consultant, Willis Towers Watson, the Compensation Committee
noted the risk-mitigating features of our compensation policies and practices described below and on the following page,
which are substantially the same as what they were at the time of the committee’s most recent review.

Governance and Oversight

• The Compensation Committee has discretion to decrease Annual Incentive Plan (AIP) awards and long-term
incentive (LTI) grants based on individual performance, including as a result of excessive risk-taking.

• Our clawback policy serves as a deterrent to fraud or other misconduct that necessitates a restatement of our
financial statements (including, without limitation, any accounting restatement due to material
noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement).

• The Compensation Committee annually evaluates the performance of our CEO and other senior executives
in the context of our company and business goals and their individual contributions.

• Our stock ownership policy is rigorous and consistent with best practices, with a minimum ownership level of
6x and 3x base salary for our CEO and other NEOs, respectively, and a requirement that 50% of their
respective minimum ownership level be held in vested shares.

• We prohibit our officers from hedging or pledging company stock and require them to engage in stock
transactions only during limited trading windows.

Pay Philosophy and Structure

• Our programs prioritize incenting stockholder value creation, balanced by retention and other
considerations.

• The substantial majority of executive compensation is delivered in equity to motivate our company’s pursuit
of strong long-term performance and sustainable growth.

• Our change of control and executive severance plans are reasonable and consistent with market practices,
with change of control benefits provided on a double-trigger basis to mitigate the risk that such a transaction
be pursued to advance personal interests rather than the best interests of our stockholders.

• Our incentive compensation consists of short- and long-term performance objectives balanced with
objectives designed to incent strong annual financial performance and long-term economic and stockholder
value creation, as well as balancing growth and efficient capital deployment.

Incentive Program Design

• Our AIP and LTI awards incent annual profitable growth balanced with long-term financial value creation,
using multiple performance objectives to deliver realized compensation that is based on company and/or
business performance.

• AIP awards are not guaranteed, with below-threshold performance potentially resulting in zero payout,
payments subject to an overall cap of 200%, and individual modifiers for our NEOs generally capped at 100%.
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• Our equity awards are performance-based, use multiple performance objectives, are subject to threshold
and maximum payout opportunities, and have the following additional features that limit potential
risk-taking:

• Our performance units (PUs) cliff vest at the end of three years with the payout for the relative total
stockholder return (TSR) component capped at 100% of target for any three-year performance
period in which absolute TSR is negative to prevent executives from being unduly enriched when
stockholders experience loss, while still incenting them to deliver relatively strong performance
during challenging economic periods; and

• Our market-leveraged stock units (MSUs) vest over one-, two-, three- and four-year performance
periods (with an average performance period of 2.5 years), with challenging performance
objectives, including a threshold performance level of absolute TSR of (15)% and a target
performance level of absolute TSR of 10%.

Based on these and other factors, Willis Towers Watson determined that our compensation program strikes an
appropriate pay-risk balance.

Giving consideration to the advice of Willis Towers Watson, the Compensation Committee has concluded that
our compensation policies and practices do not create risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse
effect on our company.

The Compensation Committee and our full Board conduct executive succession planning semiannually, developing
and refining succession plans for our CEO and other senior executives. Consistent with this practice, in April 2019, our
Board discussed potential successors to our CEO. In addition, in October 2019, the Compensation Committee
reviewed talent that is ready – or, with continued development on their current trajectory with mentorship and
coaching from our current leaders, will be ready – to fill other senior executive positions in the event of a vacancy.
These assessments were then further discussed with our full Board. The Compensation Committee also regularly reviews
executive new hires, promotions, transfers and departures to assist with succession planning and leadership development.

Our Board is actively involved in overseeing our company’s HCM program to identify and develop our future leaders.
We maintain robust performance review and leadership development processes for our employees. Senior management
develops and reports to the Compensation Committee or our full Board on leadership at executive levels of our
organization by identifying high potential talent and critical experts, cultivating the skills and capabilities to allow
identified individuals to become our future leaders, and providing them with opportunities to further develop.
Through regular reports from management, our Board has the opportunity to meet our business leaders and functional
leaders in law, finance, information technology, compliance, and human resources.  In addition, Board members have
freedom of access to all our employees, and are encouraged to visit our facilities to meet local management and attend
company events.

Diversity is one of our core values, reflecting our efforts to create an inclusive and respectful environment for
people of all backgrounds and orientations and our recognition that we gain strength from diverse ideas and teams.
The importance of diversity and inclusion to our company is further evidenced by the inclusion of diversity-related targets in
our 2025 sustainability goals. Diversity and inclusion at our company are led by our cross-functional and cross-divisional
Diversity and Inclusion Council, co-chaired by Anne Hill, our Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer, and
Deon Stander, the Vice President and General Manager of our RBIS business.  Board oversight is conducted primarily
through the Compensation Committee.
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In recent years, among other initiatives, our diversity and inclusion efforts have focused on training our managers
globally on unconscious bias, increasing the number of sites offering flexible work arrangements, and expanding our
Women Empowered program featuring interactive discussions among nominated participants to facilitate and enhance
their development.  We also evaluated our gender pay equity and made adjustments to compensation where needed.

In 2019, we launched employee resource groups (ERGs), which are voluntary employee-led groups made up of
individuals who join together based on common interests, backgrounds or demographic characteristics such as race,
ethnicity or sexual orientation.  Our ERGs currently include groups centered around women, ethnic Chinese, black
employees, military veterans, and LGBT+ individuals; participation in these groups is not limited to individuals in these
categories, but rather is open to all employees interested in learning about the experiences and challenges of their
colleagues.  In addition, we established regional diversity and inclusion councils to provide leadership of initiatives that
more strongly resonate with employees in their respective regions.  We plan to launch global harassment prevention
training in 2020 to supplement the anti-harassment messages we continually reinforce as part of our Values and Ethics
program.

Our initial director orientation generally covers (i) our strategies, performance and leadership; (ii) investor messaging;
(iii) the strategies and risks of our businesses; (iv) finance matters, including our financial reporting policies and practices,
internal control environment, internal audit deployment, tax planning and compliance, and capital structure; (v) legal and
compliance matters, including our governance policies and procedures, Values and Ethics program, and ERM; (vi) executive
compensation and HCM matters, including succession planning, leadership development, and diversity and inclusion; and
(vii) information technology and cybersecurity.

Our continuing director education program consists of periodic visits to our facilities and management presentations
regarding our business operations, strategies, risks and values and ethics. We provide updates on these topics to our Board
at and between meetings throughout the year, and provide access to a boardroom news resource platform for them to keep
informed of emerging best practices. We also reimburse directors who attend continuing director education programs for
fees and related expenses.

The Governance Committee oversees and conducts an annual performance evaluation of our Board, Chairman, Lead
Independent Director and Board Committees, including the Committee Chairs. In 2019, our directors began evaluating
the individual performance of their peers serving on the Board, providing candid feedback and helping ensure
continuous boardroom improvement, as well as assisting with director succession planning. Our Board views the
evaluation process as integral to assessing its effectiveness and identifying improvement opportunities in the pursuit of
continued excellence. Many of the improvements in our governance practices and Board processes were identified and
implemented as a result of the annual evaluation process.

DIRECTORS PROVIDE 
CANDID FEEDBACK

Board and Committee
• Composition
• Meeting materials
• Meeting mechanics and structure
• Responsibility fulfillment
• Meeting content and conduct
• Overall performance
• Effectiveness of Chairman, Lead Independent 

Director and Committee Chairs
Individual 

• Peer review
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In response to evaluation feedback received in recent years, our Board made the following enhancements to
its membership and processes:

• Enhanced our director succession planning process by focusing more deeply on Board leadership
roles, such as our Lead Independent Director and Committee Chairs, and identifying the need for
independent directors with packaging and technology expertise, culminating in the appointments
of Messrs. Lopez and Barrenechea to our Board;

• Enhanced the review of potential CEO successors and their progress against their development plans
and continued its focus on executive succession planning and leadership development with more
frequent discussions with the Compensation Committee and our full Board;

• Given our strategic focus on acquisitions, enhanced discussion of our M&A pipeline and targets
actively under consideration, as well as the integration and performance of acquired companies;

• Continued our Board’s and the Audit Committee’s review and discussion of our cybersecurity
preparedness and actions being taken to address our pension liabilities, including the 2018
termination of our U.S. pension plan and the transfer of those liabilities primarily to an annuity
insurance provider in 2019;

• Conducted annual post-investment reviews of the return on significant capital expenditures,
acquisitions and information technology investments;

• Increased engagement with the Board on investor relations matters and our stockholder
engagement program and provided additional information on the competitive landscape in each of
our businesses, in each case to further bring external perspectives into the boardroom; and

• Enhanced our Chairman/CEO’s engagement with the Board between meetings, with regular email
updates to the full Board and one-on-one meetings between him and each director.

We value stockholder feedback on our environmental, social and governance (ESG) and executive compensation and
HCM matters, and we actively solicit input through stockholder engagement to ensure that we reflect not only our evolving
business strategies but also the expectations of our investors.

We continued our longstanding practice of open dialogue with stockholders in 2019. In advance of the 2019 Annual
Meeting, we contacted our 35 largest institutional stockholders, representing approximately 61% of our then-outstanding
shares. Board members, including our Lead Independent Director, and management were made available to answer
questions and address concerns regarding the items being brought before the Annual Meeting. While we received
responses from stockholders representing over 30% of our then-outstanding shares, only one of them desired to
substantively engage at that busy time.  Respondents declining meetings indicated that they did not have any concerns
warranting discussion during proxy season.

In the fall, without the time pressures associated with proxy season, we contacted our 30 largest institutional
stockholders, representing over 62% of our then-outstanding shares, to request a meeting with our Lead Independent
Director and/or management. We received responses from stockholders representing nearly 60% of our then-outstanding
shares and spoke with stockholders representing approximately 35% of our then-outstanding shares. We substantively
engaged with every stockholder who requested to do so, and our Lead Independent Director led half of these
engagements. We also discussed the results of our fall engagement on ESG matters with the Governance Committee.
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With respect to matters related to governance, we focused on our non-employee directors’ commitments as
they relate to overboarding concerns and discussed our Board composition and its succession planning and
refreshment processes, as well as the skills, commitments, tenure, and diversity of our directors.  We also
commented on our stockholder rights profile.  In addition, we discussed our Board’s oversight of our business
strategies and related risks; progress towards achieving our 2025 sustainability goals, including with respect to
plastic recyclability and how our businesses are adapting to the risks and opportunities presented by climate
change; and audit matters such as the tenure of our independent auditor.

Our Board welcomes feedback from all our stockholders.  We review correspondence submitted by stockholders,
discussing any substantive feedback received with senior management and/or our Board as appropriate.

Stockholders and other interested parties may contact our Board, Chairman, Lead Independent Director, any
Committee or Committee Chair, or any other individual director concerning business matters by writing to: Board of
Directors (or a particular subgroup or individual director), c/o Corporate Secretary, Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode
Avenue, Glendale, California 91203.
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Our Bylaws provide for a Board of between eight and 12 directors, with the exact number fixed by a resolution of our
Board.  Our Board has fixed the current number of directors at 11; in April 2020, our Board expects to fix the number of
directors at 10 to reflect David Pyott’s departure from the Board on the date of the Annual Meeting.  All nominees are
standing for election for a one-year term expiring at the 2021 Annual Meeting.

Each of the 10 nominees is presently serving on our Board and has consented to being named in this proxy statement
and serving if elected by our stockholders.

Our Bylaws provide for the approval by a majority of votes cast for the election of directors in uncontested elections like
this one and require that an incumbent director who is not re-elected tender his or her resignation from our Board.  Our
Board, excluding the tendering director, is required to determine whether to accept the resignation – taking into account
the recommendation of the Governance Committee and any other factors it considers appropriate – and publicly disclose
its decision regarding the tendered resignation, including its rationale for the decision, within 90 days from the date election
results are certified.  In contested elections, plurality voting is the standard for the election of directors.

In voting for the election of directors, each share has one vote for each position to be filled and there is no cumulative
voting.

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR each of the 10 director nominees. The persons named as
proxies will vote for their election, unless you specify otherwise.  If any director nominee were to become unavailable prior
to the Annual Meeting, your proxy would be voted for a substitute nominee designated by our Board or we would decrease
the size of our Board.

Director nominees are generally recommended by the Governance Committee for nomination by our Board and
election by our stockholders.  Director nominees may also be recommended by the Governance Committee for
appointment to our Board, with their election by stockholders taking place at the next Annual Meeting.  Our Board believes
that our directors reflect a balance of skills, qualifications and backgrounds that allows them to effectively discharge their
oversight responsibilities as shown in the matrix included later in this section.

In evaluating whether to recommend a candidate as a director nominee, the Governance Committee primarily
uses the following criteria set forth in our Governance Guidelines:

• Independence, to ensure that a majority of our Board remains independent;

• Business and leadership experience, including industry experience and global exposure and
considering factors such as size, scope, and complexity;

• Board experience at another public company;

• Experience in finance, accounting and/or executive compensation;

• Time commitments, including other boards on which the nominee serves;

• Potential conflicts of interest;

• Demographic characteristics (such as gender, race and ethnicity);

• Ability to contribute to the oversight and governance of our company; and

• Ability to represent the balanced interests of stockholders as a whole, rather than those of any special
interest group.
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For incumbent directors, the Governance Committee also considers their contributions to our Board and Committees,
attendance at Board and Committee meetings, compliance with our stock ownership policy, and mandatory retirement
dates to assist with director succession planning.  The Governance Committee does not assign specific weights to the
criteria and no particular criterion is necessarily applicable to all nominees.

The Governance Committee reviews the qualifications of any candidate with those of our current directors in assessing
how our Board can most effectively fulfill its oversight responsibilities.  Sources for identifying potential nominees include
current Board members, senior management, executive search firms, and our stockholders.

Advance Notice Nominees

Stockholders may recommend director candidates by submitting the candidate’s name, together with his or her
biographical information, professional experience and written consent to nomination, to Governance and Social
Responsibility Committee Chair, c/o Corporate Secretary, Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale,
California 91203.  To be considered at the 2021 Annual Meeting, advance notice stockholder nominations must comply
with the requirements described in the penultimate section of this proxy statement.  The Governance Committee considers
stockholder nominees on the same basis as it considers all other nominees.

Proxy Access Nominees

A stockholder, or a group of no more than 20 stockholders, owning at least 3% of our company’s stock continuously for
at least three years is permitted to submit director nominees (up to 20% of the Board) for inclusion in our proxy materials,
subject to the requirements specified in our Bylaws.  For further information on submitting proxy access nominees, please
refer to the penultimate section of this proxy statement.
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Our director nominees bring a balance of skills, qualifications and backgrounds to their oversight of our company, as
shown in the matrix below.  The Governance Committee regularly evaluates the skills and qualifications desirable for our
Board to best advance our business strategies and serve the interests of our key stakeholders of customers, investors,
employees and communities.
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GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES CRITERIA

INDUSTRY EXPERTISE

DEMOGRAPHIC BACKGROUND

Board Experience(1)

Global Exposure(2)

Senior Leadership Experience(3)

Industry Experience(4)

Financial Sophistication(5)

Independent

Retail/Dining
Packaging

Industrial Goods/Technology
Consumer Goods

Tenure (years) 3

57
2035 2028 20282029 2025 2037 2029 2044 2028 2021

64 63 64 67 55 63 48 64 71

7 10 17 12 1 7 4 15 17
Gender

Female
Male

Age
Mandatory Retirement Year
Race/Ethnicity

African American/Black
Hispanic/Latino
White/Caucasian

Lives/Has Lived Abroad____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(1) Prior or concurrent service on other SEC-reporting company boards. 
(2) Seniority in a global enterprise or significant experience in international markets.
(3) Experience as president, chief executive officer or in similar senior executive positions. 
(4) Experience in the retail, packaging, consumer goods, industrial goods or healthcare industries.
(5) Expertise in accounting, auditing, tax, banking, insurance, or investments.

Our Board’s ongoing director succession planning is designed to ensure an independent, well-qualified Board, with
diversity in skills, qualifications and backgrounds that aligns with our business strategies and enables effective oversight.

Our Governance Guidelines reflect our Board’s belief that directors should not be subject to term limits.  While term
limits could help facilitate fresh ideas and viewpoints being brought to the boardroom, our Board believes they could result
in the premature loss of a director who over a period of time has gained expertise in assessing our strategies, operations and
risks and is continuing to provide valuable contributions to Board deliberations. Further, we believe that our Board’s
decision not to establish term limits at this time is consistent with the prevailing practice among companies in the
S&P 500.
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Our Board recognizes that certain governance stakeholders have suggested that longer-serving directors may have
decreased independence and objectivity; however, our Board believes that arbitrarily removing knowledgeable directors
and losing the oversight consistency they bring – particularly during periods of either executive management change, such
as our recent CEO and CFO transitions, or Board change, such as Dean Scarborough’s April 2019 departure from our Board
after having served as Chairman for nine years and David Pyott’s upcoming departure from our Board in April 2020 after
having served as Lead Independent Director for 10 years – weighs against implementing term limits at this time.  Ultimately,
our Board believes that it is its responsibility to establish appropriate board refreshment policies, in light of our strategies,
leadership team and financial position at any particular time, exercising its discretion in the best interest of our company and
stockholders.  To assist in discharging this responsibility, the Governance Committee and/or full Board regularly reviews
the skills, qualifications and backgrounds of its members to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of our
businesses, align with our strategies and advance the interests of all of our stakeholders.

Our Board has adopted the policies described below to facilitate regular refreshment of our Board and ensure that it
continues to independently oversee, challenge and partner with our management team.

Mandatory Incumbent directors who are not elected by our All incumbent directors standing for election were electedResignation stockholders must tender their resignation. at the 2019 Annual Meeting.Policy

Directors must retire on the date of the annualMandatory meeting of stockholders that follows theirRetirement No directors retired under this policy in 2019.reaching the age of 72.  Since inception, thisPolicy policy has never been waived.

In November 2019, Ms. Stewart informed our Chairman
and the Governance Committee Chair of her potential
appointment as chairman and CEO of a
then-yet-to-be-named specialty products company
focused on health and wellness.  Although she
volunteered to resign from the Board, the GovernanceDirectors who change the principal occupation,Resignation Tendered Committee determined that Ms. Stewart should remain onposition or responsibility they held when theyUpon Change in our Board.were elected to our Board must volunteer toPrincipal Employment resign from the Board. In January 2020, Ms. Sullivan informed our Chairman and
the Governance Committee Chair of her retirement as
President and CEO of Sensata Technologies effective
March 1, 2020.  Although she volunteered to resign from
the Board, the Governance Committee determined that
Ms. Sullivan should remain on our Board.

Directors must give prior notice before accepting
Prior Notice another public company directorship so that the

Requirement to director’s ability to fulfill Board responsibilities No directors accepted another public company
Prevent may be appropriately evaluated if he or she directorship in 2019.

Over-Boarding serves on more than four other public company
boards.

Upon the recommendation of the Governance Committee, Messrs. Barrenechea and Lopez were appointed to our
Board as independent directors in September 2018 and February 2017, respectively.  In connection with his becoming our
CEO, Mr. Butier joined our Board as a non-independent director in May 2016.  In addition, Mr. Scarborough departed from
our Board in April 2019 and Mr. Pyott will depart our Board in April 2020.  We believe that this recent experience with both
joining and departing directors demonstrates our Board’s commitment to regular refreshment.

The average age of our director nominees is 62, which we believe is comparable to the average board age in the
S&P 500 and within the 60-63 year band in which the plurality of these companies fall.  The average tenure of our
director nominees is approximately nine years, which we believe is comparable to the average tenure for companies in
the S&P 500 and within the 6-10 year band in which the majority of these companies fall.
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The charts below show the age and tenure of our director nominees, which reflect a balance between newer directors
who bring fresh ideas and insights and longer-serving directors with deep institutional knowledge of our Board and
company.

Director Nominees

Tenure

1-4

5-8

9-12

>12

AVG.
9 YEARS 

Under 50

50-60

60-70

70+

AVG.
62 YEARS 

Age
# of Years

Our Governance Guidelines reflect that the Governance Committee’s assessment of the qualifications of director
candidates includes consideration of demographic characteristics such as race, gender and ethnicity.  Although neither the
Governance Committee nor our full Board has a formal policy regarding the consideration of diversity in selecting director
nominees, the committee seeks to recommend individuals with a broad diversity of experience, profession, skill,
geographic representation and demographic background, including characteristics such as race, gender and ethnicity.
While diversity is a consideration, nominees are not chosen or excluded solely or primarily on that basis; rather, the
Governance Committee focuses on skills, experience and background that can complement our existing Board in light of
the diverse and global nature of our businesses and operations.

Our Board recognizes the benefits of racial, ethnic and gender diversity in the boardroom, including better reflecting
our global customer base and the healthy debate that results from different viewpoints that may stem from diverse
backgrounds.  The racial, ethnic and gender diversity of our 2020 director nominees is shown in the chart below.

Three of our four most recently
appointed independent
directors increased the
diversity on our Board.

BOARD
DIVERSITY

Racially/Ethnically
Diverse

20%

Gender
Diverse

20%

40%
DIVERSE

Diversity of Director Nominees

The following pages provide information on the directors nominated for election at the Annual Meeting, including his
or her age, current board leadership roles, and business experience during at least the past five years.  We also indicate the
name of any other public company board on which each nominee currently serves, or has served during the past five years;
for these purposes, ‘‘public company’’ means one that is required to file reports with the SEC.

In addition to the information presented regarding each nominee’s experience and qualifications that led our Board to
conclude that he or she should serve as a director – which includes senior leadership experience, industry experience,
global exposure, financial sophistication, and public company board experience – we believe that each of them has integrity
and adheres to our high ethical standards. Each nominee also has demonstrated the ability to exercise sound judgment,
fulfill the time commitments necessary to serve on our Board, and advance the long-term interests of all our
stakeholders.
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O-I Glass, Inc., a glass container manufacturer and supplier to food and beverage brands
• President & Chief Executive Officer since January 2016
• Chief Operating Officer & President, Glass Containers, from February 2015 to December 2015
• President, O-I Americas, from July 2014 to January 2015
• President, O-I Latin America, from April 2009 to July 2014

Senior leadership experience
Age 57 • Oversees a company with over $6.7 billion revenues and more than 27,000 employees in 2019

Industry experience and global exposureDirector since February 2017
• Leads a multinational packaging company in the beverage segment of the consumer goods industry into

which we sell our label and graphic materialsIndependent
• Led Latin America and Americas divisions, after having worked in positions of increasing responsibility

throughout the regionOther Public Company Boards
Current: Public company board experience
O-I Glass, Inc. • Concurrent service on one other public company board

Past Five Years:
None

Audit Committee Member

Ernst & Young LLP, an assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services firm
• Vice Chair, Managing Partner and Member of the Executive Board from 2000 to March 2012

Senior leadership experience
Age 64 • Served on the executive board of Ernst & Young for 12 years, and as the managing partner of the Midwest

and Pacific Southwest regions
Director since December 2012

Financial sophistication
• 35 years of financial statement and internal control expertise acquired through auditing global publicIndependent

companies
• Substantial experience advising audit committees of large multinational corporationsOther Public Company Boards
• Certified public accountant (now inactive)Current:

AAR Corporation Public company board experience
Exelon Corporation • Concurrent service on three other public company boards and prior service on other public company
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. boards

Past Five Years:
First American Financial Corporation

Audit Committee Member
Governance Committee Member

Nestlé USA, a nutrition, health and wellness company
• Chairman & Chief Executive Officer from January 2006 to October 2012

Nestlé Brands Company, an operating unit of Nestlé USA
• President & Chief Executive Officer from 2003 to December 2005

Senior leadership experience
Age 63 • Led a company then with over $12 billion in annual revenues and more than 26,000 employees

Industry experience and global exposureDirector since April 2010
• 35+ years in the consumer goods industry
• Knowledge of the food and beverage segments of the consumer goods industry into which we sell ourIndependent

label and graphic materials
• Substantial M&A and integration experienceOther Public Company Boards

Current: Public company board experience
Perrigo Company plc • Concurrent service on one other public company board and prior service on other public company

Past Five Years: boards
ConAgra Foods, Inc.

Compensation Committee Member
Governance Committee Member

27

RECENT BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

SELECT SKILLS AND QUALIFICATIONS

BOARD LEADERSHIP ROLES

RECENT BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

SELECT SKILLS AND QUALIFICATIONS

BOARD LEADERSHIP ROLES

RECENT BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

SELECT SKILLS AND QUALIFICATIONS

BOARD LEADERSHIP ROLES

Avery Dennison Corporation 2020 Proxy Statement

Andres A. Lopez

Anthony K. Anderson

Bradley A. Alford



26FEB202012550564

26FEB202012550688

26FEB202012550812

28

Alurx, Inc., a specialty products company focused on health and wellness
• Chair & Chief Executive Officer since January 2020

Dine Brands Global, Inc. (formerly DineEquity, Inc.), owner, operator and franchisor of IHOP and
Applebee’s restaurants
• Chairman & Chief Executive Officer from June 2008 to March 2017

Age 64
Senior leadership experience

Director since January 2003 • Led a company then with over $600 million in annual revenues and nearly 1,000 employees

Global exposure
Independent • Substantial operational and marketing experience in the dining industry

• Expertise in brand positioning, risk assessment, financial reporting and governance
Other Public Company Boards

Current: Public company board experience
None • Prior service on other public company boards

Past Five Years:
Dine Brands Global, Inc.

Compensation Committee Chair
Governance Committee Member

Academy Sports + Outdoors, a sports and recreation retailer
• Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer since May 2018

Foot Locker, Inc., a specialty athletic retailer
• Executive Chairman from December 2014 to May 2015
• Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer from February 2010 to November 2014
• President and Chief Executive Officer from August 2009 to February 2010

Senior leadership experience
Age 67 • Leads a company currently with more than 250 U.S. locations, nearly $5 billion in annual revenues and

more than 23,000 employees
Director since July 2007

Industry experience
• 30+ years of senior marketing and operational experience in the retail industry into which we sell our retailIndependent

branding and information solutions
Other Public Company Boards

Public company board experienceCurrent:
• Prior service on other public company boardsNone

Past Five Years:
Foot Locker, Inc.
Whole Foods Corporation

Compensation Committee Member

OpenText Corporation, a global software company
• Vice Chair, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technology Officer since January 2012

Senior leadership experience
Age 55 • Leads a company with nearly $3 billion in revenues and approximately 13,000 employees in 2019

Industry experience and global exposureDirector since September 2018
• Over 30 years of experience in the technology industry, including experience globally in software, cloud

solutions, cybersecurity, and information technology transformationIndependent

Public company board experienceOther Public Company Boards
• Concurrent service on two other public company boardsCurrent:

OpenText Corporation
Dicks Sporting Goods

Past Five Years:
None

Compensation Committee Member
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Sensata Technologies Holding PLC, a supplier of sensors and controls
• President & Chief Executive Officer from January 2013 to March 2020
• President from September 2010 to December 2012
• Chief Operating Officer from April 2006 to August 2010

Texas Instruments, Inc., Sensata’s predecessor entity
• Vice President of Sensor Products from 1997 to 2006

Senior leadership experience
Age 63 • Led a company with approximately $3.5 billion in revenues and more than 21,000 employees in 2019

Director since February 2013 Industry experience and global exposure
• Oversees all business segments, global operations and strategic planningIndependent • Strong technology background, including experience overseeing a radio-frequency identification

business
Other Public Company Boards

Current:
Public company board experienceSensata Technologies Holding PLC

• Concurrent service on one other public company boardPast Five Years:
None

Audit Committee Member

Avery Dennison Corporation
• Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer since April 2019
• President & Chief Executive Officer from May 2016 to April 2019
• President & Chief Operating Officer from November 2014 to April 2016
• Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer from June 2010 to October 2014; continued serving as

CFO until March 2015
• Vice President, Global Finance, and Chief Accounting Officer from March 2007 to May 2010

Senior leadership experience
Age 48 • Held roles of increasing responsibility at our company, including CAO, CFO, COO and now Chairman,

President & CEO
Director since April 2016

Industry experience and global exposure
• Served in senior leadership positions in our primary business segments, including internationalNot Independent

assignments in Europe

Other Public Company Boards Financial sophistication
Current: • Served as our CFO for almost three years and our CAO for nearly five years

None
Past Five Years:

None

Chairman

The Carlyle Group, a global alternative investment firm
• Managing Director and Partner since April 2007

The Coca-Cola Company, a beverage company
• Senior Advisor from February 2006 to March 2007
• Group President, Asia, from August 2001 to February 2006

Industry experience and global exposure
Age 64 • Led a division of a global company in the beverage segment of the consumer goods industry into which

we sell our label and graphic materials
Director since April 2005 • Work experience in Asia, a region in which we generate a significant amount of our sales and a majority of

our employees is located
Independent

Financial sophistication
• Advises on investments in consumer goods businesses globally, particularly in AsiaOther Public Company Boards

Current: Public company board experience
Mondelez International, Inc. • Concurrent service on one other public board

Past Five Years:
None

Lead Independent Director-Elect
Audit Committee Chair
Governance Committee Member
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JPMorgan Chase & Co., a global financial services firm
• Chairman of California and Executive Committee Member from September 2009 to January 2013

Goldman Sachs & Co., an investment banking, securities and investment management firm
• Partner/Managing Director from 1982 to 1998

Senior leadership experience
Age 71 • Member of the executive committee overseeing a global company then with over $100 billion in annual

revenues
Director since January 2003 • Led a division then with more than 21,000 employees

Financial sophisticationIndependent
• 37 years of investment banking experience, advising companies on capital structure, strategic planning,

financing, recapitalization, acquisitions and divestituresOther Public Company Boards
Current: Public company board experience

Fluor Corporation • Concurrent service on two other public boards and prior service on other public boards
Franklin Resources, Inc.

Past Five Years:
None

Governance Committee Chair
Audit Committee Member
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In recommending non-employee director compensation to our Board based on the independent expert
advice of Willis Towers Watson, the Compensation Committee seeks to target compensation at the median of
companies similar in size, global scope and complexity with which we compete for director talent.  Compensation
is reviewed periodically (approximately every three years) to ensure market competitiveness and consistency.  The
majority of compensation is delivered in equity to align director interests with those of our stockholders.

The components of our non-employee director compensation program are summarized in the charts below and
described thereafter.

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Equity Grant of Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) $140,000
Cash Retainer $100,000
Match of Charitable/Educational Contributions $  10,000
Additional Cash Retainer for Lead Independent Director $   30,000

Additional Cash Retainer for Audit Committee Chair $   20,000

Additional Cash Retainer for Compensation Committee Chair $   15,000

Additional Cash Retainer for Governance Committee Chair $   15,000

TARGETED AT MEDIAN

$250K

RSUs

Cash
Retainer 

Charitable Match

Our 2017 Incentive Award Plan, under which RSUs are granted to our non-employee directors, limits the sum of the
grant date fair value of equity awards and the amount of any cash compensation, in each case granted to any non-employee
director during any calendar year, to $600,000. In 2019, each of our non-employee directors received less than half of
our maximum compensation amount.

In February 2019, the Compensation Committee considered our non-employee director compensation program, which
had not changed the compensation received by our non-employee directors other than our Lead Independent Director
since May 2016.  At the Compensation Committee’s request, Willis Towers Watson reviewed trends in non-employee
director compensation and assessed the competitiveness of all components of our program, including cash compensation
(Board and Committee Chair retainers), equity grants, total direct compensation (annual cash plus equity), total
remuneration, our stock ownership policy and the additional retainer for our Lead Independent Director.

Using benchmarking data from public filings of companies ranked in the Fortune 375-500, Willis Towers Watson
recommended that our annual equity grant to non-employee directors be increased by $15,000 to increase the proportion
of their compensation delivered in equity to 60% to further align their interests with those of our stockholders.  This change
would bring total non-employee director compensation to $255,000, the projected median non-employee director
compensation of our Fortune 375-500 peers in 2021, the next time the Compensation Committee then expected to review
the program.  Based on Willis Towers Watson’s recommendation, the Compensation Committee recommended to our
Board that the amount of annual equity compensation granted to our non-employee directors be increased to $155,000,
with grants continuing to be in the form of RSUs that vest in one year.

After consideration of the advice from the independent compensation consultant, the recommendation of the
Compensation Committee, and further discussion, our Board approved the revised non-employee director compensation
program, effective as of the date of the 2019 Annual Meeting.

Our stock ownership policy requires non-employee directors to own $500,000 of our company stock, 50% of which
must be held in vested shares.  Stock option gains are not considered towards measuring policy compliance; only shares
owned directly or in a trust, deferred stock units (DSUs) and unvested RSUs count for these purposes.
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Directors are prohibited from hedging or pledging our common stock.

Except for our newest director, who has five years to reach the minimum ownership level, all of our
non-employee directors have achieved the minimum ownership level required by our stock ownership policy;
average non-employee director ownership was approximately 9x the required level at year-end 2019. Based
on our review of their written representations in our annual director questionnaire, none of our non-employee
directors has hedged or pledged our common stock.

The 2019 equity grant to non-employee directors was made in the form of RSUs that vest on the one-year anniversary of
the grant date, consistent with the one-year term to which directors are elected.  Unvested RSUs (i) fully vest upon a
director’s death, disability, retirement from our Board after reaching age 72 or termination of service within 24 months after a
change of control and (ii) are cancelled in the event a director voluntarily resigns, is not re-elected by stockholders or is
otherwise asked to leave our Board, unless the Compensation Committee determines otherwise.  On May 1, 2019, each of
our then-serving non-employee directors was granted 1,414 RSUs with a grant date value of approximately $155,000 based
on the fair market value of our common stock on that date.

In connection with his departure from our Board on the date of the 2019 Annual Meeting and as permitted by our 2017
Incentive Award Plan, the Compensation Committee determined to accelerate the vesting of the RSUs granted in May 2018
to Dean Scarborough, our former Chairman.  These RSUs were scheduled to vest a few days after his departure from our
Board.  In accelerating the vesting, the Compensation Committee noted that Mr. Scarborough had served nearly the entire
one-year term for which he had been elected by our stockholders.

Cash retainers are paid semiannually and prorated for any director’s partial service during the year.  Directors are also
reimbursed for travel expenses incurred to attend Board meetings and continuing director education events.

Our non-employee directors may choose to receive this compensation in (i) cash, either paid directly or deferred into an
account under our Directors Variable Deferred Compensation Program (DVDCP), which accrues earnings at the rate of
return of certain bond and equity investment funds managed by a third party; (ii) DSUs credited to an individual account
pursuant to our Directors Deferred Equity Compensation Program (DDECP); or (iii) a combination of cash and DSUs.  None
of our non-employee directors currently participates in the DVDCP and nine of them currently participate in the DDECP.
When a director participating in the DDECP retires or otherwise ceases serving as a director, the dollar value of the DSUs in
his or her account is divided by the closing price of our common stock on the last date of the director’s service, with the
resulting number of shares of our common stock issued to the director.  Dividend equivalents, representing the value of
dividends per share paid on shares of our common stock calculated with reference to the number of DSUs held as of a
dividend record date, are reinvested on the applicable payable date in the form of additional DSUs credited to the accounts
of directors participating in the DDECP.

We match up to $10,000 per year of a non-employee director’s contributions to charitable organizations or educational
institutions.
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Bradley A. Alford $100,000 $151,777 — $ 7,500 $259,277

Anthony A. Anderson $100,000 $151,777 — — $251,777

Peter K. Barker $115,000 $151,777 — $10,000 $276,777

Mark J. Barrenechea $100,000 $151,777 — — $251,777

Ken C. Hicks $100,000 $151,777 — $10,000 $261,777

Andres A. Lopez $100,000 $151,777 — — $251,777

David E.I. Pyott $130,000 $151,777 $7,132 $10,000 $298,909

Dean A. Scarborough(5) — — — — —

Patrick T. Siewert $120,000 $151,777 — $10,000 $281,777

Julia A. Stewart $115,000 $151,777 — $10,000 $276,777

Martha N. Sullivan $100,000 $151,777 — $10,000 $261,777
(1) Mr. Butier does not appear in the table because he served as President and CEO of our company in 2019 and did not receive any additional compensation to serve as

director or Chairman.  Amounts represent retainers earned as shown in the table below.  At their election, the following directors deferred their cash compensation
through the DDECP, with the following balances of DSUs in their accounts as of December 28, 2019, the last day of our 2019 fiscal year: Alford – 18,675; Anderson –
10,268; Barker – 30,468; Barrenechea – 1,030; Hicks – 13,949; Lopez – 859; Pyott – 51,981; Stewart – 39,047; and Sullivan – 10,161.

Alford $100,000 — —

Anderson $100,000 — —

Barker Governance Committee Chair $100,000 $15,000 —

Barrenechea $100,000 — —

Hicks $100,000 — —

Lopez $100,000 — —

Pyott Lead Independent Director $100,000 — $30,000

Scarborough Former Chairman — — —

Siewert Audit Committee Chair $100,000 $20,000 —

Stewart Compensation Committee Chair $100,000 $15,000 —

Sullivan $100,000 — —

(2) Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of 1,414 RSUs granted on May 1, 2019.  The fair value of RSUs was determined based on the fair market value of our common
stock on the grant date, adjusted for foregone dividends, of $107.34.  Each non-employee director serving as of December 28, 2019 held 1,414 unvested RSUs, except
for Mr. Lopez, who held 1,563 unvested RSUs.

(3) We do not currently have a retirement benefit program for non-employee directors.  Amount for Mr. Pyott reflects the change in present value of his accumulated
benefits, based on an interest rate of 2.37% as of December 28, 2019, under a director retirement plan the accrual of benefits under which was frozen in 2002.

(4) Amounts reflect our matching gifts for contributions made to charitable organizations or educational institutions.

(5) Mr. Scarborough retired from the Board on the date of our 2019 Annual Meeting.  Although he served as a non-employee director for four months of the year, he
received no cash fees during this time since the fees for the second half of a non-employee director’s term are paid in December of the previous year.  In addition, he
received no stock awards during the year, which are granted only to elected directors after the date of the Annual Meeting.  However, in connection with his departure
from our Board on the date of the 2019 Annual Meeting and as permitted by our 2017 Incentive Award Plan, the Compensation Committee determined to accelerate
Mr. Scarborough’s RSUs granted in May 2018 that were scheduled to vest a few days after his departure from our Board.  In accelerating the vesting, the Compensation
Committee noted that he had served nearly the entire one-year term for which he had been elected by our stockholders.
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After considering the voting results of the advisory vote on the frequency of our say-on-pay vote at our 2017 Annual
Meeting, our Board determined to hold say-on-pay votes annually, at least until the next advisory vote on the frequency of
our say-on-pay vote (expected to occur at our 2023 Annual Meeting).

In this Item 2, our stockholders are being asked to vote on the following resolution:

RESOLVED, that the Company’s stockholders approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of
the Company’s Named Executive Officers (NEOs), as described in the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis and Executive Compensation Tables sections of the Company’s 2020 proxy statement.

We are committed to maintaining ongoing engagement with our stockholders to seek their feedback and discuss why
we believe our executive compensation program properly aligns with our strategies by incenting our leaders to deliver
strong financial performance and create superior long-term, sustainable value for our customers, employees, investors and
communities. Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR approval, on an advisory basis, of our executive
compensation. Properly dated and signed proxies will be so voted unless you specify otherwise.

The advisory vote is a vote to approve the compensation of our NEOs, as described in the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis (CD&A) and Executive Compensation Tables sections of this proxy statement.  It is not a vote on our general
compensation policies or any specific element of compensation, the compensation of our non-employee directors, our
CEO pay ratio, or the features of our compensation program designed to prevent excessive risk-taking as described in Risks
Associated with Compensation Policies and Practices.

The results of the advisory vote are not binding on our Board.  However, in accordance with SEC regulations, the
Compensation Committee will disclose the extent to which it takes into account the results of the vote in the CD&A of our
2021 proxy statement.
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The Compensation and Executive Personnel Committee (referred to in this report as the ‘‘Committee’’) of our Board of
Directors has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A) required by Item 402(b) of
Regulation S-K with management and, based on its review and those discussions, has recommended to our Board of
Directors that the CD&A be included in our 2020 proxy statement and incorporated by reference into our 2019 Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

The Committee welcomes feedback regarding our executive compensation program.  Stockholders may communicate
with the Committee by writing to the Compensation and Executive Personnel Committee Chair, c/o Corporate Secretary,
Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale, California 91203.

Julia A. Stewart, Chair
Bradley A. Alford

Mark J. Barrenechea
Ken C. Hicks
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This Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A) describes the principles and practices underlying our executive
compensation program and the decisions made by the Compensation and Executive Personnel Committee of our Board of
Directors (referred to in this CD&A as the ‘‘Committee’’) related to 2019 executive compensation.  This CD&A contains the
sections shown below.

• Executive Summary
– Business Strategy Overview
– Delivering Financial Targets
– 2019 Financial Performance
– Disciplined Capital Allocation
– Three- and Five-Year Cumulative TSR Outperformance
– 2019 Say-on-Pay Vote and Stockholder Feedback During 2019 Engagement
– 2019 Named Executive Officers (NEOs)
– Overview of Pay Philosophy and Executive Compensation Components
– Changes in Approach to CEO Compensation for 2020
– Strong Compensation Governance Practices

• Summary of Compensation Decisions for 2019
• Discussion of Compensation Components and Decisions Impacting 2019 Compensation

– Base Salary
– 2019 AIP Awards
– 2019 Grants of LTI Awards
– 2019 Vesting of Previously Granted LTI Awards
– Perquisites
– Relocation and Other Temporary Benefits
– General Benefits
– Severance Benefits

• Compensation-Setting Tools
• Independent Oversight and Expertise
• Other Considerations

Over the last several years, we have successfully executed our business strategies, which are designed to create
long-term, sustainable value for our customers, employees and investors and improve the communities in which we
operate. From our stockholders’ perspective, we believe that value is best measured by our total stockholder return (TSR)
and cumulative economic value added (EVA), both of which are performance objectives used in our long-term incentive (LTI)
compensation program and inform how we set our goals for sales growth, operating margin improvement, asset efficiency,
return on total capital (ROTC) and capital allocation.

In March 2017, we announced long-term goals for our three reporting segments – Label and Graphic Materials (LGM),
Retail Branding and Information Solutions (RBIS) and Industrial and Healthcare Materials (IHM) – and our company as a
whole, targeting continued solid organic sales growth, GAAP operating margin expansion, double-digit adjusted earnings
per share (EPS) growth on a compound annual basis, and the ROTC we planned to achieve by 2021.

* This CD&A contains ‘‘forward-looking statements’’ within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are
subject to certain risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from the results, performance or achievements expressed or implied
thereby. For a detailed discussion of these risks, see Part I, Item 1a, ‘‘Risk Factors’’ and Part II, Item 7, ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,’’ in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 26, 2020 with the SEC (our ‘‘2019 Annual Report’’). Stockholders should note that
statements contained in this CD&A regarding our company and business performance targets and goals should not be interpreted as management’s expectations,
estimates of results or other guidance.
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To achieve these goals, we are focused on executing the following four core strategies:

• Achieving outsized growth in high value product categories (organically and through acquisitions) to
improve our portfolio mix over time.  Product categories are defined as high value when they serve markets
that are growing faster than gross domestic product (GDP), represent large pools of potential profit and
leverage our core capabilities.  Examples include our specialty and durable label materials, graphic and
reflective solutions, industrial tapes, and radio-frequency identification (RFID) inlays and tags.  In 2019, we
delivered growth in most of these categories that was higher than the growth in our base businesses, while
also enhancing our RFID platform through our agreement to acquire the Transponder (RFID inlay) Division of
Smartrac (such division referred to herein as ‘‘Smartrac’’), which we announced last November;

• Growing profitably in our base businesses by carefully balancing volume, price and mix; reducing
complexity; and tailoring our go-to-market strategies;

• Advancing sustainability in our operations and throughout value chains; and

• Fostering well-being and diversity in our teams.

In addition, we continue to focus on the following financial priorities:

• Maintaining our relentless focus on productivity to expand margins, enhance our competitiveness
(particularly in our base businesses) and provide a funding source for reinvestment.  Product reengineering
and enterprise lean sigma are the primary levers we use in executing this priority.

• Deploying capital effectively and in a highly disciplined manner.  This is reflected in how we deploy capital
for organic growth, productivity, acquisitions and equity investments, as well as our approach to stockholder
distributions (dividends and share repurchases).

The five-year financial goals through 2021 that we announced in March 2017 included targets for organic sales growth,
GAAP operating margin, adjusted EPS growth and ROTC.  As shown below, based on our results of the first three years of
this five-year period, we are largely on track to deliver these commitments.

Organic sales change, adjusted EPS, ROTC and adjusted ROTC – as well as sales change excluding currency (sales
change ex. currency) and free cash flow, which are also discussed in this CD&A – are non-GAAP financial measures that we
provide investors to assist them in assessing our performance and operating trends.  These non-GAAP financial measures
are not in accordance with, nor are they a substitute for or superior to, the comparable financial measures under GAAP, are
defined, qualified and reconciled from GAAP in the last section of this proxy statement.

For the 2017-2019 period, on a three-year compound annual basis (with 2016 as the base period), GAAP reported
net sales and reported EPS increased by 5.1% and 0.3%, respectively, and GAAP reported net income decreased by
1.8%.

4%+ organic 3.9% organic
Sales Growth(2)

5%+ ex. currency(3) 5.7% ex. currency

GAAP Operating Margin 11%+ in 2021 10.9% in 2019

Adjusted EPS Growth(2) 10%+ 18.0%

11.9% in 2019
ROTC 17%+ in 2021

Adj. ROTC(4) of 19.6% in 2019

(1) Results for non-GAAP measures are reconciled from GAAP in the last section of this proxy statement.
(2) Percentages for targets reflect five-year compound annual growth rates, with 2016 as the base period.  Percentages

for results reflect three-year compound annual growth rates, with 2016 as the base period.
(3) Target for sales growth ex. currency reflects the impact of completed acquisitions as of March 2017 of approximately

1 point.
(4) Excludes the impact of the termination of our U.S. pension plan.
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In fiscal year 2019, we delivered another year of strong adjusted EPS growth and operating margin expansion.  We
achieved most of our financial goals for the year, with the accomplishments shown below.

NET SALES

$7.1B
REPORTED EPS

$3.57

CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$746.5M

NET INCOME

$303.6M

Reported sales declined by 1.2% due to the impact 
of foreign currency translation. On an organic basis, 
sales grew by 2.0% as growth in high value product 
categories more than offset a modest decline in our 
base businesses. 

Reported EPS decreased from prior year as a result
of net pension plan settlement charges, partially 
offset by benefits from tax structuring actions. 
Adjusted EPS increased by 9% due to higher 
volume and benefits from productivity initiatives to 
$6.60, which was above the midpoint of our $6.45 
to $6.70 guidance for the year. 

Removing the benefit of our negative tax rate in 
2019 due to the termination of our U.S. pension 
plan, achieved ROTC of 11.9%. Excluding the 
impact of pension plan settlements and tax benefit 
from a discrete foreign structuring transaction, 
adjusted ROTC was 19.6%.

Free cash flow of $512.3 million was used, among
other things, to repurchase approximately 2.2 million
shares of our common stock for $237.7 million and
pay $189.7 million in dividends.

We have been consistently disciplined in executing our approach to capital allocation, balancing our investments in
organic growth, productivity and acquisitions, with continuing to return cash to stockholders through dividends and share
repurchases. In 2019, on net income of $303.6 million, we delivered adjusted ROTC of nearly 20% while investing
$257.2 million in capital expenditures to support future growth and further productivity improvement.  In addition,
we paid $189.7 million in dividends and repurchased $237.7 million in shares of our common stock.

We have invested in our businesses to support organic growth and pursued targeted acquisitions that support our
strategy of increasing our exposure to high value product categories.  Our spending on capital expenditures in 2019 was
comparable to prior year as we continued investing to enable the future growth of our businesses, improve our profitability
and expand our margins.  Last November, we announced our agreement to acquire Smartrac, a leader in the development
and manufacture of RFID products.  Together with our Intelligent Labels business, this acquisition will create a platform with
over $500 million in annual revenue, offering long-term growth and profitability, enhanced research and development
capabilities, expanded product lines and additional manufacturing capacity.  We completed this acquisition in February
2020.  During 2019, we also made equity investments in two start-up companies developing innovative technological
solutions.

In 2019, we deployed $427.4 million to (i) repurchase 2.2 million shares at an aggregate cost of $237.7 million and
(ii) pay an annual dividend of $2.26 per share for an aggregate amount of $189.7 million.  Given the higher price of our
common stock in 2019, we allocated less capital to share repurchases in 2019 than in 2018; however, as shown in the graph
on the following page, the amount repurchased was comparable to the average amount repurchased over the prior two
years.  We have paid quarterly dividends for decades and most recently raised our quarterly dividend rate by

† For complete information regarding our 2019 performance, see ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’’ – in particular
the information contained under the heading ‘‘Non-GAAP Financial Measures’’ – and our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in our
2019 Annual Report.
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approximately 12% in April 2019.  As shown in the graphs below, over the last three years, we have allocated nearly
$1.3 billion to dividends and share repurchases.

$155.5 
$175.0 

2017 2018 2019

Dividends
(In millions)

$129.7 

$392.9

2017 2018 2019

Share Repurchases
(In millions)

$189.7 

$237.7

As shown below, we achieved total stockholder return (TSR) of over 48% in 2019, and delivered cumulative TSR for
the 2017-2019 three-year period and the 2015-2019 five-year period that substantially outperformed the S&P 500�
and the median of the S&P 500 Industrials and Materials subsets. We compare ourselves to the median of the S&P 500
Industrials and Materials subsets because we are a member of the Materials subset, and also share many characteristics with
members of the Industrials subset. This practice is further informed by feedback from investors, who have indicated that
they look at both subsets in evaluating our performance relative to that of our peers.  We focus on TSR because it measures
the return we provide to our stockholders, including stock price appreciation and dividends paid (assuming reinvestment of
dividends).

Although we experienced strong TSR in 2019, we continue to believe that our longer-term TSR is a more meaningful
measure of our performance than our one-year TSR, which can be significantly impacted by short-term market volatility that
may be unrelated to our underlying performance.  For example, although we delivered strong financial results in 2018 –
exceeding the high end of our adjusted EPS guidance for the year – our TSR for that year was negative, as was the TSR of
each of the comparator groups shown below.

AVY S&P 500 S&P 500 Indus. & Mats. (median)

97.5%

53.2%
53.1%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2016 2017 2018 2019

3-Year Cumulative TSR

179.9%

73.9%
78.5%

0%

40%

80%

120%

160%

200%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

5-Year Cumulative TSR

2015 2016 2017 2018 3-Year TSR 5-Year TSR

AVY 23.8% 14.6% 66.7% (20.3)% 97.5% 179.9%

S&P 500 1.4% 12.0% 21.8% (4.4)% 53.2% 73.9%

S&P 500 Industrials & Materials* (4.3)% 20.7% 28.6% (14.3)% 53.1% 78.5%
* Based on median of companies in both subsets as of December 31, 2019.
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We continued our practice of maintaining proactive ongoing dialogue with stockholders in 2019.  The Committee
continually evolves our executive compensation program – including, in recent years, replacing regular grants of stock
options and time-vesting restricted stock units (RSUs) with performance-based market-leveraged stock units (MSUs),
capping Annual Incentive Plan (AIP) awards at 200% of target, and establishing additional guardrails on PU and MSU
performance criteria – to address feedback from our stockholders and more closely align our executive compensation
program with our financial profile and business strategies.  We believe this process and the specific actions taken
demonstrate the Committee’s commitment to paying for performance and being responsive to stockholder feedback. In
2019, during our ongoing stockholder engagement program, we discussed elements of our executive compensation
program with some of our stockholders, who generally expressed support for its structure.  We also solicited
stockholder opinions regarding potential changes in the Committee’s approach to CEO compensation for 2020 that are
discussed later in this CD&A, sharing that feedback with the Committee.

Results and Analysis of 2019 Vote

At the 2019 Annual Meeting, approximately 95% of our stockholders approved, on an advisory basis, our
executive compensation.  The level of support we received was consistent with the high approval rates we have received in
each of the last three years.  The Committee believes that our high approval rates in recent years, along with the positive
feedback we have received during our ongoing engagement with stockholders, reflects strong support of our
compensation program, as well as our consistently improving CD&A disclosure.

Stockholder Engagement Process

We continued our longstanding practice of ongoing engagement and open dialogue on executive compensation and
human capital management (HCM) matters with stockholders in 2019.  Our engagement program takes place throughout
the year, as shown in the graphic below.

ROBUST AND
ONGOING

STOCKHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

After we file our proxy materials, we
offer our largest investors a
meeting with members of our
Board and/or management to
discuss the items being brought
before stockholders at the Annual
Meeting.  On the day of the
meeting, we discuss preliminary
vote results with our Board.Spring

We analyze the Annual
Meeting vote results,

including feedback from
investors and views of proxy

advisory firms, for our
management and Board.

Summer

Fall Winter

We proactively contact our
largest investors to request a
meeting with members of
our Board and/or
management to discuss
executive compensation and
HCM matters and learn
about the issues that are
important to them.

We summarize the feedback
from our off-season
engagement for our

management and Board and
consider whether any changes
to our programs are advisable;
we also reflect the feedback in

our proxy materials for the
following year.

Feedback During 2019 Engagement

In advance of the 2019 Annual Meeting, we contacted our 35 largest institutional stockholders, representing
approximately 61% of our then-outstanding shares.  Board members, including our Lead Independent Director, and
management were made available to answer questions and address concerns regarding the items being brought before the
stockholder vote.  While we received responses from stockholders representing over 30% of our then-outstanding shares,
only one of them desired to substantively engage at that busy time.  Respondents declining meetings indicated that they
did not have any concerns warranting discussion during proxy season.
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In the fall, without the time pressures associated with proxy season, we contacted our 30 largest institutional
stockholders, representing over 62% of our then-outstanding shares, to request a meeting with our Lead Independent
Director and/or management.  We received responses from stockholders representing nearly 60% of our then-outstanding
shares and spoke with stockholders representing approximately 35% of our then-outstanding shares. We substantively
engaged with every stockholder who requested to do so, and our Lead Independent Director led half of these
engagements.  We also discussed the results of our fall engagement with the Committee.

Our off-season meetings focused on potential changes in the Committee’s approach to CEO compensation
for 2020 described later in this CD&A.  With respect to executive compensation, we also discussed the linkage
between our incentive compensation and business strategies.  We also reviewed our approach to HCM, including
our executive leadership development and succession planning processes, diversity and inclusion initiatives and
employee engagement scores.  We also reported on the Committee’s robust oversight of these priorities.

In this CD&A and the Executive Compensation Tables section of this proxy statement, we provide compensation
information for our 2019 NEOs, identified in the chart below.  In connection with his planned retirement, Mr. Gravanis
ceased serving in the capacity shown below and as an executive officer of our company on December 31, 2019.

Mitchell R. Butier Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
Gregory S. Lovins Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Susan C. Miller Senior Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary

Vice President & General Manager,
Deon M. Stander

Retail Branding and Information Solutions
Georges Gravanis Former President, Label and Graphic Materials

Our executive compensation program reflects the Committee’s philosophy that a substantial majority of compensation
should be tied to our success in meeting our performance objectives and creating stockholder value, providing higher
compensation when we deliver superior, sustained performance.  The objectives of this strategy are to motivate our
executives to achieve our annual and long-term financial goals and recognize their contributions to delivering strong
performance.

The Committee implements its pay-for-performance philosophy primarily through the following:

• Establishing target total direct compensation (TDC) to incent strong operational and financial
performance and stockholder value creation, giving consideration to the market median of companies
similar in size, scope and complexity with which we compete for executive talent, role responsibilities,
individual performance, tenure, retention, and succession;

• Aligning our annual incentives for executives with our company’s annual operating plan and key financial
and strategic goals; and

• Rewarding long-term performance using absolute and relative TSR, as well as cumulative EVA, to focus
our executives on delivering consistent and sustainable stockholder value creation.

Incentive compensation for the year consisted of target award opportunities under our AIP and our LTI compensation
program, with payouts determined based on our performance against goals established by the Committee in February
2019.  The Committee structures annual incentive compensation to reward NEOs based on corporate and/or business
performance to motivate them and align their compensation with stockholder interests, giving consideration to their
individual contributions in achieving our financial results. Our LTI awards provide higher realized compensation for
exceeding performance targets and downside risk (up to and including cancellation) for failing to achieve threshold
performance, with EVA targets consistent with our externally communicated long-term financial goals for earnings
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growth and ROTC.  AIP targets are established at or above the midpoint of the guidance we give to our stockholders
on our anticipated performance for the year and consistent with the achievement of our long-term financial goals.

Elements of TDC for Corporate NEOs

60%

20% 20%

ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN (AIP) AWARD

 Adjusted EPS

 Adjusted Sales Growth

 Free Cash Flow

ANNUAL LONG-TERM

PERFORMANCE UNITS (PUs)

Relative TSR and Cumulative EVA

3-year performance period

50%

BASE SALARY

Generally around market median

50%

MARKET-LEVERAGED STOCK UNITS
(MSUs)

Absolute TSR

Avg. performance period of 2.5 years

As shown in the graph below, the substantial majority of our NEOs’ 2019 target TDC was performance-based.
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Mr. Butier Mr. Lovins Ms. Miller Mr. Stander Mr. Gravanis
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Over the past five years, our cumulative TSR has increased by nearly 180% while the annual compensation of our CEO
has remained relatively constant.  In the graph below, CEO pay reflects the compensation of our former CEO for 2015, and
the compensation of our current CEO thereafter.

Five-Year CEO Pay and Cumulative TSR

$8.6
$9.8* $9.0 $8.7 $8.5

$100.0

$279.9

12/31/2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

CEO Pay ($M) TSR Indexed to 12/31/14

* Included promotion grant of stock options with a grant date fair value of approximately
$2.0 million, which vest 50% on each of the third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date.

Over the last few years, the Committee discussed how best to ensure that it is compensating our CEO optimally and in
alignment with the long-term interests of our stockholders.  The Committee’s objectives were to:

• Recognize our company’s performance and delivery of value to our customers, employees, investors and
communities during his four-year tenure as our CEO;

• Enhance his incentive to continue creating value for these stakeholders, including by driving superior TSR for
our investors; and

• Encourage his retention for the long term.

The Committee also sought to maintain market-competitive target TDC for him that is well-aligned with our company’s
performance and ensure that his target TDC does not fall substantially below the market median, without relying on the
traditional approach of periodic incremental increases to the components of his TDC – base salary, target AIP award
opportunity and target LTI award opportunity – to maintain consistency with a continually rising market median.

After extensive discussion, and giving consideration to the feedback received from dialogue with some of our
largest stockholders, the Committee determined to eliminate year-over-year increases to our CEO’s base salary and target
AIP and LTI opportunities in favor of an even longer-term approach that would hold his target TDC constant for a three-year
period.  During the three-year period, the Committee retains the discretion to review our CEO’s target TDC if market
conditions or company results warrant a change.  At the end of the period, the Committee plans to evaluate both his and
our company’s performance and market conditions before determining the appropriate level of his compensation,
continuing to give consideration to factors such as individual performance, tenure, retention and succession. This
approach to CEO compensation is intended to be more consistent with the long-term approach we take to planning
our strategies, setting our financial targets and sustainability goals, creating value for our stockholders, developing an
engaged and diverse workforce, and investing in the communities in which we operate.
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To ensure our CEO’s compensation determined in 2020 remains competitive and mitigate the potential for his target
TDC to substantially trail behind his peers in the next three years, the Committee determined to set his target TDC modestly
above market median, recognizing that his base salary had not increased for two years and his target AIP opportunity had
not increased since he became CEO in 2016.  The Committee intends to make no additional increases until 2023.
Anticipating that the median for market will continue to grow at historical rates, the Committee determined to set our CEO’s
compensation package roughly halfway between the current 50th and 75th percentiles of his market peers, with the
expectation that – at the end of the three-year period during which Mr. Butier’s compensation is expected not to increase –
his TDC would be at or around the market median. This approach is consistent with the approach taken by the Committee
with respect to recommending to our Board the compensation of our non-employee directors.

Based on 2019 market pay rates and projected 2020 market pay rates for companies with a market capitalization
between $6 billion and $10 billion, and with the expert advice and recommendation of its independent compensation
consultant, Willis Towers Watson, the Committee determined to set Mr. Butier’s target TDC for 2020 at $9.9 million by
increasing (i) his base salary by 6% to $1.2 million, noting that his base salary had not been increased in the previous two
years; (ii) his target AIP opportunity from 125% of base salary, the same level it was when he became CEO in 2016, to 140%
of base salary; and (iii) his target LTI opportunity from 475% of base salary to 585% of base salary. The Committee noted
that over 90% of this increase consists of at-risk, performance based compensation. These targets are not expected to
increase during the next three years, but could decrease if warranted by market conditions or company results.  Mr. Butier’s
realized compensation will be dependent on our company achieving strong TSR performance, delivering our 2021 financial
targets and 2025 sustainability goals, and continuing to serve our customers, engage our employees, and invest in the
communities in which we operate.
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Our executive compensation program incorporates the best practices shown below, which the Committee believes
ensure that it serves the long-term interests of our stockholders.

Compensation Primarily 86% of our CEO’s target TDC and 72% of the average target TDC of our other NEOs for 2019 was tied to company
Performance-Based performance and will not be earned for below-threshold performance.

AIP award is based primarily on our achievement of performance objectives targeted at or above the midpoint of
Capped Annual Incentive our annual guidance and consistent with our long-term financial goals, subject to downward discretion based on

Set At or Above the Committee’s assessment of our CEO’s achievement of his predetermined and objectively measurable goals
Midpoint of Guidance and our other NEOs’ individual contributions, with AIP awards capped at 200% of target and individual modifiers

for our NEOs generally capped at 100%.
Majority Long-Term Our LTI awards emphasize long-term performance, with PUs cliff-vesting at the end of three years and MSUs having

Equity Incentive an average performance period of 2.5 years.  Equity compensation aligns NEO interests with stockholder interests
Compensation by delivering compensation based on our long-term performance and stockholder value creation.

TDC (base salary + annual cash incentive opportunity + LTI equity opportunity) and its elements are targeted at the
Median Targeting median of companies similar in size, global scope and complexity, giving consideration to role responsibilities,

individual performance, tenure, retention, and succession.
Given their past adverse impact on our burn rate and related stockholder feedback, we last made a regular grant ofNo Annual Stock Options stock options in 2012, though stock options may be granted for special purposes such as promotion.

No Employment Our NEOs are employed at-will.Contracts

Our CEO is currently required to maintain at least 6x his base salary; at the end of 2019, Mr. Butier owned stock
Rigorous Stock with a market value of approximately 22x his base salary and nearly 4x the level required by our policy.  Our other

Ownership Policy NEOs are required to maintain ownership of at least 3x their respective base salaries.  All of our NEOs were in
compliance with our stock ownership policy at the end of 2019.

No Hedging Our insider trading policy prohibits our officers and employees from hedging – and our officers from pledging –
or Pledging our common stock and all our NEOs complied with the policy in 2019.

Our NEOs may only transact in our common stock during approved trading windows after satsifying the clearance
Limited Trading Windows requirements under our insider trading policy, which includes certifying that they will remain in compliance with our

stock ownership policy after giving effect to the transaction they plan to effectuate.

Our three-year average burn rate of 0.7% at the end of fiscal year 2019 was slightly above the 50th percentile of theMedian Burn Rate companies in the S&P 500.

Cash and equity incentive compensation is subject to clawback in the event of fraud or other intentionalClawback Policy misconduct on the part of an NEO that necessitates a restatement of our financial results.

No Excise Tax We do not gross-up payments received in connection with termination following a change of control for excise
Gross Ups taxes.

Double Trigger Equity awards are not accelerated on change of control, unless the NEO is terminated without cause or terminates
Equity Vesting employment for good reason within 24 months following the change of control.

No Repricing/Exchange
of Underwater Our equity plans prohibit the repricing or exchange of underwater options without stockholder approval.
Stock Options

Limited Other than a capped financial planning reimbursement and our payment for an annual physical examination, our
Perquisites corporate NEOs receive a flat taxable executive benefit allowance that is not subject to any tax gross-up.

Current severance formula for qualifying termination:
CEO: 2x (annual salary + highest AIP award in last three years + cash value of 12 months of health insuranceReasonable premiums)Severance Benefits Others: 1x (annual salary + highest AIP award in last three years + cash value of 12 months of health insurance
premiums)

Current severance formula for qualifying termination within 24 months following a change of control:
CEO: 3x (annual salary + highest AIP award in last three years + cash value of 12 months of health insuranceReasonable Change of premiums) + prorated AIP award for year of terminationControl Benefits Others: 2x (annual salary + highest AIP award in last three years + cash value of 12 months of health insurance
premiums) + prorated AIP award for year of termination

Independent The Committee is comprised solely of independent directors and its executive compensation decisions are
Oversight reviewed and ratified by all of our independent directors.

Expert Compensation Willis Towers Watson, which has been determined by the Committee to be independent and free of conflicts of
Consultant interest, provides the Committee with expert executive compensation advice.
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The Committee designs executive compensation to pay for performance, with the target TDC of NEOs established to
incent strong financial performance and stockholder value creation, giving consideration to the market median of
companies similar in size, global scope and complexity with which we compete for executive talent, role responsibilities,
individual performance, tenure, retention and succession.  This compensation is primarily performance-based, meaning
that our executives may ultimately not realize some or all of these components of compensation if we fail to achieve our
financial objectives.  In 2019, approximately 86% and 72% of the TDC of our CEO and average of our other NEOs,
respectively, was performance-based.

In determining 2019 NEO compensation, the Committee considered the following:

• Company/Business Performance – Our company’s financial performance, including our 2019 adjusted sales
growth, adjusted EPS, and free cash flow for our corporate NEOs, and, for our business NEOs, primarily the
performance of their respective business;

• Stockholder Returns – Our TSR on an absolute basis, as well as relative to an objectively determined group
of peer companies;

• Annual Individual Performance – Our CEO’s performance against the predetermined and objectively
measurable strategic objectives established for him at the beginning of the year and the individual
contributions of our other NEOs;

• Competitiveness – Market pay practices and company performance relative to peers; and

• Investor Feedback – The results of our 2019 say-on-pay vote and feedback on our executive compensation
received during our ongoing stockholder engagement program.

The key elements of 2019 NEO target TDC are described in the table shown on the following pages. While we provide
consistent, market-competitive target TDC opportunities for our NEOs, the actual compensation they realize varies
year-to-year based primarily on company and business performance; for 2019, the incentive compensation realized by
our NEOs was based solely on company and/or business performance.

In determining Mr. Butier’s target TDC for 2019, the Committee focused on his LTI compensation, having
increased his target LTI opportunity from 425% to 475% of base salary in February 2018.  The Committee had not
increased his base salary in either of the past two years or his target AIP opportunity since he became CEO in 2016.
This approach reflects the Committee’s pay-for-performance philosophy by prioritizing performance-based equity
to further incent our CEO to deliver top quartile long-term stockholder value creation.
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FIXED Provides fixed, market competitive The Committee approved limited salary increases for our NEOs of
monthly income for performing approximately 3%, consistent with the average increase for our U.S.

Base Salary daily responsibilities employees, except for Mr. Butier, whose base salary was not increased.
14% of TDC for CEO;
Avg. 28% of TDC for
Other NEOs

PERFORMANCE- Provides variable, cash-based The only change to NEO target AIP opportunities in 2019 was an
BASED CASH incentive to motivate our increase in Mr. Stander’s target AIP opportunity from 50% to 60% of

executives to grow sales, increase base salary to better reflect the market median for his role.
Target profits and deliver strong free cash
AIP Award Our company or business performance resulted in financial modifiersflow consistent with our annual

of 91%, 76% and 114% for our corporate NEOs, LGM business NEOfinancial goalsCapped at 200% of (Mr. Gravanis) and RBIS business NEO (Mr. Stander), respectively.
target AIP opportunity based on market
Avg. 18% of TDC for The individual modifiers for our CEO and other NEOs are generallysurvey data; financial modifier based
all NEOs capped at 100% (rather than the 150% applicable to other AIPon corporate or business

participants) to focus their efforts on delivering long-term companyperformance; capped individual
and business performance.  The Committee approved individualmodifier based on our CEO’s
modifiers of 100% for all NEOs for 2019.achievement against predetermined

and objectively measurable strategic
objectives and our other NEOs’
individual contributions

PERFORMANCE- Provides variable, equity-based LTI Awards Granted in 2019
BASED EQUITY incentive compensation to align

• The only changes to NEO target LTI opportunities for 2019 wereNEO interests with stockholder
LTI Awards increases in (i) Mr. Lovins’ target LTI opportunity from 200% tointerests and drive long-term value

250% and (ii) Mr. Stander’s target LTI opportunity from 140% tocreation68% of TDC for CEO; 180% of base salary, in each case to better reflect the market
Avg. 53% of TDC for LTI opportunity based on market median for his respective role.
Other NEOs survey data; award vehicles,

• 50% in PUs that cliff-vest at the end of a three-year period withperformance criteria and weightings
payout ranging from zero to 200% based on the achievement ofinformed by expert advice and
the cumulative EVA and relative TSR performance objectivesrecommendations of Willis Towers
established for the award.  The payout for the TSR componentWatson
is capped at 100% of target for any three-year performance
period in which absolute TSR is negative.  There were no
changes to the performance objectives or weightings from the
prior year for our corporate NEOs or our LGM business NEO;
the objectives for our RBIS business NEO changed from 100%
RBIS’ cumulative EVA in 2018 to 75% RBIS’ cumulative EVA and
25% company TSR in 2019.

• 50% in MSUs that vest based on our absolute TSR over one-,
two-, three- and four-year performance periods, with an
average performance period of 2.5 years. Consistent with
recent years, the performance criteria were as follows: (i) the
threshold performance level for absolute TSR, which results in a
payout at vesting of 85%, was (15)%; (ii) the target performance
level, which results in a payout at vesting of 100%, requires a
TSR of 10%; and (iii) the maximum performance level, which
results in a payout at vesting of 200%, requires a TSR of 75%.

LTI Awards Vesting in 2019

• 2017-2019 PUs: Our 2017-2019 TSR was at the 97th percentile
of the objectively determined peer group established in
February 2017.  Cumulative EVA for our company was
$890.0 million, exceeding the maximum level of performance.
Cumulative EVA for our RBIS business also exceeded its
maximum level of performance. Cumulative EVA for our LGM
business was 115% of target.  The PUs granted in 2017 for the
2017-2019 performance period paid out at (i) 200% of target for
our corporate NEOs and our RBIS business NEO and (ii) 136%
of target for our LGM business NEO.

47

2019 TDC SUMMARY
COMPONENT DESCRIPTION DECISIONS IMPACTING 2019 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Avery Dennison Corporation 2020 Proxy Statement



1MAR202023563913

48

LTI Awards Vesting in 2019

• 4th Tranche of MSUs granted in 2016:
2016-2019 Absolute TSR = 136%
Paid out at 200% of target

• 3rd Tranche of MSUs granted in 2017:
2017-2019 Absolute TSR = 90%
Paid out at 200% of target

• 2nd Tranche of MSUs granted in 2018:
2018-2019 Absolute TSR = 14%
Paid out at 106% of target

• 1st Tranche of MSUs granted in 2019:
2019 Absolute TSR = 41%
Paid out at 147% of target

2019 TDC TARGETED AT MEDIAN

In addition to the primary elements of our executive compensation program described above, we also provide our
NEOs with limited perquisites and benefits that the Committee believes are comparable to those offered by other
multinational public companies.

The Committee aims to have base salaries at or around the market median, with the substantial majority of NEO
compensation consisting of incentive compensation to advance the Committee’s pay-for-performance philosophy, driving
higher realized compensation when our financial performance is stronger and lower realized compensation when our
financial performance is weaker.

Increases in base salary are generally based on the average percentage merit increase given to our U.S. employees,
subject to increase based on the NEO’s performance and the market median for positions with similar scope and
responsibility.  The Committee approved limited salary increases, for our NEOs of approximately 3%, effective April 1, 2019,
consistent with the average increase for our U.S. employees, except for Mr. Butier, whose base salary was not increased.

NEO base salaries at year-end 2019 were as follows: Mr. Butier – $1,133,000; Mr. Lovins – $618,000; Ms. Miller –
$581,048; Mr. Stander – $555,129; and Mr. Gravanis – $626,282.  Amount for Mr. Gravanis was converted from euros using
the average exchange rate for the 12 months of 2019.

The 2019 AIP was designed to incent management to create long-term stockholder value.  NEOs are not eligible for
guaranteed AIP awards.  AIP awards are determined for each fiscal year using the formula below.  In contrast to the general
AIP formula shown, individual modifiers for NEOs are generally capped at 100% (although the Committee retains the
discretion to determine higher individual modifiers, up to 150%).

X X X
Base Salary

Year-end
Target AIP Opportunity

(based on
market survey data)

Financial Modifier
(based on corporate and/or 

business performance)

Capped at 200%

Individual Modifier
(based on individual 

performance)

Capped at 150%

Capped at 200%
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Target AIP Opportunities

As a percentage of 2019 year-end base salary, the target AIP opportunities for 2019 were 125% for Mr. Butier; 75% for
Messrs. Gravanis and Lovins; and 60% for Ms. Miller and Mr. Stander.  The only change to NEO target AIP opportunities in
2019 was an increase in Mr. Stander’s target AIP opportunity from 50% to 60% of base salary to better reflect the market
median for his role.

AIP Performance Objectives and Weightings; Target-Setting Principles

The following performance objectives and weightings for the 2019 AIP were established and weighted by the
Committee, in consultation with Willis Towers Watson. Our CEO, Chief Human Resources Officer and CFO participated
during portions of the meetings during which the Committee reviewed and recommended performance objectives for our
AIP and analyzed our performance against these objectives.

For our business NEOs (Messrs. Gravanis and Stander), the Committee determined to link 75% of the AIP financial
modifier to their respective business’ results and 25% to corporate results.  Business performance objectives were designed
to be achievable only if the respective business improved upon its 2018 performance and delivered results consistent with
the achievement of its 2021 financial targets.

• Tied to our total company for our corporate NEOs
• Tied to their respective business for our business NEOs

• For corporate NEOs, based on our total company 
adjusted EPS, the measure we use in providing 
guidance regarding our anticipated annual 
performance to our stockholders
For business NEOs (as a proportion of the 
profitability objective) based:

•

• 42% on our total company adjusted EPS; and 
• 58% on their respective business’ adjusted net

income (revenues less expenses, including
depreciation, interest and taxes, tax-effected
at the adjusted tax rate and adjusted for tax-
effected restructuring costs and other items)

• Tied to our total company for corporate NEOs (Butier,
Lovins and Miller)

• Tied to their respective business for business NEOs
(Gravanis and Stander)

Adjusted Sales
Growth

20%

Profitability
60%

Free Cash Flow
20%

Focuses management on organic 
top-line growth, a key contributor to
sustained long-term value creation 
for stockholders

Primary measure used by 
management, investors and analysts 
to evaluate our performance; 
focuses management on profitable 
growth and expense control

The amount of cash available after
investment in our cusiness 
(excluding any acquistions or 
divestitures), much of which is 
allocated to the dividends and share 
repurchases; focuses management 
on improving capital efficiency, 
including working capital

In setting the targets for these objectives, the Committee aimed to ensure consistency with our 2021 financial targets
and require adjusted EPS improvement over the prior year; adjusted EPS is the measure on which we provide annual
guidance to our investors and a primary driver of stockholder value creation.  These were the same objectives and
weightings used for the 2018 AIP to continue incenting our NEOs to increase sales on an organic basis, improve profitability
and generate strong free cash flow.

Target adjusted sales growth of 4.4% was set consistent with our 2017-2021 target of at least 4% but lower than what we
achieved in 2018, reflecting our expectations for lower volume growth due to challenging market conditions.  Target
adjusted EPS was established above the midpoint of the annual guidance we provided to investors in January 2019 and
represented a 9% increase from our 2018 results for this measure.  Although we did not externally communicate a free cash
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flow target as part of our 2021 goals, we expect our businesses to generate strong free cash flow, an important metric used
internally and by our investors in evaluating the amount of cash we have available for debt reductions, dividends, share
repurchases, and acquisitions.  Our 2019 target for free cash flow was 5% higher than the free cash flow we generated in
2018, despite continued planned above-average investment in fixed capital, information technology and cash restructuring
payments to support our future growth and profitability.

Adjusted Sales Growth 4%+ 5.5% 4.4%

$6.60
Adjusted EPS Growth 10%+ $6.06

(9% over 2018)

$450M
Free Cash Flow N/A $429M

(5% over 2018)

Financial Modifiers

Financial modifiers are capped at 200%.  Consistent with prior years, in evaluating our achievement of these
performance objectives, the Committee had the discretion to exclude the impact, positive or negative, of extraordinary
items such as acquisitions and divestitures; restructuring and integration actions not included in our annual net income plan;
currency translation fluctuations; changes in accounting principles, tax codes or related regulations and rulings;
extraordinary events such as natural disasters, terrorism and war; costs related to the early extinguishment of debt and
pension plan terminations; costs of litigation outside the normal course of business; and non-cash charges associated with
the impairment of long-lived assets.

The table on the following page shows the 2019 AIP financial modifiers for our NEOs.  As shown, the target level was
exceeded for two of the three performance objectives established for our corporate NEOs; exceeded for two of the four
performance objectives established for our LGM business NEO; and exceeded for all four of the performance objectives
established for our RBIS business NEO.  Our corporate and business performance resulted in AIP financial modifiers of 91%
for our corporate NEOs, 76% for our LGM business NEO and 114% for our RBIS business NEO.

50

CORPORATE 2019 AIP TARGETS VS. LONG-TERM TARGETS AND 2018 RESULTS
2017-2021 Long-Term Target 2018 Results 2019 AIP Target

2020 Proxy Statement Avery Dennison Corporation



51

Total CompanyButier
20% 2.5% 4.4% 8.2% 2.0% 0% 0%

Adjusted Sales Growth(1)Lovins
Miller Total Company

60% $6.27 $6.60 $7.19 $6.62 103% 62%
Adjusted EPS(2)

Total Company
20% $378M $450M $594M $514M 145% 29%

Free Cash Flow(3)

Corporate NEO Financial Modifier 91%

Gravanis Total Company
25% $6.27 $6.60 $7.19 $6.62 103% 26%

Adjusted EPS(2)

LGM
20% 2.8% 4.5% 8.0% 1.2% 0% 0%

Adjusted Sales Growth(4)

LGM Adjusted Net
35% $434M $457M $498M $445M 74% 26%

Income(4) (5)

LGM Free Cash Flow(4) 20% $254M $314M $434M $344M 122% 24%

LGM Business NEO Financial Modifier 76%

Stander Total Company
25% $6.27 $6.60 $7.19 $6.62 103% 26%

Adjusted EPS(2)

RBIS
20% 2.4% 4.5% 8.7% 5.1% 116% 23%

Adjusted Sales Growth(4)

RBIS Adjusted Net
35% $118M $131M $147M $134M 118% 41%

Income(4) (5)

RBIS
20% $79M $99M $139M $106M 116% 23%

Free Cash Flow(4)

RBIS Business NEO Financial Modifier 114%

(1) Total Company Adjusted Sales Growth refers to reported sales decline of (1.2)%, adjusted for the impact of currency translation of 3.3%.  Total does not sum due to
rounding.

(2) Total Company Adjusted EPS refers to reported net income per common share, assuming dilution, of $3.57, adjusted for restructuring charges and other items, pension
plan settlements, and tax benefit from discrete foreign tax structuring and planning transactions of $3.03.  Using its permitted discretion under the AIP, the Committee
also excluded the $.02 impact of transaction costs related to our acquisition of Smartrac, which were incurred prior to our entry into an agreement to purchase the
company in November 2019, to not disadvantage AIP participants from pursuing acquisitions.

(3) Total Company Free Cash Flow refers to cash flow from operations of $746.5 million, minus purchases of property, plant and equipment of $219.4 million and software
and other deferred charges of $37.8 million, plus proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment of $7.8 million, plus proceeds from insurance and sales
(purchases) of investments, net, of $4.9 million, plus pension plan contribution for plan termination of $10.3 million. Using its permitted discretion under the AIP, the
committee also excluded $1.9 million of transaction costs related to our acquisition of Smartrac, which were incurred prior to our entry into an agreement to purchase
the company in November 2019, to not disadvantage AIP participants from pursuing acquisitions. Free cash flow is measured quarterly to ensure consistent
management of working capital throughout the year, subject to adjustment if the full-year target is not achieved.  While total company free cash flow was 114% of
target, the measurement of this objective on a quarterly basis, as required by the Committee to incent consistent delivery of free cash flow throughout the year, resulted
in a modifier of 145% for that objective.

(4) Adjusted sales growth, adjusted net income and free cash flow measures at the segment level are internal metrics.  These metrics either exclude or make simplifying
assumptions for items that cannot be allocated precisely by segment, such as interest and income tax expenses, and related balance sheet accounts, such as deferred
tax assets and liabilities, income tax payables and receivables, and short- and long-term debt.  Certain balance sheet accounts such as pension and other
postretirement benefits and insurance that are generally managed at the corporate level, as well as the impact of foreign currency translation, are also excluded from
the calculation of these metrics for the segments.  In certain limited circumstances, one-time items may be excluded from segment adjusted net income.  The impact of
intercompany sales is included in segment metrics.  While LGM’s free cash flow was 110% of target, the measurement of this objective on a quarterly basis, as required
by the Committee to incent consistent delivery of free cash flow throughout the year, resulted in a modifier of 122% for that objective. Using its permitted discretion
under the AIP, the Committee adjusted RBIS’ free cash flow payout to exclude the impact of approximately $18 million of higher-than-planned capital spend associated
with accelerating growth in of our Intelligent Labels platform.

(5) Adjusted net income refers to income before taxes, tax-effected at the adjusted tax rate, and adjusted for tax-effected restructuring charges and other items.  Adjusted
tax rate is the full-year GAAP tax rate, adjusted to exclude certain unusual or infrequent events that are expected to significantly impact the GAAP tax rate, such as
impacts related to the termination of our U.S. pension plan and the effects of discrete tax planning actions.
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NEO Performance Evaluations & Individual Modifiers

Our NEOs are evaluated on their individual performance for the year, with the Committee approving our CEO’s goals
for the year and our CEO approving the goals of our other NEOs.  The performance of our NEOs is assessed in February of
the following year.  For our NEOs other than the CEO, this assessment considers the totality of their performance rather
than assigning weightings to their performance goals.  Individual modifiers for all participants are capped at 150%, subject
to the total cap on AIP awards of 200%.

Although it retains the discretion to determine higher individual modifiers (up to 150%), the Committee has
determined that the individual modifiers for our CEO and other NEOs should generally be capped at 100%. All of
the NEO individual modifiers for 2019 were capped at 100%, as they were for the three prior years.

The Committee reviewed and evaluated our CEO’s 2019 performance, taking into account his performance against the
predetermined and objectively measurable strategic objectives established in February of that year, his self-assessment of
his performance, and market reference and other data provided by Willis Towers Watson.  Our CEO is not involved in the
decisions regarding his compensation, which are determined by the Committee meeting in executive session with Willis
Towers Watson.  The Committee determined the individual modifier for our CEO based on its assessment of his
performance, within the context of the caps described above.
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For 2019, the Committee evaluated the performance of our CEO, determining that he substantially achieved or
exceeded each of his strategic objectives for the year, as shown in the chart below.

Accelerate exposure to high value product categories – Exceeded overall objective. Continued to grow high
Achieve growth objectives for LGM’s graphics and specialty, value product categories in LGM and IHM faster than our
RBIS’ RFID and IHM’s industrial tapes and medical product base businesses; grew RFID solutions by more than 20%
categories; continue building M&A pipeline and achieve 25% enterprise-wide; advanced cross-divisional Intelligent
acquisition objectives; and continue integrating Intelligent Labels platform with strong results and momentum; and
Labels across LGM and RBIS, while building Intelligent Labels enhanced M&A pipeline with announcement of Smartrac
team in Asia acquisition

Drive profitable growth in base business – Selectively regain Expanded margins in base product categories despite
share in LGM’s base product categories; grow volumes in RBIS’ missing top-line objectives due to relatively soft market20%base business (adjusted for RFID); and accelerate near-term conditions, and largely regained share positions in
productivity in IHM targeted market segments

Exceeded overall objective. Completed LGM’s
European restructuring program; began processes ofContinue relentless focus on productivity – Achieve targeted transferring IHM’s European medical capacity fromrestructuring savings and complete LGM’s European 15% Belgium to Ireland and optimizing footprint of IHM’srestructuring; begin executing key footprint optimization tapes business in China; and began to implement newprojects; and implement new operating structure operating structure to increase speed and allocate more
resources towards high value product categories

Exceeded overall objective. Invested nearly $260 millionDeploy capital effectively – Invest in capital expenditures at in capital expenditures to enable future growth;targeted amount to enable future growth, as well as targeted completed implementation of enterprise resourceamount in accelerated growth platforms; and repurchase 15% planning system in LGM North America; acceleratedshares, in each case consistent with our capital allocation investment in Intelligent Labels and graphics solutions;objectives and repurchased shares in a disciplined manner

Achieved overall objective. Continued refining andSuccession planning – Progress CEO succession strategy with executing development plans for key leaders andgoal of ready-now successors by targeted deadline; refine/ 10% potential successors; began implementing newexecute executive leadership development plans; and develop leadership structure; and successfully executed keyplan for senior leadership transitions leadership transitions

Achieved overall objective. Made continued progressSustainability/Diversity – Make progress towards achieving towards achieving 2025 sustainability goals: exceeded2025 sustainability goals, including reduce greenhouse gas greenhouse gas emissions reduction target by over twoemissions by 3%; ensure at least 90% of sites are landfill-free; 15% percentage points; diverted over 90% of solid wastedevelop accelerated roadmap in LGM to enable greater from landfills; increased Clearintent portfolio of productsrecyclability of consumer packaged goods; and assess and in LGM that enable greater recyclability; and assessedimplement gender pay equality and ensured gender pay equity

Individual Modifier Based on Committee Evaluation 100% 100%

Our CEO recommended to the Committee the individual modifiers for our other NEOs based on his assessment of their
2019 performance.  The Committee considered our CEO’s recommendation and challenged his assessments of our other
NEOs’ performance as appropriate, retaining the discretion to approve individual modifiers for them lower than the 100%
our CEO had recommended.  Other than discussing with our CEO their performance against their individual performance
plans, our other NEOs played no role in their compensation determinations.
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In determining the individual modifiers for our other NEOs and recognizing that the general cap of 100% eliminated the
potential upside from the individual modifier on their AIP awards, the Committee noted the following highlights of the 2019
performance of our other NEOs:

• Mr. Lovins – Led our finance function, delivering results that met our 2019 goal for adjusted EPS despite a
challenging market environment, with free cash flow significantly above our target; executing our capital
allocation strategies to enable future organic growth, the acquisition of Smartrac and the return of cash to
stockholders through dividends and share repurchases; and serving as interim leader of our IHM segment,
achieving top-line growth with significant margin expansion in that business for the year.

• Ms. Miller – Led our legal function, developing a new operational model aligned with our company’s core
strategies that will accelerate productivity, standardize processes and deploy best practices across the
function; supporting our capital allocation strategies, including our acquisition of Smartrac and footprint
optimization efforts; and overseeing our values and ethics and compliance program.

• Mr. Stander – Led our RBIS business, delivering strong performance in 2019 that exceeded all of its key
financial and performance metrics; continuing to accelerate growth and capability in its high value product
categories of RFID and external embellishments; and elevating productivity, service, speed and quality with
an engaged and diverse global team.

• Mr. Gravanis – Led our LGM business, delivering operating margin expansion and strong free cash flow in a
challenging top-line environment; building its portfolio of more sustainable products while advancing its
progress in reducing waste and greenhouse gas emissions; and completing a multi-year recapitalization plan
in Europe, including a substantial expansion of LGM’s Luxembourg manufacturing facility.

Based on the above assessments and after giving consideration to the recommendations of our CEO (other than with
respect to himself), the Committee approved individual modifiers of 100% for all NEOs.

AIP Awards

Our NEOs received the AIP awards shown in the table below for 2019, based on their respective year-end base salary,
AIP opportunity, financial modifier and individual modifier.

Butier $1,133,000 125% $1,416,250 91% 100% $1,288,788

Lovins $ 618,000 75% $ 463,500 91% 100% $ 421,785

Miller $ 581,048 60% $ 348,629 91% 100% $ 317,252

Stander(1) $ 555,129 57.5% $ 319,999 114% 100% $ 363,887

Gravanis(2) $ 626,282 75% $ 469,711 76% 100% $ 361,677
(1) Mr. Stander’s AIP award was prorated based on his target AIP opportunity of 50% of base salary for the first quarter of the year and his

increased target AIP opportunity of 60% of base salary for the remainder of the year.
(2) Amounts for Mr. Gravanis were converted from euros using the exchange rate as of our fiscal year-end.

Our LTI program provides variable incentive compensation to enhance alignment of executive interests with
stockholder interests and drive long-term value creation.  The annual LTI awards granted in 2019 were fully performance-
based and delivered through the following equity vehicles:

• 50% in PUs that cliff-vest at the end of a three-year period subject to the achievement of the respective
cumulative EVA and relative TSR performance objectives established for the award; and

• 50% in MSUs that vest at the end of the one-, two-, three- and four-year performance periods, with an
average performance period of 2.5 years, based solely on our absolute TSR.
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Annual LTI awards were granted on February 28, 2019, the day our Board held its regularly-scheduled meeting.

The Committee does not offset the loss or gain of prior year grants in determining current year grants, as
doing so would compromise the intended risk/reward nature of these incentives.

Actual amounts, if any, realized by our NEOs from the vesting of these awards will be based on our performance, as well
as our stock price, at the time of vesting.

Although we have suspended the regular grant of stock options and time-vesting RSUs to our executives, special
awards may be granted by the Committee for hiring, promotion, retention or other incentive purposes, with the awards
granted on the first day of the last month of the calendar quarter following the event or decision to make such a grant.  No
such awards were granted to our NEOs in 2019.

Target LTI Opportunity

As a percentage of base salary, the target LTI opportunities for our NEOs were 475% for Mr. Butier; 250% for Mr. Lovins;
and 180% for Ms. Miller and Messrs. Gravanis and Stander. Target LTI award opportunities represented approximately
79% and 75%, respectively, of our CEO’s and other NEOs’ average performance-based incentive compensation. The
only changes to NEO target LTI opportunities for 2019 were increases in (i) Mr. Lovins’ target LTI opportunity from 200% to
250% of base salary and (ii) Mr. Stander’s target LTI opportunity from 140% to 180% of base salary, in each case to better
reflect the market median for his respective role.

Performance Units (PUs)

PUs cliff-vest in shares of our common stock after the end of the three-year 2019-2021 period at threshold (50% payout),
target (100% payout) and maximum (200% payout) levels based on our achievement of the performance objectives
established for the award.  PUs do not accrue dividend equivalents and are not counted towards measuring compliance
with our stock ownership policy.

The Committee established the following performance objectives for the 2019-2021 PUs.  The Committee believes that
these objectives continue to appropriately align executive compensation with the long-term interests of our stockholders
because delivering cumulative EVA and strong TSR relative to peer companies reflects the value we create for our investors.

• Cumulative EVA, weighted 50% for our corporate NEOs (based on our total company EVA) and 75% for
our business NEOs (based on their respective business’ cumulative EVA).  EVA is a measure of financial
performance calculated by deducting the economic cost associated with the use of capital (weighted
average cost of capital multiplied by average invested capital) from our after-tax operating profit.  The
Committee established cumulative EVA targets for our corporate NEOs consistent with our 2017-2021
targets for earnings growth and ROTC and our primary objective of delivering superior TSR, with the target
payout at the midpoint of these targets and the maximum payout at the high end of these targets.
Cumulative EVA targets for our business NEOs focused on their respective business’ EVA change compared
to the prior three-year period, with the target payout at the midpoint of their respective business’ 2017-2021
targets and the cost of capital fixed over the performance period. In contrast to the AIP, cash restructuring
charges – which include severance and related costs and exclude asset impairment charges and lease and
other contract cancellation costs – are included in EVA calculations as the Committee expects that these
investments will generate a return over the three-year performance period (in contrast to the AIP, which has a
one-year performance period).  Whether linked to corporate or business results, the 2019-2021 cumulative
EVA targets require continue improvement in financial performance.
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• Relative TSR compared to an objectively determined peer group of companies, weighted 50% for our
corporate NEOs and 25% for our business NEOs.  TSR measures the return that we provide to our
stockholders, including stock price appreciation and dividends paid (assuming reinvestment of dividends).
Consistent with its pay-for-performance philosophy, the Committee designed the TSR objective to provide
realized compensation only if our stockholder value creation compares favorably relative to the designated
peer group.  The Committee set the threshold payout level at TSR at the 40th percentile, the target payout
level at TSR at the 50th percentile, and the maximum payout level at TSR at the 80th percentile, which were the
same levels used for the 2018-2020 PUs. Reflecting previously received stockholder feedback, payouts
for the relative TSR component of PUs are capped at 100% of target if our absolute TSR is negative for
the 2019-2021 performance period.  In assessing the rigor of the TSR objectives, the Committee noted that
our stock price and TSR had significantly decreased in the prior year; as a result, performing at the median
relative to our peers over the 2019-2021 performance period would represent solid performance, particularly
in light of our relatively high exposure to the impact of foreign currency translation and geopolitical and
trade-related uncertainty.

Consistent with the 2018-2020 PUs and upon the recommendation of Willis Towers Watson, to benchmark
TSR, the Committee continued utilizing a peer group‡ comprised of U.S. companies (i) in similar industries
based on their classification in one of five GICS groups (diversified chemicals, specialty chemicals, metal and
glass containers, paper packaging, and paper products) and (ii) with revenues during the last twelve months
of $1 billion to $20 billion.  Based on the formulaic application of the same objective criteria, the peer group
changed from the prior year as follows: (A) Ingevity Corporation; Neenah, Inc.; Rayonier Advanced
Materials Inc.; and Schweitzer-Mauduit International Inc. were added because each of their last twelve
months’ revenues had exceeded $1 billion; (B) A. Schulman, Inc. and KapStone Paper and Packaging
Corporation were deleted because they had been acquired; and (C) Venator Materials PLC was deleted
because it was no longer based in the U.S.

Butier
Total Company Cumulative EVA 50%

Lovins
Relative TSR 50%

Miller

LGM Cumulative EVA 75%
Gravanis

Relative TSR 25%

RBIS Cumulative EVA 75%
Stander

Relative TSR 25%

Market-leveraged Stock Units (MSUs)

MSUs are LTI awards that:

• Are fully performance-based because they are tied to our absolute TSR performance, which represents
appreciation in our stock price and dividends paid; and

• Have one-, two-, three- and four-year performance periods, with an average performance period of 2.5 years.

The Committee selected an equity vehicle that vests ratably over years because MSUs replaced stock options and
RSUs, both of which had vested ratably over four years. MSUs were designed to achieve the combined objectives of our
previously granted equity vehicles, including retention (similar to RSUs) and the provision of higher realized
compensation from stock price appreciation (similar to stock options, but more limited due to fewer shares earned for
target performance and a cap on the number of shares that can be earned above target), while making our LTI
compensation program fully performance-based.  The Committee continues to believe that retention is an important
objective of our executive compensation program.

‡ The following companies comprised the peer group for the 2019-2021 PUs at the end of fiscal year 2019: Albermarle Corporation; AptarGroup, Inc.; Ashland Global
Holdings Inc.; Axalta Coating Systems Ltd.; Ball Corporation; Berry Global Corp., Inc.; Celanese Corporation; The Chemours Company; Clearwater Paper Corporation;
Crown Holdings Inc.; Domtar Corporation; Eastman Chemical Company; Ecolab Inc.; Element Solutions Inc. [previously traded as Platform Specialty Products
Corporation]; Ferro Corporation; GCP Applied Technologies Inc., Graphic Packaging Holding Company; Greif Inc.; H.B. Fuller Company; Huntsman Corporation;
Ingevity Corporation; Innospec Inc.; International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.; Kraton Corporation; Minerals Technologies Inc.; Neenah, Inc.; NewMarket Corporation;
O-I Glass, Inc.; Packaging Corporation of America; P.H. Glatfelter Company; PolyOne Corporation; PPG Industries Inc.; PQ Group Holdings Inc.; Rayonier Advanced
Materials Inc.; RPM International Inc.; Schweitzer-Mauduit International, Inc.; Sealed Air Corporation; Sensient Technologies Corporation; Silgan Holdings Inc.; Sonoco
Products Company; Stepan Company; The Sherwin-Williams Company; Valhi Inc.; W.R. Grace & Co.; and WestRock Company.
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MSUs vest based on our performance over periods as shown in the graph on the following page, with the number of
shares paid out at vesting based solely on our absolute TSR and the value realized reflecting both the number of shares paid
out as well as our stock price at the time of vesting.  Although dividend equivalents accrue on MSUs during the performance
period, they are earned and paid out only at vesting; as such, if the threshold level of performance were not achieved, any
dividend equivalents accrued during the performance period would be cancelled.

The performance criteria for MSUs, which reflect previously received stockholder feedback seeking to make the criteria
more challenging, are shown in the chart on the right on the following page.  Every 1% increase in TSR above 10% increases
the payout by 1.54%.  The Committee determined to maintain the same MSU performance objectives for 2019 given that
the more challenging MSU structure is achieving the Committee’s goal of incenting strong long-term performance and
value creation.

4-Year

3-Year 

2-Year 

1-Year 

Last 25%

Third 25%

Second 25%

First 25%

MSU PERFORMANCE PERIODS

AVG. PERFORMANCE PERIOD = 2.5 YEARS

MSU PERFORMANCE CRITERIA  

ABSOLUTE TSR UNIT PAYOUT 

Cancelled <(15)%

Threshold (15)%
Target 10%

Above Target >10%
Maximum 75%

0%
85%

100%
>100%

200%

Annual LTI Awards

Our NEOs were granted the annual LTI awards shown in the table below in February 2019. The number of awards
granted was based on the respective NEO’s (i) base salary at year-end 2018 and (ii) target LTI opportunity, with the number
of PUs granted based on a grant date fair value equal to the average closing price for shares of our common stock during the
first ten trading days of February 2019 and the number of MSUs based on a grant date fair value using the Monte-Carlo
simulation method described in footnote (2) of the 2019 Summary Compensation Table.  As a result of the methodology
used to determine grant date fair value, awarded LTI values were slightly lower than target LTI values.

Butier $1,133,000 475% 24,092 $2,667,213 19,807 $2,690,830 $5,358,043

Lovins(1) $ 600,000 250% 6,715 $ 743,420 5,521 $ 750,042 $1,493,462

Miller $ 564,125 180% 4,545 $ 503,175 3,737 $ 507,681 $1,010,856

Stander(2) $ 538,960 180% 4,509 $ 478,599 3,571 $ 485,129 $ 963,728

Gravanis(3) $ 627,969 180% 5,254 $ 557,684 4,160 $ 565,146 $1,122,830
(1) Mr. Lovins’ target LTI opportunity was increased from 200% to 250% of base salary in 2019.
(2) Mr. Stander’s target LTI opportunity was increased from 140% to 180% of base salary in 2019.
(3) Mr. Gravanis’ base salary was converted from euros using the exchange rate as of our fiscal year end.

2017-2019 PUs Eligible for Vesting

The PUs granted to our NEOs in February 2017 were eligible for vesting at the end of 2019 based (i) for our corporate
NEOs, 50% on our company’s cumulative three-year EVA and 50% on our three-year relative TSR compared to a peer group§

of companies determined using the same objective criteria used for the 2018-2020 PUs; (ii) for our LGM business NEO, 75%

§ The following companies comprised the peer group for the 2017-2019 PUs at the time of payout: Albermarle Corporation; AptarGroup, Inc.; Ashland Global Holding;
Axalta Coating Systems Ltd.; Ball Corporation; Berry Plastics Group, Inc.; Celanese Corporation; The Chemours Company; Clearwater Paper Corporation; Crown
Holdings Inc.; Eastman Chemical Company; Ecolab Inc.; Element Solutions Inc. (previously traded as Platform Specialty Products Corporation); Ferro Corporation; GCP
Applied Technologies; Graphic Packaging Holding Company; Greif Inc.; H.B. Fuller Company; Huntsman Corporation; International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.; Kraton
Corporation; Minerals Technologies Inc.; NewMarket Corporation; O-I Glass, Inc.; Packaging Corporation of America; P.H. Glatfelter Company; PolyOne Corporation; PPG
Industries Inc.; RPM International Inc.; Sealed Air Corporation; Sensient Technologies Corporation; Silgan Holdings Inc.; Sonoco Products Company; Stepan Company; The
Sherwin-Williams Company; Valhi Inc.; W.R. Grace & Co.; and WestRock Company.
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on LGM’s cumulative three-year EVA and 25% on our three-year relative TSR; and (iii) for our RBIS business NEO, 100% on
RBIS’ cumulative three-year EVA.  The key goal-setting principle in setting cumulative EVA targets was consistency with our
2017-2021 financial goals for growth and ROTC, which the Committee believes translates into delivering above-average
TSR.

The cumulative EVA target of $692 million for our corporate NEOs was consistent with our 2017-2021 targets for
organic sales growth and operating margin expansion and recognized that increasing sales and operating margin, together
with balance sheet efficiency, are key drivers of EVA improvement. The cumulative EVA target established in February
2017 for our corporate NEOs was approximately 55% higher than the cumulative EVA we achieved for the three-year
period ending in 2016.  EVA required for maximum payout – cumulative EVA of $774 million – was consistent with the high
end of our long-term growth and operating margin targets.  As shown below, we delivered cumulative EVA of $890 million
for the 2017-2019 performance period, resulting in a payout of 200% for the EVA component for our corporate NEOs.

(In millions)

Adjusted EBIT(1) $ 656.6 $ 713.1 $ 776.9
Taxes(2) (183.8) (178.3) (191.1)
Equity method investment net losses – (2.0) (2.6)

472.8 532.8 583.2
Capital charge(3) (221.9) (233.9) (243.0)

EVA $ 250.9 $ 298.9 $ 340.2 $890.0
(1) Adjusted EBIT refers to earnings before interest expense and taxes, excluding non-cash restructuring costs, as well as other

items.  Adjusted EBIT includes cash restructuring costs and is a non-GAAP financial measure reconciled from GAAP in the
last section of this proxy statement.

(2) The GAAP tax rate for 2017, 2018 and 2019 was 52.2%, 15.4% and (22.7)%, respectively.  Taxes shown in the table are
based on an adjusted tax rate of 28.0%, 25.0% and 24.6% for fiscal years 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively.  The adjusted
tax rate represents the full-year GAAP rate, adjusted to exclude certain unusual or infrequent events that are expected to
significantly impact the GAAP tax rate, such as completion of our 2017 provisional estimate of the impact of the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act (TCJA), impacts related to the termination of our U.S. pension plan, and the effects of discrete tax structuring
and planning transactions.

(3) 8.5% of average invested capital of $2.61 billion, $2.75 billion and $2.86 billion for fiscal years 2017, 2018 and 2019,
respectively, using an annual five-point average (December of prior year and March, June, September and December of
current year) of short- and long-term debt plus equity.

Relative TSR for the 2017-2019 performance period was at the 97th percentile of the designated peer group, resulting in
a 200% payout for this component for all NEOs.
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MSUs Eligible for Vesting

Four tranches of MSUs were eligible for vesting at the end of 2019 based on our absolute TSR for the four-, three-, two-,
and one-year performance periods shown below, with the number of shares paid out at vesting determined in accordance
with the following formula:

Payout at vesting=
Stock price at settlement (avg. closing 
price for trading days of January 2020) + 
reinvested dividends during period

Stock price at grant (avg. closing price for 
trading days of January of year of grant)÷

Performance period = 4 years Performance period = 3 years
2016-2019 Absolute TSR = 136% 2017-2019 Absolute TSR = 90%
Paid out at 200% of target Paid out at 200% of target

Performance period = 2 years Performance period = 1 year
2018-2019 Absolute TSR = 14% 2019 Absolute TSR = 41%
Paid out at 106% of target Paid out at 147% of target

Consistent with market practices, our U.S. NEOs receive the perquisites shown in the chart below.  We do not reimburse
our NEOs for the tax consequences of their receipt of these perquisites.

$70,000 for CEO and $65,000 for our other NEOs,
Executive Benefit Flat allowance reduces expense of administering a

which has not increased since program inception in
Allowance variety of separate perquisites

2011; taxable to NEO with no gross-up

Annual reimbursement of up to $25,000 for our
Financial Planning CEO and $15,000 for our other NEOs; taxable to Allows executives to focus on job duties

NEO with no gross-up

Paid directly to the service provider only to the
Annual Physical Facilitates maintenance of good overall health by

extent actually used; as such, not taxable to our
Examination key company leaders

NEOs

In 2019, Mr. Gravanis received an automobile allowance consistent with customary executive benefits in the
Netherlands.  For more information, see footnote (5) of the 2019 Summary Compensation Table.

We provide relocation assistance to some of our senior level employees, which may include our NEOs.  None of our
NEOs received these benefits in 2019.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Benefits

Our U.S. NEOs are eligible to participate in our nonqualified deferred compensation plan, which allows eligible U.S.
employees to defer up to 75% of their base salary and up to 90% of their AIP award.  Although we previously allowed
deferral of LTI awards, we ended this plan feature in 2015.  The plan provides those NEOs and other eligible employees in
the U.S. with a long-term capital accumulation opportunity because deferred amounts accumulate on a pre-tax basis.
Participating executives may select from a number of investment options.  Our only deferred compensation plan currently
open for deferrals does not offer above-market interest rates. Deferrals are 100% vested.
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We made an annual contribution as of January 1, 2019 to the deferred compensation accounts of our U.S. NEOs for
401(k) eligible earnings and deferred compensation in 2018 in excess of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the ‘‘Code’’) compensation limit.  This annual contribution provided an automatic contribution of 3% of pay and a matching
contribution of up to 50% of the first 7% of pay above the Code compensation limit.  This benefit is designed to supplement
401(k) contributions that are limited under the Code.

For additional information regarding our deferred compensation plan and accrued NEO benefits thereunder, see 2019
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation in Executive Compensation Tables.

Retirement Benefits

Our U.S. NEOs had been eligible for retirement benefits under our now terminated U.S. pension plan and may be
eligible for retirement benefits under our benefit restoration plan, a nonqualified excess benefit plan, in each case subject to
the same terms and conditions as our other eligible U.S. employees.  Because the accrual of benefits under these plans was
frozen as of December 31, 2010, none of our eligible NEOs accrued additional retirement benefits during 2019. In addition,
we terminated our U.S. pension plan as of September 28, 2018.  For additional information regarding these plans and
accrued NEO benefits thereunder, see 2019 Pension Benefits in Executive Compensation Tables.  Mr. Gravanis had legally
mandated retirement benefits in his previous work location of France and his work location at the time he ceased serving as
an employee in the Netherlands.

Defined Contribution Benefits

Our U.S. NEOs are eligible to participate in our employee savings plan, a qualified 401(k) plan that permits U.S.
employees to defer up to 100% of their eligible earnings less payroll deductions to the plan on a pre-tax basis and 25% of
their eligible earnings on an after-tax basis, subject to the annual limit prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for
the aggregate of company contributions and employee pre- and post-tax contributions.  Employee deferrals are
immediately vested upon contribution.  In 2019, we contributed up to 6.5% of an employee’s eligible compensation, 3% of
which was an automatic contribution and up to 3.5% of which was a matching contribution of 50% of the employee’s
contributions up to 7% of pay, subject to the Code compensation limit.  Participants vest in company contributions to their
savings plan account after two years of service.

Employees are immediately eligible to participate in the savings plan, and all our NEOs participated in the plan during
fiscal year 2019, except for Mr. Gravanis who was not a U.S. employee and therefore was ineligible.  Our U.S. NEOs
participate in the plan subject to the same eligibility and benefit terms and conditions as our other U.S. employees.

Life Insurance Benefits

In addition to the $50,000 in life insurance benefits we provide to all U.S. employees, our U.S. NEOs are provided with
supplemental life insurance benefits equal to three times the NEO’s base salary less $50,000, up to a maximum coverage
amount of $1 million.

Executive Long-Term Disability Insurance Benefits

If our U.S. NEOs elect to enroll in executive long-term disability coverage, their long-term disability benefit is equal to
65% of their eligible pre-disability monthly earnings up to a maximum of $25,000 per month.  Coverage is available only for
the executive; dependents are not covered.

Personal Excess Liability Insurance Benefits

We provide $3 million of personal excess liability insurance coverage to our U.S. NEOs.  Personal excess liability
coverage provides an additional layer of liability coverage that supplements the coverage provided by the individual’s
personal liability insurance.  To receive any benefit from this excess liability insurance, the NEO must maintain certain
minimum coverage requirements under his or her personal liability policy.
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None of our NEOs has an employment contract, and each is employed at-will, which reflects our pay-for-performance
philosophy; if an NEO is no longer performing at the expected level, he or she can be terminated immediately without
receiving a contractually-guaranteed payment.  However, the Committee believes that providing our executives with
severance benefits helps ensure that they act in the best interests of our company and stockholders, even if doing so may be
contrary to their personal interests, such as where it could lead to the termination of their employment or a change of
control of our company.  The Committee believes these benefits are consistent with market practices.

The compensation of our NEOs in the event of termination not for cause are governed by our Amended and Restated
Executive Severance Plan (the ‘‘Severance Plan’’) and our Amended and Restated Key Employee Change of Control
Severance Plan (the ‘‘COC Severance Plan’’).  We use these plans rather than individually negotiated agreements to provide
us with the flexibility to change the severance benefits for which our NEOs are eligible to reflect market practices without
the need to obtain their individual consent.  In addition, this plan-based approach eliminates the time and expense it would
require to individually negotiate separation payments and ensures that our NEOs are eligible for benefits on the same terms
and conditions as employees with similar levels of responsibility.  Receipt of benefits under these plans is conditioned on the
executive signing a waiver and general release of claims against our company, as well as agreeing to non-competition,
non-solicitation, and non-disclosure covenants in favor of our company.  Any violation of these covenants could result in our
company seeking to recover some or all severance benefits previously paid or pursuing any other claims that may be
appropriate under the circumstances.

Unvested equity awards outstanding on the date of termination are generally cancelled, except for employees who
qualify as retirement eligible under the terms of our equity incentive plans, whose awards are accelerated upon termination
of service.  Mr. Gravanis and Ms. Miller qualified as retirement eligible as of the end of fiscal year 2019.  As a result, their
outstanding PUs and MSUs would vest at the end of the performance period on a prorated basis based on our actual
performance.

For additional information regarding potential NEO benefits under these plans, including the treatment of equity
awards under various termination scenarios, see Payments Upon Termination as of December 28, 2019 in Executive
Compensation Tables.

Severance Following Involuntary Termination Not for Cause

Our NEOs are eligible to receive severance benefits upon involuntary termination not for ‘‘cause,’’ in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Severance Plan.  In the event of a qualifying termination, our CEO currently would be
eligible to receive two times the sum of his annual salary, his highest AIP award received for the preceding three years and
the cash value of 12 months of his qualified medical and dental insurance premiums; our other NEOs currently would be
eligible to receive one times his or her respective sum of these amounts.  All NEOs currently would also be eligible to
receive up to $25,000 in outplacement services for up to one year following termination of employment.  Any payments
made under the Severance Plan would be offset by any payments received by the NEO under any statutory, legislative and
regulatory requirement or, if applicable, the COC Severance Plan.

In February 2020, the Committee amended and restated the Severance Plan, effective July 1, 2020, to provide
that the AIP award portion of the Severance Plan payment be changed from the highest AIP award received for the
preceding three years to the target AIP award for the year of termination.

Severance Following Change of Control

Our NEOs are eligible for severance payments upon termination not for ‘‘cause’’ or by the executive for ‘‘good reason’’
within 24 months of a ‘‘change of control’’ of our company, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the COC
Severance Plan.   In the event of a qualifying termination following a change of control, our CEO currently would be eligible
to receive three times the sum of his annual salary, his highest AIP award received for the preceding three years, and the cash
value of 12 months of his qualified medical and dental insurance premiums; our other NEOs currently would be eligible to
receive two times his or her respective sum of these amounts.  Our NEOs would also be eligible to receive a pro rata AIP
award for the year of termination and up to $25,000 in outplacement services for up to one year following termination of
employment.  Any payments under the COC Severance Plan would be offset by any payments received by the NEO under
the Severance Plan and any other statutory, legislative and regulatory requirement.
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In February 2020, the Committee amended and restated the COC Severance Plan, effective July 1, 2020, to
provide that the AIP award portion of the COC Severance Plan be changed from the highest AIP award received for
the preceding three years to the target AIP award for the year of termination.

Under our equity incentive plans, unvested equity awards granted to our NEOs would generally vest only if the NEO is
terminated without ‘‘cause’’ or resigns for ‘‘good reason’’ within 24 months after the change of control.  Outstanding PUs
and MSUs granted beginning in 2018 vest based on actual performance, if determinable, and otherwise based on target
performance.

Our NEOs are not eligible to receive any excise tax gross-up on amounts payable under the COC Severance Plan.  If an
NEO would otherwise incur excise taxes under Section 4999 of the Code, payments under the COC Severance Plan will be
reduced so that no excise taxes would be due if the reduction results in a greater after-tax benefit to the NEO.

The Committee annually considers market survey data to target TDC, looking at market capitalization peer companies
to reflect the broad talent market across which we seek our executives.  The Committee reviews results from a third party
survey to understand market compensation practices and assess our competitiveness, narrowing the scope of the results to
account for variations caused by company size.

In February 2019, the Committee was presented with industry-wide data from the most recent Willis Towers Watson
U.S. Compensation General Industry Database, which was narrowed in scope to focus on data of the 52 participants with
$6 billion to $10 billion in annual revenue.  The Committee reviewed the data with executive matches based on job and
functional responsibility on an aggregated basis, with no consideration of the survey’s respective component companies,
which were not determined or known by the Committee.

The Committee uses the survey data as a reference point to target TDC and the components thereof at the market
median, giving consideration to responsibilities, individual performance, tenure, retention and succession.

For determining our relative TSR for purposes of vesting 2017-2019 PUs and granted 2019-2021 PUs, the Committee
used a peer group comprised of U.S. companies satisfying objective criteria for industry classification and revenue size, the
names of which are disclosed in this CD&A.  The Committee does not utilize a peer group for any other purpose.

The Committee annually reviews tally sheets that reflect the components of each NEO’s compensation.  The tally sheets
reviewed in February 2020 included the following information for each of the most recent up to three fiscal years in which
the individual was an NEO:

• Compensation history, including annual cash compensation (base salary and AIP awards), LTI awards, value of
vested LTI awards, and annualized cost of benefits and perquisites;

• The expected value of annual compensation for the year, including base salary, AIP award and the grant date
fair value of LTI awards;

• Accumulated value of compensation, including total accumulated value of LTI awards and accumulated
benefit values under our retirement and deferred compensation plans;

• Potential payments under various termination scenarios; and

• Compliance with our stock ownership policy.
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The Committee believes that reviewing tally sheets is useful in determining executive compensation because they
provide a historical perspective on NEO compensation and include information that will be contained in our proxy
statement.

Our Board believes that hiring and retaining effective executives and providing them with market-competitive
compensation are essential to the success of our company and advance the interests of our stockholders.  The Committee,
which is comprised solely of independent directors, is responsible for overseeing our executive compensation program.
The Committee may delegate authority to subcommittees or, in certain limited circumstances not related to the
compensation of our executive officers, to our CEO.

Under its charter, the Committee has the authority, in its sole discretion and at our expense, to obtain advice and
assistance from external advisors.  The Committee may retain and terminate any compensation consultant or other external
advisor and has sole authority to approve the advisor’s fees and other terms and conditions of the retention.  In retaining its
advisors, the Committee must consider each advisor’s independence from management, as required by NYSE listing
standards.

During 2019, the Committee retained Willis Towers Watson as its independent compensation consultant and the firm
performed the following services for the Committee:

Assisted with setting the target TDC for our CEO, both for 2019 and potential changes in approach going forward

Evaluated proxy advisory firms’ pay-for-performance analyses

Commented on our 2019 CD&A

Provided incentive compensation advice (including analyzing the performance of our AIP payouts, evaluating global long-term
incentives, and recommending the relative TSR peer group for the PUs granted in 2019)

Provided guidance on the impact of the TCJA on executive compensation

Reviewed the appropriateness of our executive perquisites

Conducted analyses of the share utilization and stockholder value transfer related to our LTI compensation

Reported on U.S. investor areas of focus related to executive compensation and HCM matters

Assessed and recommended changes to our non-employee director compensation program

Prepared for, attended and reviewed documentation for Committee meetings

In 2019, Willis Towers Watson received $255,355 in compensation from our company for professional services
performed for or at the request of the Committee.  We also reimbursed the firm for its reasonable expenses.

The Committee conducted its annual assessment of Willis Towers Watson’s performance in December 2019, which
included a review of the services provided during the year, the fees paid therefor and the following additional evaluation
criteria:

• Experience – The firm’s depth and breadth of executive compensation knowledge and experience;
qualification as a board-level consultant; quality of staff, data, and other resources; and understanding of our
business strategy and challenges, industry, performance drivers and HCM considerations;

• Independence – The firm’s objectivity in giving advice and making recommendations, and its willingness to
provide candid feedback regarding management and Committee proposals, questions and concerns;

• Preparation – The quality and timeliness of the firm’s reports (in accuracy, type and amount of information,
clear communication and responsiveness to issues); its review and feedback on management proposals, and
the firm’s preparation with the Committee Chair and our management, as appropriate; and

• Committee Relationship – The accessibility and availability of members of the engagement team; the firm’s
reporting relationship with the Committee Chair and its working relationship with our human resources team;
and the effectiveness of its communication.
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Based on this assessment, the Committee determined that it was satisfied with the performance of Willis Towers
Watson and the individual members of the engagement team serving the Committee.

Willis Towers Watson and the Committee have had the following protocols in place since the engagement commenced
to ensure the firm’s independence from management: the Committee has the sole authority to select, retain and
terminate Willis Towers Watson, as well as authorize the firm’s fees and determine the other terms and conditions that
govern the engagement; the Committee directs Willis Towers Watson on the process for delivery and communication of its
work product, including its analyses, findings, conclusions and recommendations; in the performance and evaluation of its
duties, Willis Towers Watson is accountable, and reports directly, to the Committee; and the Committee may consult
with Willis Towers Watson at any time, with or without members of management present, at the Committee’s sole discretion.

As required by SEC regulations and NYSE listing standards, the Committee considered the independence of its
advisors in December 2019.  The Committee reviewed information provided by Willis Towers Watson, members of the
Committee and our executive officers related to the following factors:

• Other services provided to our company – During fiscal year 2019, Willis Towers Watson performed no
services for our company other than executive compensation services performed at the request of the
Committee;

• Fees paid by our company as a percentage of the firm’s total revenue – Fees from our company reflected
approximately 0.001% of Willis Towers Watson’s revenue for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2019;

• Policies and procedures maintained to prevent or mitigate conflicts of interest – Willis Towers Watson has
several policies and procedures to ensure its advice is objective and independent, including a comprehensive
code of conduct and ethics and quality policies that mandate rigorous work reviews and periodic compliance
reviews, which the firm has represented to the Committee are highly effective;

• Business or personal relationships with members of the Committee – Based on disclosures from Willis Towers
Watson and members of the Committee, we are aware of no such business or personal relationships;

• Company stock owned by Willis Towers Watson firm representatives – No members of the Willis Towers
Watson team serving the Committee own any stock in our company, other than potentially through
investments in mutual or other funds managed without the member’s input; and

• Business or personal relationships with any executive officer of our company – Based on disclosures from the
firm and our executive officers, we are aware of no business or personal relationships with Willis Towers
Watson or the members of the engagement team advising the Committee.

The Committee affirmatively determined Willis Towers Watson to be independent and both the firm and the
members of the engagement team advising the Committee to be free of any conflicts of interest.

In the event of fraud or other intentional misconduct on the part of an NEO that necessitates a restatement of our
financial results (including, without limitation, any accounting restatement due to material noncompliance with any financial
reporting requirement), the NEO would be required to reimburse our company for any AIP or LTI awards paid or granted in
excess of the amount that would have been paid or granted based on the restated financial results.  These remedies would
be in addition to, not instead of, any other actions taken by our company (through the imposition of any discipline up to and
including termination), law enforcement agencies, regulators or other authorities.  This clawback policy has been
contractually acknowledged by our NEOs upon the execution of their LTI award agreements since 2010.

The Committee first approved our clawback policy in 2009 to subject incentive compensation to forfeiture if our
financial results are not achieved consistent with our high ethical standards.  This policy is expressly incorporated into our
AIP and LTI plans.  The Committee anticipates that it will revise the policy if and as necessary to comply with final rules issued
by the SEC.

64

ADVISOR INDEPENDENCE

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

CLAWBACK POLICY

2020 Proxy Statement Avery Dennison Corporation



65

The Committee aims to compensate our NEOs in a manner that is tax effective for our company.  However, the
Committee may adopt or implement compensation programs and/or practices that are not fully tax deductible to the extent
it believes doing so is in the best interests of our company and stockholders.

Section 162(m) of the Code

Prior to the enactment of the TCJA, Section 162(m) of the Code (‘‘Section 162(m)’’) generally limited our federal income
tax deductions for executive compensation in any fiscal year to the extent total compensation for certain executive officers
exceeded $1 million in such year, unless it qualified as ‘‘performance-based.’’ For taxable years beginning after
December 31, 2017, the TCJA amended Section 162(m) by, among other things, expanding the scope of executive officers
covered by Section 162(m) and eliminating the exception for ‘‘performance-based’’ compensation.  As a result,
compensation in excess of $1 million paid to covered executive officers generally will not be deductible, unless it qualifies
for limited transition relief under the TCJA.  To qualify for transition relief, compensation must, among other things, be
payable pursuant to a written binding contract that was in effect on November 2, 2017 and not subsequently modified in
any material respect.

While in the past we have structured certain of our incentive compensation in a manner intended to be tax-deductible
for purposes of Section 162(m), due to the TCJA and the uncertainties in the application of Section 162(m) as amended by
the TCJA, there is no guarantee that deductions claimed under Section 162(m) will not be challenged or disallowed by the
IRS and our ability to deduct compensation under Section 162(m) may be restricted.  Furthermore, although the Committee
believes that the deductibility of executive compensation is an important consideration and may continue to consider the
effects of the TCJA on our future pay practices, it reserves the right to approve and pay executive compensation
arrangements that are not fully tax deductible, and/or modify compensation programs and practices without regard to tax
deductibility, if it believes that doing so is in the best interests of our company and stockholders.

Section 409A of the Code

Nonqualified deferred compensation must be deferred and paid under plans or arrangements that satisfy the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code with respect to the timing of deferral elections and payments and certain other
matters.  Failure to satisfy these requirements could expose individuals to accelerated income tax liabilities, penalty taxes
and interest on their compensation deferred under these plans. As a general matter, we design and administer our
compensation and benefit plans and arrangements in a manner intended to cause these plans and arrangements to be
either exempt from, or satisfy the requirements of, Section 409A of the Code.
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The table below shows the compensation earned by or awarded to our NEOs during fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 in
accordance with SEC regulations.  Compensation as shown in the table does not reflect the compensation actually realized
by our NEOs for these years.  For example, the amounts set forth under ‘‘Stock Awards’’ do not represent amounts realized
by our NEOs; rather, they represent the aggregate grant date fair value for financial reporting purposes of PUs (which are
subject to the achievement of cumulative EVA and relative TSR performance objectives measured at the end of a three-year
period and may result in no such compensation ultimately being realized by our NEOs) and MSUs (which are subject to
forfeiture in the event our absolute TSR declines more than 15% over one-, two-, three- or four-year performance periods).

Mitchell R. Butier
Chairman, President & 2019 $1,133,000 – $5,358,043 $1,288,788 $ 508,024 $207,177 $8,495,032
Chief Executive Officer 2018 $1,133,000 – $5,580,651 $1,741,988 $ 0 $254,058 $8,709,697

2017 $1,124,750 – $4,864,416 $2,407,625 $ 344,240 $218,437 $8,959,468
Gregory S. Lovins
Senior Vice President & 2019 $ 613,500 – $1,493,462 $ 421,785 $ 81,676 $126,425 $2,736,848
Chief Financial Officer 2018 $ 587,500 – $1,140,762 $ 553,500 $ 0 $123,963 $2,405,725

2017 $ 480,949 $100,000 $1,038,782 $ 467,500 $ 89,626 $283,905 $2,460,762
Susan C. Miller
Senior Vice President, 2019 $ 576,817 – $1,010,856 $ 317,252 $1,070,207 $148,872 $3,124,004
General Counsel & 2018 $ 560,017 – $1,022,200 $ 416,324 $ 0 $147,356 $2,145,897
Secretary 2017 $ 543,706 – $ 995,936 $ 558,647 $1,307,825 $141,896 $3,548,010

Deon M. Stander(6)

Vice President & 2019 $ 551,086 – $ 963,728 $ 363,887 $ 105,550 $143,172 $2,127,423
General Manager, RBIS 2018 $ 535,290 $750,000 $ 870,212 $ 388,051 $ 0 $ 98,242 $2,641,795

Georges Gravanis(7)

Former President, LGM 2019 $ 653,884 – $1,122,830 $ 356,980 – $ 24,889 $2,158,583
2018 $ 651,785 – $1,145,707 $ 546,333 – $ 26,640 $2,370,465
2017 $ 618,551 – $ 984,354 $ 598,737 – $ 50,267 $2,251,909

(1) Amounts include any portions of salary contributed to our employee savings plan or deferred under our deferred compensation plan.  Changes in base salary
approved by the Compensation Committee for 2019 became effective on April 1 of that year.  Mr. Butier’s salary was not increased in 2019 for the reasons described in
the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy statement.

(2) Amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of PUs and MSUs granted in 2019 and do not reflect compensation actually realized by our NEOs in that year.  For
values actually realized by our NEOs from the vesting of PUs and MSUs during the year, see the ‘‘Value Realized on Vesting’’ column of the 2019 Option Exercises and
Stock Vested table.

Amounts in 2019 include the grant date fair value of PUs, which are paid out in shares of our common stock at the end of a three-year period provided that the
designated performance objectives are achieved at the end of the period.  The number of shares paid out at vesting can range from 0% to 200% of the target shares at
the time of grant.  The performance objectives that determine the number of shares that may be earned for the PUs granted in 2019 were (i) cumulative EVA (weighted
50% based on our total company for our corporate NEOs and 75% based on their respective business for our business NEOs), which is a performance condition under
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation (ASC 718), and (ii) company relative TSR (weighted 50% for our corporate NEOs
and 25% for our business NEOs), compared to the TSR of a peer group of companies objectively determined based on GICS code and revenue size, which is a market
condition under ASC 718, in each case computed over the three-year (2019-2021) performance period.  The performance condition component of the fair value of PUs
was determined based on the fair market value of our common stock on the grant date.  The maximum grant date fair values of the performance condition component
of PUs were $2,643,588, $736,764, $714,753, and $832,758 for Messrs. Butier, Lovins, Stander, and Gravanis, respectively, and $498,717 for Ms. Miller.  The market
condition component of the fair value of PUs was determined as of the date of grant using the Monte-Carlo simulation method, which utilizes multiple input variables to
estimate the probability of meeting the performance objectives established for the award, including the expected volatility of our stock price relative to the group of
peer companies listed on page 56 of this proxy statement at the end of the three-year performance period and a risk-free interest rate of 2.48% derived from linear
interpolation of the term structure of Treasury Constant Maturities yield rates for the performance period; as such, their maximum grant date fair values were the same
as their target grant date fair values included in the table.  Based on the Monte-Carlo simulation method, the grant date fair value of the market condition component
of the PUs was 111.98% of our closing stock price on the grant date.  The grant date fair values of the market condition component of the PUs were $1,345,419,
$375,038, $121,222, and $141,305 for Messrs. Butier, Lovins, Stander, and Gravanis, respectively, and $253,816 for Ms. Miller.

Amounts in 2019 also include the grant date fair value of MSUs, which are paid out in shares of our common stock over one-, two-, three- and four-year performance
periods provided that the designated performance objectives are achieved as of the end of each period.  The number of shares paid out at vesting can range from 0%
to 200% of the target shares on the grant date.  The single performance objective that determines the number of units that may be paid out for MSUs is our absolute
TSR, which is a market condition under ASC 718; as such, their maximum grant date fair values were the same as their target grant date fair values shown in the table.
The grant date fair value of MSUs of $135.85 in 2019 for all NEOs, which was 125.74% of our closing stock price on the grant date, was determined using the Monte-
Carlo simulation method, which utilizes multiple input variables to estimate the probability of meeting the performance objectives established for the award, including
the expected volatility of our stock price over one-, two-, three- and four-year performance periods and risk-free interest rates of 2.55%, 2.52%, 2.48% and 2.48% for
the first, second, third and fourth MSU tranches, respectively, derived from linear interpolation of the term structure of Treasury Constant Maturities yield rates for the
performance periods.

(3) Amounts reflect cash AIP awards for the applicable year, which are determined in February and paid in March of the following year.

(4) Mr. Gravanis was not eligible to participate in these plans.
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(5) The table shown below shows the components of the amounts for 2019.

* Amounts for Messrs. Butier and Lovins reflect payments for their executive physical examinations.  Amount for Mr. Gravanis reflects his automobile allowance,
converted from euros using the exchange rates as of each month-end during 2019.

(6) Mr. Stander first became an NEO in 2018.  As permitted by SEC rules, the table shows his compensation beginning in the year in which he became an NEO.

(7) Amounts for Mr. Gravanis were converted from euros using the average exchange rate for the 12 months in 2019 (1.11998950), except for amounts for All Other
Compensation described in footnote (5) above.

The table below provides information regarding grants of plan-based incentive awards made to our NEOs during 2019.

Mitchell R. Butier
MSUs 02/28/19 – – – 16,836 19,807 39,614 – $2,690,830
PUs 02/28/19 – – – 12,046 24,092 48,184 – $2,667,213

AIP Award – $708,125 $1,416,250 $2,832,500 – – – – –
Gregory S. Lovins

MSUs 02/28/19 – – – 4,693 5,521 11,042 – $ 750,042
PUs 02/28/19 – – – 3,358 6,715 13,430 – $ 743,420

AIP Award – $231,750 $ 463,500 $ 927,000 – – – – –
Susan C. Miller

MSUs 02/28/19 – – – 3,176 3,737 7,474 – $ 507,681
PUs 02/28/19 – – – 2,273 4,545 9,090 – $ 503,175

AIP Award – $174,314 $ 348,629 $ 697,258 – – – – –
Deon M. Stander

MSUs 02/28/19 – – – 3,035 3,571 7,142 – $ 485,129
PUs 02/28/19 – – – 2,255 4,509 9,018 – $ 478,599

AIP Award – $166,539 $ 337,077 $ 666,155 – – – – –
Georges Gravanis

MSUs 02/28/19 – – – 3,536 4,160 8,320 – $ 565,146
PUs 02/28/19 – – – 2,627 5,254 10,508 – $ 557,684

AIP Award – $234,856 $ 469,712 $ 939,403 – – – – –
(1) Amounts represent threshold, target and maximum opportunities under the 2019 AIP.  Target awards were established by multiplying each NEO’s base salary at the end

of 2019 by the following target AIP opportunities: 125% for Mr. Butier; 75% for Messrs. Lovins and Gravanis; and 60% for Ms. Miller and Mr. Stander.  Payout levels
range from 50% if the target amounts for threshold performance are achieved with respect to each of the performance objectives to 200% if the amounts for maximum
performance are achieved with respect to each of the performance objectives.

(2) Amounts for MSUs represent threshold, target and maximum opportunities, which are paid out in shares of our common stock over one-, two-, three- and four-year
performance periods provided that the absolute TSR performance objective is achieved as of the end of each period.  The actual number of shares paid out can range
from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares on the grant date, with a threshold payout opportunity of 85%.  MSUs accrue dividend equivalents during the
performance period, which are earned and paid out only at vesting.

Amounts for PUs represent threshold, target and maximum opportunities for the 2019-2021 PUs, which are paid out in shares of our common stock at the end of a
three-year performance period provided that the cumulative EVA and relative TSR performance objectives, are achieved at the end of the period.  The actual number of
shares paid out can range from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares on the grant date, with a threshold payout opportunity of 50% if threshold performance is
achieved with respect to each of the performance objectives.

(3) The grant date fair value of MSUs was determined using the Monte-Carlo simulation method, which utilizes multiple input variables, including expected volatility of our
stock price and other assumptions appropriate for determining fair value, to estimate the probability of satisfying the performance objective established for the award.

The grant date fair value for the performance condition component of PUs was determined based on the fair market value of our common stock on the grant date.  The
grant date fair value for the market condition component of PUs was determined as of the grant date using the Monte-Carlo simulation method described above.

For information on the inputs to the Monte-Carlo simulation method, see footnote (2) of the 2019 Summary Compensation Table. For additional information regarding
the assumptions we use for our stock-based compensation, see Note 12, ‘‘Long-Term Incentive Compensation,’’ to the consolidated financial statements contained in
our 2019 Annual Report.
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Contribution Company Executive Executive Excess

Executive and Match, Contributions, Excess Long-Term Group Executive
Benefit Financial Employee Deferred Life Disability Term Life Liability

NAME Allowance Planning Other* Savings Plan Comp. Plan Insurance Insurance Insurance Insurance TOTAL

Butier $70,000 – $ 4,382 $18,575 $106,936 $1,944 $2,700 $1,800 $840 $207,177
Lovins $65,000 – $ 3,478 $18,200 $ 32,463 $1,944 $2,700 $1,800 $840 $126,425
Miller $65,000 $15,000 – $18,200 $ 37,268 $1,944 $2,700 $7,920 $840 $148,872
Stander $61,250 – – $18,200 $ 55,478 $1,944 $2,700 $2,760 $840 $143,172
Gravanis – – $22,138 – – – – $2,751 – $ 24,889

2019 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

ALL OTHER
STOCKESTIMATED FUTURE PAYOUTS ESTIMATED FUTURE PAYOUTS AWARDS: GRANT DATEUNDER NON-EQUITY UNDER EQUITY NUMBER OF FAIR VALUEINCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS ($)(1) INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS (#)(2)

SHARES OF OF STOCK
AWARD GRANT STOCK AND OPTION

NAME TYPE DATE THRESHOLD TARGET MAXIMUM THRESHOLD TARGET MAXIMUM UNITS(#) AWARDS ($)(3)
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The table below shows NEO equity awards outstanding as of December 28, 2019, the end of our 2019 fiscal year.

Mitchell R. Butier
02/25/16 – – – – – – 15,709(4) $ 2,067,461
06/01/16 70,554(2) 70,554(2) $73.96 06/01/26 – – – –
02/23/17 – – – – – – 58,904(5) $ 7,752,356
02/23/17 – – – – – – 26,333(4) $ 3,465,686
02/22/18 – – – – – – 46,648(5) $ 6,139,344
02/22/18 – – – – – – 29,590(4) $ 3,894,340
02/28/19 – – – – – – 48,184(5) $ 6,341,497
02/28/19 – – – – – – 37,380(4) $ 4,919,582

Total 70,554 70,554 – – 262,748 $34,580,266
Gregory S. Lovins

02/25/16 – – – – – – 1,716(4) $ 225,843
02/23/17 – – – – – – 6,228(5) $ 819,668
02/23/17 – – – – – – 2,787(4) $ 366,797
09/01/17 – – – – 2,906(3) $382,459 – –
02/22/18 – – – – – – 9,536(5) $ 1,255,032
02/22/18 – – – – – – 6,050(4) $ 796,241
02/28/19 – – – – – – 13,430(5) $ 1,767,522
02/28/19 – – – – – – 10,420(4) $ 1,371,376

Total – – 2,906 $382,459 50,167 $ 6,602,479
Susan C. Miller

02/25/16 – – – – – – 3,318(4) $ 436,682
02/23/17 – – – – – – 12,060(5) $ 1,587,216
02/23/17 – – – – – – 5,391(4) $ 709,510
02/22/18 – – – – – – 8,544(5) $ 1,124,476
02/22/18 – – – – – – 5,420(4) $ 713,326
02/28/19 – – – – – – 9,090(5) $ 1,196,335
02/28/19 – – – – – – 7,053(4) $ 928,245

Total – – – – 50,876 $ 6,695,790
Deon M. Stander

02/25/16 – – – – – – 1,499(4) $ 197,283
02/23/17 – – – – – – 16,192(5) $ 2,131,029
02/23/17 – – – – – – 2,414(4) $ 317,707
02/22/18 – – – – – – 7,634(5) $ 1,004,711
02/22/18 – – – – – – 4,843(4) $ 637,387
02/28/19 – – – – – – 9,018(5) $ 1,186,859
02/28/19 – – – – – – 6,740(4) $ 887,051

Total – – – – 48,340 $ 6,362,027
Georges Gravanis

02/25/16 – – – – – – 3,215(4) $ 423,126
02/23/17 – – – – – – 8,376(5) $ 1,102,365
02/23/17 – – – – – – 5,497(4) $ 723,460
02/22/18 – – – – – – 9,808(5) $ 1,290,831
02/22/18 – – – – – – 6,223(4) $ 819,009
02/28/19 – – – – – – 10,508(5) $ 1,382,958
02/28/19 – – – – – – 7,851(4) $ 1,033,270

Total – – – – 51,478 $ 6,775,019
(1) Market value calculated based on the closing price of our common stock of $131.61 on December 27, 2019, the last trading day of our 2019 fiscal year.
(2) Stock options granted to Mr. Butier on June 1, 2016 vest 50% on each of the third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date, subject to his continued service.
(3) RSUs granted to Mr. Lovins on September 1, 2017 vest in equal installments on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the respective grant date, subject to

his continued service.
(4) MSUs are eligible for vesting as of the end of the period over one-, two-, three- and four-year performance periods, subject to achievement of the absolute TSR

performance objective established for the award.  Amounts are shown at (i) 200%, 200%, 106% and 147% of target for the vesting tranches of the MSUs granted in
2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively, the payouts for all NEOs based on our actual performance for the respective performance periods as determined by the
Compensation Committee in February 2020; and (ii) the maximum level of performance for the remaining tranches of the MSUs granted in 2017, 2018 and 2019, as
actual performance through December 28, 2019 would result in above-target payouts.

(5) PUs are eligible for vesting at the end of a three-year performance period, subject to achievement of the applicable performance objectives established for the NEO’s
award.  Amounts are shown at (i) 200% of target for the 2017-2019 PUs for all NEOs except that Mr. Gravanis’ 2017-2019 PUs are shown at 136% of target, which were
the payouts based on the actual performance for the period as determined by the Compensation Committee in February 2020, and (ii) the maximum level of
performance for the 2018-2020 PUs and 2019-2021 PUs for all NEOs as actual performance through December 28, 2019 would result in above-target payouts.
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The table below provides information regarding the number of shares acquired and the value realized by our NEOs
upon the vesting of stock awards during 2019.  Amounts reflect the vesting of (i) the PUs granted in 2016 for the 2016-2018
performance period, which paid out at 200% of target based on our relative TSR for all NEOs and at 200% of target based
on our cumulative EVA for our corporate NEOs (excluding Mr. Lovins who was part of LGM at the time of grant), 200% of
target based on LGM’s cumulative EVA for Messrs. Lovins and Gravanis, and 200% of target based on RBIS’ cumulative EVA
for Mr. Stander; (ii) the fourth tranche of MSUs granted in 2015 that paid out at 200% of target based on our 2015-2018
absolute TSR; (iii) the third tranche of MSUs granted in 2016 that paid out at 188% of target based on our 2016-2018
absolute TSR; (iv) the second tranche of MSUs granted in 2017 that paid out at 137% of target based on our 2017-2018
absolute TSR; and (v) RSUs granted in 2015 and 2017 that vested in 2019.  MSU amounts include accrued dividend
equivalents paid out at vesting.  The first tranche of MSUs granted in 2018 were cancelled as we did not meet the threshold
level of performance.

Mitchell R. Butier – – 108,154 $11,671,980
Gregory S. Lovins – – 14,675 $ 1,594,841
Susan C. Miller – – 25,488 $ 2,750,666
Dean M. Stander – – 25,338 $ 2,734,477
Georges Gravanis – – 26,201 $ 2,813,645

(1) Amounts reflect the number of shares paid out at vesting multiplied by the fair market value of our common stock on the vesting date, and include the
vesting of the following stock awards.  The number of shares paid out at vesting for MSUs includes the payout of accrued dividend equivalents.

Butier
MSUs 02/26/15 6,286 200% 13,680 $ 107.92 $1,476,346
MSUs 02/25/16 7,542 188% 15,055 $ 107.92 $1,624,736
MSUs 02/23/17 6,394 137% 9,099 $ 107.92 $ 981,964
MSUs 02/22/18 5,713 0% – – –
PUs 02/25/16 35,160 200% 70,320 $ 107.92 $7,588,934

Lovins
RSUs 09/01/17 1,453 – 1,453 $ 115.57 $ 167,923
MSUs 02/26/15 1,353 200% 2,947 $ 107.92 $ 318,040
MSUs 02/25/16 823 188% 1,641 $ 107.92 $ 177,097
MSUs 02/23/17 676 137% 962 $ 107.92 $ 103,819
MSUs 02/22/18 1,168 0% – – –
PUs 02/25/16 3,836 200% 7,672 $ 107.92 $ 827,962

Miller
MSUs 02/26/15 2,569 200% 5,593 $ 107.92 $ 603,597
MSUs 02/25/16 1,593 188% 3,180 $ 107.92 $ 343,186
MSUs 02/23/17 1,309 137% 1,863 $ 107.92 $ 201,055
MSUs 02/22/18 1,047 0% – – –
PUs 02/25/16 7,426 200% 14,852 $ 107.92 $1,602,828

Stander
MSUs 02/26/15 1,344 200% 2,929 $ 107.92 $ 316,098
MSUs 02/25/16 720 188% 1,437 $ 107.92 $ 155,081
MSUs 02/23/17 586 137% 834 $ 107.92 $ 90,005
MSUs 02/22/18 935 0% – – –
PUs 02/25/16 10,069 200% 20,138 $ 107.92 $2,173,293

Gravanis
RSUs 06/01/15 3,043 – 3,043 $ 103.33 $ 314,433
MSUs 02/26/15 1,740 200% 3,789 $ 107.92 $ 408,909
MSUs 02/25/16 1,543 188% 3,080 $ 107.92 $ 332,394
MSUs 02/23/17 1,334 137% 1,899 $ 107.92 $ 204,940
MSUs 02/22/18 1,201 0% – – –
PUs 02/25/16 7,195 200% 14,390 $ 107.92 $1,552,969
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The present values of accumulated pension benefits shown in the table below have been calculated based on the
assumptions we used to calculate our pension benefit obligations in the consolidated financial statements contained in our
2019 Annual Report.  Since the accrual of additional benefits under these plans has been frozen since December 31, 2010,
the change in present values from year to year is based primarily the assumptions we use to determine the present value of
participants’ accumulated benefits for purposes of our year-end audited financial statements and secondarily on the
passage of time.  Messrs. Gravanis and Stander have not been included in the table because they have no accrued benefits
under these plans.

Amounts shown for Pension Plan (i) for Mr. Butier and Ms. Miller reflect the lump-sum value of the pension benefit
accrued as of March 21, 2019, the date on which these benefit obligations were transferred to an annuity insurance provider,
and (ii) for Mr. Lovins reflect the lump-sum value received as a result of his election to receive a lump-sum payment in
connection with the plan’s termination.  Amounts shown for Benefit Restoration Plan for all NEOS reflect the lump-sum value
of the pension benefit accrued as of December 28, 2019, the last day of our fiscal year.

Mitchell R. Butier
Pension Plan 9.33 $ 297,947 –

Benefit Restoration Plan 9.33 $ 306,726 –

Total $ 604,673 –
Gregory S. Lovins

Pension Plan 15.58 – $119,506
Benefit Restoration Plan 15.58 $ 41,272 –

Total $ 41,272 $119,506
Susan C. Miller

Pension Plan 21.00 $ 896,165 –
Benefit Restoration Plan 21.00 $ 501,799 –

Total $1,397,964 –
(1) While the Benefit Restoration Plan allows for lump-sum payment, the Pension Plan required that distributions take the form of a monthly annuity,

except in special circumstances.  For information regarding the assumptions we use to determine the present value of accumulated benefits for
our pension plans, see Note 6, ‘‘Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits,’’ to the consolidated financial statements contained in our 2019
Annual Report.

(2) Amounts for the Pension Plan reflect the lump-sum value of the pension benefit accrued as of March 21, 2019, the date on which these benefit
obligations were transferred to an annuity insurance provider.

(3) Amount reflects the lump-sum value received as a result of Mr. Lovins’ election to receive a lump-sum payment in connection with the Pension
Plan termination.

We previously provided qualified retirement benefits for eligible U.S. employees under the Avery Dennison Pension
Plan (the ‘‘Pension Plan’’).  All of our NEOs – except for Messrs. Gravanis and Stander – were eligible to receive benefits
under the Pension Plan, including reduced benefits in the event of early retirement.  The accrual of additional benefits under
the Pension Plan was frozen as of December 31, 2010.

In September 2018, we terminated the Pension Plan. In connection with the termination, we contributed $200 million to
the plan in August 2018.  During the fourth quarter of 2018, we settled approximately $152 million of our Pension Plan
liabilities through lump-sum payments from existing plan assets to eligible participants who elected to receive them. In
March 2019, we settled the liabilities for approximately 8,300 active and former employees and their beneficiaries of
approximately $750 million primarily through the purchase of a group annuity contract from American General Life
Insurance Company (‘‘AGL’’), a subsidiary of American International Group, Inc.  AGL assumed the future annuity payments
for these individuals, commencing at April 1, 2019.

Compensation covered by the Pension Plan included base salary and AIP awards, up to the applicable statutory
limitations each plan year.  Employees vested in the Pension Plan after five years of service, or at age 55 upon termination of
employment.
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Benefits under the Pension Plan were based on pensionable earnings, length of service, when benefits commence, and
how they are paid.  Benefits were calculated separately for each year of applicable service using a formula equal to 1.25%
times compensation up to the breakpoint (which for each year prior to our freezing the accrual of additional benefits was the
average of the Social Security wage bases for the preceding 35 years) plus 1.75% times compensation in excess of the
breakpoint.  The results of the calculation for each year of service were added together to determine the annual single life
annuity benefit under the Pension Plan for an employee at normal retirement (generally age 65), which was not subject to
reduction for Social Security payments.

Eligible participants could have elected to receive their benefits in one of several payment forms payable in monthly
installments.  Benefits were generally paid in annuity form over the lifetime of the participant and/or a beneficiary.  By
default, single participants were eligible for a single life annuity, and they could have chosen from alternate payment forms
that included benefits payable to a beneficiary.  By default, married participants were eligible for a joint and survivor annuity
that was payable over the participant’s lifetime, and, if survived by a spouse, over the spouse’s lifetime.  Married participants
could choose alternate payment forms, with the consent of the spouse.  The monthly benefit each eligible participant could
receive was adjusted based on the plan’s definition of actuarial equivalence.

Benefits were generally payable without reduction after participants reach age 65; however, certain participants –
including our participating NEOs – could have been eligible to receive an unreduced benefit at age 62.  Prior to age 62, a
participant’s benefits were reduced by 15% for commencement of benefits at age 61 and an additional 5% for each
additional year the participant elected to receive benefits early, provided that no benefit could commence before a
participant reached age 55.

Our Benefit Restoration Plan (BRP) is a nonqualified excess benefit plan that provides for the payment of supplemental
retirement benefits to eligible participants in an amount equal to the amount by which their benefits otherwise payable
under the Pension Plan would be reduced under the Code.  All NEOs – except for Messrs. Gravanis and Stander – are
eligible to receive benefits under the BRP.  The accrual of additional benefits under the BRP was frozen as of December 31,
2010; as a result, no additional accruals were made during 2019.

Because the BRP is designed to mirror the Pension Plan, the information concerning the compensation covered, benefit
formula, early retirement provisions, and payment forms is the same as that of the Pension Plan except that (i) the BRP
provides for payment in the form of a lump-sum distribution, unless a timely election is made for monthly payments over the
lifetime of the participant and a designated beneficiary, and (ii) BRP benefits are generally payable upon the later of
separation from service and age 55.

The table below provides information regarding NEO and company contributions to nonqualified deferred
compensation plans(1) in fiscal year 2019.  Mr. Gravanis has not been included in the table because, as a non-U.S. employee,
he was not eligible to participate.

Mitchell R. Butier – $106,936 $ 508,024 – $2,157,416
Gregory S. Lovins – $ 32,463 $ 81,676 – $ 330,843
Susan C. Miller – $ 37,268 $1,069,543 – $6,082,114
Deon M. Stander $132,652 $ 55,478 $ 105,550 – $ 589,410

(1) Amounts reflect the NEOs’ participation in the Executive Variable Deferred Retirement Plan (EVDRP).  Under the EVDRP, participants may choose among publicly
available funds ranging from money market and bond funds to index and other equity/mutual funds.  The rate of return depends on the funds selected by the
participant.

(2) Company contributions to the EVDRP are included in the ‘‘All Other Compensation’’ column of the 2019 Summary Compensation Table.

(3) Amounts reflect EVDRP vested account balances as of December 28, 2019, the last day of our 2019 fiscal year.  Because the amounts do not represent above-market
earnings, they are not reported in the 2019 Summary Compensation Table.  Ms. Miller elected to defer the MSUs granted to her in 2013, including related dividend
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equivalents, under the EVDRP.  The amounts shown below were reported under the ‘‘All Other Compensation’’ column of the Summary Compensation Table in
previous proxy statements.

Butier $562,340
Lovins $ 80,971
Miller $164,898
Stander $ 25,486

Our Executive Variable Deferred Retirement Plan (EVDRP) is the only active deferred compensation plan available to
our eligible U.S. employees.  Earnings are based on a fixed rate and/or the performance of variable bond and equity funds
selected by the participant from available options.  The EVDRP does not offer investment options that provide above-
market interest rates.

Eligible employees are able to defer U.S. taxes until their investment is withdrawn, providing an opportunity for them to
accumulate savings on a pre-tax basis.  We also benefit from this arrangement because we do not have to expend cash to
pay amounts individuals have elected to defer.  As a result, we can use this cash for other corporate purposes until a
deferred compensation account is paid to a participant at the time the participant elected to receive in-service withdrawals
or after termination of employment.

All deferred compensation accounts are unfunded obligations of our company and subject to the same risks as any of
our general debts and obligations.  As a result, these accounts help mitigate risk-seeking behavior by management that
could be detrimental to the long-term health of our company.

Employee Contributions

Under the EVDRP, eligible employees can defer up to 75% of their salary and 90% of their AIP award.

Company Contribution

As of January 1, 2019, we made a contribution to the deferred compensation accounts of eligible employees based on
401(k) eligible earnings in excess of the Code compensation limit and deferred compensation in 2018.  This annual
contribution provided an automatic contribution of 3% of pay plus a matching contribution of 50% on the first 7% of pay not
covered by company contributions to our 401(k) Plan.  This contribution was added to the deferred compensation accounts
of eligible employees who were employed at year-end 2018, which included all our participating NEOs.  This benefit is
designed to supplement 401(k) contributions that are limited under the Code.

Withdrawals/Distributions

Contributions to deferred compensation accounts are required to be distributed following an eligible employee’s
separation from service.  Subject to Section 409A of the Code, eligible employees may elect to receive separation from
service withdrawals in the form of a lump-sum payment or monthly installments over two to 20 years.  Eligible employees
may change the method in which payments are distributed provided that they do so at least 12 months before the date of
distribution; however, any change results in the distribution occurring or beginning five years later than it would have
otherwise.  All of our NEOs are ‘‘specified employees’’ under Section 409A of the Code.  Distributions to specified
employees cannot be made until at least the seventh month after separation from service, except in the event of death.

72

AGGREGATE COMPANY
CONTRIBUTIONS

NAME PREVIOUSLY REPORTED ($)

EXECUTIVE VARIABLE DEFERRED RETIREMENT PLAN

2020 Proxy Statement Avery Dennison Corporation



73

The table below shows potential benefits that would have been payable to our NEOs in the event of termination on
December 28, 2019, the last day of our 2019 fiscal year.  Amounts paid or distributed upon actual termination may differ
from amounts shown due to timing and any future changes to our benefit plans.

Mitchell R. Butier
Severance Payment – – – $ 7,125,236 $10,687,855
Unvested Stock Options(1) – – – – $ 4,067,720
Unvested PUs(1) $ 5,922,625 $ 5,922,625 – – $10,116,597
Unvested MSUs(1) $ 4,245,268 $ 4,245,268 – – $ 7,760,819
Outplacement – – – $ 25,000 $ 25,000

Total $ 10,167,893 $ 10,167,893 – $ 7,150,236 $32,657,991

Value of Forfeited Equity(1) $(11,777,244) $(11,777,244) $(21,945,137) $(21,945,137) –
Gregory S. Lovins

Severance Payment – – – $ 1,193,493 $ 2,386,986
Unvested RSUs(1) $ 382,459 $ 382,459 – – $ 382,459
Unvested PUs(1) $ 828,178 $ 828,178 – – $ 1,921,111
Unvested MSUs(1) $ 616,697 $ 616,697 – – $ 1,511,450
Outplacement – – – $ 25,000 $ 25,000

Total $ 1,827,334 $ 1,827,334 – $ 1,218,493 $ 6,227,006

Value of Forfeited Equity(1) $ (1,987,685) $ (1,987,685) $ (3,815,019) $ (3,815,019) –
Susan C. Miller

Severance Payment – – – $ 1,154,660 $ 2,309,320
Unvested PUs(1) $ 1,168,434 $ 1,168,434 $ 1,962,042 $ 1,962,042 $ 1,954,014
Unvested MSUs(1) $ 840,123 $ 840,123 $ 1,250,129 $ 1,250,129 $ 1,503,476
Outplacement – – – $ 25,000 $ 25,000

Total $ 2,008,557 $ 2,008,557 $ 3,212,171 $ 4,391,831 $ 5,791,810

Value of Forfeited Equity(1) $ (1,448,933) $ (1,448,933) $ (245,319) $ (245,319) –
Deon M. Stander

Severance Payment – – – $ 965,173 $ 1,930,346
Unvested PUs(1) $ 1,400,418 $ 1,400,418 – – $ 2,161,299
Unvested MSUs(1) $ 512,721 $ 512,721 – – $ 1,116,535
Outplacement – – – $ 25,000 $ 25,000

Total $ 1,913,139 $ 1,913,139 – $ 990,173 $ 5,233,180

Value of Forfeited Equity(1) $ (1,364,695) $ (1,364,695) $ (3,277,834) $ (3,277,834) –
Georges Gravanis

Severance Payment – – – $ 1,341,739 $ 2,683,478
Unvested PUs(1) $ 1,239,284 $ 1,239,284 $ 1,532,577 $ 1,532,577 $ 2,145,901
Unvested MSUs(1) $ 884,367 $ 884,367 $ 1,292,193 $ 1,292,193 $ 1,622,642
Outplacement – – – $ 25,000 $ 25,000
Code Section 280G Adjustment – – – $ (145,641)

Total $ 2,123,651 $ 2,123,651 $ 2,824,770 $ 4,191,509 $ 6,331,380

Elimination of Excise Tax Liability – – – – $ (684,867)
Value of Forfeited Equity(1) $ (1,644,892) $ (1,644,892) $ (943,774) $ (943,774) –

(1) Values for equity awards were determined as follows: (i) for stock options, the number of shares that would have been exercisable multiplied by the difference between
the fair market value of our common stock on December 27, 2019, the last trading day of our 2019 fiscal year, and the applicable exercise price; (ii) for RSUs, PUs and
MSUs, the number of shares that would have been acquired or forfeited on vesting multiplied by the fair market value of our common stock on December 27, 2019.

(2) Mr. Gravanis and Ms. Miller qualified as retirement eligible at the end of fiscal year 2019 because they had reached the age of 55 and had completed over ten years of
service with our company.  As a result, in every termination scenario, all of their unvested equity awards would vest, with unvested PUs and MSUs vesting on a prorated
basis after the respective performance period based on our actual performance.

In addition to the amounts shown in the table above, in the event of termination, our NEOs would be entitled to receive
their accrued and vested benefits under any deferred compensation plan in which they participate.  These amounts would
be determined and paid in accordance with the terms and conditions of the plan, and are not included in the table.  See
2019 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for information on these benefits.
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None of our NEOs has an employment contract, and all of them are employed at-will; if an NEO were no longer
performing at the expected level, he or she could be terminated for cause immediately without receiving a
contractually-guaranteed payment. The other potential payments upon termination or a change of control are described
below.

Each of our NEOs is a participant in the Severance Plan.  Upon involuntary termination not for cause, they currently
would be entitled to the benefits shown below.

Outplacement services of up to $25,000 for 
up to one year

Lump-sum payment equal to (i) annual base 
salary + (ii) highest AIP award during last 
three years + (iii) cash value of 12 months of 
employer and employee medical and 
dental insurance premiums

+X

2   For our CEO

1   For our other NEOs

In February 2020, the Compensation Committee amended and restated the Severance Plan, effective July 1,
2020, to provide that the AIP award portion of the Severance Plan payment be changed from the highest AIP award
received during the last three years to the target AIP award for the year of termination.

Benefits Not Subject to Gross up. Benefits are subject to withholding for all applicable taxes and not grossed-up for
taxes.

Trigger for Benefits. Involuntary termination, which excludes termination for cause; due to disability; due to death; due
to voluntary resignation; or due to an executive declining simultaneous or continuing employment in a comparable
position.

Definition of Cause. Cause is defined as (i) commission of a crime or other act that could materially damage the
reputation of our company or its subsidiaries; (ii) theft, misappropriation, or embezzlement of company or subsidiary
property; (iii) falsification of company or subsidiary records; (iv) substantial failure to comply with written policies and
procedures; (v) misconduct; or (vi) substantial failure to perform material job duties not cured within 30 days after written
notice.

Each of our NEOs is also a participant in the COC Severance Plan, which is designed to retain certain key executives
during a period in which a change of control transaction is being negotiated or a hostile takeover is being attempted.
Participants are only entitled to benefits if they are terminated not for ‘‘cause’’ or terminate employment for ‘‘good reason’’
within 24 months of the change of control (a ‘‘double trigger’’).  In these circumstances, they currently would be entitled to
the benefits shown below.

++X

3   For our CEO

2   For our other NEOs

Prorated AIP award
for year in which
termination occurs   

Outplacement
services of up to 
$25,000 for up to 
one year  

Lump-sum payment equal to (i) 
annual base salary + (ii) highest 
AIP award during last three years 
+ (iii) cash value of 12 months of 
employer and employee medical 
and dental insurance premiums

In February 2020, the Compensation Committee amended and restated the COC Severance Plan, effective July 1,
2020, to provide that the AIP award portion of the COC Severance Plan payment be changed from the highest AIP
award received for during the last three years to the target AIP award for the year of termination.

Benefits Not Subject to Gross-up. Benefits are subject to withholding for all applicable taxes and not grossed-up for
excise or other taxes.  However, if the payment would trigger an excise tax for a particular NEO, the NEO can elect to
receive (i) his or her full benefits, with him or her responsible for paying any applicable excise taxes, or (ii) reduced benefits to
an amount sufficient to eliminate any excise tax liability.
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Definition of Change of Control. Change of control is defined as (i) replacement of a majority of our Board during any
12-month period by directors whose appointment or election was not endorsed by a majority of the members of our Board;
or (ii) acquisition by any person, group or corporation that has entered into a merger, acquisition, consolidation, purchase,
stock acquisition, asset acquisition, or similar business transaction with our company, of (A) together with any of our
company’s stock previously held, more than 50% of the total fair market value or the total voting power of our company’s
stock; (B) 30% or more of the total voting power of our company’s stock during any 12-month period; or (C) assets of our
company having a total gross fair market value of 40% or more of the total gross fair market value of all of our company’s
assets during any 12-month period.

Definition of cause. Cause is defined as it is under the Severance Plan.

Definition of good reason. Good reason is defined as (i) material diminution in base compensation; (ii) material
diminution in authority, duties, or responsibilities or supervisor’s authority, duties, or responsibilities; (iii) material change in
geographic job location; or (iv) any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by our company.

Under our previous Amended and Restated Stock Option and Incentive Plan last approved by our stockholders in April
2012 and our 2017 Incentive Award Plan approved by stockholders in April 2017, unvested equity awards held by our NEOs
on the date of termination would vest as shown in the table below.  Mr. Gravanis and Ms. Miller qualified as retirement
eligible at the end of our 2019 fiscal year because they had reached the age of 55 and had completed over ten years of
service with our company.

Resignation/Involuntary
Termination, whether or Not Cancelled Cancelled Cancelled Cancelled
for Cause

Vest at time of event Vest at time of event
on a prorated basis on a prorated basis

Death Vest Cancelled
based on target based on target

performance performance

Qualifying Disability Same as death Same as death Vest Cancelled

Vest and exercisable
Vest after the end of Vest after the end of by our CEO for the

the performance the performance term of the option
Qualifying Retirement period on a prorated period on a prorated Vest and by our other

basis based on actual basis based on actual NEOs for the lesser
performance performance of five years and the

term of the option
Vest based on actual, Vest based on actual,
if determinable, and if determinable, and

otherwise target otherwise target Vest only in the event Vest only in the event
performance only in performance only in of termination of termination

the event of the event of without cause or for without cause or for
Change of Control*

termination without termination without good reason within good reason within
cause or for good cause or for good 24 months after 24 months after

reason within reason within change of control change of control
24 months after 24 months of change

change of control of control

* Unvested PUs and MSUs granted prior to May 2017 would vest based on target performance.  Unvested stock options granted prior to May 2012 would vest on a
change of control.
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(1) Our Amended and Restated Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the ‘‘Previous Plan’’) was approved by stockholders in April 2012.  We last issued awards under the
Previous Plan in March 2017.  Under the Previous Plan, shares issuable under outstanding equity awards granted prior to December 30, 2017 included (i) stock options
and RSUs for non-employee directors and (ii) stock options, RSUs, PUs and MSUs for officers and other eligible employees.  Amount in column (A) includes 206,240
stock options; 7,509 RSUs; 189,565 MSUs (including accrued dividend equivalents and reflecting the unvested tranche of the MSUs granted in 2017 at the maximum
level of performance as actual performance would result in above-target payout and the 2016 and 2017 tranches subject to vesting as of December 28, 2019 at 200%,
reflecting the payout based on actual performance); 245,819 PUs (reflecting the maximum level of performance for the relative TSR component of the 2017-2019 PUs
cycle as actual performance would result in above-target payouts, and a weighted-average of 171% for the cumulative EVA component of these PUs).  Price in column
(B) does not include RSUs, MSUs, PUs or dividend equivalents.

(2) Our 2017 Incentive Award Plan (the ‘‘Current Plan’’) was approved by our stockholders in April 2017.  We began issuing awards under the Current Plan in May 2017.
Under the Current Plan, shares issuable under outstanding equity awards include (i) RSUs and DSUs for non-employee directors and (ii) RSUs, PUs and MSUs for officers
and other eligible employees.  Amount in column (A) includes 51,895 RSUs; 182,500 DSUs; 333,537 MSUs (including accrued dividend equivalents and reflecting the
unvested tranches of the MSUs granted in 2018 and 2019 at the maximum level of performance as actual performance would result in above-target payouts and the
tranches subject to vesting as of December 28, 2019 at 106% and 147%, respectively, reflecting the payout based on actual performance); 516,436 PUs (reflecting the
maximum level of performance for the relative TSR component of 2018-2020 and 2019-2021 PUs as actual performance would result in above-target payouts, and a
weighted-average of 195% and 158%, respectively, for the cumulative EVA components of these PUs).  Amount in column (C) represents the aggregate number of
shares available for future issuance, with each full-value award decreasing the number of shares available for future issuance by 1.5 shares.
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Amended and Restated Stock Option
and Incentive Plan(1) 649,133 $62.10 –

2017 Incentive Award Plan(2) 1,084,368 – 4,320,221

Total 1,733,501 $62.10 4,320,221

2020 Proxy Statement Avery Dennison Corporation



1MAR202020572124 29FEB202023160840

77

As required by Section 953(b) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, we are providing
this disclosure about the relationship between the median annual total compensation of our employees to the annual total
compensation of our CEO.  We are located in countries around the world to best serve our customers, with approximately
77% of our revenues generated outside the U.S. and approximately 33% of our revenues generated in emerging markets
(Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe and Middle East/Northern Africa).  As a global organization with employees located in
over 50 countries, approximately 87% of our employees are located outside the U.S. and approximately 71% are located in
emerging markets, where median compensation is substantially lower than it is in the U.S.

The charts shown below provide a breakdown of our global employee population by region and function.  Nearly
20,000 of our approximately 33,000 employees, representing over 60% of our global workforce, are in Asia, serving our
customers in that region.  In addition, approximately 65% of our global workforce works in the operations of our
manufacturing facilities worldwide or in positions directly supporting them from other locations.

Workforce by Region

Asia Pacific

Europe

North America

Latin America62%16%

13%

9%

Workforce by Function

Operations

Non-Operations

65%

35%

Our compensation philosophy is to offer market-based, competitive wages and benefits in all the markets where we
compete for talent – all of our employees were paid at least the applicable minimum wage, and 98% of our employees were
paid above the applicable legal minimum wage at the end of 2019.  Our CEO’s compensation is driven by pay for
performance, commensurate with that provided by companies of similar size, scope, complexity and performance.

• The annual total compensation of our median employee (among all employees except for our CEO) was
approximately $12,278.

• Our CEO’s annual total compensation, as reported in the Total column of the 2019 Summary Compensation
Table, was $8,495,032.

• Based on this information, a reasonable estimate of the 2019 ratio of the annual total compensation of our
CEO to the annual total compensation of our median employee was approximately 692 to 1.

We calculated this ratio based on the rules and guidance provided by the SEC.  SEC rules allow for varying
methodologies for companies to use in identifying their median employee; other companies may have different workforce
demographics and employment and compensation practices and may utilize different methodologies, exclusions,
estimates and assumptions in calculating their CEO pay ratios. Consequently, the CEO pay ratios reported by other
companies may not be meaningful for purposes of comparison to our CEO pay ratio.

Given that there were no significant changes in the compensation arrangements of our global workforce from 2018 to
2019 or our global workforce during that period that would cause a significant change in our CEO pay ratio, as allowed by
SEC rules, we are using the same median employee in 2019 as we did in 2018.  However, given that the role of the median
employee identified for 2017 changed in 2018, we identified another employee as the median employee for 2018 from the
same group from which we identified the 2017 median employee.  The employee identified for 2018 had comparable pay
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to the median employee in 2017 but best represented the compensation of the employees in this group given the 2017
median employee’s role change.

For purposes of identifying our median employee in 2017 from the same group from which we identified our median
employee in 2018 given the 2017 median employee’s role change, we considered annual base compensation, which is the
most common pay element for all our employees, as reflected in our global human resources information system.  We
selected this compensation element because it represents the principal broad-based compensation element for the vast
majority of our employees globally.  We measured compensation for purposes of determining the median employee using
the 12-month period ending December 31, 2017. We made cost-of-living adjustments.

We selected November 1, 2017 as the date on which to determine our median employee.  As of that date, we had
30,256 employees, 26,231 of which were located outside of the United States and approximately 21,000 of which were
located in emerging markets.  We utilized the de minimis exemption to eliminate countries representing no more than 5% of
our global population in the aggregate.  The countries excluded were Sri Lanka, Indonesia and Pakistan with 646, 542 and
202 employees, respectively, in the aggregate then representing 4.6% of our global workforce.

To determine our medianable group, we used a statistical sampling approach known as stratified sampling to
concentrate on medianable employees, which were those within a narrow range of the estimated median salary of $9,524,
because these employees were all reasonably likely to be our median employee.  As a result of this statistical sampling
process, we identified 647 employees with a salary within $500 of this amount.  Employees from China represented 51% of
the medianable group; as a result, we narrowed the medianable group to those 329 employees.  Finally, we identified the
nine employees who were potentially our median employee by analyzing additional qualitative and quantitative
characteristics, including pay volatility.

Using the methodology described above, we determined that our median employee for 2019 was a full-time, salaried
employee working at a manufacturing facility in China.  For purposes of this disclosure, we converted the employee’s base
compensation from Chinese Yuan to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate as of December 1, 2019 of 0.14216662.

In determining the annual total compensation of approximately $12,278 for our median employee, as required by SEC
rules, we calculated the employee’s compensation in accordance with Item 402(c)(2)(x) of Regulation S-K, consistent with
how we determine our CEO’s total compensation for the 2019 Summary Compensation Table.
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The Audit Committee – which is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation (including approval of audit
and non-audit fees) and evaluation of the independent registered public accounting firm that audits our financial statements
and internal control over financial reporting – has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) as our independent
registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2020, and our Board is seeking stockholder ratification of the appointment.
Stockholder ratification is not required by our Bylaws or applicable laws and regulations.  However, our Board annually
submits this appointment for stockholder ratification as an element of our strong governance program.  If stockholders were
not to ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee would reconsider whether or not to retain PwC, but could determine to
do so in the committee’s discretion.  In addition, even if the appointment is ratified, the Audit Committee could
subsequently appoint a different independent registered public accounting firm without stockholder approval if the
committee were to determine that doing so would be in the best interests of our company and stockholders.

Although no formal statement from PwC is planned, representatives of the firm will be present at the Annual Meeting to
answer questions from stockholders.

In determining whether to reappoint PwC, the Audit Committee considered the qualifications, performance, and
independence of the firm and the audit engagement team, the quality of its discussions with PwC, and the fees charged by
PwC for the quality and breadth of services provided.  In connection with the 2020 appointment, the Audit Committee
considered, among other things, the following:

• Audit Quality – The quality of PwC’s audit and non-audit work, based on its oversight of the firm’s work
product, as well as its discussions with management in executive session without PwC present and its
discussions with PwC in executive session without management present;

• Performance – PwC’s reports on its quality controls and its performance during our 2019 and prior-year
audits;

• Qualitative Review – The results of our global survey of members of management and the Audit Committee
evaluating PwC’s (i) expertise and resources, (ii) audit planning, (iii) communication and interaction,
(iv) independence, objectivity and professional skepticism and (v) value for fees;

• Self-Assessment – PwC’s self-assessment of its accomplishments in connection with the 2019 audit, its
satisfaction of the service needs and expectations of the Audit Committee and management, and areas of
continued focus and improvement opportunities;

• Regulatory Reviews – External data on the firm’s audit quality and performance, including recent Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) reports on PwC and its peer firms;

• Reasonableness of Fees – The appropriateness of PwC’s fees for audit and non-audit services, both on an
absolute basis and relative to comparable firms;

• Independence – Written disclosures from the firm and the independence letter required by the PCAOB; and

• Tenure – PwC’s tenure as our independent auditor, including the benefits of having a long-tenured auditor
and the controls we and they have in place to mitigate any potential independence risk.

The Audit Committee has determined that the appointment of PwC is in the best interest of our company and
stockholders.  The Audit Committee has appointed, subject to stockholder ratification, PwC as our independent
registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2020 and recommends that stockholders ratify the appointment at
the Annual Meeting.

Our Board recommends that you vote FOR ratification of the appointment of PwC as our independent registered
public accounting firm for fiscal year 2020. Properly dated and signed proxies will be so voted unless you specify
otherwise.
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PwC has been our independent registered public accounting firm since 1998 and served in that capacity during fiscal
year 2019.  Through its predecessor entities, the firm has served as our independent auditor since at least 1960, which was
the first year our financial statements were subject to SEC reporting requirements.  We have been unable to determine the
exact year PwC began serving as the auditor for our company.  PwC is very well-qualified to act as our independent
registered public accounting firm and has a deep understanding of our operations and accounting practices.  Some
governance stakeholders have suggested that long tenure poses a risk to auditor independence.  The Audit Committee
believes, however, that PwC’s years of experience auditing our company confers significant benefits, including the
following:

• Audit Quality – PwC has deep institutional knowledge regarding our operations, businesses, and accounting
policies and practices;

• Scale – PwC has a global presence with resources in virtually all of the countries in which we do business,
enabling the firm to cost-effectively perform statutory audit work on our subsidiary accounts; and

• Cost – PwC is able to effectively perform the needed audit, audit-related, tax compliance and tax planning
services and ensure audit quality cost-competitively.

In conducting its periodic review of whether to appoint a new independent registered public accounting firm, the Audit
Committee considers the fact that onboarding a new firm would require a significant time commitment on the part of
management, potentially distracting from the paramount focus on financial reporting and internal controls, without
necessarily increasing audit quality. The Audit Committee also noted that PwC has implemented advanced technological
tools that have improved the firm’s delivery of its assurance procedures.

The Audit Committee has several controls in place to mitigate any potential independence risk, including the following:

• Limits on Non-Audit Services – The Audit Committee assesses the impact providing non-audit services may
have on PwC’s independence each time it approves the firm’s provision of these services, as well as during its
annual assessment of the firm’s independence;

• Periodic Consideration of Auditor Rotation – The Audit Committee periodically considers whether to
change the independent registered public accounting firm based on its assessment of PwC’s audit quality,
performance, compensation and independence, having most recently done so in February 2020 and
determined to retain PwC;

• Executive Sessions – The Audit Committee meets regularly both with PwC without management present and
with management without PwC present; and

• Lead Engagement Partner Selection – The Audit Committee selects any new lead engagement partner, in
consultation with members of senior management and representatives of PwC.

To regularly bring a fresh perspective to the audit, a new lead engagement partner is designated at least every five
years.  A new partner was designated for the 2019 audit, having shadowed the previous partner in 2018 to ensure service
continuity and knowledge transfer.  The Audit Committee interviewed the partner prior to his designation, and the Audit
Committee was directly responsible for making the selection, in consultation with members of senior management and
representatives from PwC.

PwC has advised us that neither the firm nor any member thereof has any financial interest, direct or indirect, in any
capacity in our company or our subsidiaries.  As a result, PwC has confirmed to the Audit Committee that it is in compliance
with the rules, standards and policies of the PCAOB and the regulations of the SEC governing auditor independence.

The Audit Committee considers the impact providing non-audit services may have on PwC’s independence each time it
approves the firm’s provision of such services, as well as during its annual assessment of the firm’s independence.  In
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February 2020, the Audit Committee reviewed the non-audit services approved by the Committee and provided by PwC
during 2019, including the related fees, and determined that the firm’s provision of these services did not impair PwC’s
independence.

In negotiating and approving PwC’s fees and services, the Audit Committee considers whether PwC is best positioned
to provide the services effectively and efficiently due to its familiarity with our operations, businesses, accounting policies
and practices, internal controls, and financial and information technology systems, as well as whether the services enhance
our ability to manage or control risks and maintain audit quality.  The Audit Committee periodically receives updates on the
services rendered and fees paid to PwC to ensure that they are within the parameters approved by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has adopted procedures for the pre-approval of all audit and non-audit services provided by the
independent registered public accounting firm, and the fees paid to PwC in 2019 were pre-approved.  The Audit
Committee pre-approved the estimated audit fees in February 2019, received a mid-year update on year-to-date fees
incurred in July, and assessed the final fees in connection with its review of the results of the audit in February 2020.  These
procedures include reviewing and approving a plan for audit and permitted non-audit services, which includes a description
of, and estimated fees for, audit services and non-audit services.  Additional Audit Committee approval is required for
non-audit services not included in the initial plan or substantially in excess of the budgeted amount for the particular
category of services.  The Audit Committee has delegated interim pre-approval authority to its Chair for services not
included in the audit plan; these services are reviewed with the entire Audit Committee at a subsequent meeting.

For fiscal years 2019 and 2018, PwC provided the services shown below for our company – all of which were approved
by the Audit Committee using the procedures described above – for which we paid the firm the fees indicated.

Audit Fees(1) $ 8,406,000 $ 7,946,000
Audit-Related Fees(2) 486,000 503,000
Tax Fees:

Tax Compliance(3) 2,358,000 2,312,000
Tax Planning(4) 2,415,000 1,792,000

All Other Fees(5) 30,000 40,000

Total Fees $13,695,000 $12,593,000

(1) Includes fees for services performed to comply with the standards established by the PCAOB, including the audit of
our consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting; audits in
connection with statutory filings; and other services that the principal independent registered public accounting firm
most effectively and efficiently can provide, such as procedures related to comfort letters, consents and review of our
SEC filings.

(2) Includes fees associated with assurance and related services traditionally performed by the independent registered
public accounting firm and reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements,
including assistance in financial due diligence related to acquisitions and divestitures; and audit or compliance
services not required by applicable statutes or regulations.  This category also includes audits of pension and other
employee benefit plans, as well as the audit or review of information technology systems and internal controls
unrelated to the audit of the financial statements.

(3) Includes fees associated with tax compliance such as preparation of tax returns in foreign jurisdictions, tax audits and
transfer pricing documentation.

(4) Includes fees for domestic and international tax planning, and tax planning related to restructuring actions,
acquisitions and divestitures.

(5) Includes fees for any services other than those described in the above categories.  In both years, included
subscriptions and licenses to accounting and tax resources and other permissible services that do not fall within the
other listed categories.
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The Audit and Finance Committee (referred to in this report as the ‘‘Committee’’) of our Board of Directors is comprised
of the directors named at the end of this report, each of whom meets the enhanced independence and experience
standards for audit committee members set forth in Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules and New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) listing standards.  Our Board of Directors has determined all members to be financially literate and
designated each of Messrs. Anderson, Barker and Siewert as an ‘‘audit committee financial expert’’ under applicable SEC
regulations.  Members of the Committee are prohibited from sitting on the audit committee of more than two other public
companies, and all members are in compliance with this restriction.

The Committee has a written charter adopted by our Board of Directors, which is available under Corporate
Governance in the investors section of our website.  The Committee annually reviews the charter and recommends changes
to the Board for approval.  The charter was last amended in December 2018.

During fiscal year 2019, the Committee primarily performed the following activities on behalf of our Board of Directors:

• Reviewed and discussed with management and the independent registered public accounting firm our
quarterly and annual financial results, earnings release documentation and the related reports filed with the
SEC;

• Reviewed and discussed with management, the Vice President of Internal Audit and the independent
registered public accounting firm our internal controls report and the independent registered public
accounting firm’s attestation thereof;

• Evaluated the qualifications, performance and independence of the independent registered public
accounting firm and met with representatives of the firm to discuss the scope, budget, staffing and progress
of the firm’s audit;

• Supervised the Vice President of Internal Audit with respect to the scope, budget, staffing and progress of the
internal audit and evaluated his personal performance, as well as the performance of the internal audit
function; and

• Discussed significant financial risk exposures, including our cybersecurity risk management program and risks
related to our company’s information technology controls and security, and the steps taken by management
to monitor and control these exposures.

Management is responsible for our consolidated financial statements, accounting and financial reporting policies,
internal control over financial reporting, and disclosure controls and procedures.  The Committee appointed the
independent registered public accounting firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) to provide audit, audit-related and
tax compliance services, with limited tax planning and other non-audit services to the extent approved by the Committee.
PwC was responsible for performing an independent audit of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) and issuing an opinion on the conformity of those
financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).  The
Committee’s responsibility is to monitor and oversee our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our
consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting.  The members of the Committee are not
professionally engaged in the practice of auditing or accounting and rely without independent verification on the
information provided to them and the representations made by management and PwC.

The Committee reviewed and discussed our consolidated financial statements and related footnotes for the fiscal year
ended December 28, 2019 – including our company’s critical accounting policies and management’s significant estimates
and judgments – with management and PwC, as well as PwC’s report and unqualified opinion on the audit.  Management
represented to the Committee and PwC that our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with
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GAAP.  PwC presented the matters required to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 1301, Communications with Audit
Committees, as adopted by the PCAOB and currently in effect.  The Committee received these written disclosures and the
letters from PwC required by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding communications concerning
independence – including Rule 3524, Audit Committee Pre-approval of Certain Tax Services, and Rule 3526,
Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence – and discussed with PwC its independence from our
company and management.

Based on the Committee’s review and discussions with management and PwC described above, as well as the
Committee’s review of the representations of management and the audit report and unqualified opinion of PwC, the
Committee recommended that our Board of Directors approve the inclusion of the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 28, 2019 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

The Committee’s responsibility is to appoint the independent registered public accounting firm, and monitor and
oversee the firm’s qualifications, compensation, performance and independence.  In this capacity, the Committee reviewed
with PwC the overall scope of and fees for its audit, and monitored the progress of PwC’s audit in assessing our compliance
with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including the firm’s findings and required resources.

PwC provided to the Committee the written disclosures and independence letter required by the PCAOB.  The
Committee discussed with PwC its independence from our company and management and concluded that PwC was
independent during fiscal year 2019.  The Committee has a policy requiring pre-approval of fees for audit, audit-related, tax
and other services and has concluded that PwC’s provision of limited non-audit services to our company in 2019 was
compatible with maintaining its independence.

Under its charter, the Committee is required to periodically consider whether it is appropriate to change the
independent registered public accounting firm, and the Committee most recently evaluated with management and PwC
whether it may be appropriate to do so in February 2020, with a view to ensuring that audit quality would continue to be
paramount.  The Committee determined at that time to retain PwC.

The Committee has determined that the appointment of PwC as our independent registered public accounting firm for
fiscal year 2020 is in the best interest of our company and stockholders.  The Committee has appointed PwC in such
capacity and recommends that stockholders ratify the appointment at the Annual Meeting.

The Committee’s responsibility is to monitor and oversee our internal audit function, reviewing the significant audit
results reported to management and management’s responses thereto.  In this capacity, the Committee reviews with the
Vice President of Internal Audit the overall scope and budget for the internal audit, and regularly monitors the progress of
the internal audit in assessing our compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including the Vice
President of Internal Audit’s key findings and required resources.  The Committee directly supervises the Vice President of
Internal Audit in the conduct of his operational responsibilities and evaluates his individual performance as well as that of
the entire internal audit function.

The Committee regularly meets separately in executive session without management present with each of the Vice
President of Internal Audit and PwC to review and discuss their evaluations of the overall quality of our accounting and
financial reporting and internal control.  The Committee also periodically meets, without PwC or the Vice President of
Internal Audit present, with management, as well as occasionally with only our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, and General Counsel to discuss, among other things, significant risk exposures impacting
our financial statements and accounting policies.
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The Audit Committee has established procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment, on a confidential basis, of
complaints regarding our accounting, internal controls and auditing matters. See Complaint Procedures for Accounting and
Auditing Matters in the Governance, Sustainability and Social Responsibility section of this proxy statement.  The
Committee welcomes feedback regarding its oversight of our audit and finance programs.  Stockholders may communicate
with the Committee by writing to the Audit and Finance Committee Chair, c/o Corporate Secretary, Avery Dennison
Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale, California 91203.

Patrick T. Siewert, Chair
Anthony K. Anderson

Peter K. Barker
Andres A. Lopez

Martha N. Sullivan

84

STOCKHOLDER FEEDBACK

2020 Proxy Statement Avery Dennison Corporation



85

The table below shows the number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by our (i) directors; (ii) NEOs;
(iii) current directors and executive officers as a group; and (iv) greater-than-five-percent, or ‘‘significant,’’ stockholders, in
each case as of the February 24, 2020 record date for the Annual Meeting.  ’’Beneficial ownership’’ means that the
individual, group or entity, directly or indirectly, has or shares with others the power to vote (or direct the voting of) or the
power to dispose of (or direct the disposition of) the shares; the individual, group or entity may or may not have any
economic interest in the shares.  The inclusion of information in the table does not constitute an admission that the
individual, group or entity is, for the purpose of Section 13 or 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the ‘‘Exchange Act’’), the beneficial owner of the shares shown.

Directors
Bradley A. Alford 17,971 29,657 47,628 *
Anthony K. Anderson 2,862 10,268 13,130 *
Peter K. Barker 29,746 46,477 76,223 *
Mark J. Barrenechea 880 1,030 1,910 *
Mitchell R. Butier 160,203 171,990 332,193 *
Ken C. Hicks 25,346 20,267 45,613 *
Andres A. Lopez 3,459 859 4,318 *
David E. I. Pyott 17,270 62,963 80,233 *
Patrick T. Siewert 14,046 – 14,046 *
Julia A. Stewart 17,986 43,711 61,697 *
Martha N. Sullivan 13,004 10,985 23,989 *

Non-Director NEOs
Gregory S. Lovins 24,149 12,675 36,824 *
Susan C. Miller 17,740 24,281 42,021 *
Deon M. Stander 12,606 21,255 33,861 *
Georges Gravanis 24,149 17,207 17,207 *

All current directors and executive
officers as a group (16 persons) 392,661 485,214 877,875 1.1%
Significant stockholders

The Vanguard Group(4) 9,709,490 – 9,709,490 11.7%
BlackRock, Inc.(5) 6,558,268 – 6,558,268 7.9%
T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.(6) 6,218,831 – 6,218,831 7.5%

(1) Except as otherwise noted herein, each director, NEO and current executive officer has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares
indicated and no shares have been pledged as security by any such person.  Includes for the following beneficial owners the following amounts of shares
held in various employee savings plans as of February 24, 2020: Butier – 3,887; Lovins – 2,022; Miller – 711; and all current directors and executive
officers as a group – 11,436.  For Ms. Miller, also includes 3,623 shares held in the EVDRP.

(2) Numbers reported in this column are not entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Includes the following number of DSUs deferred through the DDECP by
the following directors as of February 24, 2020, as to which they have no voting or investment power: Alford – 18,675; Anderson – 10,268; Barker –
30,468; Barrenechea – 1,030; Hicks – 13,949; Lopez – 859; Pyott – 51,981; Stewart – 39,047; and Sullivan – 10,161.  DSUs are included as beneficially
owned because, if the director were to resign or retire from our Board, his or her DDECP account would be valued as of the date of separation and the
equivalent number of shares of our common stock would be issued to the separating director.

(3) Percent of class based on 83,295,966 shares of our common stock outstanding as of February 24, 2020.  Individuals with an (*) beneficially own less than
1% of our outstanding common stock.

(4) Number of shares beneficially owned based on information as of December 31, 2019 contained in Amendment No. 8 to Schedule 13G filed with the SEC
on February 12, 2020.  The Vanguard Group has sole voting power with respect to 128,633 shares; shared voting power with respect to 20,617 shares;
sole dispositive power with respect to 9,566,814 shares; and shared dispositive power with respect to 142,676 shares.  The Vanguard Group is an
investment adviser, in accordance with Rule 13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(E) of the Exchange Act, with a business address of 100 Vanguard Boulevard, Malvern,
Pennsylvania 19355.

(5) Number of shares beneficially owned based on information as of December 31, 2019 contained in Amendment No. 11 to Schedule 13G filed with the
SEC on February 5, 2020.  BlackRock, Inc. has sole voting power with respect to 5,681,221 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to all
6,558,268 shares.  BlackRock, Inc. is a parent holding company or control person, in accordance with Rule 13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(G) of the Exchange Act, with a
business address of 55 East 52nd Street, New York, New York 10055.

(6) Number of shares beneficially owned based on information as of December 31, 2019 contained in Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 14,
2020.  T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. has sole voting power with respect to 2,149,512 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to all 6,218,831
shares.  T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. is an investment adviser, in accordance with Rule 13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(E) of the Exchange Act, with a business address of
100 East Pratt Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21202.
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Both our Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest Policy (our ‘‘COI Policy’’) provide that conflicts of interest should be
avoided.  Under our Governance Guidelines, directors are expected to comply with the Code of Conduct and avoid any
action, position or interest that conflicts with the interests of our company, or gives the appearance of a conflict.  Our COI
Policy proscribes any of our officers (including our executive officers) or employees – or any of their immediate family
members – from directly or indirectly doing business, seeking to do business or owning an interest in an entity that does
business or seeks to do business with our company without approval in writing from the Governance Committee.  Under our
COI Policy, any officer or employee who has a question as to the interpretation of the policy or its application to a specific
activity, transaction or situation may submit the question in writing to our General Counsel/Secretary for any further
necessary review by the Governance Committee.

On an annual basis, all of our employees at the level of manager and above are required to complete a compliance
certification in which they must (i) disclose, among other things, whether they or any of their immediate family members
have a job, contract or other position with an entity that has commercial dealings with our company and (ii) certify that they
have complied with our COI Policy and Code of Conduct.  Non-supervisory professionals in our sales, marketing, customer
service and purchasing functions complete this certification in even years, and non-supervisory professionals in our
technology, finance, supply chain, technical services, environmental, health and safety, legal and risk functions do so in odd
years.  All disclosures are reviewed by our compliance department in consultation with our law department and senior
management to determine whether the activity has the potential to significantly influence our business.  The Governance
Committee receives a report from our Chief Compliance Officer on the disclosures elicited in the annual compliance
certification and, in the event that an unresolved disclosure potentially gives rise to a conflict of interest, determines whether
a conflict of interest exists or whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the activity, transaction or situation would
influence the individual’s judgment or actions in performing his or her duties for our company.

In addition, each of our directors and executive officers annually completes a questionnaire designed to solicit
information about any potential related person transactions.  Transactions involving directors are reviewed with the
Governance Committee by the General Counsel/Secretary in connection with the annual assessment of director
independence and review of related person transactions.  Responses from executive officers are reviewed by our Chief
Compliance Officer with oversight by the Governance Committee in the event any transactions are identified.

We review internal financial records to identify transactions with security holders known by us from information
contained in Schedules 13D or 13G filed with the SEC to be beneficial owners of more than five percent of our common
stock to determine whether we have any relationships with the security holders that might constitute related person
transactions under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K.  In the event of any findings, our General Counsel/Secretary discusses
them with the Governance Committee.

During fiscal year 2019, there were no related person transactions requiring disclosure under Item 404 of
Regulation S-K.  To our knowledge, all related person transactions were subject to review under our policies and
procedures.
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We expect to mail or make available our 2019 Annual Report to all stockholders of record on or about March 10, 2020.

We have elected to provide access to our proxy materials on the Internet.  Accordingly, we are sending the Notice of
Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the ‘‘Notice’’) to our stockholders of record.  Brokers, banks and other nominees
(collectively, ‘‘nominees’’) who hold shares on behalf of beneficial owners (also called ‘‘street name’’ holders) will send a
similar notice.  You will have the ability to access our proxy materials on the website referred to in the Notice.  Instructions on
how to request printed proxy materials by mail, including an option to receive paper copies in the future, may be found in
the Notice and on the website referred to in the Notice.

On or about March 10, 2020, we intend to make this proxy statement available on the Internet and mail the Notice to all
stockholders entitled to vote.  We intend to mail this proxy statement, together with a proxy card, to stockholders entitled to
vote at the Annual Meeting who have previously requested paper copies on or about March 10, 2020.  In addition, if you
request paper copies of these materials for the first time, they will be mailed within three business days of request.  If you
hold your shares in street name, you may request paper copies of the proxy statement and proxy card from your nominee by
following the instructions on the notice your nominee provides to you.

Stockholders of record may obtain a copy of this proxy statement without charge by writing to our Corporate Secretary,
Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale, California 91203.

We have adopted a procedure approved by the SEC called householding. Under this procedure, we will deliver a single
copy of our 2019 integrated report, which includes our 2019 annual report and 2020 notice and proxy statement, to
stockholders sharing the same address. Householding allows us to reduce our printing and postage costs and prevents
duplicative information from being received at your household.  Our use of householding affects only the delivery of proxy
materials; it does not impact the delivery of dividend checks.

For holders who share a single address, we are sending only one integrated report to that address unless we have
received instructions to the contrary from any stockholder at that address.  If you wish to receive an additional copy of our
integrated report, or if you receive multiple copies of our integrated report and wish to receive a single copy in the future,
you may make your request by writing to our Corporate Secretary at Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue,
Glendale, California 91203.

If you are a street name holder and wish to revoke your consent to householding and receive separate copies of our
proxy statement and annual report in future years, you may call Broadridge Investor Communications Services toll-free at
866.540.7095 in the U.S. and Canada or write them c/o Householding Department, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, New
York 11717.

Instead of receiving paper copies of proxy statements and annual reports by mail in the future, you can elect to receive
an email that will provide a link to these documents on the Internet. By electing to access proxy materials on the Internet,
you will be able to access them more quickly, save us the cost of printing and mailing them to you, reduce the amount of
mail you receive from us, and help us preserve environmental resources.

You may enroll to access proxy materials and annual reports electronically for future Annual Meetings by registering
online at the following website: https://enroll.icsdelivery.com/avy.  If you are voting on the Internet, you can follow the links
on the voting website to get to the electronic enrollment website.
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Stockholders of record as of the close of business on February 24, 2020 are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the
Annual Meeting.  Our common stock is the only class of shares outstanding, and there were 83,295,966 shares of common
stock outstanding on February 24, 2020.  The list of stockholders entitled to vote will be available for inspection at the
Annual Meeting, as well as starting 10 days before the Annual Meeting during regular business hours at our company
headquarters.  You are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held on the record date.

You may vote by submitting a proxy or voting in person at the Annual Meeting.  If you hold your shares in street name,
you may only vote in person at the meeting if you properly request and receive a legal proxy in your name from the nominee
that holds your shares.

The method of voting by proxy differs depending on whether you are viewing this proxy statement on the Internet or
reviewing a paper copy, as follows:

• If you are viewing this proxy statement on the Internet, you may vote your shares by (i) submitting a proxy on
the Internet by following the instructions on the website or (ii) requesting a paper copy of the proxy materials
and following one of the methods described below; and

• If you are reviewing a paper copy of this proxy statement, you may vote your shares by (i) submitting a proxy
by telephone or on the Internet by following the instructions on the proxy card or (ii) completing, dating and
signing the proxy card included with the proxy statement and returning it in the preaddressed, postage paid
envelope provided.

We encourage you to vote by proxy by telephone or on the Internet since these methods immediately record your vote
and allow you to confirm that your votes have been properly recorded.  Telephone and Internet voting facilities close at
11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on April 22, 2020.

Shares acquired through our Direct Share Purchase and Sale Program may be voted by following the procedures
described above.

If you hold shares as a participant in our Employee Savings (401(k)) Plan, your vote serves as a voting instruction to
Fidelity Management Trust Company, the trustee of the plan, on how to vote the shares you hold through the plan.  Your
voting instruction must be received by the trustee by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on April 20, 2020.

If the trustee does not receive your instruction in a timely manner, your shares will be voted in the same proportion as
the shares voted by participants in the plan who timely furnish instructions.   Shares of our common stock that have not been
allocated to participant accounts will also be voted by the trustee in the same proportion as the shares voted by participants
in the plan who timely furnish instructions.

If you give a proxy pursuant to this solicitation, you may revoke it at any time before it is acted upon at the Annual
Meeting by (i) submitting another proxy by telephone or on the Internet (only your last voting instructions will be counted);
(ii) sending a later dated paper proxy; (iii) delivering to our Corporate Secretary a written notice of revocation prior to the
voting of the proxy at the Annual Meeting; or (iv) if you are entitled to do so, voting in person at the Annual Meeting.  Simply
attending the Annual Meeting will not revoke your proxy.
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If your shares are held in street name, you may only change your vote by submitting new voting instructions to your
nominee.  You must contact your nominee to find out how you can change your vote.  Shares held in our Employee Savings
Plan cannot be changed or revoked after 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on April 20, 2020, nor can they be voted in person at the
Annual Meeting.

Except in contested proxy solicitations, when required by law or as expressly authorized by you (such as by making a
written comment on your proxy card, in which case the comment, but not your vote, will be shared with our company), your
vote or voting instruction is confidential and will not be disclosed other than to the broker, trustee, agent or other entity
tabulating your vote.

Votes cast by proxy or in person at the Annual Meeting will be tabulated by Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc., the
independent inspector of election appointed by our Board.  The inspector of election will also determine whether a quorum
is present.  At the Annual Meeting, shares represented by proxies that reflect abstentions or ‘‘broker non-votes’’ (which are
shares held by a nominee that are represented at the meeting, but with respect to which the nominee neither has
discretionary authority to vote nor has been given actual authority to vote on a particular item) will be counted as shares that
are present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum.  Items 1 and
2 are ‘‘non-routine’’ under the rules of the NYSE, and Item 3 is routine.  Nominees are prohibited from voting on non-routine
items in the absence of instructions from the beneficial owners of the shares; as a result, if you hold your shares in street
name and do not submit voting instructions to your nominee, your shares will not be voted on Item 1, election of directors,
or Item 2, approval, on an advisory basis, of our executive compensation.  We urge you to promptly provide voting
instructions to your nominee so that your vote is counted.

The vote required to approve each of the Annual Meeting items, as well as the impact of abstentions and broker
non-votes, is shown in the chart below.

Not counted as votes Not counted as votes
Election of directors Majority of votes cast cast; no impact on cast; no impact on

outcome outcome

Not counted as
Majority of shares

Advisory vote to approve executive represented and Negative impact on
represented and

compensation entitled to vote; no outcome
entitled to vote

impact on outcome

Ratification of appointment of
Majority of shares

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Negative impact on
represented and Not applicable

independent registered public accounting outcome
entitled to vote

firm for fiscal year 2020

As of the date of this proxy statement, we know of no other business to be presented for consideration at the meeting.
If any other business properly comes before the meeting, your vote will be cast on any such other business in accordance
with the best judgment of the individuals acting pursuant to your proxy.

We expect to announce preliminary voting results at the Annual Meeting and report final voting results in a Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on or before April 29, 2020.
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The Annual Meeting will take place at 1:30 p.m. Pacific Time on April 23, 2020 at 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale,
California 91203.  Parking will be available next door at 127 Burchett Street, Glendale, California 91203.  Attendants will be
available to provide assistance with directions and parking tickets will be validated at the Annual Meeting.

If you would like to attend the Annual Meeting, please bring photo identification.  If you are a stockholder of record, you
may bring the top half of your proxy card or your Notice to serve as your admission ticket.  If you hold your shares in street
name, you may be required to present proof of ownership to be admitted into the meeting.  Acceptable documentation
includes your Notice, a recent brokerage statement or a letter from your nominee evidencing your beneficial ownership of
shares of our common stock as of February 24, 2020.  If you would like to secure admission in advance, you may send a
written request with proof of ownership to our Corporate Secretary at Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue,
Glendale, California 91203.

Stockholders will be admitted into the Annual Meeting beginning at 1:00 p.m. Pacific Time and seating will be on a
first-come basis.  For safety and security reasons, cameras, recording equipment, computers, or large bags or other
packages will not be permitted into the meeting.

Our Chairman will conduct the Annual Meeting in an orderly and timely manner in accordance with our Bylaws and
Delaware law.  To assist him in fulfilling his responsibilities, we have established rules for stockholders wishing to address the
meeting, which will be available at the meeting.  Only stockholders as of the record date or their properly-appointed proxies
may ask questions at the meeting, and they may do so only after recognized by our Chairman, who may limit the length of
discussion on any particular matter.

As a result of time constraints and other considerations, we cannot assure you that every stockholder wishing to address
the meeting will have the opportunity to do so.  However, all stockholders are invited to direct inquiries or comments
regarding business matters to our Investor Relations department by email to investorcom@averydennison.com or by mail to
Avery Dennison Corporation, 207 Goode Avenue, Glendale, California 91203.  In addition, stockholders wishing to address
matters to our Board or any of its members may do so as described under Contacting Our Board in the Our Board of
Directors section of this proxy statement.

We have retained D. F. King & Co., Inc. to assist in soliciting proxies for a fee of $12,000, plus reimbursement of
out-of-pocket expenses incident to preparing and mailing our proxy materials.  Some of our employees may solicit proxies
in person, by telephone or email; these employees will not receive any additional compensation for their proxy solicitation
efforts.  We will bear all costs related to this solicitation of proxies and we will reimburse banks, brokers and other
custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses they incur in forwarding our proxy materials to
beneficial stockholders.  You can help reduce these costs by electing to access proxy materials electronically.

To propose business otherwise satisfying the eligibility requirements of SEC Rule 14a-8 to be considered for inclusion in
our proxy statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting, you must mail proposed items so they are received at our principal
executive offices on or before November 10, 2020.  If you wish to nominate persons for election to our Board or bring any
other business before an annual meeting under the advanced notice provisions or our Bylaws, you must notify our
Corporate Secretary in writing 90 to 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting (with
respect to the 2021 Annual Meeting, no earlier than December 24, 2020 and no later than January 23, 2021).
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Your notice must include, among other things, the following information:

• As to each person who you propose to nominate for election or reelection as a director:

• All information relating to the person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for
election of directors in an election contest or is otherwise required pursuant to Regulation 14 under
the Exchange Act;

• The person’s written consent to be named in our proxy statement as a nominee and serve as a
director if elected; and

• A description of any material relationships between you (and your associates and affiliates) and the
nominee (and his or her associates and affiliates), as more particularly set forth in our Bylaws;

• As to any other item of business you propose to bring before the meeting, a brief description of the business,
the reasons for conducting the business at the meeting and any material interest you have in the business
being proposed; and

• Your name and address, and class and number of shares you own beneficially and as of record, as well as
information relating to your security ownership in our company, as described in greater detail in Article II,
Section 14 of our Bylaws, which are available under Corporate Governance in the investors section of our
website.

Stockholder items of business that do not fully comply with the advance notice requirements contained in our Bylaws
will not be permitted to be brought before the 2021 Annual Meeting.

Our Bylaws to permit a stockholder, or a group of no more than 20 stockholders, owning at least 3% of our company’s
outstanding shares of common stock continuously for at least three years to nominate and include in our annual meeting
proxy materials director nominees constituting up to the greater of two nominees or 20% of our Board, subject to the
requirements specified in Article II, Section 17 of our Bylaws, which are available under Corporate Governance in the
investors section of our website.  Notice of proxy access director nominees for the 2021 Annual Meeting must be delivered
to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices no earlier than October 11, 2020 and no later than
November 10, 2020 and must otherwise comply with our Bylaws.
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We report our financial results in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, or GAAP, and also communicate with investors using certain non-GAAP financial measures.  These non-GAAP
financial measures are not in accordance with, nor are they a substitute for or superior to, the comparable GAAP financial
measures.  These non-GAAP financial measures are intended to supplement the presentation of our financial results that are
prepared in accordance with GAAP. Based upon feedback from investors and financial analysts, we believe that the
supplemental non-GAAP financial measures we provide are useful to their assessment of our performance and operating
trends, as well as liquidity.

Our non-GAAP financial measures exclude the impact of certain events, activities or strategic decisions.  The
accounting effects of these events, activities or decisions, which are included in the GAAP financial measures, may make it
difficult to assess our underlying performance in a single period.  By excluding the accounting effects, both positive or
negative, of certain items (such as restructuring charges, legal settlements, certain effects of strategic transactions and
related costs, losses from debt extinguishments, gains or losses from curtailment or settlement of pension obligations, gains
or losses on sales of certain assets, and other items), we believe that we are providing meaningful supplemental information
that facilitates an understanding of our core operating results and liquidity measures.  While some of the items we exclude
from GAAP financial measures recur, they tend to be disparate in amount, frequency, or timing.

We use these non-GAAP financial measures internally to evaluate trends in our underlying performance, as well as to
facilitate comparison to the results of competitors for a single period.

We use the following non-GAAP financial measures in this proxy statement:

• Sales change ex. currency refers to the increase or decrease in net sales excluding the estimated impact of
foreign currency translation, and, where applicable, currency adjustment for transitional reporting of highly
inflationary economies (Argentina). Segment results are also adjusted for the reclassification of sales between
segments.  The estimated impact of foreign currency translation is calculated on a constant currency basis,
with prior period results translated at current period average exchange rates to exclude the effect of currency
fluctuations.

• Organic sales change refers to sales change ex. currency, excluding the estimated impact of product line
exits, acquisitions and divestitures, and, where applicable, the extra week in our fiscal year.

We believe that sales change ex. currency and organic sales change assist investors in evaluating the sales change from the
ongoing activities of our businesses and enhance their ability to evaluate our results from period to period.

• Adjusted net income per common share, assuming dilution (adjusted EPS), refers to adjusted net income
divided by weighted average number of common shares outstanding, assuming dilution.  Adjusted net
income is income from continuing operations before taxes, tax-effected at the adjusted tax rate, and adjusted
for tax-effected restructuring charges and other items.  Adjusted tax rate is the full-year GAAP tax rate,
adjusted to exclude certain unusual or infrequent events that are expected to significantly impact that rate,
such as impacts related to the enactment of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) and our U.S. pension plan
termination, effects of certain discrete tax planning actions, and other items.  We believe that adjusted EPS
assists investors in understanding our core operating trends and comparing our results with those of our
competitors.

• Free cash flow refers to cash flow provided by operating activities, less payments for property, plant and
equipment, software and other deferred charges, plus proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment,
plus (minus) net proceeds from insurance and sales (purchases) of investments.  Free cash flow is also
adjusted for the cash contributions related to the termination of our U.S. pension plan.  We believe that free
cash flow assists investors by showing the amount of cash we have available for debt reductions, dividends,
share repurchases, and acquisitions.

• Return on total capital (ROTC) refers to net income excluding the expense and tax benefit of debt financing
divided by the average of beginning and ending invested capital. Adjusted ROTC refers to ROTC adjusted
for the impact of the TCJA and pension plan settlements.  We believe that ROTC and adjusted ROTC assist
investors in understanding our ability to generate returns from our capital.

• Adjusted EBIT refers to earnings before interest expense and taxes, excluding non-cash restructuring costs,
as well as other items.  We believe that adjusted EBIT assists investors in understanding our core operating
trends and comparing our results with those of our competitors.  We use adjusted EBIT to calculate economic
value added (EVA), one of the performance objectives used in our long-term incentive compensation
program.
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($ in millions)

Net sales $5,966.9 $6,086.5 $6,613.8 $7,159.0 $7,070.1

Reported sales change (5.7)% 2.0% 8.7% 8.2% (1.2)%

Foreign currency translation 8.6% 2.6% (0.5)% (1.4)% 3.3%

Sales change ex. currency
(non-GAAP)(3) 2.9% 4.6% 8.2% 6.9% 2.0% 4.9% 5.7%

Extra week impact ~1.2% – – – –

Acquisitions/divestiture 0.6% (0.7)% (3.9)% (1.4)% –

Organic sales change (non-GAAP)(3) 4.6% 3.9% 4.2% 5.5% 2.0% 4.0% 3.9%
(1) Reflects five-year compound annual growth rate, with 2014 as the base period.
(2) Reflects three-year compound annual growth rate, with 2016 as the base period.
(3) Totals may not sum due to rounding and other factors.

As reported net income per common
share from continuing operations,
assuming dilution $2.95 $3.54 $3.13 $5.28 $3.57

Non-GAAP adjustments per common
share, net of tax:

Restructuring charges and other items(3) 0.49 0.48 0.29 0.68 0.47

Pension plan settlements and related
charges – – – 0.84 3.12

Tax benefit from discrete foreign tax
structuring and planning transactions – – – (0.35) (0.56)

TCJA provisional amounts and subsequent
adjustments(4) – – 1.91 (0.39) –

Impact of previously planned repatriation
of foreign earnings for Q4 2017 – – (0.33) – –

Adjusted net income per common share
from continuing operations, assuming
dilution (non-GAAP) $3.44 $4.02 $5.00 $6.06 $6.60 16.2% 18.0%

The adjusted tax rate was 28.0%, 25.0% and 24.6% for 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively.
(1) Reflects five-year compound annual growth rate, with 2014 as the base period.
(2) Reflects three-year compound annual growth rate, with 2016 as the base period.
(3) Includes restructuring charges, Argentine peso remeasurement transition loss, other restructuring-related charge, transactions costs, reversal of acquisition-related

contingent consideration, net gain on sales of assets, and other items.
(4) In the fourth quarter of 2018, we finalized our provisional amounts as defined under SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 related to the TCJA.
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($ in millions)

Net cash provided by operating activities $645.7 $457.9 $746.5

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (190.5) (226.7) (219.4)

Purchases of software and other deferred charges (35.6) (29.9) (37.8)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 6.0 9.4 7.8

Proceeds from insurance sales (purchases) of investments, net (3.9) 18.5 4.9

Plus: Pension plan contributions for plan termination – 200.0 10.3

Free cash flow (non-GAAP) $421.7 $429.2 $512.3

($ in millions)

Net income $281.8 $467.4 $303.6 $467.4 $303.6

Pension plan settlements and related charges 93.7 444.1

Tax benefit from pension plan contributions (31.0)

Tax benefit from pension plan settlements (19.3) (179.0)

Interest expense, net of tax benefit(1)(2) 30.1 49.5 57.2 43.9 57.2

Effective tax rate(2) 52.2% 15.4% 24.6% 25.0% 24.6%

Income from operations, excluding expense and tax
benefit of debt financing (non-GAAP) 311.9 516.9 360.8 554.7 625.9

Total debt $1,581.7 $1,966.2 $1,939.5 $1,966.2 $1,939.5

Shareholders’ equity 1,046.2 955.1 1,204.0 955.1 1,204.0

Pension plan settlements and related changes 93.7 444.1

Tax benefit from pension plan contributions (31.0)

Tax benefit from pension plan settlements (19.3) (179.0)

Total debt and shareholders’ equity $2,627.9 $2,921.3 $3,143.5 $2,964.7 $3,408.6

Return on Total Capital (ROTC) (non-GAAP) 12.9% 18.6% 11.9% 19.3% 19.6%
(1) Interest expense, net of tax benefit for 2019, based on our GAAP tax rate of (22.7)%, is not meaningful. Applying the adjusted tax rate of 24.6% removes the benefit of

the negative tax rate from pension plan settlements and discrete foreign tax structuring and planning transactions.
(2) The adjusted tax rate was 28.0%, 25.0% and 24.6% for 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively.

($ in millions)

Net income $281.8 $467.4 $303.6

Reconciling items:

Interest expense 63.0 58.5 75.8

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 307.7 85.4 (56.7)

Earnings before interest expense and taxes $652.5 $611.3 $322.7

Adjustments:

Non-cash restructuring costs 1.0 9.9 4.8

Other items(1) 3.1 91.9 449.4

Adjusted earnings before interest expense, taxes, non-cash restructuring costs and other
items (non-GAAP) $656.6 $713.1 $776.9

(1) Includes pension plan settlements and related charges, transaction costs, net gain on sales of assets, equity method investment losses and other items.
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FREE CASH FLOW

2017 2018 2019

RETURN ON TOTAL CAPITAL (ROTC)

2018 Adjusted 2019 Adjusted
2017 2018 2019 ROTC ROTC

ADJUSTED EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES (EBIT)

2017 2018 2019
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Visit averydennison.com and follow 
us on social media to learn more 
about how we are creating superior 
long-term, sustainable value for 
our customers, employees and 
stockholders and improving the 
communities in which we operate.

Image of the back of Avery Dennison woven labels

We Welcome  
Your Feedback on 
This Report.

Contact Us 
averydennison.com/contactus

Email 
info@averydennison.com

Investor Information 
Available at 
investors.averydennison.com  
Send inquiries via email to 
investorcom@averydennison.com

Career Opportunities 
Learn how you can make your mark 
at Avery Dennison. 
Visit averydennison.com/careers

Company Websites 
averydennison.com
automotive.averydennison.com 
fastener.averydennison.com 
graphics.averydennison.com
inks.averydennison.com
label.averydennison.com
medical.averydennison.com
performancepolymers.averydennison.com 
printers.averydennison.com 
rbis.averydennison.com
reflectives.averydennison.com
rfid.averydennison.com
sustainability.averydennison.com 
tapes.averydennison.com

Press and Social Media 
averydennison.com/newsroom
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In support of our commitment to sustainability, the paper for this annual report is Forest 
Stewardship Council® (FSC®) certified, which promotes environmentally responsible, socially 
beneficial and economically viable management of the world’s forests.
Printed on Rolland Enviro Print, 80 lb cover and 80 lb text, and 40 lb Twin Rivers Offset.
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